ACTA LOGISTICA

ISSN 1339-5629 electronic journal

AL

International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume 10 Issue 3 2023



Acta Logistica

-International Scientific Journal

CONTENTS

CONTENTS

(SEPTEMBER 2023)

(pages 345-352)

Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

(pages 353-362)

Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes,

Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

(pages 363-374)

Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

(pages 375-388)

On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

(pages 389-392)

Role of meteorology in logistics planning Miriam Jarosova

(pages 393-402)

Management of the grain supply chain during the conflict period: case study Ukraine Olexiy Pavlenko, Dmitriy Muzylyov, Vitalii Ivanov, Marian Bartoszuk, Jerzy Jozwik

(pages 403-412)

Current state and improvement prospects of warehouse workers health and safety practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations Miroslav Stefanov

(pages 413-422)

Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

(pages 423-434)

Telework and the limited impact on traffic reduction – Case study Madrid (Spain) Alvaro Hernandez-Tamurejo, Beatriz Rodriguez Herraez, Maria Leonor Mora Agudo



Acta Logistica

a –International Scientific Journal

CONTENTS

(pages 435-444)

Evaluation of the efficiency of internet marketing in electronic business Mahmud Agel Abu Dalbouh

(pages 445-451)

Increasing the efficiency of warehouse analysis using artificial intelligence Peter Veres

(pages 453-462)

Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan Jeevan

(pages 463-476)

Employee engagement in logistics industry: a perspective in Indonesia Haryanto Haryanto, Harry Suharman, Poppy Sofia Koeswayo, Haryono Umar

(pages 477-485)

The use of mobile applications in logistics of services Marian Dires, Sona Chovanova Supekova

(pages 487-495)

Combination of FTA and FMEA methods to improve efficiency in the manufacturing company Puti Renosori, Hirawati Oemar, Siti Rohmah Fauziah





Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.378

Received: 30 Jan. 2023; Revised: 03 Mar. 2023; Accepted: 02 July 2023

Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects

Halah Waleed Albasri

Altinbaş University, Civil Engineering Department, Dilmenler Caddesi Mahmutbey Yerleşkesi No:26, 34218 Istanbul, Turkey, 0000-0003-0880-7311, halahwaleedcivil@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Sepanta Naimi

Altinbaş University, Civil Engineering Department, Dilmenler Caddesi Mahmutbey Yerleşkesi No:26, 34218 Istanbul, Turkey, ORCID 0000-0001-8641-7090, sepanta.naimi@altinbas.edu.tr

Keywords: construction management, sustainability, materials, artificial neural network, construction projects. Abstract: Planned methods may be developed to improve the efficiency of building construction. The construction business is profoundly impacted by the prevalence of inaccurate cost and schedule prediction. The main strategy to improve the project performance is to evaluate the hybrid sustainable materials using the artificial neural network (ANN) method based on the effective factors in construction projects in Iraq. This strategy needs an effective method to classify the project input representation and specify the accurate activity of each factor. This paper uses a hybrid artificial neural network to correlate and classify the sustainable hybrid of construction projects to evaluate their performance. The contribution of this method is the selection of the Multi-Criteria Decision-Maker method (MCDM) based on time and cost-effective factors correlated with the artificial neural network method. A dynamic selection procedure for project materials may be created using the existing technique as an evolutionary model for successful project completion. The MCDM observed that the appropriate sustainable material was considered as the main factor with a rank of 0.823 for cost effect and 0.735 for time effect and the main influence factor in Iraqi projects was the building height. The results present superior functional cost evaluation results correlated with the selection of hybrid sustainable materials.

1 Introduction

Effective project management ensures that both the needs of the client and the business are satisfied. A successful project accomplishes its goals while staying within its allotted budget and with minimal scope creep. The development of an appropriate model and methodology for cost estimating in construction projects is vital to the success of a project. Users who undertake their own cost estimating may find it difficult to put the results of current studies into reality due to the increased complexity of the cost estimation process [1]. Effective cost management is still the best approach to boosting construction sector efficiency and decreasing the number of abandoned projects and unhappy clients. However, there is still a challenge in determining the best approach to cost control. To rephrase, several elements contribute to the time and money needed for construction projects. The capacity to properly manage costs goes beyond simply keeping track of spending and producing cost reports. The ability to build with nearly flawless digital information and shifts in how businesses are conducted is driving a reaction to the construction industry's various cost control concerns [2]. The Theory of Industrial Evolution simplifies the process of making great decisions by highlighting the significance of four key factors: "Accuracy, Timeliness, Cost, and Completeness". In light of this, the construction sector is currently creating misleading and superfluous data [3]. Yet, the project's finances will decide its major turning points. In the absence of a predetermined budget, it is

difficult to determine whether or not the project is making satisfactory progress.

It is possible to estimate the quantity of certain needed components from the blueprints. Even if you have a good strategy in place, you do not need to rely on prior experience to make quantity estimates, provided the ultimate aim or job description is clear. An accurate estimate can only be obtained via the use of all-inclusive price estimating approaches, which in turn need more indepth instructions and a substantial amount of work [4,5]. Due to the need of accuracy in managing costs, estimation is not always easy. A project manager's timeline has to take into account inflation, interest rates, fixed and variable costs, and overhead [6]. Parametric modelling and program assessment and review are two examples of the more mathematical methods used by certain academic institutions (PERT). You may either use a top-down or a bottom-up strategy. If you have access to price data from the past, the top-down method will work well for you. Decisions are best made by project managers who have worked on many comparable projects. For projects when there is a dearth of prior information, an organization may benefit from bottom-up techniques [7,8]. These approaches use task-specific cost estimates before aggregating them at the project level. Earned Value Management (EVM) is a cost-control method used in the field of project management. It offers an impartial assessment of the state of a project by combining the factors of time, money, and scope [9,10]. Specifications for a project are very in-depth descriptions of the project's tangible parameters.



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

Everything from the overall square footage of a structure to its floorplate size, height, interior and external design, floor loadings, heating and lighting requirements, etc., is based on the building's intended use and anticipated occupancy rate. The total amount of money that will be spent on the structure may be divided into five groups: [11].

The specification describes in great detail the tangible features of the project. The quantity of paving material, the number of lanes, the number of bridges, and other elements are all taken into consideration while designing a road. In this regard, it might be useful to have a deeper understanding of the different materials used in the construction of buildings, homes, and other systems. Careful preparation is needed for the last stage of a building's life cycle, which is the processing of its materials. In the planning and creation of any building, the use of composites that are too difficult to deal with should be minimized as much as feasible [12]. Products that may be made from recycled materials without the need for any processing processes in between. Even though they are useless in their present condition, they can still be broken down into usable parts. To avoid downcycling and waste, they should be recycled without degradation in quality. Manufacturers should do more in terms of system prefabrication, integration, and even ongoing responsibility for the performance of their systems, some sources claim, because it is unrealistic to expect tradespeople to understand and properly install the numerous interconnected systems that make up larger commercial buildings [13].

A large toolbox and an array of methods are at the disposal of those in the building industry. In addition to the time spent working and the task itself, the output accomplished and productivity at the site may be determined via equipment and productivity control. As the overall cost of the project remains unaffected, the primary goal of control is to remove waste in usage. Twenty-five percent of Ugandans live in inadequate housing, but this number might be eliminated if the cost of building homes is reduced by 30 percent via industrialization [14].

Initial price estimates might be affected by factors such as a site's soil and drainage characteristics and access limits. Because of the poor ground conditions, extra manpower is required for excavation, piling, and foundational construction. Damage and breakage during handling, deterioration due to inadequate storage and poorly managed storage conditions, and short shelf life are all potential causes of product waste in storage [15]. Mismanagement, shoddy accounting, and an inability to account for all firm cash all contribute, as does the supervisor's cavalier attitude. Storage on the building site for an extended period of time accelerates the degradation. Requesting, ordering, receiving, inspecting, unloading, handling, storing, and distributing items are the phases when most material is lost [16].

In order to achieve sustainable development, it is necessary to carefully consider environmental implications throughout the design and execution of building projects. There has not been a lot of research into finding a happy medium between time, money, and ecological impact. Decision-making procedures have not been employed in project scheduling issues, despite the fact that using them is necessary when choosing an execution method for a project activity. In most cases, the length of time it takes to finish a project increases in proportion to the size of its budget. The schedule for completing a project depends heavily on the details of that project's design. As a rule of thumb, the time needed to complete a project is directly related to the scope of the task at hand. But this isn't always the case, and in many situations, if substantial additional resources are used, the project's implementation timeline can be accelerated [17].

Price inflation must be taken into account, and the longer it takes to complete construction, the more that inflation must be taken into account. When dealing with matters involving a government agency's financial projections, this is of the highest significance. For a project's final price tag to be accurate before construction starts, all expected expenditures must be accounted for [18].

Sixty percent or more of a building project's cost may be attributable to labour. Workers' contributions to a project's success may be split into "direct" and "indirect" categories. We compare the labour costs of major cities throughout the country. Compiling a list of pricing trends in chosen parts of the nation is necessary for the establishment of cities with economic conditions superior than the capital region [19]. There are flaws in the plans as well as the actual building. The lack of a quality control system and the use of untrained workers are to blame for the building defects. Corrosion and breaks in the reinforcing bars and uneven concrete settling are common problems with older constructions. Repairing and replacing damaged parts of a building is also more costly [20]. Factors affecting preliminary construction cost estimates were identified via a literature review [21]. To effectively manage a large project's budget-which might run into the hundreds of crores or millions of dollars-it is common to use state-of-the-art tools and techniques. Construction management's notoriously high resource requirements are a major roadblock to efficient resource allocation. The amount, quality, price, and availability of imported materials are all important considerations. There is a lack of data that analytically links particle shape and size as they pertain to gradation and the mechanical performance of materials. Substantial, and in some cases catastrophic, effects on the economy result from all of these causes [22].

Therefore, the evaluation of hybrid sustainable materials using artificial neural networks based on successful elements in Iraqi building projects is the primary way to enhance project performance. The project's input representation must be classified in an efficient manner,



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

and each factor's precise activity must be specified. In order to correlate and categorize the sustainable hybrid of building projects in this article, and to assess their performance, a hybrid artificial neural network is organized. This technique adds value by choosing the Multi-Criteria Decision Maker method based on variables that are both time and cost-efficient and are associated with the artificial neural network method. In order to provide a dynamic selection process for projects, the present approach is employed as an evolutionary project success model.

2 Methodology

The planned budget is the basis for all financial projections and assessments of the project's performance. The anticipated cost, however, must be evaluated to see whether it can be used to make a fair assessment of the project. This study's results provide an innovative approach to employing artificial neural networks to track the total cost of a project and its construction when hybrid sustainable materials are used (ANN). The approach, in this perspective, was created for the express purpose of monitoring the time and money invested in a certain project. The existing plan will keep tabs on the alterations made to the project for the different kinds of work being done. In order to put the ANN system to the test, we utilized the real building's walls as a test subject. In this investigation, we used a control mechanism to create budget deviations over time based on actual expenditures. The time and effort required to keep tabs on project costs as they are incurred will be reduced by using this technique. Actual expenses were compared to the budgeted targets on a regular basis. Goals may be established on a weekly, monthly, or yearly basis, depending on the scope of the project.

2.1 Artificial neural network technique behaviour

An ANN uses a multilayer perceptron application to find meaningful patterns in data rather than more standard statistical approaches like linear regression or bivariate correlation. Multilayer perceptron neurons are made to resemble their biological counterparts [23]. Because of its superior ability to capture both high levels of construction uncertainty and better accuracy, ANN is widely used in the industry. The ANN is maturing into a problem-solving modeller in the building industry. The construction sector has found success in using ANN to problems like as cost prediction, safety, productivity, and risk assessment. While an overview of this application is given, the specifics of how ANN may be used to the building sector are glossed over. Thereafter, the construction industry's future with ANNs is discussed in further detail. This article compares and contrasts ANN estimation and prediction, explores the robustness of ANN models, and considers whether or not they may be combined in a single framework [24]. The 'hardlim' transfer function is used in the perceptron neuron shown below. The sum of the weights assigned to each external input (w1j) is then sent along to the hard-limit transfer function, which also gets an input of 1 from the bias. For illustration, consider the following example of a transfer function with a hard limit that only ever returns 0 or 1. Every perceptron neuron outputs a 1 if the net input into the transfer function is larger than zero and a 0 otherwise. In order for a perceptron to categorize input vectors, the hard-limit transfer function partitions the input space into two regions. If the net input n is less than zero, the output is zero, and if it is more than zero, the output is one [25].



Hard-Limit Transfer Function

Figure 1 ANN transfer function

Figure 1 depicts the input space of a two-input hardlimit neuron with weights w1, 1 = 1, w1, 2 = 1, and a bias b = 1. Classification space is cut in half by the decision boundary line L at Wp + b = 0. The bias b rotates this line such that it runs perpendicular to the weight matrix W. The hard-limit neuron will generate a 1 as an output if its input vector is located above and to the left of line L. When input vectors are below and to the right of the line L, the neuron produces a zero. The input space may be classified in a number of ways depending on the values of weight and bias you give it. Unbiased categorization lines will always begin at the point of genesis of hard-limit neurons. By including a bias, the neuron may handle input vector pairs that are not perpendicular to the origin. The accompanying diagram shows how this bias makes it possible to move the decision boundary further from the starting point. The nnd4db sample application may be run. You may change the position of a decision boundary, choose a different set of inputs to classify, and watch as the network learns to accurately categorize those inputs over and over again.

2.2 Many criteria decision making

By breaking down a complex problem into a multilevel hierarchical structure of objectives, criteria, subcriteria, and alternatives, MCDM help to define the overall choice operation. Using this framework, a good next step can be chosen. Complex, unstructured, and multi-faceted judgments are perfect candidates for MCDM's application. These standards do not describe a linear set of options; rather, they take into account both physiological and



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

psychological factors. The subjective assessment of the decision maker may be factored in and quantified using the Many Criteria Decision Making) framework [26]. The MCDM may be built with the help of the following three easy steps:

1) Determine the criteria weights by computing a vector.

2) Compiling a matrix of all conceivable score configurations.

3) Arrange the options in ascending order.

Every step henceforth will be elaborated upon for greater clarity. It's likely that the evaluation criteria will be looked at, and that n options will be graded. As an added bonus, a realistic approach to figuring out whether the findings can be believed will be covered. Simple steps for data collection are outlined for the user, who then inputs that information into the program to get the desired outcomes [27].

Step 1: Define Potential Solutions.

- Step 2: To specify the parameters of the issue.
- Step 3: Rank the criteria in terms of importance.
- Step 4: Find out how the weights compare to one another.

The software tool will use the data to execute the mathematical calculation and give weights to the criteria depending on the data. A person may evaluate their alternatives and choose the one that best fits their needs once the appropriate weighted criteria have been entered into the appropriate places in the equation. [28]. Elewe et al [29] and Abdullah et al [30] presented a new algorithm to apply in solving the complex problems, they used Firefly algorithm and developed this algorithm with using a scanning method. Talib et al [31], Ali et al [32] and bin Hasnan et al [33] used MC-GPSO algorithm to develop a method to solve large scale problems. A very small portion

of the overall cost to build a family home out of wood is attributable to transportation [34]. The authors evaluated that legal standards affect the logistics of businesses in order to promote long-term sustainability [35].

3 **Result and discussion**

3.1 Many criteria decision making effective factors results

The construction industry has a poor track record of effectively predicting costs because key elements that affect costs are often disregarded or underestimated. To back up his claims, the author performed research on the Iraqi construction industry and found that the most influential factors include: Successful construction businesses are built on a solid foundation of reliable cost accounting. From Table 1, it was observed that the most influential factor in building time and cost was building heights. In addition, Table 2 exhibits that the used sustainable materials are not appropriate for the project design. The MCDM value varies between 0.823 and 0.735 for cost and time, respectively. As it was seen in Table 2, the geotechnical evaluation of the subsoil at the project site is necessary in order to supply useful input data for the design and construction of foundations for the planned buildings. Recording and collecting data on the project's costs and progress toward completion are crucial to cost management. Figure 2 exhibits the cost vs the number of floor data which also help the construction stakeholders to manage their budget for the project. The system provides an equation to exhibit the cost growth, which helps predict the project's overall cost with a single equation. Furthermore, it necessitates evaluating actual development against projected outcomes. Profit maximization within the allocated time limit while keeping the quality of the work to an acceptable level is the major goal of cost control for any given project.

Influence factors on building cost and time	MCDM	MCDM
Number of floors in the building	0.60	0.65
Type of used walls material	0.63	0.64
Type of slabs	0.65	0.63
Walls materials quantities	0.59	0.57
Slabs materials quantities	0.58	0.55
Project area	0.65	0.66
Building height	0.70	0.70
Type of external plastering and warping	0.66	0.68
Type of tilling	0.63	0.68
Site position	0.68	0.54
Sites risks	0.66	0.57

Table 1	The inf	luencing f	factors f	or th	iis research



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 345-352 ISSN 1339-5629

AL

Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

Table 2 The	management	of sustainable	materials
		0, 500000000	

No	Factors	MCDM	MCDM
		of cost	of time
F1	The used sustainable materials are available near the site	0.719	0.688
F2	The used sustainable materials are not appropriate for the project design	0.823	0.735
F3	The inventory in the work site is not suitable for used materials in the project	0.754	0.707
F4	The used sustainable materials cannot be cheated or replaced	0.723	0.642
F5	The contractor can efficiently deal with the required materials	0.763	0.676
F6	Often the contract is obligated to pay directly	0.792	0.722
F7	The payment is often obligated to purchase	0.775	0.664
F8	The works must be continues as planned for the event of non-payment	0.735	0.638
F9	Purchases are obligated to provide materials with the project even if delay in wage	0.806	0.726
F10	Failure to make payments does not affect the supply of raw materials	0.794	0.657



Figure 2 The cost growth in building construction

3.2 Artificial neural networks - ANN model results

A computer model that mimics the functions of human brain cells, an artificial neuron network (neural network). "Artificial neural networks" refer to computer systems that "learning algorithms," or programs that can use autonomously make modifications, or "learn," when given with new information (ANNs). This idea was crucial in providing the researcher with the information and computations needed for efficient management of both time and money. In order to achieve the same or comparable effects when applied to artificial intelligence, neural networks, a subset of computer architecture, pulls lessons from the functioning of organic nerve systems. The neural network may be thought of as a mathematical function that takes in a series of inputs and returns a series of outputs that the user specifies. Artificial neural networks' models are consistent with those of biological

neural networks. They have an exposed exterior layer, one or more concealed layers, and a concealed interior layer. Input data There is no information unique to the system that can be gathered from the transfer functions. Although they were originally designed for use with a certain kind of connection, they may be modified to work with any link type. The stacked neural network model used in the proposed prediction approach is trained and evaluated using three separate ANN models. The first version of the ANN model for structural analysis takes in four inputs and outputs two. Second, there must be a total of five inputs to the wall but only two outputs. The third model, which we'll call the foundation model, has two outputs and six inputs. Keep in mind that first-generation neural network-based price estimation algorithms suffered from a number of serious drawbacks. optimized performance with three different types of networks.



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects

Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi



The current system was designed, built, and put into place to capture all data required for each project. A sample set of real-world inputs is collected from the data's rightful owner and organized for use as a model. The purpose of this stage is to assess the program's infrastructure and decide whether or not it can support a reliable method of data monitoring. Materials chosen for construction will be heavily influenced by the building code, which specifies the required levels of durability for various building components.

$$y = x^2 - 1.32x + 3.72 \tag{1}$$

If the right materials are used during construction, the building's functionality will improve. A three-story skyscraper in Baghdad, Iraq, was under dispute. We are concentrating our efforts on figuring out what happened to the old structure.

Table 3 The building cost results using the developed function

No of floors	Area	Cost USD
1	100	34,000
1	150	64,600
1	200	75,140
1	300	107,780
2	100	50,800
2	150	96,520
2	200	112,268
2	300	161,036
3	100	87,600
3	150	166,440
3	200	193,596
3	300	277,692
4	100	144,400
4	150	274,360
4	200	319,124
4	300	457,748

Cost model testing, as was previously said, is to determine whether the finalized model is effective and if the targeted degree of generality was achieved. By iterative development influenced by earlier advice, the ideal model was developed to provide more accurate cost projections with no loss of accuracy.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 345-352 ISSN 1339-5629

building construction					
No of	area	cost USD	ANN material		
floors			results		
1	100	34,000	BLOCK_THRMI		
			STON		
1	150	64,600	BRICK_BLOCK		
1	200	75,140	BRICK_BLOCK		
1	300	107,780	BRICK_BLOCK		

Table 4 The ANN hybrid material selection for sustainable

By taking this approach, the model was able to generate more accurate cost projections without compromising accuracy. Better cost estimates could be made using this strategy. The results of the system's calculations are provided in the Tables 3 and Table 4 and the Figure 3, depending on the preexisting framework.

5 Conclusion

This research aimed to give a novel cost estimation method and selection of sustainable building projects in Iraq by developing a model employing sustainable materials. The main objectives of the present research are starting with finding the effective factor in building cost and time. The MCDM presented using appropriate sustainable materials for the project design as the main factor with a rank of 0.823 for cost effect and 0.735 for time effect. The second step is to investigate the main influence factor in Iraqi projects and the MCDM observed the building height as the main effective influence factor in the present work. Based on the presented results, the ANN trained to specify the suitable hybrid materials that can be used as suitable sustainable materials. the following steps and procedures were taken:

- a) A questionnaire survey, expert interviews, and an exploratory review of existing research were used to ascertain the cost-effective components of building projects. Most Common Differential Mean and the Mean for the Most Important Factors.
- b) There were a number of stages involved in creating an ANN model, the first of which was deciding on the program that would be used to construct the model. The flexibility of Microsoft Excel was a major factor in our decision to adopt it as our main cost estimating tool, along with its user-friendliness and capacity to extract data. Initially, the data sets were encoded before being analyzed.
- c) It is possible that the ANN method may provide accurate cost estimates for projects.



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

References

- [1] JI, S.H., AHN, J., LEE, H.S., HAN, K.: Cost Estimation Model Using Modified Parameters for Construction Projects, *Advances in Civil Engineering*, Vol. 2019, pp. 1-10, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8290935
- [2] OMOTAYO, T., BANKOLE, A., OLANIPEKUN, A.O.: An artificial neural network approach to predicting most applicable post-contract cost controlling techniques in construction projects, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 10, No. 15, pp. 1-24, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/app10155171
- [3] ALLEN, C., SHAKANTU, W.: The BIM revolution: a literature review on rethinking the business of construction, Conference: The Sustainable City XI, Vol. 204, pp. 919-930, 2016. https://doi.org/10.2495/sc160751
- [4] AMIN, M.: Development of Cost Estimation Model for Residential Building, *International Journal of Civil* and Structural Engineering Research, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 1-4, 2017.
- [5] SHRIVASTAVA, E.Y.N.: B. Tech II yr II SEM Subject- Building Construction and Cost Estimation Topic- Rate Analysis, Jawaharlal Nehru Technological University, Hyderabad, 2017.
- [6] TAYEFEH HASHEMI, S., EBADATI, O.M., KAUR, H.: Cost estimation and prediction in construction projects: a systematic review on machine learning techniques, *SN Applied Sciences*, Vol. 2, No. 10, pp. 1-27, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42452-020-03497-1
- [7] CÂNDIDO, L.F., HEINECK, L.F.M., DE PAULA BARROS NETO, J.: Critical analysis on earned value management (EVM) technique in building construction, 22nd Annual Conference of International Group Lean Construction, Oslo, IGLC 2014, pp. 159-170, 2014.
- [8] YAKUBU, O.A., MING, S.: Cost and time control of construction projects: inhibiting factors and mitigating measures in practice, *Construction Management and Economics*, Vol. 28, No. 5, pp. 509-526, 2010.
- [9] HUSSEIN, M.F., SHABIB, A.R., ABOOD, S.F.: Optimized Well Construction Cost Estimate in South of Iraqi Fields/ Case Study from Zubair Field, *Journal of Petroleum Research Studies*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 168-185, 2021. https://doi.org/10.52716/jprs.v11i1.438
- [10] CHANG, H.K., DER YU, W., CHENG, T.M.: A Quantity-Based Method to Predict More Accurate Project Completion Time, *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, Vol. 24, No. 10, pp. 2861-2875, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12205-020-1924-y
- [11] SHEHATTO, O.M.: Cost estimation for building construction projects in Gaza Strip using Artificial Neural Network (ANN), 2013.
- [12] UMAR, U.A.: Sustainable Building Material for Green Building Construction, Sustainable Building Material for Green Building, *International Journal of Advanced Science and Technology*, Vol. 29, No. 10S, pp. 5343-5350, 2012.

- [13] BUILD UP, The European Portal For Energy Efficiency Buildings, Improving Conditions for Green Building Construction in North America Models for Local Government Support, [Online] Available: https://www.buildup.eu/en/practices/publi cations/improving-conditions-green-buildingconstruction-north-america-models-local [20 Jan 2023], 2013.
- [14] OTIM, G., NAKACWA, F., KYAKULA, M.: Cost control techniques used on building construction sites in uganda, Second International Conference on Advanced in Engineering and Technology, Uganda: Oxford & IBH Publishing Co., pp. 367-373, 2012.
- [15] KIVINIEMI, M., SULANKIVI, K., KÄHKÖNEN, K., MÄKELÄ, T. MERIVIRTA, M.L.: BIM-based safety management and communication for building construction, VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland, VTT Tiedotteita - Research Notes No. 2597, 2011.
- [16] ATOMBO, C., CUDJOE, J., DZANTOR, K., AGBO, A.A.: Integration of Sustainable Construction in Project Management: A Case Study in Ghana, *Journal of Construction Engineering and Management*, Vol. 4, No. 1, pp. 13-25, 2015.
- [17] EL-SAWALHI, N.I.: Support Vector Machine Cost Estimation Model for Road Projects, *Journal of Civil Engineering and Architecture*, Vol. 9, No. 9, pp. 1115-1125, 2015. https://doi.org/10.172-65/19347359/2015.09.012

[18] LIU, X.: An Artificial Neural Network Approach to Assess Project Cost and Tirne Risks at The Front End of Projects, University of Calgary, Legacy Theses, pp. 1-167, 1998. https://doi.org/10.11575/PRISM/23290

- [19] PRZYWARA, D., RAK, A.: Analysis construction industry on the basis of price trends of labor cost, MATEC Web Conference, Vol. 174, pp. 1-7, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1051/matecconf/201817404005
- [20] NAIMI, S., CELIKAG, M,.: Problems of Reinforced Concrete Building Construction in North Cyprus, 12th International Conference on Inspection, Appraisal, Repairs & Maintenance of Structures, pp. 23-25, 2010.
- [21] NAIMI, S., KARIMI, M.A.: Pavement Management System Investigation in Case of Afghanistan., *Cumhuriyet Science Journal*, Vol. 40, No. 1, pp.221-32, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proeng.2011.07.286

- [22] NAIMI, S., HRIZI, H.: Risk Analysis of Slaving Floor in Construction Sites, *International Journal of Electronics, Mechanical and Mechatronics Engineering*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 1637-1645, 2019.
- [23] MOSSALAM, A., ARAFA, M.: Using artificial neural networks (ANN) in projects monitoring dashboards' formulation, *HBRC Journal*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 385-392, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hbrcj.2017.11.002



Development of a hybrid artificial neural network method for evaluation of the sustainable construction projects Halah Waleed Albasri, Sepanta Naimi

- [24] MADIĆ, M.J., RADOVANOVIĆ, M.R.: Optimal selection of aNN training and architectural parameters using taguchi method: A case study, *FME Transactions*, Vol. 39, No. 2, pp. 79-86, 2011.
- [25] RAVICHANDRAN, S.: Artificial Neural Network Modelling and its Applications in agriculture Features of ANN, pp. 1-10, [Online], Available: https://naarm.org.in/VirtualLearning/vlc/e -chapters/ann.pdf [20 Jan 2023], 1996.
- [26] WU, W., WANG, W., ZHANG, M.: Does internet public participation slow down environmental pollution?, *Environmental Science & Policy*, Vol. 137, pp. 22-31, 2022.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2022.08.006
- [27] LEŚNIAK, A., ZIMA, K.: Cost calculation of construction projects including sustainability factors using the Case Based Reasoning (CBR) method, *Sustainability*, Vol. 10, No. 5, pp. 1-14, 2018. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051608
- [28] LAURAS, M., MARQUES, G., GOURC, D.: Towards a multi-dimensional project Performance Measurement System. *Decision Support Systems*, Vol. 48, No. 2, pp. 342-353, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2009.09.002
- [29] ELEWE, A.M., HASNAN, K.B., NAWAWI, A.B.: Hybridized firefly algorithm for multi-objective radio frequency identification (RFID) network planning, *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied Sciences*, Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 834-840, 2017.
- [30] HASNAN, K.B., TALIB, N.H., NAWAWI, A.B., ELEWE, A.M., ABDULLAH, H.B., TAHIR., S.: An efficient algorithm for large-scale RFID Network Planning, IEEE Jordan International Joint Conference on Electrical Engineering and

Information Technology (JEEIT), Amman, Jordan, pp. 519-524, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1109/JEEIT.2019.8717490

[31] TALIB, N.H., HASNAN, K.B., NAWAWI, A.B., ABDULLAH, H.B., ELEWE, A.M.: Monitoring large-scale rail transit systems based on an analytic hierarchy process/gradient-based cuckoo search algorithm (GBCS) scheme, *Urban Rail Transit*, Vol. 6, No. 2, pp. 132-144, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40864-020-00126-3

- [32] HASNAN, K.B., ELEWE, A.M., NAWAWI, A.B., TAHIR, S.: Comparative evaluation of firefly algorithm and MC-GPSO for optimal RFID network planning, 8th International Conference on Information Technology (ICIT), Amman, Jordan, pp. 70-74, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICITECH.2017.8079927
- [33] ALI, R.M., MASOOD, I.B., SOLIHIN, N.A.B.M., ELEWE, A.M.: Diagnosis of bivariate process variation using an integrated MSPC-ANN scheme, International Conference on Mechanical and Manufacturing Engineering (ICME 2015), 2015.
- [34] TAŽIKOVÁ, A., ZUZANA, S.: The impact of logistics on the cost of prefabricated construction, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 65-71, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i1.204
- [35] GRABARA, J., MALIKA D., GULNAZ, A.: Impact of legal standards on logistics management in the context of sustainable development, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 31-37, 2020. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v7i1.155

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629

Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.393

Received: 27 Feb. 2023; Revised: 22 Apr. 2023; Accepted: 11 Sep. 2023

Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico

Erika Barojas-Payan

Faculty of Engineering -UV, Km 1.0 Sumidero Dos Highway, Ixtaczoquitlán, Veracruz, 94450, Mexico, ebarojas@uv.mx (corresponding author)

Diana Sanchez-Partida

Department of Logistics and Supply Chain Management, UPAEP University, 17 Sur 901, Barrio de Santiago, Puebla, Puebla 72410, Mexico, diana.sanchez@upaep.mx

Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes

Faculty of Engineering -UV, Km 1.0 Sumidero Dos Highway, Ixtaczoquitlán, Veracruz, 94450, Mexico,

israelcan1701@gmail.com

Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

Faculty of Engineering -UV, Km 1.0 Sumidero Dos Highway, Ixtaczoquitlán, Veracruz, 94450, Mexico, ejmb1502@gmail.com

Keywords: natural phenomena, supply network, Chiapas, vehicular routing problem.

Abstract: Natural phenomena affect differently in the world. It comes first from the geographical location, followed by the economic characteristics of each region. The objective of the case study presented is to design a supply network of essential products to victims in the state of Chiapas, located within the Mexican Republic, which is one of the states most affected by the appearance of natural phenomena. The vehicular routing problem with capacity is applied as a solution for the supply of aid products to 120 of 124 municipalities impacted by natural phenomena of a hydrometeorological type during the period 2015-2022. Evaluating the different municipalities that are home to the state under study through various Infrastructure and service factors, the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez is determined as the origin of the routing, obtaining with it a total of 44 routes with an average of 2.7 municipalities to be supplied per route and an average of 402 km travelled. A second municipality is located, Tapachula, which obtains a second place in evaluating factors, providing the longest route in the distance travelled.

1 Introduction

Natural disasters are a serious threat worldwide. In the last 20 years, they have caused more than 1.2 million deaths and direct losses above 3.3 trillion dollars [1]. According to their origin, natural disasters are classified as meteorological and biological, with meteorological being hydrological or geophysical [2].

The appearance of natural phenomena and the degree of impact they have on human beings is not the same in all regions of the world. For example, we can mention Latin America and the Caribbean, the second most prone region to suffer disasters due to natural phenomena in the world. From 2000 to 2020, there were 1,205 disasters, including floods, hurricanes and storms, earthquakes, droughts, avalanches, fires, extreme temperatures, and volcanic events. Mexico is among the countries most affected by storms. Likewise, because it is located along the "ring of fire," it is exposed to volcanic activity [3]. In the same way, the degree of affectation of these phenomena is not the same; this is partly a consequence of the levels of economic development, which, among other factors, is reflected in the region's infrastructure.

There are various classifications of the disaster care phases; in general, they fall within one of the following moments: 1. before the disaster, 2. during the disaster, and

3. after the disaster. That is why it is worth mentioning that, through a great diversity of tasks and activities carried out at different times, humanitarian logistics is in charge of valuing, providing, storing, transporting, and distributing the personnel and services required in some areas affected by a disaster. It aims to provide emergency supplies to the affected areas quickly and on time, minimizing deaths and human suffering [4].

A helpful tool in the area of humanitarian logistics is the model of the Vehicle Routing Problem (VRP) in its different variants, which is used to design the routes that allow, among other things, the interest of this document, the delivery of products people affected by a natural disaster.

The capacity vehicle routing problem (CVRP) is the classic version of the vehicle routing problem (VRP). It is a problem where each vehicle has a known capacity, and loading it above said capacity is not permissible. Two aspects emerge from CVRP: a) ACVRP when the cost matrix is asymmetric, and b) SCVRP when the cost matrix is symmetric [5].

The formulation of integer linear programming of ACVRP proposed by [6] is presented through 1. Table 1 shows the assumptions, inputs, and outputs accompanying the formulation of the problem, and Table 2 shows the set of equations that form the mathematical formulation.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

Tab	le I Assumptions, inputs, and outputs			
	Description			
Assumptions	The demand is deterministic.			
	The demand is not split.			
	The vehicles are similar.			
	The vehicles are located in a central depot.			
	Vehicle capacity restrictions are assigned.			
Inputs	G = (V, A): a complete graph.			
_	$V = \{0, \dots, N\}$: the vertices set.			
	A: the arc set.			
	D_i : the demand of each client $(D_o = 0)$.			
	C_{ij} : the travel cost (from vertex i to verte:			
	SCV: set of client.			
	$d(S) = \sum d_i$: the total demand of the set.			
	K: the number of identical vehicles.			
	C: the capacity of each vehicle.			
	<i>Kmin</i> , <i>r</i> (<i>S</i>): the minimum number of vehicle			
	required.			
Outputs	$X_{ij} = 1$ if the arch(i, j)			
	$\in A$ if the arc belongs to the optimal solution			
	and 0 otherwise.			

$$nin \qquad \sum_{i \in V} \sum_{j \in V} C_{ij} X_{ij}$$

I

Subjects:

$$\sum_{i \in V} X_{ij} = 1 \qquad \forall i \in V / \{0\}$$
⁽¹⁾

$$\sum_{i \in V} X_{ij} = 1 \qquad \forall i \in V / \{0\}$$
(2)

$$\sum_{i \in V} X_{i0} = K \tag{3}$$

$$\sum_{j \in V} X_{0j} = K \tag{4}$$

$$\sum_{i \notin S} \sum_{j \in S} X_{ij} \ge r(s) \quad \forall S \subseteq V / \{0\}, S \neq \emptyset$$

$$X_{ij} = \{0,1\} \quad \forall i, j \in V$$
(5)

Equations (1) and (2) are input and output, respectively; equations (3) and (4) establish the deposit requirements; Equation (5) is the capacity constraint, which stipulates that each cut (*VS*, *S*) defined by a set of customers S is traversed by a number of arcs greater than
$$r(S)$$
.

Throughout the world, researchers have carried out studies based on the VRP, combining it with other techniques to provide solutions to the various variables that arise from the impact of natural phenomena. Among these, we can mention those presented in point 1.1.

The present investigation is made up in this introductory section with concepts and definitions in humanitarian logistics. Many studies were carried out by researchers from all over the world using the vehicular routing model. The problem arises in Chiapas, Mexico. The methodology shows the set of actions carried out to evaluate and give a solution to the problem of delivery of products to victims of a natural event. Lastly, the results obtained through graphs and images are shown, and a comparison is made, allowing the discussion of the results and the conclusions.

1.1 Estate of the art

The interest in studying applications of the vehicular routing problem within humanitarian logistics is growing daily. In the article of [7], the authors present a literary review of the 2009-2019 period of the vehicle routing problem (VRP) applied to natural disasters in South America; the results of their research are a) most of the models They are deterministic, with VRP being the most widely used; b) Its application phase is mainly in the postdisaster phase; c) A large number of them seek to minimize time and operating costs, and d) For small scenarios, the most used models are the exact ones. Similarly, the work of [8] addresses the application of vehicle routing models to solve problems arising from the appearance of a natural phenomenon that causes a disaster. In this same area, it is worth mentioning that the application of the VRP brings with it the use of software that allows its resolution [9] in, which the authors make a comparison of the software used as VRP resolution tools, finding 6 with the best characteristics in terms of feasibility.

The planning phase is highly relevant within the administration of any process; in the case of product delivery, various researchers have worked on generating schedules that minimize the disaster's impact on victims. We can mention [10], where the authors use multi-objective evolutionary optimization with greedy heuristics to generate item distribution schedules under heterogeneous vehicles. It allowed them to generate an efficient alternative to find effective distribution schedules minimizing time and operating costs.

In the same way, various researchers have proposed mathematical models as a basis for decision-making in the disaster response process. Such is the case of [11], in which the authors propose a mathematical model for planning the use of helicopters for logistics activities in disaster response operations; with a feasible result in the methodology, the authors minimize the total time operation and mobilization of air resources. However, heuristic models should not be left behind as a logistics tool, allowing the problem of reasonable computational time. In the case of [12], the authors propose a mathematical optimization model and a heuristic based on a genetic algorithm to solve the problem of routing and programming humanitarian assistance.

Regarding the application of the VRP to specific cases, we can mention [13] who determine the number and location of shelters, collection routes for evacuation, and attention time for victims in the event of an earthquake, by modeling the problem. Location-routing with time windows (LRPTW) in the same way, a phenomenon that has caused significant problems in item distribution is the appearance of the Sars-Cov-2 virus, increasing the opening



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

of many supply centers to supply their products to remote areas. The researchers [14], based on modeling the routing problem for vehicles with capacity, redesigned the delivery routes of a store of social interest to their supply centers, decreasing about 24% the distance traveled by.

Continuing with the literary journey, it is worth mentioning the investigation of [15], the researchers applying the nearest neighbor (NN) heuristic technique and the capacity vehicle routing problem (CVRP), obtain and compare the delivery routes of necessities in the municipality of La Perla, Veracruz, Mexico. At the same time, the investigation of [16] evaluates a logistic model of the literature whose foundations are 1. The p-median problem for the location of a warehouse; 2. An extension of the model (qR) to calculate the products to be supplied, and 3. The problem of multiple vehicle routing with the capacity to deliver products to affected municipalities in Veracruz, Mexico.

Similarly, the research of [17] presents a new mathematical model for the Location Routing Problem with Private Fleets and Common Carriers (CLRPPC). The model can be adapted to solve the Vehicle Routing Problem with Private Fleets and Common carriers (VRPPC). And the Multi-Depot Vehicle Routing Problem with Private Fleet and Common Carrier (MDVRPPC). The models are validated with instances from the literature with satisfactory results. While the researchers [18] present a WEB application for the allocation of deposits and establishment of routes for the supply of distribution centers, considering population probabilities.

The paper in [19] presents a method to determine how to transport the maximum number of disaster victims to hospitals in metropolitan cities on time. The proposed method uses mathematical models, programming theory, heuristic methods, and the geometric Voronoi diagram. The goal is to transport the maximum number of patients on time, and the Voronoi diagram is used effectively to break down the complex problem. The article contains case studies of three hospitals in Tehran. Likewise, it is worth mentioning the work of [20], in which the researchers describe a study whose objective is to statistically evaluate the effects of various design factors on the performance of the casualty transport system in large-scale disasters. The authors propose a data-based decision support tool to improve casualty survival and ambulance transport times during the disaster response phase.

Continuing with the investigation of establishing transport routes in the event of a disaster, it is worth mentioning the investigation of [21], which has in its context the worst flood that occurred in Kelantan in 2014. The researchers evaluate and identify locations for shelters and routes relief. The simulation is performed using HEC-RAS and ArcGIS to map the best possible locations and modes of transportation for disaster relief. Likewise, the research of [22] proposes a mixed integer programming model and a two-stage hybrid metaheuristic method to solve the post-disaster humanitarian logistics problem. The model considers the medical assistance team and the distribution of relief supplies between the different demand points. The model is tested on problems of different sizes and a numerical example based on the 2016 Kyushu, Japan earthquake. Finally, the research of [23] addresses the importance of effectively managing relief supply operations and routing vehicles for delivery to help natural disaster victims.

1.2 Problem statement

Mexico is especially vulnerable to natural disasters. It is because its territory is located between the faults of the North American plate and the Cocos plate, which brings with it highly seismic regions. Likewise, it is surrounded by the Pacific Ocean and the Atlantic Ocean, thus having impacts from hydrometeorological phenomena. In addition to the above, critical human settlements are located in geographical areas with seismic activity or can suffer the impact of hurricanes of many categories [24].

The Chiapas state is in the southeast of Mexico, bordered to the north by Tabasco, to the west by Veracruz and Oaxaca states, to the south by the Pacific Ocean, and to the east by the Republic of Guatemala. It has a territorial area of 74,415 km²; it occupies 3.8% of the national territory, making it the eighth largest state, with a population of 5,543,828. Chiapas ranks 8th at the national level for its number of inhabitants [25]. Figure 1 presents the geographic location of Chiapas within the national territory (a) and its municipal division, with 124 municipalities comprising it (b).

Chiapas is one of the six states of Mexico with the most significant number of affectations by hydrometeorological phenomena; 120 of 124 municipalities suffered one or more effects during 2015-2022. For example, in 2022, Hurricane Stan's passage affected more than 670 homes in the municipality of Escuintla [27]. It is worth mentioning that of its 124 municipalities, of which: 1 is classified with a lesser degree of marginalization; 7 municipalities have a low degree of marginalization; 67 municipalities have a medium degree of marginalization, and 20 municipalities with a very high degree of marginalization [28].

Therefore, the present case study aims to design a delivery network of essential products to areas affected by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas under the assumptions of *1*. The roads are not damaged; 2. Considerable traffic; 3. Pertinent climatic conditions; 4. No social problems in terms of demonstrations and security, and 5. Qualified driver. For which the methodology embodied in the continuous section is established.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos



Figure 1 Location and municipal division of the state of Chiapas [25,26]

2 Methodology

The methodology to solve the problem of supplying necessities to areas affected by some natural phenomenon in the state of Chiapas is shown in Figure 2. It is divided into three stages (1) Collection of information from the municipalities that make up Chiapas: *a*) Municipalities that make up the state; *b*) road access, essential services, social interest stores, and degree of marginalization of each municipality; *c*) municipalities impacted by natural phenomena during the period 2015-2022 and a number of victims; *d*) necessities of the area, price and dimensions; *e*) product integration device for delivery, with content for families of four people, and *f*) means of transport for delivery and dimensions of their containers. (2)

Development of databases for the supply of the CVRP programming a) database of the characterization and evaluation of each of the municipalities that make up the state of Chiapas in order to select the one with the highest weighting for locating a point of origin of routes; b) municipalities impacted by some natural phenomenon during the period 2015-2022, integrating the number of victims in each one; c) matrix of distances between the point of origin and impacted municipalities; d) Calculation of container capacity of the delivery vehicle; e) feeding the programming into Lingo 19®, and f) running the program. (3) Presentation of results a) generation of tables with the routes obtained, showing the municipalities to be supplied on each route, the distances traveled, and the groceries supplied; and b) comparison between venues.

1. Information collection. Municipalities that make up Chiapas	2. Development of databases for the	supply of CVRP programming
Highway accesses, basic services, social interest stores and degree of	Database of the characterization and evaluation of the	3. Results presentation
marginalization of municipalities. Municipalities impacted by natural phenomena period 2015-2022 and number of victims. First need products. Deposits for the integration of pantries. Means of transport.	Municipalities. Matrix of distances between municipalities that originate the route and municipalities impacted during the 2015-2022 period, together with the number of victims. Calculation of capacity of the container of the vehicle. CVRP feeding into Lingo 19(R) and running the program.	Presentation of the different routes obtained through the bullfights, with the different venues, showing distance and approximate travel time.

Figure 2 Problem-solving methodology



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

2.1 Information collection

This first step is based on seeking and collecting transparent information that allows the generation of tools to feed the CVRP programming.

2.1.1 Municipalities that make up the state of Chiapas

The state of Chiapas is made up of 15 regions; I. Metropolitan; II. Zoque Valleys; III. Mezcalapa; IV. From the Plains; V. Altos Tsotsil-Tseltal; SAW. Friary; VII. Of The Woods; VIII. North; IX. Isthmus-Coast; X. Soconusco; XI. Sierra Mariscal; XII. Lacandon jungle; XIII. Mayan; XIV. Tulijá Tseltal Chol, and XV. Comiteca Tojolabal Plateau. Which house a different number of municipalities, adding 124 in total. Such information limits the investigation's geographic scope [25,26].

2.1.2 Highway accesses, essential services, social interest stores, and the degree of marginalization of the municipalities

The information about types of road access, essential services, social interest stores, and the degree of marginalization of each of the municipalities will allow for establishing a geographical area. Where a pantry distribution center could be established, that is, a point of origin for people affected by the impact of a natural phenomenon, the information is obtained through databases of CONAPO (National Population Council) and the national report of INEGI (National Institute of Statistics and Geography) [26, 29].

2.1.3 Municipalities impacted by natural phenomena period 2015-2022 and a number of victims

The municipalities impacted by a natural phenomenon of hydrometeorological type during the period 2015 - 2022 are extracted from databases of the Natural Fund for Disaster (FONDEN), the National Center for Disaster Prevention (CENAPRED), and the National Civil Protection System (SINAPROC) of the state of Chiapas Likewise, the calculation of victims is made from the average supply during the study period [30, 31].

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629

2.1.4 Aid products

The content of the pantries is based on the AGREEMENT that establishes the Program's guidelines for the Attention of Emergencies due to Natural Hazards by the Secretary of the Interior (SEGOB), DOF 08/16/21, in the Transitory section. It establishes the Type B maintenance pantry for the southeast region [32]. These pantries are projected for four people (an average family).

2.1.5 Deposits for the integration of aid kits

For the deposits containing the set of products, a box of 40 cm long x 30 cm long and 30 cm wide is determined.

2.1.6 Means of transport for delivery and dimensions of the boxes

The means of delivery to consider is a 4-axle cargo truck, 8-ton tail type, with dimensions in the box of 943 cm long, 300 cm high, and 248 cm wide. It is used by social interest companies in territorial areas such as those present in the state under study [33].

2.2 Development of databases for the establishment of the CVRP programming

In this stage, the instruments that will allow the evaluation of the municipalities are generated.

2.2.1 Database of the characterization and evaluation of the municipalities

Table 2 shows an example of information organized according to the characterization of the municipalities and the region to which they belong (XIII. Mayan Region). Evaluating each region and its municipalities, the Tuxtla Gutiérrez city council has the highest compliance to be a point of origin in distributing food pantries to victims, followed by Tapachula.

Municipalities	Marginalization	Degree of	Road	Electric	Sewer	Telephony	Internet	Social
	index	marginalization	access	power	system			interest
								stores
Catazajá	52.130	High	Federal	97.8	94.0%	14.7%	8.5%	0
		-	& State					
La Libertad	52.693	Medium	Federal	98.3	96.2%	10.2%	9.4%	0
Palenque	52.674	Medium	Federal	98	92.9%	5.8%	16.6%	1
			& State					
Benemérito de	51.419	High	Federal	97.3	91.3%	1.9%	6.5%	1
las Américas								
Marqués de	49.087	High	State	98.6	85.5%	1.9%	3.6%	0
Comillas								

Table 2 Mavan region characterization



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

2.2.2 Matrix of distances between municipalities classified as the origin and impacted municipalities during the period 2015-2022

Two matrices are developed, one belonging to the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez, as the point of origin, the impacted municipalities, and the number of victims converted into families of four. Moreover, another is a sensitivity test with the municipality of Tapachula, the second municipality with the highest compliance in characteristics to be a point of origin.

2.2.3 Vehicle box

Based on the dimensions of the product container and the vehicle box, a maximum capacity of 1840 pantries to be transported is established.

2.2.4 Feeding CVRP into Lingo 19

With the matrices as a power source and a total capacity of 1,840 pantries, the programming run is carried out in Lingo 19®

3 Results

As a distribution point, the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez contains 44 different routes with an average of 3

municipalities to be supplied on each route, without a municipality being supplied through two different routes and an average of 402 kilometers traveled per delivery. In the same area, if the result obtained when the supply point is the municipality of Tapachula, there are 44 different routes, with an average of 3 municipalities to be supplied within each of them and an average route of 769 kilometers per route.

Table 3 presents some examples of the routes obtained through the CVRP program, having the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez as the point of origin; as can be seen, the first route delivers to two municipalities and returns to the origin, with a total of 1,810 pantries supplied and 413 km traveled. The second route delivers to a single municipality, covers 30 km, and delivers 1,622 groceries. The Figures are obtained through the Google Maps® software.

Table 4 presents some examples of the routes obtained through the CVRP program, having the municipality of Tapachula as the point of origin; as can be seen, the first route delivers to a municipality and returns to the origin, with a total of 1,753 pantries supplied and 492 km traveled. The second route delivers to two municipalities, covers 93 km, and delivers 1,597 groceries. Figures are obtained through the Google Maps® software.

Table 3 Route with origin Tuxtla Gutierrez



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

ROUTE 17		ROUTE 21	
Tapachula – Arriaga	– Tapachula	Tapachula – Cacahoatán – Unión J	uárez – Tapachula
Traveled distance	Families of victims	Traveled distance	Families of victims
Tapachula – Arriaga = 246 km Arriaga – Tapachula = 492 km Total = 492 km	Arriaga = 1,753 Total = 1,753	Tapachula – Cacahoatán = 22 km Cacahoatán - Unión Juárez = 47 km Unión Juárez – Tapachula = 93 km Total = 93 km	Cacahoatán = 761 Unión Juárez = 836 Total = 1,597
Purio Ants Buchards Purio Ants Purio Ants	Jalenango dela fazi recue Natural El Frunto Nonduras Comence Funto Comence Funto Comence Funto Comence Funto	Alcia Balneario Los Rosales San Lorenzo Toquián Unión Roja Las Nusee San Carlos Toluca Faja de Oro La Concordia Alejandra Toluca Parque Ecoloria Parque Scalasa Veinte de Novembre Novembre Novembre Neva Galicia Acebo Dos Acebo Dos Acebo Dos Montenegro Valuado Torito Parque Aceutico San Carlos Parque Aceutico Parque Aceutico Parque Aceutico Parque Aceutico Con Achotes Construction Con Achotes Con Scalas Con Acebo Dos Con Arqueologica Izapo Parque Aceutico Con Achotes Con Achotes Con Scalas Con Achotes Con Achot	Carmen Berranza San Jose Peracalapa

Table 4 Route originating in the municipality of Tapachula

4 Discussion

Although the results show that the number of trips traveled for the delivery of products is the same for both host municipalities, 44 routes, the average distance traveled for these varies considerably by approximately 47.72%. The municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez has a better geographical location, which allows a shorter mileage for the delivery of products with an average of 402 km, which would help reduce delivery and maintenance costs, and the municipality of Tapachula, with an average distance traveled of 769 km which implies a longer transfer time affecting the victims in a non-timely supply, both with an average supply of 3 municipalities per trip.

Likewise, within the characterization of the municipalities, Tuxtla Gutiérrez, being the capital of the state, occupies the best percentage within factors such as degree of marginalization, electric power, drainage, telephony, internet, hosted social interest stores, and road access, which facilitates the management of a warehouse. These two municipalities can be visualized in Figure 3; in green is the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez, and in blue is the municipality of Tapachula, located in the south of the State bordering Guatemala.

Through a literary investigation, a case study of [34] is found where the problem of the location of facilities in the state of Chiapas is reflected, using the p-median, the researchers present as headquarters municipalities: Altamirano, El Parral, La Independencia, and Larráinzar under different scenarios, with an average of 609 kilometers traveled per route,

Although the results of this case study are satisfactory, some elements were not considered, such as breakdowns

or road closures, weather conditions, demonstrations, support personnel, and others that may arise from the impact of a phenomenon natural.



Figure 3 Municipalities of origin in routing

As mentioned, few studies are related to vehicle routing in Chiapas State, one with the highest frequency of impact from natural phenomena. In addition, it is one of the three states with the highest percentage of population poverty [35]; it is imperative to carry out studies that provide tools to the actors in the face of the disaster in the various phases that converge to it, to provide a solution or maintain a quality of life for the victims. Humanitarian logistics is becoming increasingly relevant to climate problems, and political and social problems have alerted numerous researchers who, through different methodologies, techniques, and methods, provide a solution to the Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

consequences caused. In this case, the CVRP was used to propose a timely supply.

5 Conclusions and future studies

It is known that logistics processes present a high cost to organizations, whatever they are. In the case of the actors before the disaster, the time factor is of predominant interest since it can be the difference between a person's life and death. Within emergency operations, items are distributed to victims, which is relevant to maintaining a quality of life. Chiapas is one of the states of Mexico which has suffered the impact of natural phenomena over time. Precisely, hydrometeorological type. The work aims to develop a delivery network for essential products to victims of a natural phenomenon. It is achieved through the characterization of municipalities to establish a geographical point which is the origin of the network. Then we look for the determination of the number of pantries to transport derived from the vehicle's capacity. Finally, the feeding of capacity and distance to the programming of the problem of vehicular routing with capacity. Obtaining as results: number of routes, municipalities that make up the routes, kilometers traveled on each route, and groceries to be transported.

Through the evaluation of the different municipalities that are home to the state under study through various infrastructure and service factors, the municipality of Tuxtla Gutiérrez is determined as the origin of the network, with a total of 44 routes and an average of 2.7 municipalities at supply for each one, through an average of 402 km traveled. A second municipality, Tapachula, is located, providing a longer route than in the case of Tuxtla Gutiérrez.

This study is essential for the actors who support society in a disaster context and for the community and researchers. Remember that a disaster can bring disastrous consequences not only at the time of the disaster but can trigger a series of effects for society, such as unemployment and economic instability beyond the affected area. This work provides a strategy for providing humanitarian aid as soon as possible. In addition, a real case study is used, facilitating the understanding of mathematical methods and stimulating critical thinking and creativity.

The CVRP provides an adequate solution to the product delivery area; as a suggestion in future works, the division of the network in more than one point of origin is planned, taking into consideration and weighting factor the frequency of impact to the municipalities to discard these as a network source.

References

[1] Munich RE, *Natural catastrophe service*, [Online], Available: https://natcatservice.munichre.com/overal 1/1 [9 Jan 2023], 2020. [2] Comisión Nacional de Áreas Naturales Protegidas,¡La Fuerza de la Naturaleza!, Gobierno de México, Cd. México, [Online], Available: https://www.gob.mx/conanp/es/articulos/la-fuerzade-la-

naturaleza?idiom=es#:~:text=Los%20desastres%20n aturales%20se%20clasifican,de%20las%20masas%2 0de%20agua [3 Jan 2023], 2018. (Original in Spanish)

- [3] Naciones Unidas, America Latina y el Caribe: la segunda región más propensa a los desastres,
 [Online], Available: https://news.un.org/es/story/202
 0/01/1467501 [13 Jan 2023], 2020. (Original in Spanish)
- [4] LOPEZ-VARGAS, J.C., CARDENAS-AGUIRRE, D.M.: Humanitarian logistics management in the previous stages to the disaster: systematic review of the literature, *Revista de Investigación Desarrollo e Inonvación*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 203-216, 2017. https://doi.org/10.19053/20278306.v7.n2.2017.6094
- [5] ARBOLEDA-ZÚÑIGA, J., LÓPEZ, A.X., LOZANO, Y.L.: El problema de ruteo de vehículos [VRP] y su aplicación en medianas empresas colombianas, *Ingenium*, Vol. 10, No. 27, pp. 29-36, 2016. https://doi.org/10.21774/ing.v10i27.622 (Original in Spanish)
- [6] TOHT, P., VIGO, D.: *The Vehicle routing problem, Volume 9 of Monographs on Discrete Mathematics and Applications*, 2a ed., Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics, Philadelphia: PA: SIAM, 2002.
- [7] GUTIERREZ-GUZMAN, F., NAVARRO, V., RODRIGUEZ-MELQUIADES, J., LUJAN, E., GUTIÉRREZ, F.: Vehicle routing applied to natural disasters in South América: state of art, *Selecciones Matemáticas*, Vol. 7, No. 2, pp. 340-353, 2020. https://doi.org/10.17268/sel.mat.2020.02.15
- [8] NAVARRO-CASTRO, G.V., GUTIÉRREZ-GUZMÁN, F., RODRÍGUEZ-MELQUIADES, J., LUJAN-SEGURA, E., GUTIÉRREZ-SEGURA, F.: Revisión de problemas de ruteo de vehículos aplicado a desastres naturales, *High Tech - Engineering Journal*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 1-20, 2021. https://doi.org/10.46363/high-tech.v1i1.2 (Original in Spanish)
- [9] MASSON, A., PARAVIÉ, D., ROHVEIN, C., VILLALBA, L.: Review of Vehicle Routing Problem Solving Software, *INGE CUC*, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 315-328, 2021.
- [10] BHUPESH, K.M., DAHAL, K., PERVEZ, Z., BHATTARAI, S.: A multi-objetivo evolutionary optimisation model for heterogeneous vehicles routing and relief items scheduling in humanitarian crises, *Decision Analytics Journal*, Vol. 5, No. December, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dajour.2022.100128

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dajour.2022.100128 (Original in Spanish)



Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

[11] XAVIER, I.R., BANDEIRA, R.A., BANDEIRA, A.P., CAMPOS, V.B., SILVA, L.O.: Planning the use of helicopters in distribution of supplies in response operations of natural disaster, *Transportation Rearch Procedia*, Vol. 47, pp. 633-640, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2020.03.141

- [12] HAMEDI, M., HAGHANI, A., YANG, S.: Reliable Transportation of Humanitarian Supplies in Disaster Response: Model and Heuristic, *Procedia - Social* and Behavioral Sciences, Vol. 54, pp. 1205-1219, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.09.835
- [13] LAMOS-DÍAZ, H., AGUILAR-IMITOLA, K., BARRETO-ROBLES, M.A., NIÑO-NIÑO, P.N., MARTÍNEZ-QUEZADA, D.: A memetic algorithm for location-routing problem with time windows for the attention of seismic disasters: a case study from Bucaramanga, Colombia, *INGE CUC*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 75-86, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.17981/ingecuc.14.1.2018.7

- [14] BAROJAS-PAYÁN, E., DE LA CRUZ-ZOPIYACTLE, E.N., SÁNCHEZ-PARTIDA, D., SÁNCHEZ-BAZÁN, I., JUÁREZ-RIVERA, V.: Program for the delivery of basic necessities of a warehouse during the Covid-19 pandemic, Acta logistica, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 39-49, 2022. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v9i1.268
- [15] BAROJAS-PAYÁN, E., SÁNCHEZ-PARTIDA, D., RIANO-CONTRERAS, N.E., MARTÍNEZ-FLORES, J.L., VELASQUEZ-MELO, W., CABALLERO-MORALES, S.O.: Heuristic of the Nearest Neighbor in the delivery of supports within the State of Veracruz, International Journal of Combinatorial Optimization Problems and Informatics, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 26-38, 2018.
- [16] BAROJAS-PAYÁN, E., SÁNCHEZ-PARTIDA, D, HEREDIA-ROLDAN, M.J., JUÁREZ-RIVERA, V., MEDINA-CERVANTES, J.: Logistics Solutions in the Preparation Phase for the Appearance of Disasters, Advances in Science, Technology and Engineering Systems Journal, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 323-330, 2020. https://doi.org/10.25046/aj050438
- [17] TORO-OCAMPO, E.M., FRANCO-BAQUERO, J.F., GALLEGO-RENDON, R.A.: Mathematical Model for Capacitated Location Routing Problem with Private Fleet and Common Carrier, *Ingeniería Investigación y Tecnología*, Vol. XVII, No. 3, pp. 357-369, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rjjt.2016.07.006

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.riit.2016.07.006

[18] GATICA, G., CONTRERAS-BOLTON, C., VENEGAS, N., OPAZO, O., LINFATI, R., ESCOBAR, JW: A web application for location and vehicle routing in disaster, *Iteckne*, Vol.14, No.1, pp. 62-69, [Online], Available: http://www.scielo.org.co/pdf/itec/v14n1/v14n1a08.p df [9 Jan 2023], 2017. [19] BABAQI, T., VIZVÁRI, B.: The post-disaster transportation of injured people when hospitals have districts, *Journal of Humanitarian Logistics and Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 13, No. 1, pp. 61-73, 2023.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629

https://doi.org/10.1108/JHLSCM-09-2021-0088

[20] ÇAĞLAYAN, N., SATOGLU, S.I.: Simulation analysis of critical factors of casualty transportation for disaster response: a case study of Istanbul earthquake, *International Journal of Disaster Resilience in the Built Environment*, Vol. 13, No. 5, pp. 632-647, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.1108/IJDRBE-03-2021-0031

- [21] RAMLI, M.W.A., ALIAS, N.E., TAIB, S.M.: Evaluating Transportation Modes and Routes for Disaster Relief in Kelantan Using Geographical Information System, in Improving flood management, prediction and monitoring (community, environment and disaster risk management), Vol. 20, Emerald Publishing Limited, Bingley, pp. 63-71, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/S2040-726220180000020014
- [22] WANG, S., LIU, F., LIAN, L., HONG, Y., CHEN, H.: Integrated post-disaster medical assistance team scheduling and relief supply distribution, *The International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 29, No. 4, pp. 1279-1305, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-06-2017-0152
- [23] BRUNI, M.E., BERALDI, P., KHODAPARASTI, S.: A fast heuristic for routing in post-disaster humanitarian relief logistics, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 30, pp. 304-313, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.033
- [24] ZEPEDA-GIL, R., HUERTA-PINEDA, A., SÁNCHEZ-CORREA, M.K., SÁNCHEZ-RAMÍREZ, M.C.: La vulnerabilidad de México ante el cambio climático, Una revisión del Sistema Nacional de Protección Civil, Cd México: Instituto Belisario Domínguez Senado de la República, 2018.
- [25] Gobierno del estado de Chiapas, Conoce Chiapas, [Online], Available: https://www.chiapas.gob.mx/ub icacion [20 Dec 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)
- [26] INEGI, Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, INEGI, Gobierno de México, Cuentame Aguascalientes, México, [Online], Available: https://cuentame.inegi.org.mx/monografias/informac ion/chis/territorio/div_municipal.aspx?tema=me&e= 07#:~:text=En%202020%2C%20Chiapas%20est%C 3%A1%20dividido,Marco%20Geoestad%C3%ADst ico%2C%202020.&text=FUENTE%3A%20INEGI., -Censo%20de%20Poblaci%C3%B3n [15 Nov 2022], 2020. (Original in Spanish)
- [27] MEJIA, C.: Se desborda el río Chalaca en Escuintla, El Heraldo de Chiapas, OEM Organización Editorial Mexicana, Lunes 29 Agosto, p.1, 2022, Chiapas, México, [Online], Available: https://www.elheraldodechiapas.com.mx/local/muni

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

 (A_{l})

Supplying aid products to affected regions by a natural phenomenon in Chiapas, Mexico Erika Barojas-Payan, Diana Sanchez-Partida, Israel-Uriel Cantu-Cortes, Eduardo-Jesus Martinez-Banuelos

cipios/escuintla-se-desborda-el-rio-chalaca-8812411.html [3 Sep 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)

- [28] Consejo Nacional de la Población, Índices de marginación 2020, Gobierno de México, Cd México, [Online], Available: https://www.gob.mx/conapo/do cumentos/indices-de-marginacion-2020-284372
 [3 Oct 2023], 2020. (Original in Spanish)
- [29] INEGI, Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, Panorama Sociodemográfico de México, Censo de Población y Vivienda 2020, Aguascalientes, México, [Online], Available: https://www.inegi.org.mx/app/b iblioteca/ficha.html?upc=702825197780 [3 Jan 023], 2020. (Original in Spanish)
- [30] Secretaría de Protección Civil, Comunicados de Prensa, Gobierno de Chiapas, Tuxtla Gutiérrez, México, [Online], Available: https://proteccioncivil.chiapas.gob.mx/comunicadosenero-2023 [3 Oct 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)
- [31] CENAPRED, Centro Nacional de Prevención de Desastres, Sistema de Consulta de Declaratorias 2000-2022, Gobierno de México, Cd. de México, [Online], Available: http://www.atlasnacionalderiesg os.gob.mx/apps/Declaratorias [5 Sep 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)

[32] SEGOB, Secretaría de Gobernación, Diario Oficial de la Federación, DOF: 16/08/2021, Gobierno de México, Cd. México, [Online], Available: https://www.dof.gob.mx/nota_detalle.php?codigo=5 626632&fecha=16/08/2021#gsc.tab=0 [16 Jan 2023], 2022. (Original in Spanish)

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 353-362 ISSN 1339-5629

- [33] Wellpack, *Tipos de Camiones*, [Online], Available: https://wellpack.org/es/como-calcular-la-capacidadde-un-camion/ [20 Oct 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)
- [34] PINEDA-FIGUEIRAS, Á.A., SÁNCHEZ-PARTIDA, D., CANO-OLIVOS, P., BAROJAS-PAYÁN, E., MARTÍNEZ-FLORES, J.L.: Location of Humanitarian Response Distribution Center for the State of Chiapas, in Humanitarian Logistics from the Disaster Risk Reduction, Theory and Applications, Cham, Switzerland, Springer, 2022.
- [35] Consejo Nacional de Evaluación de la Política de Desarrollo Social (Coneval), Medición de la Pobreza en los municipios de México, Gobierno de México, Cd. México, 2021. (Original in Spanish)

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.







Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders

Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.402

Received: 13 Mar. 2023; Revised: 14 May 2023; Accepted: 02 June 2023

Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders

Farchi Fadwa

Hassan 1er University, Faculty of Sciences and Technologies, Department of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Research Laboratory: IMII (Engineering, Industrial Management, and Innovation), 50 Rue Ibnou Lhaytham B.P. 577, Settat 26002, Morocco, f.farchi@uhp.ac.ma (corresponding author)

Farchi Chayma

Hassan 1er University, Faculty of Sciences and Technologies, Department of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Research Laboratory: IMII (Engineering, Industrial Management, and Innovation), 50 Rue Ibnou Lhaytham B.P. 577, Settat 26002, Morocco, c.farchi@uhp.ac.ma

Touzi Badr

Mohammed V University, Faculty of Legal, Economic and Social Sciences - Souissi, Department of economics and management sciences, Research laboratory: LARCEPEM (interdisciplinary center for research in performance and competitiveness), Avenue des Nations Unies, Agdal, Rabat Maroc B.P:8007.N.U, Morocco, badr.touzi@um5.ac.ma

Mabrouki Charif

Hassan 1er University, Faculty of Sciences and Technologies, Department of Mechanical and Electrical Engineering, Research Laboratory: IMII (Engineering, Industrial Management, and Innovation), 50 Rue Ibnou Lhaytham B.P. 577, Settat 26002, Morocco, charif.mabrouki@uhp.ac.ma

Keywords: stakeholders, categorization, decision graph, urban logistics.

Abstract: The main challenge for urban logistics is to shift towards a system, working under the guidance of a competent authority working in collaboration with all the stakeholders involved, whether near or far. The ultimate goal of this coordination is to optimize resources and durations while maximizing benefits in a sustainable urban context. The choice of the route to be preferred is to be justified at the level of this article. This is the purpose of this document, which aims to prioritize the most important players in the field of goods transport at the urban level to highlight the areas of action. In this article, we recall several notions by providing several definitions related to the actors of urban logistics, including last-mile delivery and standardized categorizations. We then propose our own classification based on a questionnaire, which provides the necessary data for the development of three decision-making graphs based on the results of our analysis. By highlighting the most important stakeholders in urban logistics, we hope to provide a framework for more efficient and sustainable urban goods transport in the future.

1 Introduction

Due to the growing importance of e-commerce business, with an average growth of 10% per year (Melacini et al., 2018), as well as the current trend of urbanization where 47% of the global world population lives in urban environments (Elmqvist, 2018), new urban logistics concepts are required to guarantee favourable living and working conditions for urban actors. City dwellers are increasingly demanding a sophisticated transport infrastructure and traffic flows.

By 2050, the world population is expected to reach 9.7 billion, with over 66% living in urban areas (Revision of World Urbanization Prospects, 2018). Transportation, security, production, and distribution have been affected by this rapid urbanization and more lasting and recurring events related to climate change; the urban population depends on the efficiency of the logistics system. The efficiency of the logistics system is crucial for the urban population; discussions on these topics primarily focus on specific stakeholders such as residents, governments, carriers, consignees, transportation companies, and others.

Given the complexity of the logistics system, various stakeholders are involved, each with a unique role to play

in ensuring the smooth flow of goods from the point of origin to the point of consumption. The involvement of these stakeholders is vital in ensuring the efficient and sustainable functioning of the urban logistics system. By this integration, urban logistics can be optimized to meet the needs of all parties. It enables the development of logistics strategies that are responsive to the changing needs of the population, minimizes the negative impacts of logistics activities on the environment and reduces traffic congestion. It fosters collaboration and coordination among different stakeholders, which is crucial in ensuring the smooth functioning of the logistics system.

Stakeholders can be classified into several categories based on their level of interest and involvement in a project or decision-making process. By categorizing, it becomes easier to identify who needs to be prioritized and which stakeholders require more attention and communication throughout the decision-making process.

2 Methodology

2.1 Literature review

Although there has been a lot of research on sustainability in urban systems, most of it has focused on



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

the three main axes of environment, society, and economy, with very little attention given to the infrastructural conditions associated with urban freight operations. There have been some interesting ideas, models, and frameworks proposed by various authors in the literature. Taniguchi (2014) provided an overview of city logistics, Olsson et al. (2019) reviewed the literature on last-mile logistics, and Boysen et al. (2020) surveyed last-mile delivery approaches from an operations research perspective. There has been research on consumer choice models for electronic purchases. Gatta et al. (2020) used an agentbased approach with discrete choice to investigate the possible acceptance of e-grocery, while Comi and Nuzzolo (2016) developed models to simulate purchasing decisions based on demographic and socio-economic factors. Van Duin et al. (2016) predicted delivery results based on historical delivery data from a logistics parcel service provider, while Russo and Comi (2020) analyzed end-user choices and found that socioeconomic characteristics and store location affect the quantity.

The literature on urban freight transport has identified five interest groups/stakeholders with different areas of interest in relation to urban delivery, including public intermediate bodies. associations and bodies. representatives from the private sector, residents or visitors, and other stakeholders (supporting units, manufacturers of delivery vehicles, educational institutions, research institutes and consultants, politicians and Members of Parliament, and local and public media of communication). This information was derived from the work of Zuccotti & Konstantinopoulou (2010), Russo & Comi (2010), Lepori et al. (2010), McLeod et al. (2011), and Iwan (2013):

- Public bodies: municipal administration, legislative and municipal executive authorities, authorities of neighbouring cities, regional authorities, and provincial and state authorities;
- Associations and intermediate bodies: chambers of commerce and business associations and organizations;
- Representatives from the private sector: carriers, forwarders, business and service unit owners;
- residents or visitors;
- other stakeholders: supporting units, manufacturers of delivery vehicles, educational institutions, research institutes and consultants, politicians and Members of Parliament and media of communication, local and public.

2.2 Last-mile delivery Definition of "City"

Although the literature has shown increasing interest in city logistics related to last-mile delivery in the ecommerce market, most publications tend to focus on specific issues, such as the analysis of e-trade's impact on last-mile delivery (Allen et al., 2018) or end-user choices (Russo and Comi, 2020). A city is a problematic and decentralized object that encompasses a multitude of socio-technical processes and networks, as well as hybrid groups and alternative typologies (Farías and Bender, 2010; Gutzmer, 2015). Modern cities are complex systems whose vigilance depends on the efficient working of municipal administration and management units, which encircle all essential areas. Cities are, among subjects, places of work, housing, recreation, shopping, and culture. Cities should allow the implementation and infrastructures of living requirements for residents and other users (internal or external visitors for each probable purpose), providing them with necessary living conditions, not necessarily ideal ones.

Sustainable last-mile

In the E-commerce market, Last-mile delivery is one of the many areas of urban freight transport (UFT) and can be defined as "a set of activities and processes involved in the delivery process from the last point of transit to the last delivery point in the supply chain (Yuen et al., 2018)".

The sustainability of urban transport has been discussed in the literature by Taniguchi et al. (2016), who proposed using big data and decision support systems for urban logistics. Customer value in last-mile delivery was discussed by Vakulenko et al. (2018), and the concept of crowdsourcing logistics was explored by Castillo et al. (2018). Location-routing problems with simultaneous home delivery and customer pick-up were discussed by Zhou et al. (2016), while Perboli et al. (2018) proposed a dual framework for simulation optimisation to evaluate environmental and operational settings for freight transportation. In spite of the several measures taken in cities, these are often unsuccessful. One of the main reasons for this situation is the lack of cooperation between the stakeholders (Gatta & Marcucci, 2016). In particular, stakeholders are sometimes excluded from the decisionmaking process that directly affects them (Macharis & Kin, 2017).

Among these needs, the requirements for efficacious mobility and accessibility to a large number of consumer goods and resources are of particular importance (Witkowski & Kiba-Janiak, 2014; Macharis et al., 2012). Achieving sustainability is a real challenge because it is only possible through the sociotechnical passage by introducing technological innovations in a complex social system (Geels et al., 2017; Canitez, 2019). Some researchers have developed an approach to designing and evaluating last-mile deliveries from the perspective of various stakeholders (Harrington et al., 2016).

To address local transport problems and ensure sustainable-efficient urban mobility, stakeholders in urban freight transport must work together collaboratively to develop sustainable plans. Unfortunately, city authorities currently lack tools to facilitate such integration.



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

2.3 Stakeholders' classification Stakeholders' definition

Urban innovation is a prime example of the involvement of multiple stakeholders in the development and implementation of complex innovations (e.g., Murdoch, 2000; Nilssen, 2018); Identifying specific barriers to innovation is crucial as it can help mitigate stakeholder opposition and resistance to change (Yu et al., 2019).

the urban environment is characterized by multimodal networks, disparate transport modes and conflicting interests of stakeholders, making last-mile deliveries a complicated system with many actors involving a wide range of entities in simultaneous interaction and related activities like operating and planning. In line with the complexity associated with city logistics, simulation is a widely accepted and commonly used solution that provides tools, approaches, frameworks and models in order to organize distribution activities and support decisionmaking processes (Crainic et al., 2018). Prior to commencing analysis, it is important to define the term "stakeholders". It refers to parties who are affected by a decision made without necessarily participating in the decision-making process. While some stakeholders are directly involved in urban transportation, such as component suppliers, manufacturers, carriers, retailers, and consumers, many others are not, such as city authorities, residents, and tourists/visitors (De Oliveira et al., 2016).

Classification of stakeholders

Effective management of urban logistics requires identifying and prioritizing the stakeholders involved in the process. There is a lack of research on stakeholders' classification in urban logistics. Without this, it becomes difficult to understand the complex network of interactions between them, their interests, and their influence on the decision-making process. This can lead to mismanagement of resources and result in inefficient and unsustainable urban logistics. There is a need to develop a comprehensive framework for the classification of stakeholders in urban logistics, which can provide a systematic and structured approach to understanding the relationships between stakeholders and their impact on the urban logistics system. Such a framework can help identify key stakeholders, determine their roles, and prioritize their needs, leading to better decision-making, improved collaboration, and more sustainable urban logistics.

Current situation and stakeholders' classification

The City logistics situation is an intricate structure where many actors with diverse (and usually contradictory) objectives and various types of delivery operations coexist alongside different and restrictive regulations governing access to city centers. It is seen from three viewpoints, which are represented by different stakeholders: from the demand side, supply and their physical surroundings controlled by governmental authorities (Bandeira et al., 2018). Urban distribution confronts many hardships due to infrastructure congestion, external costs or conflicting interests between stakeholders' goals. UFT includes private companies (producers, carriers, retailers), final consumers working or living in urban areas, and public authorities (Karakikes and Nathanail, 2019). Taniguchi (2014) identifies three primary stakeholders involved in last-mile city logistics, namely freight transporters, municipal authorities, and the city's residents. According to Stathopoulos et al. (2012), stakeholders are viewed as entities with a vested interest in decisions concerning urban transportation matters within the broader understanding of the concept of urban logistics, Vakulenko et al. (2018). Though, the stakeholders can be divided into two groups as described in table 1:

Public	Private
Public transport operators –	Freight carriers -
Authorities	Senders
Residents City users –	Other private
Traffic participants	companies

Justification of the causes of stakeholders' conflicts

The successful implementation of urban innovations requires overcoming stakeholder opposition, as it can result in lasting actors' commitment and endorsement of goals (Williams et al., 2019; Hertel et al., 2019), which, in turn, increases their willingness to adopt urban innovations. It is important to reduce stakeholders' resistance by means of a structured innovation process. That can be reduced through a structured innovation process, as individual and organizational interactions in the ecosystem can create additional sources of resistance (Emani, 2018).

The diverse needs and interests of the aforementioned groups primarily stem from their divergent goals, which influence their operations and give rise to various conflicts (Rubini & Lucia, 2018; Russo & Comi, 2010).

• Public authorities aim to minimize the negative impact of transportation, creating an appealing city for residents and tourists.

• Private companies seek to deliver goods efficiently and cost-effectively, meeting the demands of end customers within shorter delivery times.

• City residents prioritize safety and unrestricted mobility within the urban environment.

Generally, the aim of this paper is to propose a plan for resolving conflicts of interest by prioritizing stakeholders in order to know who among them holds more power, efficiency and ability to act. This will help from a point of view firstly to understand who should act first and in what field he can intervene secondly.



3 Result and discussion

Before starting our analytical study, we start by giving the definitions of essential stakeholders as shown in table 2:

Actors	Table 2 Definition of stakeholders Definitions	Interests
Sender	An organization, operating under its own name,	Customer satisfaction
	responsible for the transportation of goods on behalf of a	Business satisfaction
	client, either through direct transportation or by subcontracting the task.	Reduction of costs &delays
Logistic provider	A company that offers assistance in managing the movement and storage of logistics operations.	Dispatching of deliveries Consolidation of freight with the same destination
Reversed	An operator responsible for overseeing the retrieval,	Customer satisfaction
logisticsoperator	collection, repair, destruction, and assignments of products.	Quick and efficient pickup
Warehouseman	An operator tasked with the management of goods, including storage, rotation, movement, and organization.	Optimal stock level Good stock rotation
Local authority	Group of people with the authority to govern a state or a country. We will use the government instead of local authorities, because in Morocco power is held by this actor.	Ensuring a good quality of life for citizens Ensuring the safety of people Ensure the protection of the environment Maintenance of infrastructure
Cargo carrier	A company that is entrusted with the transportation of freight (goods) from one place to another, following a specific transportation scheme based on the characteristics of the infrastructure.	Safety of transported goods Fast delivery to the customer Cost reduction
Industrial	Production of goods.	Fast delivery to the customer Reduced transport costs Condensed deadlines
Driver	An intermediary between customers and manufacturers who facilitates the transportation process by coordinating the delivery vehicle.	Safety of goods and people transported
Resident	An individual who resides within a specific urban area.	Living in an unpolluted environment security
Regulator	An agent responsible for ensuring efficient management of the transportation of goods, vehicles, and passengers.	Travel optimization Reduction of energy consumed
Dealer	An administrative body that provides approvals for transportation.	Safety of goods andpeople
Planner	Resource and needs match manager, transport and production planner.	Route optimization
Operations officer	Intermediate between the driver and the consumer utilizing allavailable human and material resources.	Good progress of transport operations
Customer	The recipient of the product, who may or may not be theultimate consumer.	Reduced acquisitionprices
Consumer	The final consumer who will utilize the product.	Advantageous rates

3.1 Attributes-based classification

After reviewing the opinions of various authors on the stakeholders of urban logistics, methods of analysis, specification, and categorization, it is necessary to examine the stakeholders as actors who regulate the entire chain by influencing one another. The expectations of stakeholders, both public and private institutions, and the innovative objectives of urban transport are constantly in confluence, and their interactions must be considered.



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

It is important to identify and characterize their distinct features. The more a characteristic is present, the more significant role an actor plays in urban logistics. We will define a set of characteristics that will be associated with each stakeholder, which we will refer to as "attributes." These attributes may or may not be applicable to a given actor. Table 3 contains all the attributes and their legal lexicon's definitions:

Number	Attributes	Definitions
1	Opposition	It is the total refusal of one structure towards another or any manifestation of volition through which a person intends to stop the execution of a legal or judicialprocess. It can be presented by a physical or moral entity.
2	Acceptance	It is the fact that a person declaring that he subscribes to the undertaking offer which is proposed to him: it constitutes the apparent mark of consent. Acceptancecan be express or implied.
3	Power	It designates the legal capacity to do one thing, to act for another for which one has received a mandate. It refers to the forms of authority within a state, such as the three powers: legislative, executive, and judicial. The public powers are the constituted authorities
4	Infrastructure	Set of works constituting the foundation and the installation on the ground of a construction or of a set of installations (for example roads, railroads, airports).
5	Public liability	It is incurred either because of the non-performance of a contract, or because of a voluntary act or not, involving for the person who is at fault or who is legally presumed at fault, the obligation to repair the damage. that has been suffered by one or more others.
6	Means of transport	In urban distribution, it is the intra-city public transport that is specific to a cityor an urban environment, adapted to this environment. These must be of good quality and must meet some requirements.
7	Commitment	It is the act by which a public body creates or establishes against it an obligation which will result in a charge.
8	Conduct and behaviour	Characterizes all the reactions adopted by a person, in his environment and in the face of given situations. Here, the behavior acts on the distribution frequency.
9	Training and awareness	It is a program through which a group of people learning to work in the field of urban logistics is introduced to the risks, strategies and policies of its proper functioning.
10	Competence	In civil procedure, it is called « jurisdiction » which refers to the ability recognized by the rules of law for a court to hear a dispute. This can also mean the in-depth knowledge in a branch or field.
11	Moral responsibility	Moral responsibility is the need for a person to answer for his intentions and actions before his conscience. Obligation made to a person to answer for his actsbecause of the role, the loads which he must assume and to support all the consequences thereof.
12	Triggering	Induce by means of a mechanism the setting in motion of a mechanism or a process. Usually, the entity with more power is able to do so.
13	Leverage	It is an influence that refers to the fact that a physical or moral person uses their power and authority with the aim of abusing their influence, real or supposed, so that they can make a favourable decision.

The stakeholders-attribute matrix is actually a first selection of the most important actors of the urban logistics community. This sorting is necessary to reduce the number of parts to be processed. Once done, we will apply in a second step another differentiation of the remaining actors in order to prioritize stakeholders. In other words, once we get a long list of stakeholders, we need to categorize them. Some of them may have the power to block one decision or advance another. Some may be more or less interested in the contribution or consequences of the project.

It is in this sense that the Power-Interest matrix comes into play with the intention of segregating/prioritizing the stakeholders. By drawing up this grid (Table 4). It becomes simple and efficient to identify the most important stakeholders based on their power and interest in the urban context.



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders

Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

						ł	411K	BUIE	22				
Stakeholders	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A6	A7	A8	A9	A10	A11	A12	A13
Sender	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
Logistic provider	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
Reversed logistics operator	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
Warehouseman	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0
Government	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	1
Cargo Carrier	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
Industrial	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
Driver	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
Resident	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0
Regulator	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0
Dealer	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0

Table 4 Attributes' table ATTRIBUTE

3.2 Application of the Power - Interest grid on the selected actors

T.

From the first selection of stakeholders -based on attributes- we have identified the most important. We note that for each appreciation, we associate a value interval with two steps and a half, as shown in Table 5:

Table 5 Appreciations' values						
Values	Interest's	Power's				
	appreciations	appreciations				
[0 - 2.5]	Not interested at all	No power				

[2.5 - 5]	Little interested	Little power
[5 - 7.5]	Interested	Moderate power
[7.5 - 10]	Highly interested	Too much power

In order to present this matrix, we draw a summary table of the actors kept according to the number of points (attributes). We defined a margin of appreciation which allows to quantify the values of the powers and interest according to table 6. Below is a summary of these actors (Figure 1):



 $Copyright @ Acta \ Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu$



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders

Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

Stakeholders	N° Points/Attributes	Margin of interest	Margin of power
Government	10	[7.5 - 10]	[7.5 - 10]
Consumer	8	[2.5 - 5]	[7.5 - 10]
Sender	8	[7.5 - 10]	[0 - 2.5]
Industrial	7	[5 - 7.5]	[5 - 7.5]
Resident	7	[0 - 2.5]	[2.5 - 5]
Regulator	7	[0 - 2.5]	[5 - 7.5]
Logistic Provider	6	[5 - 7.5]	[0 - 2.5]
Reverse Logistics Operator	6	[5 - 7.5]	[0 - 2.5]
Driver	6	[2.5 - 5]	[0 - 2.5]

3.3 Decision-making based on 3 elements Interest, Power & Efficiency

In the following section we will justify the values attributed to the interests and powers of the stakeholders. We are going to propose a questionnaire to collect tangible digital data.

The methodology used is composed of 5 distinct phases:

Phase 1 Reorganization of stakeholders

In the preceding analysis, we categorized stakeholders based on their importance without considering their roles in the value chain. For our next analysis, we will divide stakeholders into two groups based on whether they operate within the value chain or play a facilitating role. Figure 2 displays this distribution.



Figure 2 Positioning urban logistics stakeholders in the supply chain

Phase 2 Data gathering

To obtain more realistic data, we created a questionnaire and sent it to various urban logistics entities. Out of 27 recipients, 20 individuals who operate in this field completed the questionnaire. Unfortunately, we were unable to distribute the questionnaire to government entities, which we refer to as public authorities in our analysis. The questionnaire consisted of rating each stakeholder group's power and interest on a scale of 0-3:

- 0: No power / no interest
- 1: Low power / low interest
- 2: Average power / average interest
- 3: Strong power / strong interest

Question 1: What influence can this group have on the development of urban logistics?

Question 2: How important is each stakeholder group to urban logistics systems?

These same questions were applied to 4 separate themes, as shown in Table 7:

Table 7 Definition of themes used for the analysis				
Theme	Definition			
Positive	The level of investment in the population			
societal	so that the latter sees its full positive			
development	potential emerge.			
Environment's	Is based on an attitude respectful of the			
respect	future of man on planet Earth and of the			
	limited resources in the long term.			
Use of SMART	Use of modes of transport that incorporate			
means	new information and telecommunications			
	technologies.			
Safety of goods	Being able to keep people and transported			
and people	goods safe during any distribution			
_	journey.			

Phase 3 Data aggregation

The classification is based on the determination of the powers and interests scores of each stakeholder. The score profiles determine the classification of the clusters of stakeholder groups. Scores are calculated using data collected through a questionnaire detailed in the 2nd phase. After grouping the data, we aggregated the inputs by theme. To do this, we calculated the minimum value, the maximum value as well as the weighted average of each



theme grouping. Note that we work with the weighted mean values for the rest of the analysis. This means that for each actor, we retain the minimum value assigned, the maximum value and we calculate the weighted average.

After obtaining the tables of results for the 2 entries Interest and power for the 4 themes, we must now group them into an overall table. In order to group the data into a single function, we weighted the 4 themes, according to the AHP method, we ranked the order of priority of themes.

We can denote the desired function as follows (1), (2):

$$aXi + bYi + cZi + dTi;$$

$$a + b + c + d = 1;$$
(1)
(2)

$$a+b+c+a=1;$$

i∈ [[1; 9]]

X, Y, and Z are the average values for each stakeholder expressed by interest and power for all 4 themes. For example, we calculate the mean average of the government's interest and power, applied to the 4 themes mentioned above.

Figure 3 shows the classification of themes resulting from the AHP analysis. The result was the following:

Resulting Priorities

Decision Matrix

Priorities

These are the resulting weights for the criteria based on your pairwise comparisons:

Ca	t	Priority	Rank	(+)	(-)
1	Positive societal dev	4.8%	4	1.0%	1.0%
2	Environment's respect	44.1%	1	12.0%	12.0%
3	Use of Smart means	20.0%	3	3.5%	3.5%
4	Safety of goods and people	31.1%	2	7.3%	7.3%

The resulting weights are based on the principal eigenvector of the decision matrix:

	1	2	3	4
1	1	0.14	0.20	0.14
2	7.00	1	2.00	2.00
3	5.00	0.50	1	0.50
4	7.00	0.50	2.00	1

Number of comparisons = 6 Consistency Ratio CR = 2.8% Principal eigen value = 4.077 Eigenvector solution: 4 iterations, delta = 4.5E-8

Figure 3 Results of the ranking according to the AHP method

To ensure that the percentages are balanced and accurately reflect the results of the analysis, two postranking conditions were imposed using the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP):

• No percentage must be less than 10% to be quantified properly in the grouping function.

• Every percentage must be a multiple of 10.

Therefore, the percentage table is slightly modified and is considered as follows (Table 8).

Theme	Percent
	Importance %
Positive societal development	<i>a</i> =10%
Environment's respect	<i>b</i> =40%
Use of SMART means	<i>c</i> =20%
Safety of goods and people	<i>d</i> =30%

Phase 4 Adding a third input

The goal of our work is to create decision graphs that will give us a priority ranking of stakeholders. So, to complete the Interest-Power matrix, we add a third variable, namely, efficiency. It is important to think of a third variable as long as it will make the analysis broader and more focused. Efficiency is a judgment that quantifies the level of achievement of the objectives linked to the function exercised by each player in urban logistics. The treatment of efficiency data corresponds to that used for the other two entries. The stakeholders are positioned on the decision-making function according to the 2 distinct coordinates in 3 different graphs (interest, efficiency), (power, interest), and (efficiency, power).

Phase 5 Decision graphs

The decision graph was plotted based on the results of the stages mentioned above. On a 2D surface, we draw our 2 respective inputs, which are the interest, the power, and the efficiency of each of the stakeholders, according to Table 9:



Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

Table 9 Table of coordinates			
Stakeholders	Retained Value – Interest	Retained Value - Power	Retained Value - Efficiency
Government	2.71	2.55	2.85
Consumer	1.98	1.44	1.23
Sender	1.20	1.41	2.37
Industrial	1.88	1.92	2.57
Resident	1.91	1.07	1.06
Regulator	1.35	1.48	2.11
Logistic provider	1.45	1.26	2.51
Reversed logistics operator	1.45	1.24	2.36
Driver	1.79	2.01	2.00

For the 3 graphs we add a horizontal line y = mean as shown in figure 4, figure 5 and figure 6. This latter presents

the minimal value, above which the values may correspond to an important stakeholder.



Figure 4 Interest-Efficiency Histogram



Figure 5 Power-Interest Histogram



Figure 6 Efficiency-Power Histogram

~ 371 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu





Categorization of urban logistics stakeholders Farchi Fadwa, Farchi Chayma, Touzi Badr, Mabrouki Charif

What is significant for us is the values of powers, interests and efficiency, which exceed the fixed average. We will keep all stakeholders that exceed this threshold for both entries per graph. It is enough for both values to cross the line Y = Mean, for it to be considered as an important actor (Mean value which changes according to the order of the histograms).

The basic idea was to compare the results of the graphs, except that in our case the same stakeholders are highlighted. The 3 histograms show that the most important stakeholders are: Government, Industrials or Manufacturers, and Drivers.

3.4 Discussion of results

The previous analysis has shown that drivers, industrials and the authorities represented at this level by the government are the 3 actors on which we must act in the first place in order to better manage urban logistics. The proposed solutions must concern these latter in the first place, once these actors have been treated and concluded to do their tasks correctly, we can move on to the next one.

This judgment seems logical and appropriate to us, since, in Morocco, the government decides on the state of the cities and the logistics. It is an enabler who not only makes decisions on all terms but who has the right to establish a basis of methods and results while controlling the process. The importance of manufacturing and industrial companies stems from the fact that production regulates the entire system of distribution of goods, whether in terms of quantities, frequencies of shipments or transfers, the positioning of intermediate stocks or even reconciliation stock with customers.

4 Conclusions

In recent years, the importance of stakeholders in urban logistics management has become increasingly recognized, and there is a growing need to better understand the roles and interactions of these actors in the delivery chain.

In this paper, we undertook a comprehensive study of stakeholders in urban logistics management. We began by defining the concept of stakeholders and categorized them based on their level of involvement in decision-making since it is a necessary first step in developing effective strategies for urban logistics management. After gathering and comparing the opinions of the authors, we delved deeper into the study by determining the attributes of each actor to better understand their role and positions Our study went beyond a simple categorization of stakeholders and utilized a graphic study based on a questionnaire to categorize and classify the stakeholders. This approach allowed us to identify and prioritize key stakeholders and better understand their impact on the logistics system.

From this study, we can conclude that prioritizing certain actors is necessary when presenting an action plan for urban logistics management. The study revealed two important realities: The first reality: the consumer, although not integrated into decision-making, is the pioneer of the entire delivery chain and their behaviour should be taken into account.

The second reality: the government, industrialists, and drivers are the three main actors in this chain, with the government being the most important as they directly manipulate urban transport due to their environmental and urban obligations.

References

- MELACINI, M., PEROTTI, S., RASINI, M., TAPPIA, E.: *E-fulfilment and distribution in omnichannel retailing: a systematic literature review*, International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, Vol. 48, No. 4, pp. 391-414, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijpdlm-02-2017-0101
- [2] ELMQVIST, T., BAI, X., FRANTZESKAKI, N., GRIFFITH, C., MADDOX, D., MCPHEARSON, T., PARNELL, S., ROMERO- LANKAO, P., SIMON, D., MATKINS, M.: The Urban Planet: Knowledge Towards Sustainable Cities, Cambridge University Press, 2018.
- [3] TANIGUCHI, E.: Concepts of City Logistics for Sustainable and Liveable Cities, *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 151, No. October, pp. 310-317, 2014.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.10.029

- [4] OLSSON, J., HELLSTRÖM, D., PALSSON, H.: Framework of Last Mile Logistics Research: A Systematic Review of the Literature, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No. 24, pp. 1-25, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11247131
- [5] BOYSEN, N., FEDTKE, S., SCHWERDFEGER, S.: Last-mile delivery concepts: a survey from an operational research perspective, *OR Spectrum: Quantitative Approaches in Management*, Vol. 43, No. 1, pp. 1-58, 2021.
- [6] GATTA, V., MARCUCCI, E., LE PIRA, M., INTURRI, G., IGNACCOLO, M., PLUCHINO, A.: E-groceries and urban freight: Investigating purchasing habits, peer influence and behaviour change via a discrete choice/agent-based modelling approach, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 46, pp. 133-140, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2020.03.173
- [7] COMI, A., NUZZOLO, A.: Exploring the Relationships Between e-shopping Attitudes and Urban Freight Transport, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 12, pp. 399-412, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.075
- [8] VAN DUIN, J.H.R., DE GOFFAU, W., WIEGMANS, B., TAVASSZY, L.A., SAES, M.: Improving Home Delivery Efficiency by Using Principles of Address Intelligence for B2C Deliveries, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 12, pp. 14-25, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.006
- [9] RUSSO, F., COMI, A.: Investigating the Effects of City Logistics Measures on the Economy of the City,



Sustainability, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 1-11, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041439

- [10] ZUCCOTTI, S., KONSTANTINOPOULOU, L.: CityLog, Towards New Solutions for Urban Freight Distribution, *Journal of Land Use, Mobility and Environment*, Vol. 3, No. 2, pp. 29-36, 2010. https://doi.org/10.6092/1970-9870/164 (Original in Italian)
- [11] RUSSO, F., COMI, A.: A classification of city logistics measures and connected impacts, *Procedia -Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 2, No. 3, pp. 6355-6365, 2010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.04.044
- [12] LEPORI, C., BANZI, M., KONSTANTIOPOULOU, L.: *Stakeholders' Needs*, In Citylog- sustainability and efficiency of city logistics, 2010.
- [13] MCLEOD, F., CHERRETT, T.: Loading Bay booking and control for urban freight, *International Journal of Logistics: Research and Applications*, Vol. 14, No. 6, pp. 385-397, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1080/13675567.2011.641525
- [14] IWAN, S., MAŁECKI, K., KORCZAK, J.: Impact of telematics on efficiency of urban freight transport, International Conference on Transport Systems Telematics, pp. 50-57, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-41647-7_7
- [15] ALLEN, J., PIECYK, M., PIOTROWSKA, M., MCLEOD, F., CHERRETT, T., GHALI, K., AUSTWICK, M.: Understanding the impact of ecommerce on last-mile light goods vehicle activity in urban areas: The case of London, *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 61, pp. 325-338, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.07.020
- [16] FARÍAS, I., BENDER, T.: Urban Assemblages: How Actor-Network Theory Changes Urban Studies, New York, Routledge, 2010.
- https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203870631
- [17] GUTZMER, A.: Globalized Space Versus Refuge of Locality? Beyond the Global Cities Discourse, Urban Innovation Networks, Springer, pp. 7-10, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-24624-6_2
- [18] YUEN, K.F., WANG, X., NG, L.T.W., WONG, Y.D.: An investigation of customers' intention to use selfcollection services for last-mile delivery, *Transport Policy*, Vol. 66, No. August, pp. 1-8, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2018.03.001
- [19] TANIGUCHI, E., THOMPSON, R.G., YAMADA, T.: New Opportunities and Challenges for City Logistics, *Transportation Research Procedia*, Vol. 12, pp. 5-13, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2016.02.004

[20] VAKULENKO, Y., HELLSTRÖM, D., HJORT, K.: What's in the parcel locker? Exploring customer value in e-commerce last mile delivery, *Journal of Business Research*, Vol. 88, pp. 421-427, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2017.11.033 [21] CASTILLO, V.E., BELL, J.E., ROSE, W.J., RODRIGUES, A.M.: Crowdsourcing Last Mile Delivery: Strategic Implications and Future Research Directions, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 39, No. 1, pp. 7-25, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbl.12173

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 363-374 ISSN 1339-5629

- [22] ZHOU, L., WANG, X., NI, L., LIN, Y.: Location-Routing Problem with Simultaneous Home Delivery and Customer's Pickup for City Distribution of Online Shopping Purchases, *Sustainability*, Vol. 8, No. 8, pp. 1-20, 2016. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8080828
- [23] PERBOLI, G., ROSANO, M., SAINT-GUILLAIN, M., RIZZO, P.: Simulation–optimization framework for City Logistics: an application on multimodal lastmile delivery, *IET Intelligent Transport Systems*, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 262-269, 2018. https://doi.org/:10.1049/iet-its.2017.0357
- [24] GATTA, V., MARCUCCI, E.: Stakeholder-specific data acquisition and urban freight policy evaluation: evidence, implications and new suggestions, *Transport Reviews*, Vol. 36, No. 5, pp. 585-609, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2015.1126385

- [25] MACHARIS, C., KIN, B.: The 4 A's of sustainable city distribution: Innovative solutions and challenges ahead, *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 59-71, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2016.1196404
- [26] WITKOWSKI, J., KIBA-JANIAK, M.: The Role of Local Governments in the Development of City Logistics, *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 125, pp. 373-385, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1481
- [27] MACHARIS, C., TURCKSIN, L., LEBEAU, K.: Multi actor multi criteria analysis (MAMCA) as a tool to support sustainable decisions: State of use, *Decision Support Systems*, Vol. 54, No. 1, pp. 610-620, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.08.008
- [28] GEELS, F.W., SOVACOOL, B.K., SCHWANEN, T., SORRELL, S.: Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization, *Science*, Vol. 357, No. 6357, pp. 1242-1244, 2017.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aao3760

[29] CANITEZ, F.: A socio-technical transition framework for introducing cycling in developing megacities: The case of Istanbul, *Cities*, Vol. 94, pp. 172-185, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2019.06.006

[30] HARRINGTON, T.S., SINGH SRAI, J., KUMAR, M., WOHLRAB, J.: Identifying design criteria for urban system "last-mile" solutions – a multistakeholder perspective, *Production Planning & Control*, Vol. 27, No. 6, pp. 456-476, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537287.2016.1147099





- [31] MURDOCH, J.: Networks-a new paradigm of rural development?, Journal of Rural Studies, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 407-419, 2000.
- [32] NILSSEN, M.: To the smart city and beyond, Developing a typology of smart urban innovation, Technological Forecasting and Social Change, Vol. 142, No. May, 98-104. 2019. pp. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.07.060
- [33] YU, T., LIANG, X., SHEN, G.Q., SHI, Q., WANG, G.: An optimization model for managing stakeholder conflicts in urban redevelopment projects in China, Journal of Cleaner Production, Vol. 212, pp. 537-547, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.12.071

- [34] CRAINIC, T.G., PERBOLI, G., ROSANO, M.: Simulation of intermodal freight transportation systems: a taxonomy, European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 270, No. 2, pp. 401-418, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2017.11.061
- [35] DE OLIVEIRA, A.O., OLIVEIRA, H.L.S., GOMES, C.F.S., RIBEIRO, P.C.C.: Quantitative analysis of RFID' publications from 2006 to 2016, International Journal of Information Management, Vol. 48, pp. 185-192, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.02.001
- [36] BANDEIRA, R.A.M., D'AGOSTO, M.A., RIBEIRO, S.K., BANDEIRA, A.P.F., GOES, G.V.: A fuzzy multi-criteria model for evaluating sustainable urban freight transportation operations, Journal of Cleaner Production, Vol. 184, pp. 727-739, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.02.234
- [37] KARAKIKES, I., NATHANAIL, E.: Using the Delphi Method to Evaluate the Appropriateness of Urban Freight Transport Solutions, Smart Cities, Vol. 3, No. 4, pp. 1428-1447, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.3390/smartcities3040068

[38] STATHOPOULOS, A., VALERI, E., MARCUCCI, E.: Stakeholder reactions to urban freight policy innovation, Journal of Transport Geography, Vol. 22, pp. 34-45, 2012.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.11.017

- [39] WILLIAMS, A., WHITEMAN, G., PARKER, J.N.: Backstage interorganizational collaboration: Corporate endorsement of the sustainable development goals, Academy of Management Discoveries, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 367-395, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0154
- [40] HERTEL, C., BACQ, S., BELZ, F.M.: It takes a village to sustain a village: A social identity perspective on successful community-based enterprise creation, Academy of Management Discoveries, Vol. 5, No. 4, pp. 438-464, 2019. https://doi.org/10.5465/amd.2018.0153
- [41] EMANI, S., PETERS, E., DESAI, S., KARSON, A. S., LIPSITZ, S.R., LAROCCA, R., BATES, D.W.: Perceptions of adopters versus non-adopters of a patient portal: an application of diffusion of innovation theory, Innovation in Health Informatics, Vol. 25, No. 3, pp. 149-157, 2018. http://dx.doi.org/10.14236/jhi.v25i3.991
- [42] RUBINI, L., LUCIA, L.D.: Governance and the stakeholders' engagement in city logistics: the SULPITER methodology and the Bologna application, Transportation Research Procedia, Vol. 30, pp. 255-264, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trpro.2018.09.028

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 375-388 ISSN 1339-5629

On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.403

210i3.403 Received: 14 Mar. 2023; Revised: 15 May 2023; Accepted: 12 Sep. 2023

On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch

Hicham Lamzaouek

Hassan II University of Casablanca, National School of Business and Management of Casablanca, LIGOD, 20250, Casablanca, Morocco, hicham.lamzaouek-etu@etu.univh2c.ma (corresponding author)

Hicham Drissi

Hassan II University of Casablanca, National School of Business and Management of Casablanca, LIGOD, 20250, Casablanca, Morocco, h.drissi@encgcasa.ma

Karima Mialed

Hassan II University of Casablanca, National School of Business and Management of Casablanca, LIGOD, 20250, Casablanca, Morocco, k.mialed@encgcasa.ma

Keywords: cash flow bullwhip, bullwhip effect, COVID-19, supply chain, performance.

Abstract: The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant bullwhip effect, which resulted in a cash flow bullwhip (CFB) in the Moroccan FMCG industry. As illustrated by a previous study, some companies were more affected by CFB than others. This indicates that CFB could be correlated to some specific aspects or characteristics of these companies. The objective of this article is to thoroughly examine the connections between CFB control and the company's internal control performance, financial performance, and supply chain performance. Therefore, a field study is conducted on the producers of detergent products. The results confirm that some performance criteria are directly correlated to the degree of exposure to CFB. In fact, a firm is able to regulate CFB when it has an effective internal control system, a reliable supply chain, and strong financial efficiency. However, the relative importance of these performance criteria is not evident. This opens the opportunity to develop a multi-criteria model that could hierarchize the different performance criteria.

1 Introduction

The previous research study demonstrated that the COVID-19 pandemic caused a great bullwhip effect that led to cash flow bullwhip (CFB) in the Moroccan FMCG sector [1]. CFB is a cash flow distortion that can be explained by the fact that the amplification of orders produced by the BWE does not reflect actual demand, which decreases the flow of products, and results in a high cost of stock holding, a cost of opportunity, and a greater need for working capital [2].

For these impacted companies, the cash flow conversion cycle's unpredictability raised their need for working capital and constrained their ability to finance themselves. To deal with this circumstance, those businesses turned to alternative sources of funding, such as their equities or bank loans, to support their operating activity [1].

Still, the degree of exposure of these companies to CFB has been different [1]. This research aims to explore the reasons that made certain companies less impacted than others. For this purpose, this research proposes to study the correlation between a company's performance and the level of CFB control. The selected performance attributes are related to the components of the cash conversion cycle, namely, inventory, accounts receivables, and accounts payables.

1.1 Problem statement

Due to COVID-19, FMCG Moroccan companies suffered from CFB. The influence of CFB on the company's cash flow is described by the fluctuation in CCC components, such as inventory flow periods and accounts receivable delays. As a result, the more the flow times fluctuate and lengthen, the longer it would take the organization to collect money, severely impacting its cash flow. Despite being profitable, CFB-affected companies are being kept hostage by their inability to finance their operations. They are forced to seek outside financing as a result, and the cost of doing so has an impact on their profitability [1].

As demonstrated in a previous study, the degree of a company's exposure to this CFB is different [1]. In order to understand what makes a company more resilient than others, a field study is conducted on a specific category of companies operating in the same branch, which is the production of detergent products.

Given that the CFB impacts the CCC and that CCC is mainly related to supply chain, financial and internal control activities, this research work aims to analyze in depth the relationship between CFB control and the company performance on the supply chain side, financial side, and internal control side.

1.2 Research objectives

The aim of this research is to determine which performance dimension contributes to CFB control. Thus,



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

through a field study, the objective is to answer the following research questions:

- What characterize the resilient companies from the most affected ones?
- Can supply chain performance impact the degree of exposure to CFB?
- Can financial performance impact the degree of exposure to CFB?
- Can internal performance impact the degree of exposure to CFB?
- Which performance criteria are most related to CFB control?
- Is there a combination of performance criteria that can lead to a specific degree of CFB control?

1.3 Research contributions

This research is of major interest to companies which are suffering from CFB given that it will give deep insights into the relationship between CFB exposure and the 3 dimensions of performance. It will give the managers a better understanding of the lever that could be used to prevent and control the CFB, which will contribute to the financial safety of their firms, especially in the context of major crises such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

For researchers, this article offers another angle to analyze the CFB and to identify potential levers to control CFB, through the study of the correlation between a company's performance and its CFB control.

On the other hand, by examining the particularity of the phenomena in relation to large crises, which can take the shape of a pandemic or other comparable event, this paper, is intended to be a contribution to the different research that has been conducted on the phenomenon of cash-flow bullwhip.

To meet the various objectives assigned to this research work, the first part is dedicated to a brief literature review of the Cash flow Bullwhip and the presentation of the three performance dimensions with the criteria that will be used for the survey guide. The second part is for the description of the study design and the presentation of the primary results. The third part is devoted to the analysis and discussion of the results, and to propose future research perspectives.

2 Theoretical basis

2.1 CFB literature review

CFB is the disruption of cash flow caused by the bullwhip effect [2]. This cash flow distortion directly impacts the working capital requirements of the company, because it deteriorates the cash conversion cycle [3].

Before the introduction of this notion by Tangsucheeva & Prabhu in 2013, many research studies focused on the financial aspect of the supply in general, and the cash conversion cycle precisely. In this regard, Farris presented the effective methods for managing the cash to cash cycle and underlined the significance of the cash to cash cycle as

a metric to evaluate the performance of the supply chain [4]. By analysing the standard deviations of the receipt, disbursement, and net flows for each period within a planning horizon, Tsai provided a modelling of the cash flow risks related to the supply chain [5]. Tsai recommended using an asset-backed securities (ABS) policy to finance accounts receivables in order to reduce the time it takes to convert money into cash and the likelihood of collection. Randall and Farris offered a way for enhancing the supply chain by sharing weighted average capital costs with trading partners and working together to control cash-to-cash cycles [6]. According to Hofmann and Kotzab, collaborative techniques are more effective than delaying suppliers' payments or collecting receivables early to increase the working capital for supply chain partners [7]. Tsai showed that businesses, particularly those with limited financial resources, suffer cash collection risks when attempting to increase sales. Tangsucheeva and Prabhu proposed a stochastic forecasting model that combines a Bayesian model for each individual customer's payment behaviour with a Markov chain model for the company's overall payment behaviour across all of its customers [8]. This has a very accurate forecast and is not dependent on the BWE. Tsai demonstrated how cost structure affects cash flow risk and how Just in Time production philosophies and new technologies can help to lower this risk [9]. Goodarzi developed a simulation model that includes a multi-stage supply chain, as well as a centralized and decentralized supply chain, to study the effects of the bullwhip effect's causes and the effect of their interactions on the CFB [10]. Despite the fact that each link in the chain employs an "Order Up To" replenishment strategy, their findings imply that the CFB can be found in both centralized and decentralized supply chains. Serrano looked at how order fluctuations affected supplier payment deadline variability at the supply chain level, as well as how they affected risk and how it spread upstream in the chain [11]. In order to examine working capital optimization in a two-echelon supply chain with one supplier and one retailer, Peng and Zhou created three models based on various supply chain collaboration levels [12]. Despite the degrees of cooperation, the authors recommend extending the payment time whenever the retailer's discount rate is greater than the suppliers. Using a system dynamics simulation model and genetic model, Badakhshan et al., created a simulation-based optimization strategy. For each SC member, the best financial and inventory choice criteria are discovered to lower the overall cost, BWE, and CFB [13]. Using 238 semiconductor businesses as a sample, Prabhu looked into the presence of CFB and the conventional bullwhip effect (BWE) from 2010-Q1 to 2020-Q4 [14]. Authors discovered that a semiconductor business's CFB and BWE are positively correlated with procurement and payment lead times, and negatively correlated with company size, the degree of seasonality in demand, and the company's payment policy conservatism.



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

Lamzaouek examined the effects of digital technologies on CFB and discovered through a systematic literature review that a number of technologies can positively contribute to containing this phenomenon by addressing its operational causes, namely the accuracy of forecasts, batch orders, price volatility, rationing games, and lead times [15]. During the COVID-19 epidemic, CFB was examined for its effects on the financial health of Moroccan FMCG companies. According to the survey's findings, SMEs and very small enterprises were the ones who suffered most from the effects of CFB due to the rise in working capital requirements and decline in cash flow. By enhancing internal control mechanisms at the level of the processes of purchasing, inventory management, sales, and cash management, the authors suggested an organizational strategy to handle this issue [1].

According to X. Chen et al., the growth in CFB is positively connected with the increase in the price crosssensitivity coefficient, the same research examined the effect of market share and price cross-sensitivity coefficient on the CFB [16]. Prabhu looked at how credit risk affected the cash-bullwhip in the supply chain. The findings of this study show that taking credit risk into account increases the amounts of cash and accounts payable that are transferred from downstream members to upstream members. This study also demonstrates how, when credit risk is taken into account, the account receivable turnover index accurately depicts the cashbullwhip effect of every link in the supply chain [17].

2.2 Performance models – a brief literature review

Many authors defined the term performance through the years. In this regard, for Miles, performance is the ability of the organization to achieve minimal satisfaction of the expectations of its strategic clients [18]. For Chandler performance is an association between functional efficiency and strategic effectiveness [19]. Functional efficiency focuses on enhancing the company's offerings, purchasing, manufacturing process, marketing strategy, and employee relations. Gaining an advantage over rivals by entering a market that is experiencing growth or leaving a market that is experiencing a fall is the definition of strategic effectiveness. For Lorino, performing in the company is everything that, and only that, contributes to improve the value-cost couple (conversely, performance is not necessarily what contributes to reducing the cost or to increase the value in isolation) [20]. That's said multiple models have been introduced in the past to evaluate the performance of an organization. Campbell considers that the measurement of performance happens through the setting of criteria which are quantitative and/or qualitative. In this sense, he put up a list of around thirty performance standards. 57% of the criteria include reference to social and human elements. 13% is directly related to financial and economic factors. The rest is a mixture of strategy, production, environmental factors, etc [21]. Steers

provides a multifaceted viewpoint that links the following three ideas: Optimization of goals, the systemic perspective, and the significance of workers. The 29 components that make up the Steers analytical framework are divided into four sets, which are as follows: The characteristics of the organization, the characteristics of the external and internal environment, the characteristics of the employees, and the management policies and practices [22]. Along with economic factors, Welge and Fressman emphasized the significance of social and human parameters. their analysis revealed that economic and financial factors should be prioritized when evaluating a company's overall success [23]. Peters and Waterman identified eight characteristics of excellence through their model, which can be summed up as follows: action orientation, listening to customers, autonomy and entrepreneurship, productivity through staff motivation, the law of shared values, stick to what you know how to do, a simple and light structure, flexibility in rigor [24]. Quinn and Rohrbaugh highlighted three dimensions in their model [25], internal/external objectives, flexibility and control, and means/results. Rambhujun proposed twenty-eight criteria for assessing the success of businesses, categorized along five axes: management factors, sales elements, customer interaction factors, production factors, and talents aspects [26]. In the Model of Pascal and Athos, business performance is based on six elements, which are as follows: System, staff (people), style (behaviour of the boss and his subordinates), staff (personnel), strategy (way of allocating resources over time to achieve the intended objectives), and skills (know how). The Lynch and Cross model offers an integration of strategic and operational indicators. For these authors, business strategy cannot neglect operational data, a clear link must exist between the two. Six performance criteria are listed in Fitzgerald, Johnston, Brignall, Silvestre, and Voss's matrix of determinants: financial performance criteria, competitiveness, service quality, flexibility, resource efficiency, and innovation. The Model of Kaplan and Nortan makes it possible to assess performance in four areas, which are the customer vision, the financial vision is notably that of the shareholder, the internal process vision, and the ability for a company to innovate, improve and learn. The four-dimensional model of Morin, Savoie and Beaudin is articulated around the following axes: the value of human resources, economic efficiency, the legitimacy of the organization, the sustainability of the organization. In the model of Atkinson, Waterhouse and Wells, the authors present a model of organizational performance based on the stakeholder approach. These stakeholders are, for most organizations, investors, employees, customers and the community. According to the Adams and Neely's Prism and Success Maps, because the performance is not flat, the author wants to demonstrate its complexity. It is crucial to examine it from several angles connected by the Performance Prism in order to comprehend it completely. Additionally, this model is built around five axes that


On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

describe the company's overall vision: Stakeholder contribution, strategy, procedures, and resources (both tangible and intangible).

2.3 Company performance and CFB

From the previous literature review, it's obvious that there are various dimensions that can be used to evaluate the company's performance. In the following, three dimensions-financial, supply chain, and internal control-will be used to evaluate performance of targeted companies. This choice is justified by the fact that the CFB directly concerns the cash conversion cycle, and that the 3 components of the CCC, namely inventory turn, accounts receivables, and accounts payables, are dependent on the policy and company actions on the logistical, financial and internal control aspects. Indeed, a company's ability to provide exceptional customer service will enable it to have strong inventory flow, which will help it maintain an ideal inventory level. In addition, a good internal control system will allow the company to have good control of the risks relating to accounts receivables and accounts payables. Ultimately, a balanced financial structure will make the business more resilient to cash flow disruptions.

That's said, in order to assess the performance of these companies in relation to the three dimensions retained, it is necessary to define the adequate standards and reference systems. In this regard, the SCOR reference framework is chosen for the evaluation of logistics performance, the COSO reference framework for internal control performance, and the ratio analysis method for the evaluation of financial performance. This choice is justified by the completeness and reputation of these standards (Figure 1).



FINANCIAL DIMENSION

Figure 1 Performance evaluation model

3 Methodology

This study is a follow-up to the previous investigation into the effects of CFB on Moroccan FMCG firms during the COVID-19 crisis [1]. It is conducted on a homogeneous sample of detergent-producing enterprises. These companies were chosen from the earlier research participants.

The goal is to investigate how the CFB's level of control, is influenced by these companies' performance levels on the financial, logistical, and internal control dimensions.

In order to respond to the many questions posed for this research work, a quantitative study has been carried out. The research technique that was used, the findings and their interpretation, as well as our recommendations and conclusions are all presented in the paragraphs that follow.

3.1 Research methodology

3.1.1 Research design

It is crucial to go through a design phase acting as a cartography strategy for our study in order to have the answers to our research questions. In this regard, we decide to carry out a quantitative study on Moroccan enterprises that make detergent goods. A survey of a target population was carried out during June and July 2022 for this reason.

3.1.2 Target population

The term "population" in research refers to all the items connected to the research purpose and used to build conclusions and suggestions [27]. For this research, the target population concerns all the companies producing detergent products. The decision to engage in this particular branch of business was not arbitrary, given that this type of product's demand pattern saw significant fluctuations.

3.1.3 Sampling

Sampling is the process of choosing a portion of a research population for analysis. The size of the sample depends on the objective of the research. The sample for this study consists of the detergent-producing businesses that were involved in the earlier investigation of the effects of CFB on Moroccan FMCG firms [1].

Seven companies make up this sample, which seems to be the ideal balance between the study's complexity and degree of representativeness.

3.1.4 Data collection

To collect the necessary data for this study, questionnaires were administrated by emails to the representatives of the targeted companies. The targeted respondents hold managerial positions in finance, supply chain, and executive management. Financial documents have been recovered from these companies.

3.1.5 Summary of variables

In what follows, a summary of the selected variables from the survey that was conducted. These variables represent performance criteria's according to the adopted performance model (Table 1).



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch

Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

Table 1 Summary of the survey's variables

Performance	Performance	Performance sub	Description		
dimensions criteria's		criteria's	Existence of rules and procedures which aim to provide reasonable assurance		
	Control Activities	Control Activities	that the instructions of the management to control the risks likely to affect the achievement of the objectives [28,29]		
	Control Environment	Control Environment	Existence of policies, processes, and institutional structures for internal control implementation across the board [28,29].		
Internal Control	Risk Assessment	Risk Assessment	Existence of iterative methods for locating and analyzing risks that could compromise a company's goals [28,29].		
Periormance	Information and Communication	Information and Communication	Existence of data necessary for internal control operations [28,29].		
	Monitoring	Monitoring	Existence of an evaluation intended to confirm the existence and proper operation of each of the five internal control principles and the components [28,29].		
		% of Orders Delivered in Full	Percentage of orders where the customer receives every item in the quantities promised [30,31].		
	Supply Chain	Delivery Performance to Customer Commit Date	The proportion of orders that are delivered on the day that the customer originally agreed upon [30,31].		
	Reliability	Perfect Condition	Percentage of orders that are successfully completed, configured correctly, and accepted by the customer and are delivered in an undamaged state [30,31].		
		Documentation Accuracy	Percentage of orders with timely and accurate invoices, bills of lading, packing slips, and other supporting documents [30,31].		
	Supply Chain Responsiveness	Cycle Time	The regular average actual cycle time for completing customer orders [30,31].		
Supply Chain		Upside Supply Chain Flexibility	The number of days needed to supply a 20% increase in quantity that was not accounted for [30,31]		
Performance	Supply Chain Flexibility	Upside Supply Chain Adaptability	The amount given that can increase by a maximum sustainable percentage in 30 days [30,31].		
		Downside Supply Chain Adaptability	At 30 days before delivery, the quantity ordered can be reduced without incurring inventory or cost penalties [30,31].		
	Supply Chain Costs	Cost of Goods Sold	Cost of purchasing raw ingredients and creating final goods including direct and indirect costs (overhead) [30,31].		
		Days Sales Outstanding	The number of days in which a sales balance is outstanding [30,31].		
	Supply Chain	Inventory Days of Supply	The stock's quantity, measured in days of sales [30,31].		
	Asset Management	Days Payable Outstanding	The period in days from the moment labour, materials, and/or conversion resources are purchased until cash payments are required [30,31].		
		Cash Conversion Cycle	The amount of time it takes for an investment to make its way back into a business after being used to purchase raw materials [30,31].		
		Self-financing rate	The self-financing rate quantifies the portion of investments that the business is able to fund solely through its economic activities [32].		
	Financial Debt	Solvency ratio	Assessing a company's financial health by selling assets to pay off all debts. [32].		
		Debt ratio	The debt ratio compares equity capital to that provided by financial institutions [32].		
		Minimum Payback Period	Measures the company's ability to repay all of its structural debts by its own means [32].		
		Weight of interest	The weight of interest is an indicator of the company's future difficulties [32].		
		Revenue growth rate	Percentage of the company's revenue that fluctuated [32].		
Financial		Production growth rate	Percentage of the company's production that fluctuated [32].		
Performance	F ' ' 1	Gross profitability rate	Measures the company's profitability and profitability [32].		
	Financial Profitability	Economic rate of return	Measures the company's profitability and profitability [32].		
	Profitability	Asset rotation	in the company [32].		
		Margin rate	[32].		
	Financial Efficiency	Working Capital Requirements	Measures, in number of days, the importance of the working capital requirements [32].		
	Financial Liquidity	Current ratio	Current ratio assesses company's ability to meet immediate financial obligations [32].		
	Equiaity	Acid-test ratio	Comparing short-term assets to short-term liabilities to determine cash [32].		



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

4 Result and discussion

4.1 Descriptive analysis of variables

Following are the results of a primary examination of the survey's data:

- The radar chart (Figure 2) shows that company 2 is the most performing on the internal control side, followed by company 1. The company 3 has the weakest score due to a poor risk assessment, control environment, information and communication, and monitoring. Risk assessment is very weak for companies 3, 5, and 6.
- Looking at the supply chain reliability of these companies, it's obvious that company 1 and 2 are better performing comparing to the rest of companies. That's the case for the orders delivered in full, the commitment to delivery date, and the perfect condition of deliveries (Figure 3).
- For the responsiveness of the supply chain, the comparison of companies' cycle time shows that company 2, 1, and 4 have the shortest cycle. Company 3 has the highest cycle with more than 40 days.
- The upside supply chain flexibility, the upside supply chain adaptability, and the downside supply chain adaptability are the three metrics used to assess supply chain flexibility. According to the findings, company 2 has the most upside flexibility, while firms 5 and 3 perform better in terms of downside and upside adaptability.
- For the supply chain costs, results show that companies 3 and 7 have the least costs, comparing to the rest of firms.
- For the supply chain asset management, performance is compared based on four metrics: Days Sales.

- Outstanding, Inventory Days of Supply, Days Payable Outstanding, and Cash Conversion Cycle. Results show that companies 2 and 1 are the better performing, while companies 6 and 7 are the weakest ones.
- At the debt ratios level, companies 2 and 1 present the best self-financing rate and solvency ratio. Company 1 is better at the ratio of weight of interest. On the other side, company 6 suffers from a high debt ratio and weight of interests, while companies 3 and 4 have the lowest self-financing capacity.
- At the level of the efficiency ratio, the working capital requirement is very high for companies 7, 6, and 3, while companies 2 and 1 are better performing on this side.
- For the profitability ratios, results show that companies 2 and 1 are more profitable than the other companies. Companies 3 and 4 are the companies with the lowest growth rate of production and revenue.
- Liquidity ratios analysis shows that companies 6, 7, and 3 have the lowest performance level.
- Looking at the coefficient of variation of cash flow, it's clear that companies 6 and 7 have a highest variation, comparing to the rest of companies.
- The preceding results show that the performance of the seven companies is heterogeneous for the 3 dimensions studied. Results also shows that company 6 have the most varying cash flow. Therefore, a correlation analysis is needed to analyse in depth the relationship between the different performance attribute and the variation of cash flow (Figure 4).



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 375-388 ISSN 1339-5629

On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

Control Control Internal Control Performance - Company 1 Internal Control Performance - Company 2 Activities Activities 60% Control Control 40% 40 Monitoring nvironment 20% invironment TARGET TARGET 0% Company 2 Company 1 Informat Informatio Risk Risk and and As essment Communication Communication Control Control Internal Control Performance - Company 3 Internal Control Performance - Company 4 Activities Activities 81 60% 60% 40% Control 40% Control Monitoring nitorin 20% Environment Environment 20% TARGET TARGET 0% 0% Company 3 Company 4 Informatio Informatio Risk Risk and and A essm As Communication Communication Control Control Internal Control Performance - Company 5 Internal Control Performance - Company 6 Activities Activities 80% 60% 60% Control Control 40% Monitorin vironment 0% 20% nvironment TARGET TARGET 0% 0% Company 5 Company 6 Informa Informatio Risk Risk and and As essment Communication Communication Control Internal Control Performance - Company 7 Activities 60% Control 40 Monitoring nvironment 20% TARGET 0% Company 7 Informatio Risk and Assessment Communication

Figure 2 Internal control performance of the companies studied



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch

Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed







Figure 3 Supply Chain performance of the companies studied





Figure 4 Financial performance of the companies studied



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

4.2 Principal component analysis

Principal component analysis (PCA) has been done on the variables acquired from this study in order to thoroughly assess the survey's results. The results of the PCA that was performed in connection to the study questions are presented in the sections that follow.

For each PCA the KMO and Bartlett's Test, the sum of the explained variance, and the component plot are computed. In this regard, the outcomes of all KMO and Bartlett's Tests demonstrate the appropriateness of the sample and disprove the hypothesis that the matrix is an identity matrix by having sampling accuracy more than 0.5 and significance lower than 0.0005.

4.2.1 Can internal control performance impact the control of CFB?

A PCA is conducted, to establish the degree and nature of the relationship between the following variables: Control Activities, Control Environment, Risk Assessment, Information and Communication, Monitoring, and Cash Flow Coefficient of variation (Figure 5).

The resulting component plot indicates that there is a negative correlation between the Cash Flow Coefficient of variation, and the following variables: Control Activities, Risk Assessment, Information and Communication, and Monitoring. It's also obvious that Control Activities, Risk Assessment are positively correlated. These results means that companies with higher performance on control activities, risk assessment, monitoring, and information and communication tends to have lower cash flow variability, and controls more the CFB than other companies.



Figure 5 Component plot of the PCA n°1

4.2.2 Can supply chain performance impact the control of CFB?

A PCA is conducted, to establish the degree and nature of the relationship between the following variables: % of Orders Delivered in Full, Delivery Performance to Customer Commit Date, Perfect Condition, Documentation Accuracy, Cycle Time, Upside Supply Chain Flexibility, Upside Supply Chain Adaptability, Downside Supply Chain Adaptability, COGS, Days Sales Outstanding, Inventory Days of Supply, Days Payable Outstanding, and Cash Conversion Cycle, and Cash Flow Coefficient of variation (Figure 6). The resulting component plot indicates that there is a negative correlation between the Cash Flow Coefficient of variation, and the following variables: % of Orders Delivered in Full, Delivery Performance to Customer Commit Date, Perfect Condition, and Documentation Accuracy. These results means that the more the supply chain of a company is reliable the lower cash flow variability is, and therefore the CFB is more controlled.

On the other side, there is a positive correlation between the Cash Flow Coefficient of variation, and the following variables: Cycle Time, Days Sales Outstanding, Inventory Days of Supply, Days Payable Outstanding, and



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

Cash Conversion Cycle. These results means that companies with higher performance on supply chain asset

management tends to have lower cash flow variability, and controls more the CFB than other companies.



Figure 6 Component plot of the PCA n°2

4.2.3 Can financial performance impact the control of CFB?

A PCA is conducted, to establish the degree and nature of the relationship between the following variables: Selffinancing rate, Solvency ratio, Debt ratio, Minimum Payback Period, Weight of interest, Revenue growth rate, Production growth rate, Gross profitability rate, Economic rate of return, Asset rotation, Margin rate, Working Capital Requirements, Current ratio, Acid-test ratio, and Cash Flow Coefficient of variation (Figure 7).

The resulting component plot indicates that there is a negative correlation between the Cash Flow Coefficient of variation, and the following variables: Self-financing rate, Solvency ratio, Revenue growth rate, Production growth rate, Gross profitability rate, Economic rate of return, Asset rotation, Margin rate, Current ratio, and Acid-test ratio. These results indicate that companies with bad debt levels have more cash flow variation. This is also the case for companies with growing production and revenue.

On the other side, there is a positive correlation between the Cash Flow Coefficient of variation, and the

following variables: Debt ratio, Minimum Payback Period, Weight of interest, and Working Capital Requirements. These results means that companies that suffers from cash flow variation are those with high level of financial debt and working capital requirement.

4.3 Discussion

The analysis of the data collected from the field survey, confirms that many performance criteria are correlated to the variation of cash flow. In general, the observation is that high cash flow variation is associated with poor internal control performance, high debt ratios, lower financial efficiency, lower liquidity, bad supply chain reliability, low responsiveness, and high cash conversion cycle. Companies with good financial performance, internal control performance, and supply chain performance, seem to have a lower variation of cash flow.

Finally, it seems that some performance criteria in particular supply chain flexibility have no correlation with the variety of cash flow.



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch

Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed



Figure 7 Component plot of the PCA n°3

5 Conclusions

The results of this study confirm the relationship between CFB control and supply chain, financial, and internal control performance. Indeed, all the companies presenting a good level of CFB control seem to be performing on the supply chain, financial, and internal control sides. In this regard, companies with reliable and responsive supply chains, are less exposed to CFB. This can be explained by the fact that the ability of supply chain to deliver the correct product, in the agreed upon time, to the correct place in the correct condition and quantity, with the accurate documentation, leads to an accelerated inventory flow, that smooth and accelerate the financial flow. Where as responsiveness will lead to a stabilized and short cycle time, that leads to less variable working capital requirement. Also, CFB is controlled when the company has an efficient internal control system, than can detect and contain the possible risks associated with the processes related to the components of the CCC (purchasingsuppliers process, inventory management process, treasury process, sales-customer process), while insuring the existence of iterative methods for locating and analyzing risks related to these processes. Finally financially balanced companies, with good self financing capacity and low debt ratio control more CFB. This is also the case for companies with reduced working capital requirements, and companies holding enough cash on hand to cover their short-term debt. Detailed interactions between CFB and the performance criteria are presented in the table bellow (Table 2). Having said that, it is impossible to determine from actual research which performance criterion or dimension, is more important for CFB control. Because of this, it will be interesting to investigate the relative significance of each performance criterion using a multicriteria approach in the upcoming research. This can lead to a multi-criteria mathematical model, that could explain the level of control of each company, and that could be generalized on other business sectors.



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 375-388 ISSN 1339-5629

On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

D C		able 2 interactions between the CFB and the performance criteria s
Performance	Impact on	How
criteria's	CFB	
	Control accounts payables flow time	 Existence of iterative techniques for identifying and evaluating risks associated to the "Acquisition & Payment" and "Treasury Management" processes. Existence of appropriate rules and procedures to manage: The synchronization between suppliers' debts recording and the supplier's deliveries. The conformity of the invoices' payment in line with the payment authorization's rules, and contractual payment deadlines. The cash conversion cycle and working capital requirement. The purchase order authorization thresholds. The verification of purchase amounts, quantities, lead times, and pricing. The oversight of the suppliers' invoices with respect to the predetermined terms of the acquisition.
		- Postponing dates for customer navments
Internal Control Performance	Control inventory flow time Control accounts receivables flow time	 Existence of iterative techniques for identifying and evaluating risks associated to the "Inventory Management" process. Existence of appropriate rules and procedures to manage: The inventory's precision to prevent irrational purchasing orders from creating excess storage. The techniques for inventory valuation. The inventory levels and fluctuations. The monitoring of inventory turnover. Existence of iterative techniques for identifying and evaluating risks associated to the "Sales & Collections" process. Existence of appropriate rules and procedures to manage: The customers' risks assessment, to prevent bad debt. The customer credit and discounting authorization rules. The monitoring of payments and doubtful debts.
		- The aged receivables.
		- The invoicing process in order to prevent delays of customers payments.
Supply Chain Reliability	Control	Every time perfect order accelerates the inventory flow and avoid flow distortions over time.
Supply Chain	flow time	Stable cycle time for completing customer orders leads to controlled flow times of
Responsiveness		inventory. Which contributes to less CCC variation, and CFB control.
Financial Debt	Control accounts	The self-financing capacity of the company and the low level of debt contribute to lower the risks of cash conversion cycle variation and consequently reduces the CFB exposure.
Financial	receivables	The lower the cycle time is, the more the Cash Conversion Cycle variation is reduced.
Efficiency	and payables	This contributes to a better CFB control.
Financial Liquidity	flow time	The more the company is liquid, the less it's fragilized by Cash Conversion Cycle variation, and CFB.

References

- [1] DRISSI, H., LAMZAOUEK, H., AMELLAL, I., MIALED, K.: Cash flow bullwhip control mechanisms in a major crisis situation: a case study from the COVID-19 crisis, *EuroMed Journal of Business*, Vol. ahead-of-print, No. ahead-of-print, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1108/EMJB-02-2022-0026
- [2] TANGSUCHEEVA, R., PRABHU, V.: Modeling and analysis of cash-flow bullwhip in supply chain, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 145, No. 1, pp. 431-447, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.04.054
- [3] LAMZAOUEK, H., DRISSI, H., EL HAOUD, N.: Cash Flow Bullwhip—Literature Review and Research Perspectives, *Logistics*, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 1-9, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/logistics5010008
- [4] FARRIS, M.T., HUTCHISON, P.D.: Cash-to-cash: The new supply chain management metric, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, Vol. 32, No. 4, pp. 288-298, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030210430651
- [5] TSAI, C.Y.: On supply chain cash flow risks, *Decision Support Systems*, Vol. 44, No. 4, pp. 1031-1042, 2008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2007.12.006



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

[6] RANDALL, W.S., FARRIS, M.T.: Supply chain financing: Using cash-to-cash variables to strengthen the supply chain, *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, Vol. 39, No. 8, pp. 669-689, 2009.

https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030910996314

[7] HOFMANN, E., KOTZAB, H.: A Supply Chain-Oriented Approach of Working Capital Management, *Journal of Business Logistics*, Vol. 31, No. 2, pp. 305-330, 2010.

https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2158-1592.2010.tb00154.x

- [8] TANGSUCHEEVA, R., PRABHU, V.: Stochastic financial analytics for cash flow forecasting, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 158, pp. 65-76, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2014.07.019
- [9] TSAI, C.Y.: The impact of cost structure on supply chain cash flow risk, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 55, No. 22, pp. 6624-6637, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.1330568
- [10] GOODARZI, M., MAKVANDI, P., SAEN, R.F., SAGHEB, M.D.: What are causes of cash flow bullwhip effect in centralized and decentralized supply chains?, *Applied Mathematical Modelling*, Vol. 44, pp. 640-654, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apm.2017.02.012
- [11] SERRANO, A., OLIVA, R., KRAISELBURD, S.: Risk propagation through payment distortion in supply chains, *Journal of Operations Management*, Vol. 58-59, No. 1, pp. 1-14, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2018.01.003
- [12] PENG, J., ZHOU, Z.: Working capital optimization in a supply chain perspective, *European Journal of Operational Research*, Vol. 277, No. 3, pp. 846-856, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejor.2019.03.022
- [13] BADAKHSHAN, E., HUMPHREYS, P., MAGUIRE, L., MCIVOR, R.: Using simulationbased system dynamics and genetic algorithms to reduce the cash flow bullwhip in the supply chain, *International Journal of Production Research*, Vol. 58, No. 17, pp. 5253-5279, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2020.1715505
- [14] PATIL, C., PRABHU, V.V.: Cash-Flow Bullwhip Effect in the Semiconductor Industry: An Empirical Investigation, In: Dolgui, A., Bernard, A., Lemoine, D., von Cieminski, G., Romero, D. (eds) Advances in Production Management Systems. Artificial Intelligence for Sustainable and Resilient Production Systems. APMS 2021, IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, Vol 631, Springer, Cham, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-85902-2_8

[15] LAMZAOUEK, H., DRISSI, H., EL HAOUD, N.: Digitization of Supply Chains as a Lever for Controlling Cash Flow Bullwhip: A Systematic Literature Review, International Journal of Advanced Computer Science and Applications, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 168-173, 2021. https://doi.org/10.14569/IJACSA.2021.0120222

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 375-388 ISSN 1339-5629

[16] CHEN, X., ZENG, J., YUAN, X.: The Impact of Bullwhip Effect on the Cash Flow in Two-Parallel Supply Chain Systems with the Competition Effect, *Discrete Dynamics in Nature and Society*, Vol. 2022, pp. 1-21, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/6079217

- [17] SIM, J., PRABHU, V.: The impact of credit risk on cash-bullwhip in supply chain, *The Engineering Economist*, Vol. 67, No. 4, pp. 1-22, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1080/0013791X.2022.2105463
- [18] HUBERMAN, A.M., MILES, B.M.: Analyse des données qualitatives: recueil de nouvelles méthodes, *Revue Française de Pédagogie*, Vol. 105, No. 105, pp. 132-134, 1993. (Original in French)
- [19] CHANDLER, A.D.: Organizational Capabilities and the Economic History of the Industrial Enterprise, *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 79-100, 1992. https://doi.org/10.1257/jep.6.3.79
- [20] MONTEILLER, G.: Méthodes et pratiques de la performance. le pilotage par les processus et les compétences, *Revue Française de Gestion Industrielle*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 129-132, 2001. https://doi.org/10.53102/2001.20.02.349 (Original in French)
- [21] CURRAL, L.: Core Performance Measures, In: A.C. Michalos (Ed.) Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research. Springer Reference, Ed. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2014.
- [22] STEERS, R.M.: Antecedents and outcomes of organizational commitment, *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 46-56, 1977. https://doi.org/10.2307/2391745
- [23] BESSON, P., ROWE, F.: Perspectives sur le phénomène de la transformation organisationnelle, *French Journal of Management Information Systems*, Vol. 16, pp. 3-34, 2011. (Original in French)
- [24] CHIN, W.W.: Commentary: Issues and Opinion on Structural Equation Modeling, *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 7-16, 1998.
- [25] BENTALEB, F., MABROUKI, C., SEMMA, A.: A Multi-Criteria Approach for Risk Assessment of Dry Port-Seaport System, *Supply Chain Forum: An International Journal*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 32-49, 2015.

https://doi.org/10.1080/16258312.2015.11728692

- [26] HITT, L.M., BRYNJOLFSSON, E.: Productivity, business profitability, and consumer surplus: Three different measures of information technology value, *MIS Quarterly*, Vol. 20, No. 2, pp. 121-142, 1996. https://doi.org/10.2307/249475
- [27] COOPER, D.R., SCHINDLER, P.S.: Business Research Methods, 12th ed., McGraw-Hill Education, 2013.
- [28] Coso, Internal Control Integrated Framework Executive Summary, [Online], Available: https://ww



On the relationship between cash flow bullwhip and the company performance: study of the Moroccan detergent products branch Hicham Lamzaouek, Hicham Drissi, Karima Mialed

w.coso.org/sitepages/internal-control.aspx?web=1 [20 Feb 2023], 2013.

- [29] MOLLER, R.R.: COSO Enterprise Risk Management: Understanding the New Integrated Erm Framework, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Hoboken, New Jersey, 2007.
- [30] STEWART, G.: Supply-chain operations reference model (SCOR): the first cross-industry framework for integrated supply-chain management, *Logistics information Management*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 62-67,

1997. https://doi.org/10.1108/09576059710815716

- [31] APICS, Supply Chain Operations Reference Model, APICS, Chicago, USA, 2017.
- [32] BAZET, J., FAUCHER, P.: *Finance d'entreprise*, Nathan, 2009. (Original in French)

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



International Scientific Journal about Logistics
 Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 389-392 ISSN 1339-5629



Role of meteorology in logistics planning Miriam Jarosova

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.405

Received: 20 Mar. 2023; Revised: 18 Sep. 2023; Accepted: 28 Sep. 2023

Role of meteorology in logistics planning

Miriam Jarosova

University of Žilina, Faculty of Operation and Economics of Transport and Communications, Univerzitná 8215/1, 010 26 Žilina, Slovak Republic, EU, jarosova20@uniza.sk

Keywords: meteorology, transport, dangerous weather phenomena, logistics. *Abstract:* Meteorology affects every part of life. We need to know the weather conditions for our everyday life, but also for the work activities of the company. Transport is a very sensitive area that is very responsive to changing weather conditions. Each type of transport is sensitive to different weather phenomena. The article provides basic information about weather, its role in transportation, and the fact that hazardous weather phenomena can significantly affect the speed of delivery, safety and quality of transportation.

1 Introduction

Meteorology is a science with a long history [1]. Already in the distant past, our ancestors were aware of the weather's influence on their everyday life. Nations living on see coast also were familiar with wind phenomena, which could adversely influence their sea navigation, so as fishing and the transportation of goods [2].

So let's not be surprised that it was the marine meteorology that pushed meteorology forward. Other modes of transport used the marine meteorology experience gradually [2].

Meteorologists have at their disposal tools for highquality weather forecasting and individual values of meteorological elements, but they still have to reckon with a high value of uncertainty. In recent years, the use of meteorological satellites and meteorological radars has improved, and numerical prediction models are available with a special focus on various users of meteorological model outputs. However, in addition to high-quality forecasting tools, expert meteorologists who are able to interpret all outputs so that their information is relevant to the user are also needed.

Even though we live in the 21st century, the role of meteorology and its forecasts is still irreplaceable in the planning of activities in transport.

2 The dangerous weather phenomena

Dangerous weather phenomena are meteorological phenomena that significantly affect air traffic safety, jeopardise the flow, or even stop operations. Different dangerous weather conditions can occur in the winter and other during the summer season. The most dangerous weather situations include the frontal interface affecting the airport and its surrounding areas. A warm front is a precipitous activity, but its effects are not as dramatic as on a cold front, especially during the summer season [1]. Cold fronts arise in the wake of a developing extratropical cyclone when cooler air moves into an area of the warmer air mass. The warmer air mass interacts with the cooler air along the frontier and typically produces precipitation. Cold fronts are frequently followed by a warm front or squall line [1,3]. The cold front is typically characterised by heavy clouds, torrential precipitation, storms associated with turbulence, wind shear, hail etc. [1,3].

Information about the occurrence of fog and, as a result, possible lower visibility also has a unique place in traffic. Fog is an aerological aerosol consisting of very small water droplets reducing horizontal visibility in at least one direction below 1 km [4]. While researching the occurrence of fog at Slovakia's international airports in the period 1998-2018, interesting information was found. The urban legend about the low incidence of days with fog at Bratislava Airport was confirmed, and the urban legend about the minimal occurrence of days with fog in summer was not confirmed. According to [5], in the period 1998-2018, fogs occurred during the year with different numbers of days at Slovakia's international airports (Figure 1).



Figure 1 Average number of days with fog at the international airports for the 1998-2018 period [5]

The average number of days varies during the year, with the most days with fog occurring in autumn [Figure 2].

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 389–392 ISSN 1339–5629 Role of meteorology in logistics planning

Role of meteorology in logistics plann Miriam Jarosova



Figure 2 Average number of days with fog during a year at Slovak international airports [5]

More than 1.5 million METAR reports were processed and evaluated in the work [5].

3 What interests us the most?

In meteorology, we are not only interested in the current values of meteorological elements (air temperature, air pressure, wind direction and speed, visibility, phenomena...) but are also interested in the expected development of these phenomena for several days ahead. At present a weather forecast with a relevant warning value can be prepared for a maximum of 3-4 days in advance [1].

Numerous numerical methods are currently used for weather forecasting, which, based on equations and relationships describing events in the atmosphere, can predict the forecast in many places in the globe with a resolution grid of km x km.

We also use information from a wide network of meteorological stations that provide us with information about the course of the weather. This information has different periodicity for different purposes. For example, in aviation meteorology, we use METAR reports - the current state of the weather conditions, or TAF (The Terminal Area Forecast), a forecast for several hours ahead.

In road transport meteorology, it is very important to know not only the state of the atmosphere and possible meteorological phenomena related to it but also the state of the pavement. Here we are served by various sensors built into the pavement, which provide not only up-to-date information about its condition but also serve as an input for pavement condition forecast. Globally, road transport meteorology is growing importance. There are many papers published on the latest possibilities for dangerous weather phenomena prediction [6-8]. The Standing International Road Weather Commission (SIRWEC) operates as a forum for information exchange on road transport meteorology issues [9]. They include management, road maintenance, road safety, meteorology, environmental protection and other areas of interest considered relevant by the Commission. Historically, SIRWEC holds a conference every two years [9].

SIRWEC's main task is to encourage meteorologists, weather forecasters, highway engineers, road masters and others who are interested in road transport weather problems to exchange ideas to make our road transport safer in all weather conditions [9].

There are also specialised companies focusing on detecting, predicting and evaluating weather conditions on roads in Slovakia. They also expanded their services and experience worldwide. Companies Microstep and/or Spinet could be mentioned as good examples. Both of those offer a wide range of detection options for dangerous phenomena in various modes of transport. This mainly focuses on air and road temperature, fog and wind data. The changes in these elements in space and time may indicate the emergence of intermediate problems in transport [10,11].

An example of how the typical forecasting system works in a simplified form is shown in Figure 3.

To know the weather conditions status is the prime importance for aviation. Even though the weather forecasts have improved considerably in the last two decades, the weather conditions are one of the major causes of air accidents. Weather conditions deterioration can significantly affect air transport and can cause, for example, delays in large areas. However, not every kind of weather creates dangerous conditions for air transport. Nevertheless, 2018 was very specific, and a record number of adverse weather events and industrial actions that severely disrupted network operations was registered [12-14].

The weather can create weather phenomena that could be dangerous for all traffic modes. Just as the weather changes, so do dangerous weather phenomena adversely affect the regularity, efficiency and safety of any transport modes.



Role of meteorology in logistics planning Miriam Jarosova



Figure 3 Scheme of road weather registration and prediction system [10]

4 Transport and climate change - new challenges in this industry

As mentioned, the weather and its changes significantly affect our lives and also the transport in small and large areas. In the current period, the problem of climate change is also coming to the fore. Transport is responsible for the amount of greenhouse gases increasing in the atmosphere and intensifying the greenhouse effect.

Global CO2 emissions from energy combustion and industrial processes rebounded in 2021 to reach their highest-ever annual level. A 6% increase from 2020 pushed emissions to 36.3 gigatonnes (Gt), an estimate based on the IEA's detailed region-by-region and fuel-byfuel analysis, drawing on the latest official national data and publicly available energy, economic and weather data. The Covid-19 pandemic had far-reaching impacts on energy demand in 2020, reducing global CO2 emissions by 5.2%. However, the world has experienced an extremely rapid economic recovery since then, driven by unprecedented fiscal and monetary stimulus and a fast although uneven- roll-out of vaccines. The recovery of energy demand in 2021 was compounded by adverse weather and energy market conditions, which led to more coal being burnt despite renewable power generation registering its largest-ever annual growth. Emissions increased by almost 2.1 Gt from 2020 levels. This puts 2021 above 2010 as the largest ever year-on-year increase in energy-related CO2 emissions in absolute terms. The

rebound in 2021 more than reversed the pandemic-induced decline in emissions of 1.9 Gt experienced in 2020. CO2 emissions in 2021 rose to around 180 megatonnes (Mt) above the pandemic level of 2019. The 6% increase in CO2 emissions in 2021 was in line with the jump in global economic output of 5.9%. This marks the strongest coupling of CO2 emission with Gross domestic product (GDP) growth since 2010 when global emissions rebounded by 6.1% while economic output grew by 5.1% as the world emerged from the Global Financial Crisis.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 389-392 ISSN 1339-5629

Transport was responsible for 30% of global final energy demand and for 23% of global direct CO2 emissions from the energy sector that year [15].

5 Conclusion – meteorology in transport in the future

Meteorology remains an important partner for improving the quality and efficiency of all types of transport. Meteorological information, very detailed and accurate, helps with planning transport around the world. In addition to traditional meteorological tools, which are well known and used (radar, satellites, models...), AI and its help in solving problems in transport are also coming to the fore.

Transport is of prime importance for most of business and is an indispensable part of our life. However, the aim



Role of meteorology in logistics planning Miriam Jarosova

of greenhouse gas emissions reduction had to be one of the major aims for transport today.

In many modes of transport, ways are being sought to reduce the impact of transport on the amount of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere. Experiments are being done in the use of green types of energy to drive cars, ships and even aeroplanes.

If we assume that a warmer atmosphere can absorb more water vapour, more water vapour can produce more convective clouds, and more dangerous phenomena can occur from it (heavy showers, storms), it is important to pay more attention to observation, prediction and warning. Meteorology and transport must work very closely together in this respect.

References

- [1] ZVEREV, A.S.: *Synoptic Meteorology*, Gidrometeoizdat, Leningrad, 1977. (Original in Russian)
- [2] HARPER, K.C.: *Weather By the Numbers: The Genesis of Modern Meteorology*, The Massachusetts Institute of Technology Press, 2008.
- [3] SCHEMM, S., NISI, L., MARTINOV, A., LEUNBERG, D., MARTIUS, O.: On the link between cold fronts and hail in Switzerland, *Atmospheric Science Letters*, Vol. 17, No. 5, pp. 301-352, 2016.
- [4] SOBÍŠEK, B. et all: *Elektronický meteorologický slovník*, ACADEMIA, Praha, [Online], Available: http://slovnik.cmes.cz/vyklad/sl] [09 Mar 2023], 1993. (Original in Czech)
- [5] MICHALOVIČ, A., JAROŠOVÁ, M.: Comparison of fog occurrence at Slovak international airports for the period 1998-2018, [Online], Available: https://drepo.uniza.sk/handle/hdluniza/471 [27 Feb 2023], 2021. (Original in Slovak)
- [6] How fog affects travel, Met Office, [Online], Available: http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/weather/warn ings-and-advice/seasonal-advice/travel/how-fogaffects-travel [25 Feb 2023], 2023.
- [7] SAMODUROVA, T.V., YANINA, Y.A.: Adaptation of roads winter maintenance strategies to weather influences, SIRWEC 2008, Prague, 14-16 May,

pp. 1-9, [Online], Available: https://sirwec.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/04/Prague-D-15.pdf [25 Feb 2023], 2023.

- [8] MATSUZAWA, M., KAJIYA, Y., ITO, Y., TAKECHI, H.: Problems in visibility measurement of road in blowing snow, SIRWEC 2008, Prague, 14-16 May, pp. 1-6, [Online], Available: https://sirwec.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/04/Prague-D-08.pdf [14 Feb 2023], 2023.
- [9] SIRWEC, Standing International Road Weather Commission, [Online], Available: https://sirwec.org/? page_id=92 [25 Feb 2023], 2022.
- [10] MIS, MicroStep, Automatic Road Weather Station, [Online], Available: http://www.microstepmis.com/web/products?category=road_weather&pro duct=automatic_road_station [25 Feb 2023], 2023.
- [11] SPINET a.s., Stacionárne cestné meteorologické stanice, [Online], Available: http://www.spinet.sk/in dex.php?page=meteo%2Froad%2Fstations [25 Feb 2023], 2016. (Original in Slovak)
- [12] Eurocontrol, Annual Network Operations Report 2018, European Organisation for the Safety of Air Navigation, Brussels, [Online], Available: https://w ww.eurocontrol.int/publication/annual-networkoperations-report-2018 [25 Feb 2023], 2019.
- [13] Eurocontrol, New traffic record set: 37,228 flights handled across the European aviation network, [Online], Available: https://www.eurocontrol.int/ne ws/new-traffic-record-set-37228-flights-one-day [25 Feb 2023], 2019.
- [14] DOTZEK, N.P., GROENEMEIJER, B., FEUERSTEIN, HOLZER, A.M.: Overview of ESSL's severe convective storms research using the European Severe Weather Database ESWD, *Atmospheric Research*, Vol. 93, No. 1-3, pp. 575-586, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosres.2008.10.020
- [15] Iea, Global Energy Review: CO2 emissions in 2021, IEA, Paris, [Online], Available: http://www.iea.org/r eports/global-energy-review-co2-emissions-in-2021-2 [25 Feb 2023], 2022.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 393-402 ISSN 1339-5629

Management of the grain supply chain during the conflict period: case study Ukraine Olexiy Pavlenko, Dmitriy Muzylyov, Vitalii Ivanov, Marian Bartoszuk, Jerzy Jozwik

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.406

Received: 20 Mar. 2023; Revised: 01 May 2023; Accepted: 07 June 2023

Management of the grain supply chain during the conflict period: case study Ukraine

Olexiy Pavlenko

National Automobile and Highway University, 25, Yaroslava Mudrogo St., 61002 Kharkiv, Ukraine, ttpov@ukr.net

Dmitriy Muzylyov

State Biotechnological University, 44, Alchevskikh St., 61002 Kharkiv, Ukraine,

murza_1@ukr.net

Vitalii Ivanov

Sumy State University, 2, Rymskogo-Korsakova St., 40007 Sumy, Ukraine,

ivanov@tmvi.sumdu.edu.ua (corresponding author)

Marian Bartoszuk

Opole University of Technology, ul. Mikołajczyka 5, 45-271 Opole, Poland, EU,

m.bartoszuk@po.edu.pl

Jerzy Jozwik Lublin University of Technology, ul. Nadbystrzycka 38 D, 20-618 Lublin, Poland, EU,

j.jozwik@pollub.pl

Keywords: transportation services, technology, regression model.

Abstract: The paper highlights the main aspects of designing safety supply chains for grain cargoes and other agricultural commodity delivery. The study's relevance is caused by the fact that periodic port blockades do not allow Ukraine to carry out reliable exports of agricultural products along classical routes. Therefore, there was a need to find new alternatives for exporting agricultural commodities, primarily grain. The study aims to substantiate, describe, structure, and mathematically formalize proposed delivery options and choose the best. The research justifies picking supply chains using automobile and railway transport from Ukraine to the European Union countries. According to three proposed technologies, grain cargoes are exported in batches using containers. The advisability is justified for using each considered delivery option regarding technological aspects. Mathematical modeling, particularly regression analysis, is used to design supply chains. In this case, selecting the best technology is confirmed by corresponding calculations according to designed regression models. The presented option for supplying agricultural commodities is the safest and most reliable but more expensive. However, such logistics will be an excellent solution to reduce the negative consequences of a possible food crisis for the global economy.

1 Introduction

The proposed national transport strategy of Ukraine significantly determines the priority areas for achieving quality transport services during the military conflict. This conception also provides for approaching levels of their support and development of transport infrastructure to advanced European standards. During a period of significant uncertainty in transport support, resolving problems is reducing influences of random factors by building intelligent transport systems. It is demonstrated using smart methods (fuzzy patterns) when predicting trip and delivery time [1].

It is also crucial to improve the level of delivery safety and reduce the negative impact of transport on the environment [2]. It is necessary to respond to funds that improve management systems, implement certain administrative reforms, and qualitatively decentralize tasks and functions for central departments relating to local executive power. It will make it possible to design a highquality technology for supplying grain cargo in containers by Ukraine-Europe routes. A good example is supply chain structures using E-commerce platforms [3]. Digitalization during product or cargo flow control allows manufacturers and transport companies to have a certain level of information support in production and distribution systems. This aspect is particularly important if risks are considered posed by emergencies [4]. Herewith, considered emergencies could worsen the stability of designed food supply chains [5] without enough information support.

In addition to ensuring physical security, an important aspect is the creation of safe financial and economic settlements. It is achieved by using innovative technologies for the traceability of grain delivery quality [6] and using non-standard business criteria for assessing investments in a blockchain-based management information system [7]. Reducing uncertainty factors makes it possible to design a reasonably reliable supply chain [8,9]. It is extremely important in connection with the latest trends.



European partners increasingly note the negative impacts of the current conflict on supply reliability and the food independence of European countries [10]. Experts note a significant price increase and logistics complexity during future distribution [11,12]. Repeatedly, food safety issues were considered at sessions of relevant UN committees. It is evidenced by the adopted resolutions and councils [13]. World Bank representatives [14] and traders selling agricultural products to other world regions are concerned about the situation with supplies from Ukraine [15]. Violating Ukraine's established trade routes with the Asian region also causes some nervousness in the population of Vietnam and other Asian states [16].

All of the above confirms the relevance of presented studies to designing reliable and safe food supply chains in such difficult conditions worldwide.

Ukraine belongs to the leading world producers and exporters of agricultural products, which include sunflower oil, wheat, and barley. Significant nomenclature refers to cereals. However, the Russian invasion suspended perspective transportation routes – through Ukrainian ports on the Black Sea, which processed more than 90% of these exports. The sale of grain is significant for our country because it brings in nearly twenty percent of Ukrainian export earnings. In addition, Ukrainian cereals provide food safety for numerous countries in Europe, Asia, and Africa. The European Commission (EC) has developed and implemented measures to assist in transporting various commodities from Ukraine to make grain cargo export safer [17].

The EC quite qualitatively assessed problem areas in supply chains. Thousands of rail wagons with grain have been detained from the Ukrainian part near frontiers with such countries as Poland and Romania. The average idle time at the border is nearly 16 days, sometimes a month [18]. The main problem at the same time is the width difference in tracks between the railways of Ukraine and European countries. Therefore, to move across state borders, specialists must either change "bogies with wheels" on railway wagons or transshipment cargoes from Ukrainian vehicles to European ones. However, existing capabilities are not enough with current transportation demands, according to data of EC.

Therefore, European officials turned to companies with a proposal to allocate or find "mobile grain reloaders" on the market. One option is also proposed - to deliver grain cargo directly in universal containers since they can be reloaded faster with appropriate cranes from the railway platforms belonging Ukrainian railway to the European one [19].

Since the beginning of the 2021–2022 marketing year (from July 2021), Ukraine has increased the corresponding volumes of export supplies for grain cargo by more than 30% - to 42.6 million tons [20]. Corn and wheat were the most exported. According to official statistics, Ukraine sold 32.5 million tons of grain abroad (Figure 1) in the 2013-2014 marketing period. In 2017-2018, export sales decreased to 39.4 million tons. But the country sold 50.4 million tons of grain to foreign markets in the next quarter, and 2019-2020 - 57.2 million tons. Export deliveries amounted to 44.9 million tons last time. In particular, Ukraine exported 23.1 million tons of the main grain cargo - corn, 16.6 million tons of wheat, 4.2 million tons of barley, and 18.4 thousand tons of rye. As of February 21, 42.6 million tons of grain cargoes were exported in the 2021-2022 marketing period: more corn - 18.7 million tons, wheat – 17.8 million tons, barley – 5.6 million tons, rye - 160.1 thousand tons [21].



Figure 1 The exports amount of grain and leguminous, and products of their processing in 2013-2021

~ 394 ~



The grain cargo supply to Europe is a complex technological process where it is necessary to develop multimodal clusters in which production, warehouse, and transshipment capacities will be combined. In the current situation in Ukraine, supply chains using containers for goods delivery are more efficient and reliable but relatively costly. It should make it possible to simplify the process of boundary crossing for railway transportation, precisely with insignificant volumes of orders by rail, but with a considerable distance - for example, when delivered to the Poland or Spain ports [22]. And this aspect is also providing a rational interaction between all elements of supply systems with minimal resource costs. Therefore, it is necessary to choose a methodological approach for designing rational technology grain cargo supplied in containers by Ukraine–Europe routes.

The export of agricultural products from Ukraine is a strategic industry. At the same time, a significant share of products transported by leading international carriers [23] are oilseeds, cereals, and beans. Ukraine exports 91.2% of grain cargo by sea; the rest is by automobile and railway transport. The difficulties associated with changes in the geography of shipments force carriers to look for new, effective solutions. One of these is grain delivered in containers. This transportation kind is characterized by universality, which allows carriers to supply products in small batches with a volume of 500 to 5000 thousand tons. Container transportation allows transport companies to establish contact details with small consumers due to the constant regularity of container international lines, a certain delivery period, and abilities to plan processes clearly.

Grain crops are delivered in bulk by universal containers. This transportation type is characterized by the following advantages: reasonable cost of corresponding freights; shipment can be done in small batches; quotas are not needed for costs of storing grain in elevator warehouses, which are scarce. Transportation of grain cargoes in containers makes it possible to ensure: the transshipment of grain from transport into containers; the possibility of surveying and certification; customs support and clearance; installation of freight, and corresponding booking. At the same time, specialized handling equipment and machines are used for goods transshipment in the company's containers, such as screw reloaders, pneumatic conveyors, etc. [24].

Container exports offer benefits to moving agricultural products through the presence of empty import containers that can be transported, making available domestic "dry ports" more critical in international supply chains. The document [25] highlights the impact and challenges of increasing container transportation for agricultural goods from remote areas to foreign markets in relation to operations and management.

Effective supply tracking is critical to managing global trade and logistics. That's why the organization and management of supply chains are constantly moving

towards cooperation with intellectual and service focus on coping with the growing complexity of customer requirements – this is evidenced according to research by Giustia R. et al. [26]. An important aspect is resource flow control in logistics and other industries: metallurgy [27] and automobile manufacturers [28]. Such principles should be integrated into building supply chains in emergencies based on the classic distribution approaches of food flows [29, 30] and grain cargoes on multimodal routes [31]. Moreover, Ukrainian ports can be closed anytime to export agricultural products [32]. It will lead to searching for alternative supply chains. Therefore, some of the most possible options for multimodal routes using container delivery technology were reasoned and studied in detail in this research.

2 Methodology

The country's logistics potential is a combination of realized and promising opportunities for creating logistics systems and effective management of material and related flows, which make it possible to improve the economic situation per territory and increase its competitiveness [33]. This definition reflects the main characteristic of the country's logistics potential - using opportunities provided by the country to its logistics systems [33].

In the study, to achieve a goal, we will determine alternative technologies for delivering grain cargo in international traffic – Ukraine – Europe, considering the possibilities lack using seaports. The supply uses the road, railway transport, and related terminals. The using containers possibility for transportation will be considered. To define the least costly option, it is proposed to apply mathematical modeling with regression model determination based on selected impact parameters.

Based on information analysis of 10 companies operating in grain cargo logistics, statistical data were obtained on parameters of applications from customers: grain cargo order volume; transportation distance during input (output) cargo flows; transportation distance (mileage) by trunk transport. The selected parameters are considered in the interval view. This study defines a number of conditions: 1) all demand characteristics for senders and recipients of grain cargo are known; 2) the delivery process participants are grain elevators, transport companies (carriers), and railway; 3) the used resources (containers, railway-wagons, characteristics trucks. terminals) are determined; 4) the control system determines service priorities according to product readiness rate; 5) customs authorities take an active part in process control of frontier across.

Consider three alternative technologies for delivering grain cargo in international traffic - Ukraine - Europe, excluding regular delivery through ports.

The first technology is considered from the moment grain trucks unload at elevators, then batches of grain cargo are stored until the moment arriving grain trucks at the elevators (Figure 2). The next logistic operation - cargo



batches are loaded into grain railway wagons. Then, several wagons are sent to sorting railway stations, where completed trains depart to frontier stations. At this station, wheel sets are changed to "European" ones, and appropriate documents are drawn up with established cargo checks. After that, trains go to European destination stations, where cargo is unloaded and stored. Further, grain trucks supply grain cargo to recipients.



Figure 2 Schematic representation for options of grain cargo delivery along the routes Ukraine - Europe - "Technology 1"

Logistics companies use the second technology for unloading grain trucks moment at elevators. Batches of grain cargo are stored until containers are supplied to loading areas, and then containers are loaded (Figure 3). Further, containers are stored for some time in warehouses (elevators). They are loaded onto mobile railway platforms, and then formed departure of several railway wagons is sent to sorting stations, where a completed train is heading to frontier stations. At these stations, containers are transferred to platforms of "European" carriers, and appropriate documents are drawn up. Afterward, the trains go to destination stations in the EU, where containers are unloaded and stored. From storage areas, containers are loaded onto special vehicles and transported to consignees, where grain cargoes are unloaded from containers.



Figure 3 Schematic representation for options of grain cargo delivery by containers along the routes Ukraine - Europe -"Technology 2"

The third technology also begins with grain trucks unloading at elevators. Batches of grain cargo are stored until containers are supplied to loading zones, and containers located on container trucks are loaded with grain cargo (Figure 4). Further, these vehicles go to state borders, crossing frontiers with customs operations passaging. Special trucks with containers follow by European Union territory. Containers are unloaded from vehicles to warehouses (elevators) in Europe. Then, after storing grain cargo in containers at warehouses, they are transferred from containers to grain trucks based on orders, which then transport cargo to consignees and are unloaded at their recipient points.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 393-402 ISSN 1339-5629



Management of the grain supply chain during the conflict period: case study Ukraine Olexiy Pavlenko, Dmitriy Muzylyov, Vitalii Ivanov, Marian Bartoszuk, Jerzy Jozwik



Figure 4 Schematic representation for options of grain cargo delivery by containers along the routes Ukraine - Europe -"Technology 3"

Determination of rational technology of grain cargo delivery in containers is proposed to be carried out according to the estimated indicator - total costs (Z_s) , which form values set off a certain *i*th type of cost for each considered element of the technology

$$Z_s = \sum_{i=1}^n Z_i, \forall n = 1, \dots, 8.$$

$$\tag{1}$$

The following parameters influence the estimated indicator: grain cargo order volume (Q_R) ; transportation distance during input (output) cargo flows (L_d) ; transportation distance (mileage) by trunk transport (L_m) ; time parameters of operations execution (t_{oe}) ; performed operation cost (S_{oc}) .

To achieve the proposed goals of research, a mathematical model has been designed for rational technology determining during grain cargo delivery, which takes into account: the container loading (unloading) costs $(Z_{u(l)}^{cont})$; costs for loading (unloading) and reloading of grain cargo (container) to (from) a vehicle (truck, wagon) of corresponding transport types $(Z_{u(l)}^{vec})$; costs of grain cargo (container) storage in the warehouse and technological idle time for corresponding transport (Z_{st}^{c}); transportation costs of grain cargo (container) by vehicle type (truck, wagon) in the corresponding transport kind in Ukraine and Europe (Z_{tr}); waiting for costs for grain cargo (container) shipment by corresponding kinds of trunk transport (Z_{exp}^{tr}); document processing costs for grain cargo (container) delivery (Z_{d}^{cl})

$$Z_{s} = Z_{u(l)}^{cont} + Z_{u(l)}^{vec} + Z_{st}^{c} + Z_{tr} + Z_{exp}^{tr} + Z_{d}^{cl}.$$
 (2)

The container loading (unloading) costs are taken into account: container loading (unloading) average cost with grain cargo $(C_{u(l)}^{cont})$; loading (unloading) time of grain cargo in (from) containers per one ton $(t_{u(l)}^{cont})$

$$Z_{u(l)}^{cont} = C_{u(l)}^{cont} \cdot t_{u(l)}^{cont} \cdot Q_R, \forall Q_R = \{20, 280\}.$$
 (3)

The costs of loading (unloading) and reloading of grain cargo (container) to (from) a vehicle (truck, wagon) of the corresponding transport kind shall be taken into account: average cost of loading (unloading), reloading to corresponding transport kind (*i*) at a certain point (*j*) (container storage warehouse, railway sorting station) $(C_{u(l)ij}^{c})$; loading (unloading), reloading of corresponding cargo (container) quantity $(t_{u(l)ij}^{c})$; limit quantities of transport kinds (*k*); quantity limit of cargo transships points according to corresponding delivery schemes (*f*); quantity of cargo (containers) loaded (unloaded) on (from) corresponding kind transport at a certain point (n_{contij})

$$Z_{u(l)}^{vec} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{f} C_{u(l)ij}^{c} \cdot t_{u(l)ij}^{c} \cdot n_{contij}, \forall k = \{1; 2\}; f = \{1; 20\}.$$
(4)

The costs of storing grain cargo (container) at warehouses and technological idle time at corresponding transport kinds must take into account: average cost of storing grain cargo and technological idle time at the corresponding transport kinds at a certain point (warehouse, sorting railway station) (C_{stij}^c) ; time for storage of appropriate cargo (container) quantities and technological idle time using appropriate transport kind at a specific cargo transship point (t_{stij}^c)

$$Z_{st}^{c} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{f} C_{stij}^{c} \cdot t_{stij}^{c} \cdot Q_{R}, \forall k = \{1, 2\}; f = \{1, 20\}.$$
(5)





The costs of transporting grain cargo (container) by a vehicle (truck, wagon) belonging to corresponding transport kinds in Ukraine and Europe are taken into account: transporting grain cargo (container) average cost by corresponding transport kinds on a specific chain ($C_{tr.ir}$); cargo tranship points quantity limit according to the corresponding delivery scheme (w); corresponding transportation distances (input (output) cargo flow for long distance) of grain cargo (container) by connected transport kind in a specific chain ($L_{tr.ir}^{d,m}$)

$$Z_{tr} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{w} C_{tr,ir} \cdot L_{tr,ir}^{d,m}, \forall k = \{1; 2\}; w = \{1; 4\}; L_{tr,ir}^{d,m} \in L_d \cup L_m.$$
(6)

Awaited shipment costs for grain cargo (container) using corresponding trunk transport kinds shall be taken into account: awaited shipment average cost for grain cargo (container) using corresponding trunk transport kinds at a specific cargo transship point ($C_{exp,ij}$); waiting time for shipment of grain cargo (container) using the corresponding transport type at a certain point ($t_{exp,ij}^{tr}$); impact-factor influence on idle time using corresponding transport kinds at a certain point ($K_{inf,ij}$)

$$Z_{exp}^{tr} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} \sum_{j=1}^{f} C_{exp,ij} \cdot t_{exp,ij}^{tr} \cdot Q_R \cdot K_{inf,ij}, \forall k = \{1; 2\}; f = \{1; 20\}; K_{inf,ij} = \{1.1; 1.5\}.$$
 (7)

The document processing costs of grain cargo (container) delivery are taken into account: issuing documents costs for cargo delivery by a certain transport kind ($C_{d.i}$); insurance costs for goods supplied by a certain transport kind ($C_{ins.i}$); customs clearance cost per vehicle (C_{cost}^{tr}); customs clearance cost of grain cargo (C_{cost}^{c})

$$Z_{d}^{cl} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} (C_{d,i} + C_{ins,i}) \cdot n_{cost} + C_{cost}^{tr} + C_{cost}^{c}, \forall k = \{1; 2\}.$$
(8)

First, to solve problems using the proposed methodology, it is necessary to carry out a statistical data assessment from 10 companies operating in the Ukrainian market. Order flows for 2021 are used as input data because the current situation doesn't give any opportunity to receive alternative information about recent amounts of transportation. The variables are the following flow characteristics: amounts of grain cargo order, transportation distance during input (output) cargo flow, and transportation distance by trunk transport. The values were obtained by analyzing orders for grain goods delivery from Ukraine to the European Union, and the total number of orders (observations) equals one hundred.

3 Result and discussion

To obtain the most reliable data about value changes of technological parameters describing processes of container delivery on certain supply chains, the required observations sample is determined (Table 1).

Tuble T Munt maintent enter enter electronices of supply chains					
Parameter	Grain cargo order amount (t)	Transportation mileage during input (output) cargo flow (km)	Transportation mileage due to long- distance supply (km)		
Expected value	150	40	1553.5		
Standard deviation	126.80	56.05	438.05		
Measurement error	7.50	2.00	77.68		
Sample size	92	97	55		

Table 1 Main mathematical characteristics of supply chains

The correlation between the two variables was estimated by Chi-square. When using Statistica software, calculations were made to determine the distribution laws for parameters of input order flows. It has been established that their values are distributed according to the normal distribution of random variables. Three factors were established influencing estimated indicators, and minimum and maximum values were determined using formulas (2-8). The last was found by evaluating selected values from three parameters (Table 2). Based on these data, an experimental plan was completed according to obtained statistics (Table 3).

Table 2 Exposure factor variation levels						
Value	Grain cargo order	Transportation mileage during input	Transportation mileage due to long-			
levels	amount (t)	(output) cargo flow (km)	distance supply (km)			
Minimal	20	15	312			
Maximal	280	65	2795			



Tuble 5 Devels of influence factor variation (actual values)						
Ohaamaatian	Variation levels					
Observation	Grain cargo order	Transportation mileage during input	Transportation mileage due to long-			
series	amount (t)	(output) cargo flow (km)	distance supply (km)			
Test 1	20	15	312			
Test 2	20	15	2795			
Test 3	20	65	312			
Test 4	280	15	2795			
Test 5	280	15	312			
Test 6	280	65	312			
Test 7	20	65	2795			
Test 8	280	65	2795			

Table 3 Levels of influence factor variation (actual values)

Regression analysis was performed by two function types: linear and power. Microsoft Excel software was used to design proposed model types, using a built-in program for calculating regression. In this study, regression analysis was performed using established function types for each technology. It is determined that the linear function will be best according to mathematical analysis since the criteria value "R-square" is maximum and equal to 1 (for all three cases). Evaluation parameter values checked the value of the corresponding coefficient for the linear type regression model. They are adequate, except for the free member of the second model. This indicator is not considered when designing the linear model "Technology 2" (Table 4).

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 393-402 ISSN 1339-5629

Supply chain option	Regression model
"Technology 1"	$Z_{s1} = 500 + 511.44 \cdot Q_R + 45 \cdot L_d + 27.5 \cdot L_m.$
"Technology 2"	$Z_{s2} = 493.77 \cdot Q_R + 42 \cdot L_d + 18 \cdot L_m.$
"Technology 3"	$Z_{s3} = 1000 + 310.7 \cdot Q_{R} + 45 \cdot L_{d} + 37.8 \cdot L_{m}.$

The obtained regression models were used to calculate choosing criteria for rational grain cargo delivery technologies (Figure 5). Thus, input data are used as maximal and minimal input order flow parameter values.



Figure 5 Dependence diagram of total costs for grain cargo delivery in containers on routes from Ukraine to Europe from values combinations of corresponding input parameters for each experiment test

Costs were compared for each technology. It helped to determine more economical options for effect according to combinations of influence parameter values (Table 5). The second technology (transportation of grain cargo in containers by long-distance rail transport) is less expensive than Technology 1 (transportation of grain cargo in grain



wagons by long-distance rail transport), with all combinations of influence parameter values, with the greatest effect being 32195.10 UAH. The greatest effect with all possible combinations of comparison is 52874.60

UAH. It is possible when using "Technology 2" compared to "Technology 3" (transportation of grain cargo in containers by trucks) at maximum distances and minimum volume of grain cargo order.

	Effect (UAH)					
Observation	Comparing results for	Comparing results for	Comparing regults for "Technology			
series	"Technology 1" and	"Technology 1" and	2" and "Tachnology 3"			
	"Technology 2"	"Technology 3"	2 and Technology 5			
Test 1	3862.40	301.20	-3561.20			
Test 2	27450.90	-25273.70	-52724.60			
Test 3	4012.40	301.20	-3711.20			
Test 4	32045.10	26918.70	-5126.40			
Test 5	8456.60	52493.60	44037.00			
Test 6	8606.60	52493.60	43887.00			
Test 7	27600.90	-25273.70	-52874.60			
Test 8	32195.10	26918.70	-5276.40			

Table 5 Results of economic effect comparing

4 Conclusions

This research represents the results of conditions determining under which carriers (grain traders, supply companies) can choose a rational version of the technology for delivering grain cargo using containers by Ukraine-Europe routes. For this, a methodology was developed that included the following elements: alternative options design for technologies of grain cargo supplying; parameters definition for selection evaluating of an effective variant; creating mathematical models for values determining estimated parameters; modeling and evaluating results.

It was proposed to consider this process using three options of their organization with the participation of automobile, railway transport, and corresponding terminals to determine the rational option of grain cargo delivery by containers. Data from 10 companies to form these schemes that organize grain cargoes and containers delivering from Ukraine to Europe were used. The designed options consider the possibilities of using elevators and container areas on Ukrainian territory for storing grain cargo.

Mathematical modeling was the most promising approach for correctly describing the specifics of supplying grain cargo in containers. This nuance improves understanding of the complexity of cause-and-effect logical relations corresponding to certain supply chains. That's why, as a parameter for selecting an effective grain cargo supply chain in containers, the total costs for the delivery of grain cargo were selected considering the restrictions.

A full-factor experimental plan was developed for the three selected parameters, consisting of eight series experiments. At the same time, various combinations of external impact parameters were used, such as grain cargo order volume; transportation distance during input (output) flows; transportation distance by main multimodal kind of transport. Regression analysis was performed by functions of two types: linear and power. It was found that the linear function model is most adequate because the "R-square" value is equal to one.

Regression models of the corresponding type were built for three options for delivering grain cargo in containers on routes from Ukraine to Europe. The effect-determining results showed that "Technology 2" when compared with "Technology 1" at all combinations of values of technological parameters, will have a positive result – the total costs are less (the highest effect level is 32195.10 UAH at maximum values of input parameters).

Future studies will explore other opportunities for designing grain and food supply chains using river routes that will be compared with the models created and obtained results of the current investigation. Such perspectives allow logistics companies to offer alternative supply chain options depending on priority terms specified in requisitions. It improves responsiveness to fluctuations in demand and resource optimization used in the process by all participants in supply chains.

Acknowledgment

The research was partially supported by the International Association for Technological Development and Innovations.

References

- [1] KIERSZTYN, A., GANDZEL, A., KOCZAN, L., CELIŃSKI, M.: Travel Time Forecasting Based on Fuzzy Patterns, *Advances in Science and Technology Research Journal*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 224-232, 2021. https://doi.org/10.12913/22998624/140540
- [2] ORŠIČ, J., JEREB, B., OBRECHT, M.: Sustainable Operations of Last Mile Logistics Based on Machine Learning Processes. Processes, [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/pr10122524 [28 Nov 2022], 2022.



- [3] PRAJAPATI, D., ZHOU, F., DWIVEDI, A., SINGH, T., LAKSHAY, L., PRATAP, S.: Sustainable Agro-Food Supply Chain in E-Commerce: Towards the Circular Economy. Sustainability, [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su14148698 [15 Jul 2022], 2022.
- [4] STRNAD, D., FEDORKO, G., MOLNÁR, V., FIALEK, P.: Simulations as an Assessment Tool for the Feasibility of Logistics Innovations Motivated by the Emergence of Supply Chain Risk, *Advances in Science and Technology Research Journal*, Vol. 15, No. 3, pp. 66-75. 2021.

https://doi.org/10.12913/22998624/138726

- [5] LIU, S., LI, Y., FU, S., LIU, X., LIU, T., FAN, H.: Establishing a Multidisciplinary Framework for an Emergency Food Supply System Using a Modified Delphi Approach. Foods, [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/foods11071054 [6 Apr 2022], 2022.
- [6] XU, J., HAN, J., QI, Z., JIANG, Z, XU, K., ZHENG, M.: A Reliable Traceability Model for Grain and Oil Quality Safety Based on Blockchain and Industrial Internet. Sustainability, [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su142215144 [15 Nov 2022], 2022.
- [7] DAVYDOVITCH, A., VASILJEVA, T., NOVINKINA, J., HAIDABRUS, B.: Investments in Blockchain Information Management Systems Based on Business Angels' Criteria, in IVANOV, V. TROJANOWSKA, J., PAVLENKO, I., ZAJAC, J., PERAKOVIĆ, D. (ed) Advances in Design, Simulation and Manufacturing IV. DSMIE 2021, Lecture Notes in Mechanical Engineering. Springer, Cham., [Online], Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-77719-7_17 [26 May 2021], 2021.
- [8] MEDVEDIEV, I., MUZYLYOV, D., SHRAMENKO, N., NOSKO, P., ELISEYEV, P., IVANOV, V.: Design Logical Linguistic Models to Calculate Necessity in Trucks during Agricultural Cargoes Logistics Using Fuzzy Logic, Acta logistica. Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 155-166, 2020. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v7i3.165
- [9] STRAKA, M., SADEROVA, J., BINDZAR, P.: Simulation and Modelling of Transport Processes for the Needs of Mineral Resources Delivery Support, in: KNAPCIKOVA, L., BALOG, M., PERAKOVIC, D., PERISA, M. (ed) 4th EAI International Conference on Management of Manufacturing Systems, EAI/Springer Innovations in Communication and Computing, Springer, Cham., [Online], Available: https://doi.org/1 0.1007/978-3-030-34272-2_9 [04 Mar 2020], 2020.
- [10] JAGTAP, S., TROLLMAN, H., TROLLMAN, F., С., GARCIA-GARCIA, G., PARRA-LÓPEZ, DUONG, L., MARTINDALE, W., MUNEKATA, LORENZO, J.M., HDAIFEH, P.E.S., A., SALONITIS, K., HASSOUN, А., AFY-SHARARAH, M.: The Russia-Ukraine Conflict: Its Implications for the Global Food Supply Chains.

Foods, [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.339 0/foods11142098 [14 Jul 2022], 2022.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 393-402 ISSN 1339-5629

- [11] LAVSI, A.: *How the Russia-Ukraine conflict is impacting supply chains*. Consultancy EU, [Online], Available: https://www.consultancy.eu/news/7993/h ow-the-russia-ukraine-conflict-is-impacting-supply-chains [13 Jul 2022], 2022.
- [12] SIMCHI-LEVI, D., HAREN, P.: How the War in Ukraine Is Further Disrupting Global Supply Chains. Operations And Supply Chain Management. Harvard Business Review [Online], Available: https://hbr.org /2022/03/how-the-war-in-ukraine-is-furtherdisrupting-global-supply-chains [17 Mar 2022], 2022.
- [13] Impact of the Ukraine-Russia conflict on global food security and related matters under the mandate of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Council of Hundred and Seventieth Session [Online], Available: https://www.fao.org/3/n j164en/nj164en.pdf [13 Jun 2022], 2022.
- [14] Agriculture, Forestry, and Fishing, Value Added (% of GDP)-Ukraine, The World Bank, [Online], Available: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NV. AGR.TOTL.ZS?locations=UA [02 Dec 2022], 2022.
- [15] Grain Market Report, International Grain Council, [Online], Available: https://www.igc.int/en/gmr_su mmary.aspx [17 Nov 2022], 2022.
- [16] NGUYEN, M.N., DINH, T.V., NGUYEN, H.T., PHUOC, M.H., NGUYEN, T.A., LE DINH, H.A., NGUYEN, T.T., NGUYEN, S.T.A., LUU, Q.T., VU THI, P.D., LE THI, H.T.: Russia-Ukraine war and risks to global supply chains, *International Journal of Mechanical Engineering*. Vol. 7, No. 6, pp. 633-640. 2022.
- [17] Agri-Food Trade Statistical Factsheet-European Union-Ukraine. European Commission, [Online], Available: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files /food-farmingfisheries/farming/documents/agrifoodukraine_en.pdf. [21 Apr 2022], 2022.
- [18] SHEYKO, Y.: The EU Approved a Plan to Help Ukraine Export Grain. Made for Minds, [Online], Available: https://www.dw.com/uk/u-yespredstavyly-plan-yak-dopomohty-ukrainieksportuvaty-zerno/a-61778651 [05 May 2022], 2022.
- [19] Agri-Food Supply Chain. European Commission, [Online], Available: https://agriculture.ec.europa.eu/ common-agricultural-policy/agri-food-supplychain_en. [09 Oct 2022], 2022.
- [20] LEMISHKO, O., BLAZHEVICH, A.: The Influence of Management Decisions on the Capital Structure Optimization of Ukrainian Agricultural Enterprises, Stat. Ukr., [Online], Available: https://sujournal.com.ua/index.php/journal/article/view/374. [30 June 2022], 2022.



- [21] *How much Grain does Ukraine Export?* Word and Deed, [Online], Available: https://www.slovoidilo.u a/2022/02/22/infografika/ekonomika/skilky-zernovyx-eksportuye-ukrayina [22 Feb 2022], 2022.
- [22] The "Renfe Mercancías" Train Loaded with Ukrainian Grain Arrived in Barcelona, Center of Transport Strategies, [Online], Available: https://cfts.org.ua/news/2022/10/11/pozd_renfe_mer cancas_zavantazhenimi_ukranskim_zernom_pribuv _do_barseloni_72195 [11 Oct 2022], 2022.
- [23] MURPHY, C., BURCH, D., CLAPP, G.: Cereal Secrets: The World's Largest Grain Traders and Global Agriculture. Oxfam Research Reports, [Online], Available: https://wwwcdn.oxfam.org/s3fs-public/file_attachments/rrcereal-secrets-grain-traders-agriculture-30082012en_4.pdf [01 Aug 2012], 2012.
- [24] *Global Ocean Link*, [Online], Available: https://gol.ua/o-kompanii/ [11 Aug 2022], 2022.
- [25] CLOTT, C., HARTMAN, C., OGARD, E., GATTO, A.: Container Repositioning and Agricultural Commodities: Shipping Soybeans by Container from US Hinterland to Overseas Markets, *Research in Transportation Business & Management*, Vol. 14, pp. 56-65, 2015.
- [26] GIUSTIA, R., MANERBAA, D., BRUNOA, G., TADEIA, R.: Synchromodal Logistics: An Overview of Critical Success Factors, Enabling Technologies, and Open Research, *Transportation Research, Part E*, Vol. 129, pp. 92-110, 2019.
- [27] KIYKO, S., DRUZHININ, E., PROKHOROV, O., IVANOV, V., HAIDABRUS, B., GRABIS, J.: Logistics control of the resources flow in energysaving projects: Case study for metallurgical industry, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 7, No. 1, pp. 49-60, 2020. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v7i1.159
- [28] NIE, H., LI, S., LIU, Y.: An Enhanced Routing and Scheduling Mechanism for Time-Triggered Traffic

with Large Period Differences in Time-Sensitive Networking. Applied Sciences [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/app12094448 [28 Apr 2022], 2022.

- [29] SHRAMENKO, N., SHRAMENKO, V.: Simulation Model of the Process of Delivering Small Consignments in International Traffic Through the Terminal System, International Conference on Information Control Systems & Technologies, 2020.
- [30] NAVARRO-DEL AGUILA, I., DE BURGOS-JIMÉNEZ, J.: Sustainable Innovation through Developing Hybrid Agri-Food Supply Chains: A Case in South-Eastern Spain, Toxics [Online], Available: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/toxics10120752 [2 Dec 2022], 2022.
- [31] PAVLENKO, O., MUZYLYOV, D., SHRAMENKO, N., CAGÁŇOVÁ, D., IVANOV, V.: Mathematical Modeling as a Tool for Selecting a Rational Logistical Route in Multimodal Transport Systems. in: CAGÁŇOVÁ, D., HORŇÁKOVÁ, N. (ed) Industry 4.0 Challenges in Smart Cities, EAI/Springer Innovations in Communication and Computing. Springer, Cham, [Online], Available: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-92968-8_2 [21 Jun 2022], 2023.
- [32] BENGALI, S., DAHIR, A.L., KITROEFF, N.: Russia is Urged to Rejoin Grain Deal as Hunger Warnings Mount. The New York Times [Online], Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2022/10/30/world/europe/ ukraine-russia-grain-deal.html [30 Oct 2022], 2022.
- [33] MIHAI, N.: Logistics Potential as a Driving Force of Regional Innovative Development, *Economy and Society*, Vol. 36, pp. 1-7, 2022. https://doi.org/10.32782/2524-0072/2022-36-18

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 403-412 ISSN 1339-5629

Current state and improvement prospects of warehouse workers health and safety practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations Miroslav Stefanov

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.408

Received: 24 Mar. 2023; Revised: 30 Apr. 2023; Accepted: 20 May 2023

Current state and improvement prospects of warehouse workers health and safety practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations

Miroslav Stefanov

University of National and World Economy, Economics of Infrastructure Faculty, Logistics and Supply Chains Department, Student Town Hristo Botev, 1700 Sofia, Bulgaria, EU, m.stefanov@unwe.bg

Keywords: warehouse workers, occupational health and safety, manufacturing organizations, trading organizations. Abstract: Occupational health and safety (OHS) of warehouse workers is a crucial issue for warehouse managers. The importance of OHS practices has increased over recent years due both to high levels of fatal accidents in the logistics industry, and chronic shortage of labor in the sector, which requires systematic efforts to reduce absenteeism and increase warehouse employee motivation. This article aims to address the current state of some fundamental OHS practices of warehouse workers in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations, and to outline some recommendations for their future improvements. The data were collected using the questionnaire survey method among 91 manufacturing and trading organizations in Bulgaria, which operate warehouses, and were processed using Chi-square analysis. The results show that the share of trading organizations, which implement OHS practices is lower, in comparison with surveyed manufacturing organizations. In addition, small organizations lag behind medium and large regarding the use of fundamental measures to protect warehouse workers. The main research findings indicate that there is a need to expand the frequency of OHS practices applied in trading organizations through a wider implementation of joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities, adaptation of warehouse infrastructure, clear designation of emergency exits and placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces. Furthermore, it is critical to increase the use of appropriate work clothing and personal protective equipment (PPE), as well as to provide regular safety briefings in trading warehouses and small organizations.

Introduction 1

OHS practices are an issue of increasing importance for warehouse managers. According to data provided by Eurostat in 2019 the transport and storage sector ranks second, and accounts for 15% of all fatal accidents at work in the EU-27 countries [1]. The operations carried out in the warehouse engage a significant human resource in labor-intensive activities that are performed in a working environment with a high degree of risk and hazards. In addition, physical work in the warehouse leads to fatigue and causes stress arising from the increasing demand to cut down on customer service time. All that has an adverse effect on the attractiveness of the logistics industry. As a result, in recent years the logistics sector has been known to suffer from a chronic labor shortage [2], including warehouse operations. In these conditions, ensuring adequate practices for health and safety working conditions of warehouse workers becomes a crucial issue for warehouse managers. On the one hand, they look for options to reduce accidents resulting in inefficient use of the available workforce. On the other hand, improving the working conditions in the warehouse is an important prerequisite in efforts to boost the motivation of warehouse workers.

Despite the growing number of publications dealing with various aspects of OHS practices in general, little is known at this point about their application in terms of warehouse workers in manufacturing and trading organizations both in Bulgaria and abroad. The importance of this issue for manufacturing and trading organizations

stems from three main factors. First, in 2019 about a third (31%) of non-fatal accidents at work resulting in at least 4 days of absence and about a quarter (22.9%) of fatal incidents occurred in the manufacturing and trading sector in the EU-27 [1]. Second, the incidents often happen in warehouses during the movements of material flows by forklifts [3], which are used there due to their universal application in heavy loads handling [4]. Third, previous research in the manufacturing industry has been focused on studying the relationship between OHSAS 18001 certification and operating performance [5], revealing the results of the implementation of a complex safety program in an automotive parts plant [6], outlining the issues of safety requirements provided by service providers in the automotive industry [7], analyzing the factors for building a safe work culture in the Malaysian manufacturing industry [8], the safety of the work environment in Korean manufacturing [9], as well as the relationships between work accidents and the causes of their occurrence in Romanian organizations [10], including manufacturing and trading, but has failed to reveal the most commonly applied practices for health and safety working conditions of warehouse workers.

Occupational accidents in Bulgaria are a serious challenge. In 2019, the country ranked second in the EU-27 with 3.37 fatal occupational accidents per 100 000 employees [1], which is 2 times higher than the average level for the EU member states. Nevertheless, OHS practices in the logistics sector have not been included in the scope of some of the most significant studies in this Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 403-412 ISSN 1339-5629



Current state and improvement prospects of warehouse workers health and safety practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations Miroslav Stefanov

field [11,12]. Therefore, it is the right moment now to study the OHS practices in manufacturing and trading organizations, and Bulgaria is the right place to conduct such kind of research. Previous studies found insufficient knowledge in this field [13], as well as the need to apply an interdisciplinary research approach when conducting studies [14]. In addition, workers in small and mediumsized organizations are among the most at risk of injuries at work [15]. This shows that the size of the organization can also influence OHS practices. Currently, this relationship is inadequately examined and hence it is also worth researching.

Therefore, the aim of this article is to reveal the current state of some basic OHS practices of warehouse workers in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations based on which to outline the necessity for their future improvement. To achieve this goal, the following research questions need to be clarified:

1. What are the fundamental and most frequently used OHS practices of warehouse workers?

2. Are there statistically significant relationships between OHS practices of warehouse workers and organization type/ organization size?

3. What is the strength of the relationships between the variables mentioned?

4. What are the individual differences in the statistically significant relationships between the variables?

5. What recommendations for improving the health and safety practices of warehouse workers can be formulated and addressed to stakeholders?

This study extends existing knowledge on the application of OHS practices in two ways. First, it outlines the importance of the practices most commonly applied for the protection of warehouse workers in the high-risk sectors of manufacturing and trading in Bulgaria, for which the currently available knowledge is still insufficient. Second, the research provides some practical guidelines to assist warehouse managers in their efforts to improve the working environment and working conditions and to support policy makers in building a more favourable regulatory environment and funding opportunities for organizations to enhance health and safety culture in warehouses.

The results of this article will offer valuable initial scientific and practical inferences not only in the Bulgarian context, but also for other developing countries lacking knowledge of OHS practices involving warehouse workers.

The rest of this article is organized as follows. The theoretical framework of the study is presented in section 2. Section 3 deals with data and methods used. The results of the study are addressed in Section 4. Section 5 focuses on the discussions about OHS practices as well as some recommendations to warehouse managers and policy makers. Concluding remarks and some guidelines for future research are provided in Section 6.

2 Theoretical framework

OHS of warehouse workers is a controversial management area that requires the achievement of a number of compromise solutions. On the one hand, the improvement of working conditions promotes a better labor force utilization by reducing sick leaves and increasing work capacity. It also helps decrease the compensation costs for occupational accidents, and the losses caused by damage to warehouse equipment, involved in accidents with warehouse workers. On the other hand, however, ensuring OHS requires financing a number of measures to improve the working environment, which reduces the profit margin. All this requires warehouse managers to be precise when opting for the set of OHS practices applied.

A number of good practices for OHS ensuring of warehouse workers are found in specialized books, standards and some scientific studies. This study identifies some basic and frequently applied practices that will support efforts of logistics managers to build both a better working environment, and better working conditions in warehouses. These practices are systematized in three groups.

The first group comprises the conduct of general and specialized OHS training. Conducting general training [16-19] stems from employers' commitments to provide their workers with a basic understanding of all aspects related to OHS. In addition, training in narrowly defined fields also contributes significantly to reducing accidents with warehouse workers. Some basic OHS practices applied in these fields involve: first aid training [18-21]; demonstrations of available equipment safety use [18,21]; joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities [16,18,21], as well as periodical evacuations of warehouse workers and visitors [20,21].

The second group covers various OHS practices that will mitigate warehouse workers' risks arising from working environment. Measures such as adaptation of warehouse infrastructure [16-18,20] by improving the lighting of work areas, better protection of pedestrian walkways, etc.; use of equipment for protective signals [20,22]; clear designation of emergency exits [16,18,19]; designation of places with first aid kits [17,18,20] and placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces [18,21] are of top priority when ensuring safer working conditions.

The third group of OHS practices takes into account the efforts of employers to improve working conditions. Fundamental measures of key importance in this field are related both to provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE [16-19,21], and periodically conducting safety briefings [21].



3 Data and methods

3.1 Data

The article presents the final results of a survey conducted among manufacturing and trading organizations in Bulgaria that use warehouses.

The data were collected using the questionnaire survey method during the period April – May 2020. The survey was conducted online through the LimeSurvey platform. The questionnaire used consisted of a general and a specialized section, the latter containing OHS practices issues. The general questionnaire section was completed by 134 organizations, and the specialized section with OHS practices by 91 organizations or about 68% of those participating in the survey. The share of manufacturing organizations was 40.70% and that of trading organizations was 59.30%. In terms of size, 44% of the organizations were small (up to 49 employees), 31.85% were mediumsized (from 50 to 249 employees) and 24.15% were large (more than 250 employees). Only representatives of organizations familiar with OHS practices in use took part in the survey. They were selected among the other participants through a control question for access to the specialized section.

The questionnaire used for the survey was approbated during the period February – March 2020.

Data processing in the present study was performed using SPSS, ver. 20 and MS Excel software.

3.2 Methods

To clarify the research questions posed in the present study a five-stage research approach that engaged various research methods was applied.

Within the first stage, based on a literature review with the help of content analysis, some of the most significant practices for ensuring health and safety of warehouse workers were identified. They were included in the test version of the questionnaire. It was approbated with ten participants including seven warehouse managers with up to 5 years of relevant experience, as well as two warehouse managers and a consultant with more than 5 years of experience in the field. The results of the approbation verified the identified OHS practices of warehouse workers as some of the most frequently used, and they were incorporated in the final version of the questionnaire. Therefore, in the construct "implemented practices to ensure OHS of warehouse workers" the following measurement items were included: general training on health and safety at work; first aid training; demonstrations of available equipment safety use; joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities; conducting periodical evacuations of warehouse workers and visitors; adaptation of warehouse infrastructure; use of equipment for protective signals; clear designation of emergency exits; designation of places with first aid kits; placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces; provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE, as well as periodically conducting safety briefings.

During the second stage, a reliability evaluation of the measurement items in the used construct was carried out using the Cronbach's alpha coefficient – Table 1.

Construct	Measurement items	Cronbach's alpha coefficient value
	1. General training on health and safety at work	
	2. First aid training	
	3. Demonstrations of available equipment safety use	
Implemented		
practices to ensure	6. Adaptation of warehouse infrastructure	0.828
OHS of warehouse	7. Use of equipment for protective signals	
workers	8. Clear designation of emergency exits	
	9. Designation of places with first aid kits	
	10. Placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces	
	11. Provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE	
	12. Periodically conducting safety briefings	

 Table 1 Construct, measurement items and Cronbach's alpha coefficient, used to study of warehouse workers' OHS practices in Bulgarian trading and manufacturing organizations

Source: author's calculation

The result obtained shows good reliability ($\alpha = 0.828$). This means that the selected measurement items can be used for subsequent statistical analyses.

To establish the statistical significance of warehouse workers' OHS practices in terms of both organization type and organization size, statistical hypotheses testing using Chi-squared analysis was performed. It was chosen because qualitative variables such as type of organization, size of the organization, as well as implemented OHS practices were used.

The requirement of no cells with minimum theoretical frequencies below 5 in regard to the relationship between conducting of general training on health and safety at work and organization size wasn't met. In the subsequent



analysis this relation wasn't analyzed, because inferences drawn would be of compromised credibility. The analysis of the rest relationships shows that all the reliability requirements of the Chi-square analysis in terms of theoretical frequencies and sample size were met. Consequently, the results can be interpreted.

Within the third stage, for the statistically significant relationships established between the variables, the strength of the relationship was evaluated. For this purpose, the Cramer's coefficient was used.

During the fourth stage, the individual differences in the shares of OHS practices applied both for organization types and for organizations by size were assessed with the help of descriptive statistics toolkit. Only the differences referring to the established statistically significant interrelationships were discussed.

Within the final stage, on the basis of the results obtained for the state of OHS practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations, some recommendations for their improvement addressed to warehouse managers and policy makers were provided.

4 Results

In this section, the results of the applied statistical tools are presented and analyzed. Table 2 shows relationship between OHS practices applied and research variables for which all the reliability requirements of the Chi-square analysis are met.

Table 2 Results of Pearson Chi-Square tests for the relationship between OHS practices applied and organization type/organization size

OHS practices	Statistically significant relationship between practices applied and organization		
	type	size	
1. General training on health and safety at work	0.1476	-	
2. First aid training	0.2584	0.0982	
3. Demonstrations of available equipment safety use	0.3980	0.2964	
4. Joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities	0.0164*	0.1432	
5. Conducting periodical evacuations of warehouse workers and visitors	0.0908	0.3995	
6. Adaptation of warehouse infrastructure	0.0145*	0.4715	
7. Use of equipment for protective signals	0.1133	0.4512	
8. Clear designation of emergency exits	0.0069*	0.0780	
9. Designation of places with first aid kits	0.0523	0.4334	
10. Placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces	0.0167*	0.3281	
11. Provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE	0.0009*	0.0012*	
12. Periodically conducting safety briefings	0.0499*	0.0190*	

Asymptotic Significance (1-sided); * Statistical significance, p < 0,05 Source: author's calculation

The analysis of significance levels shows that there are several statistically significant relationships between the OHS studied practices in the warehouses of the Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations and the variables organization type and organization' size. The statistically significant relationships established are evaluated by the Cramer's coefficient, and the results are systematized in Table 3.

Table 3 Results of Cramer's coefficients for the established statistically significant relationships between OHS practices applied and organization type/ organization size

	Statistically significant relationship between the practices applied and organization			
OHS practices	type		size	
	Cramer's		Cramer's	
	coefficient	Relationship	coefficient	Relationship
	value	strength	value	strength
Joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities	0.224	weak	-	-
Adaptation of warehouse infrastructure	0.229	weak	-	-
Clear designation of emergency exits	0.258	weak	-	-
Placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces	0.223	weak	-	-
Provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE	0.326	average	0.365	average
Periodically conducting safety briefings	0.173	weak	0.268	weak

Source: author's calculation



The analysis of the Cramer's coefficients shows that for the statistically significant relationships established between research variables, weak strength of relationships prevails. An exception with regard to the practice related to provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE is observed. For this OHS practice applied, medium relationship strength is established both with respect to organization type and organization size. The existence of relationships, despite predominantly weak strength, indicates that individual differences in the meanings of OHS practices for the research variables can be interpreted. These differences, in terms of OHS practices applied and organization type are presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1 OHS practices applied in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations - overall and by organization type Source: author's calculation

The analysis of the data shows that OHS practices of warehouse workers are applied to a greater extent in manufacturing organizations compared to trading ones. In manufacturing warehouses, there are more health and safety risks for warehouse workers due to the proximity of production machinery and the greater frequency of handling operations with heavier and bulkier loads. In addition, manufacturing organizations more often have occupational health and safety experts who contribute to integrated improvement of health and safety measures in all organizational entities. Clear designation of emergency exits is the most commonly used OHS practice and it is implemented by 75.80% of organizations surveyed. In regard of organization type, this OHS practice is applied by 89.20% of manufacturing organizations and by 66.70% of trading ones.

Periodically conducting safety briefings is implemented in total by 74.70% of organizations surveyed. This practice to ensure the health and safety of warehouse workers is used by 83.80% of manufacturing and 68.50% of trading organizations.



Provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE is implemented by 68.10% of the organizations surveyed. The importance of this OHS practice is greater in manufacturing warehouses than in trading ones. It is used by 86.50% of manufacturing and 55.60% of trading organizations.

Placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at the workplace is implemented by 75.70% of manufacturing organizations and 53.70% of trading ones or in total by 62.60% of the surveyed organizations.

About half of surveyed organizations are adapting warehouse infrastructure as a measure to improve the

health and safety of warehouse workers. This OHS practice is applied by 62.20% of manufacturing and 38.90% of trading organizations.

The most underestimated OHS practice seems to be the joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities, which is applied in total by 30.80% of organizations surveyed. It is applied by 43.20% of manufacturing and 22.20% of trading organizations.

Individual differences in terms of OHS practices applied and organization size are presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2 OHS practices applied in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations - overall and by organization size Source: author's calculation

Data analysis shows that the practices of providing appropriate work clothing and PPE, as well as periodically conducting safety briefings are used by 68.10%, and 74.70% of organizations surveyed, respectively. These measures to ensure OHS are mainly used in large and medium-sized organizations, and small ones lag behind them. Small organizations often cannot afford to hire an OHS specialist and have more limited financial resources to provide OHS measures at work.

Appropriate work clothing and PPE, as well as periodical safety briefings are implemented by 90.90% of large organizations and by 75.90%, and 79.30% of medium-sized organizations, respectively. Small organizations are generally in a catch-up position, and a smaller proportion of them apply these practices, compared to the share of medium and large ones. Providing work clothing and PPE is implemented by 50.00% of small organizations, and conducting periodic safety briefings by 62.50% of them.

5 Discussion

Contemporary trends in trading warehouses that build up better opportunities for faster order fulfillment in ecommerce involve both an increase in stock density and higher degree of automation [23]. They lead to high intensity of material flow. As a result, health and safety risks of warehouse workers are increased, while OHS practices in the warehouses of the Bulgarian trading organizations are noticeably weaker than in manufacturing ones. Therefore, it is imperative that trading warehouse managers expand protection measures of warehouse workers.

The finding that the surveyed organizations downplay the importance of joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities for OHS ensuring in the warehouses is also a source of concern. This comes against the backdrop of worrying data from the US National Fire Protection Association. They show that for the period 2016-2020 in the US only, an average of 1,450 warehouse fires occur annually, killing an average of 2 civilians and Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 403-412 ISSN 1339-5629



Current state and improvement prospects of warehouse workers health and safety practices in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations Miroslav Stefanov

injuring 16 others [24]. This indicates that a wider application of joint firefighting drills is necessary in the studied organizations. In particular, this need is even more pressing for trading organizations, which apply this OHS practice noticeably less compared to manufacturing ones. Some of the most significant fires in recent years claimed a number of victims among both workers and firefighters in warehouse incidents in Tianjin, 2015 [25], Changchun, 2021 [26], Moscow 2016 [27,28], 2022 [29], Orlando, 2022 [30], and hundreds of thousands square-feet property in fire incidents in Indiana 2022, Illinois 2022, and North Carolina 2021 [23].

The warehouse work environment is highly hazardous. In manufacturing and trading warehouses, high intensity movement of lifting transport equipment and pedestrians as well as intense pressure to reduce customer service times are observed. Hence, the higher risk to health and safety of warehouse workers. Available data shows that forklift accidents account for around 10% of workplace injuries [31] and they are often caused by a collision between a forklift and a warehouse worker [32]. Therefore, the need to adapt the warehouse infrastructure arises. Various measures such as improving the lighting, installing guardrails, delineating separate areas for the movement of forklifts and pedestrians, as well as installation of signal warehouse traffic warning light system contribute to reduction of warehouse occupational injuries.

The decrease of occupational injuries for warehouse workers is a key prerequisite for reducing work injury costs, workers' compensation costs, absenteeism and improvement of the employer brand trust. Although the employment injury insurance scheme options are constantly expanding, they are still overwhelming for many employers. As a result, ensuring health and safety at work continues to be one of the most significant challenges for business managers, and warehouse managers in particular. According to a study conducted by The International Labor Organization and The United Nations Global Compact, around 60% of the global workforce lacks protection against work-related injury and illness [15]. In addition, data from the National Safety Council show that in the US private sector, employers lost the opportunity to use significant number of workers of all ages due to injury or illness in 2020 - 22.1; 27.3 and 28 workers per 10,000 employed, respectively for a period from 6 to 10; 11 to 20 and 31 + working days [33]. This gives rise to the need for constant prevention of occupational accidents in the risky warehouse environment and the wider application of practices for warehouse workers' protection. In Bulgarian trading organizations warehouses this necessity is clearly expressed. The study results show that warehouse workers in these storehouses receive less protection in terms of some OHS practices such as clear designation of emergency exits, placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces, provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE, and periodically conducting safety briefings, in comparison

with surveyed manufacturing organizations. A need to expand protection practices in small-sized organizations that lag behind medium and large ones in implementation of mandatory OHS measures such as provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE, as well as periodically conducting safety briefings is also observed.

Based on the results of the analysis, several recommendations to warehouse managers and policy makers can be drawn up.

First, better warehouse workers protection can be achieved through a wider implementation of OHS practices by a greater number of trading organizations. Moreover, hiring a part-time OHS specialist or training such an expert at the organization's expense would also contribute to OHS improvements in trading warehouses.

Second, reducing the health and safety risks for workers as a result of fires requires warehouse managers in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations to conduct joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities at least once a year.

Third, advancement of investments to ensure a safer working environment can be accomplished with legislative initiatives by policy makers. Measures such as tax reductions on the amount of investments to adapt the warehouse infrastructure and/or provision of low-interest investment loans by the Bulgarian Development Bank would contribute to better protection of warehouse workers in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations.

Fourth, establishing an association that promotes OHS of warehouse workers would contribute to increasing the expertise and synergy in the field of safety in a warehouse environment of member organizations. It would facilitate the interaction between warehouse managers and policy makers by formulating common positions to support regulatory framework updating and changing. In addition, the association expert committees could support warehouse managers by drawing up recommendations, instructions and guides for conducting periodic safety briefings, tailored to the peculiarities in a warehouse environment.

Fifth, policy makers could create conditions for acquisition of suitable work clothing, PPE and protection signs to expand OHS practices applied in the warehouses of small, medium and large-sized manufacturing and trading organizations in Bulgaria by including an appropriate application mechanism in the operational programs financed by the European Structural Funds for Bulgaria.

Sixth, ISO 45000 management system certification can also help to build a culture of prevention and better control of health and safety issues in warehouses. It can be done with the support of policy makers and the provision of an appropriate application mechanism under the operational programs of the European Structural Funds for Bulgaria.



6 Conclusion

The results of this research provided some valuable initial scientific inferences and practical recommendations regarding the OHS practices of warehouse workers in Bulgarian manufacturing and trading organizations. The study outcomes laid out an answer to the research questions posed. They can be summarized as follows:

First, some fundamental and frequently used OHS practices of warehouse workers are identified. These are: general training on health and safety at work; first aid training; demonstrations of available equipment safety use; joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities; periodically conducting evacuations of warehouse workers and visitors; adaptation of warehouse infrastructure; use of equipment for protective signals; clear designation of emergency exits; designation of places with first aid kits; placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at workplaces; provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE, as well as conducting periodic safety briefings.

Second. existence of statistically significant relationships between some of OHS practices applied and research variables are established. Such relationships between six of OHS practices and organization type are observed. These practices are clear designation of emergency exits; periodically conducting safety briefings; provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE; placement of signs/work instructions for safe work at the workplace; adaptation of warehouse infrastructure, as well as joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities. Statistically significant relationships regarding OHS practices related to provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE, periodically conducting safety briefings and organization size are also established.

Third, the provision of appropriate work clothing and PPE is a practice that is characterized by a medium relationship strength, both in terms of organization type and organization size. All other statistically significant relationships between OHS practices applied and research variables are weak.

Fourth, the individual differences in the statistically significant relationships show that OHS studied practices are applied more frequently in the warehouses of manufacturing organizations than in those of trading organizations. Moreover, fundamental practices of high importance for OHS ensuring of warehouse workers, such as joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities, and adaptation of warehouse infrastructure are used more limitedly - totally by 30.80 % and 48.80 % of organizations surveyed, respectively. In addition, small organizations in terms of implementing practices for providing appropriate work clothing and PPE, and periodically conducting safety briefings.

Fifth, some recommendations to improve the OHS practices of warehouse workers aimed at stakeholders are inferred. The main guidelines to warehouse managers are

related to hiring a part-time OHS specialist or training such an expert at the organization's expense, conducting joint firefighting drills with fire and emergency safety authorities at least once a year, as well as participation in establishing an association that promotes OHS of warehouse workers. The recommendations to policy makers are related to building an appropriate regulatory environment and creating conditions for wider application of OHS practices. Appropriate measures in this field involve tax reductions on the amount of investments to adapt the warehouse infrastructure, provision of lowinterest investment loans by the Bulgarian Development Bank and provision of an appropriate application mechanism under the operational programs of the European Structural Funds for Bulgaria with the purpose of acquisition of suitable work clothing, PPE, protection signs, as well as ISO 45000 management systems certification.

The present research also has some limitations. They stem from the relatively small sample size, the engagement of a limited number of fundamental OHS practices, the use of only qualitative variables, as well as the narrow focus solely on manufacturing and trading organizations in supply chains. Overcoming these limitations in future research will require expanding the sample scope, investigating a more comprehensive set of OHS practices applied, selecting quantitative variables in order to create conditions for the application of more advanced statistical tools and inclusion of additional supply chain participants – suppliers of raw materials or/and logistics service providers.

Acknowledgments

The results presented in this article are based on data collected within a project NID NI-3/2019 "Warehouse systems in logistics – management practices and trends". This work was financially supported by the University of National and World Economy Research Programme.

References

- [1] Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat: Accidents at work statistics, [Online], Available: https://ec.europa.e u/eurostat/statisticsexplained/index.php?title=Accidents_at_work_statisti cs [14 Aug 2022], 2019.
- [2] McKINNON, A., FLOETHMANN, CH., HOBERG, K., BUSCH, CH.: Logistics Competencies, Skills, and Training: A Global Overview, [Online], Available: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/2 7723 [14 Aug 2022], 2017.
- [3] LEHTONEN, E., PERTTULA, P., MAASALO, I., REUNA, K., KANNISTO, H., PURO, V., HIRVONEN, M.: Learning game for improving forklift drivers' safety awareness, *Cognition, Technology & Work*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 743-753, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10111-020-00648-7



- [4] SARIC, S., BAB-HADIASHAR, A., HOSEINNEZHAD, R., HOCKING, I.: Analysis of forklift accident trends within Victorian industry (Australia), *Safety Science*, Vol. 60, pp. 176-184, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2013.07.017
- [5] LO, C.K.Y., PAGELL, M., FAN, D., WIENGARTEN, F., YEUNG, A.C.L.: OHSAS 18001 certification and operating performance: The role of complexity and coupling, *Journal of Operations Management*, Vol. 32, No. 5, pp. 268-280, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jom.2014.04.004
- [6] HERMANN, J.A., IBARRA, G.V., HOPKINS, B.L.: A safety program that integrated behavior-based safety and traditional safety methods and its effects on injury rates of manufacturing workers, *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, Vol. 30, No. 1, pp. 6-25, 2010.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01608060903472445

- [7] NENONEN, S.: An operational model of safety management for service providers in manufacturing industry, *The Service Industries Journal*, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 99-114, 2013.
 - https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.600442
- [8] KUMAR, R., CHELLIAH, T.D., CHELLIAH, M.K., AMIN, F.B.M.: An analysis on safety work culture in malaysian manufacturing industry, *BIOINFO Business Management*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 11-15, 2012.
- [9] KWON, O.-J., KIM, Y.-S.: An analysis of safeness of work environment in Korean manufacturing: The "safety climate" perspective, *Safety Science*, Vol. 53, pp. 233-239, 2013.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2012.10.009

[10] IVASCU, L., SARFRAZ, M., MOHSIN, M., NASEEM, S., OZTURK, I.: The causes of occupational accidents and injuries in Romanian firms: an application of the Johansen cointegration and Granger causality test, *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, Vol. 18, No. 14, pp. 1-17, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18147634

- [11] RAKOVSKA, M., IVANOV, N., VODENICHAROVA, M.: Development of logistics in Bulgarian processing and trading enterprises, Sofia, Publishing complex – UNSS, 2014. (Original in Bulgarian)
- [12] RAKOVSKA, M.: Logistics in Manufacturing and Trading Companies in Bulgaria – State and Development in the Period 2000-2013, *Economic Alternatives*, Vol. 4, pp. 49-63, 2014.
- [13] HOFSTRA, N., PETKOVA, B., DULLAERT, W., RENIERS, G., DE LEEUW, S.: Assessing and facilitating warehouse safety, *Safety Science*, Vol. 105, pp. 134-148, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssci.2018.02.010
- [14] DRAGOMIROV, N.: Warehousing in logistics main review of Bulgarian research contribution, Conference proceedings Fifth International Scientific

Conference ERAZ - Knowledge Based Sustainable Development, Budapest, pp. 107-111, 2019.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 403-412 ISSN 1339-5629

- [15] International Labour Organization and United Nations Global Compact, http://www.ilo.org: Nine Business Practices for Improving Safety and Health through Supply Chains and Building a Culture of Prevention and Protection, [Online], Available: http://www.ilo.org/global/topics/geip/publications/ WCMS_821481/lang--en/index.htm [14 Aug 2022], 2021.
- [16] EMMETT, S.: *Excellence in warehouse management: How to minimise costs and maximise value*, Chichester, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 2005.
- [17] RUSHTON, A., CROUCHER, P., BAKER, P.: The Handbook of Logistics and Distribution Management, 6th ed., London, Kogan Page, 2017.
- [18] SWARTZ, G.: Warehouse Safety: A Practical Guide to Preventing Warehouse Incidents and Injuries, Lanham MD, Rowman & Littlefield, 1998.
- [19] SOWA, M.: Threats to health and safety at work when completing a warehouse process, *European Journal* of Service Management, Vol. 27, No. 3/1, pp. 285-291, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.18276/ejsm.2018.27/1-36

- [20] RICHARDS, G.: Warehouse Management: A Complete Guide to Improving Efficiency and Minimizing Costs in the Modern Warehouse, 2nd ed., London, Kogan Page, 2014.
- [21] Occupational Safety and Health Administration and U.S. Department of Labor, https://www.osha.gov: *Training Requirements in OSHA Standards*, [Online], Available: https://www.osha.gov/sites/default/files/p ublications/osha2254.pdf [20 Aug 2022], 2020.
- [22] KELLER, S., KELLER, B.C.: The definitive guide to warehousing: Managing the storage and handling of materials and products in the supply chain, Upper Saddle River, NJ, Pearson Education, 2014.
- [23] MISHALL, J.: Storage trends and new technology ignite fire risks for commercial warehouses, [Online], Available: https://www.zurichna.com/knowledge/art icles/2022/07/storage-trends-and-new-technologyignite-fire-risks-for-commercial-warehouses [06 Jan 2023], 2022.
- [24] CAMPBELL, R.: Warehouse Structure Fires, [Online], Available: https://www.nfpa.org/-/media/Files/News-and-Research/Fire-statistics-andreports/Building-and-life-safety/oswarehouse.ashx [08 Jan 2023], 2022.
- [25] The Guardian, https://www.theguardian.com: *Tianjin explosion: China sets final death toll at 173, ending search for survivors*, [Online], Available: https://www.theguardian.com/world/2015/sep/12/tia njin-explosion-china-sets-final-death-toll-at-173-ending-search-for-survivors [08 Jan 2023], 2015.
- [26] AP NEWS, https://apnews.com: *Fire in Chinese warehouse kills 15, injures 25*, [Online], Available: https://apnews.com/article/fires-



b88f030a72040b310be778180c3ca1a0 [08 Jan 2023], 2021.

- [27] BBC News, https://www.bbc.com: Moscow fire: Warehouse blaze kills eight firefighters, [Online], Available: https://www.bbc.com/news/worldeurope-37449897 [08 Jan 2023], 2016.
- [28] Deutsche Welle, https://www.dw.com: Fire in Moscow warehouse kills workers, [Online], Available: https://www.dw.com/en/fire-in-russianwarehouse-kills-several-migrant-workers/a-19508184 [08 Jan 2023], 2016.
- [29] APA GROUP LLC, https://apa.az: Death toll from warehouse fire in central Moscow reached 7-VIDEO-UPDATED, [Online], Available: https://apa.az/en/cis-countries/death-toll-fromwarehouse-fire-in-central-moscow-reached-7-videoupdated-389937 [09 Jan 2023], 2022.
- [30] FOX 35 Orlando, https://www.fox35orlando.com: Orlando Warehouse Fire: Fourth person dies days after blaze that ignited fireworks, [Online], Available: https://www.fox35orlando.com/news/orla

ndo-warehouse-fire-fourth-person-dies-days-afterblaze-that-ignited-fireworks [09 Jan 2023], 2022.

- [31] CAMPBELL, W., DASGUPTA, P., CUEVAS, D., MAUERMAN, L.: Importance of Training Methods in Safety: A Model Training Program, Proceedings of the 31st Annual International Occupational Ergonomics and Safety Conference, New Orleans, Louisiana, USA, pp.41-47, 2019.
- [32] EMILY, PH.: Temporary Labor: Issues of Health and Safety Experienced by Warehouse Workers in the Inland Empire, [Online], Available: https://www.pdf filler.com/230399014-EmilyPhippspdf-Temporary-Labor-Issues-of-Health-and-Safety-Experienced-[09 Jan 2023], 2012.
- [33] National safety council, https://www.nsc.org: Work Injuries and Illnesses by Age, [Online], Available: https://injuryfacts.nsc.org/work/industry-incidencerates/work-injuries-and-illnesses-by-age/ [29 Jan 2023], 2023.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 413-422 ISSN 1339-5629

Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.410

Received: 25 Mar. 2023; Revised: 13 July 2023; Accepted: 11 Aug. 2023

Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms

Luis David Berrones-Sanz

Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Av. Plan de Agua Prieta 66, Plutarco Elías Calles, Miguel Hidalgo, 11350 Ciudad de México, Mexico, Iberroness@ipn.mx (corresponding author)

Estefania Perez-Diaz

Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Manuel Carpio 471, Plutarco Elías Calles, Miguel Hidalgo, 11350 Ciudad de México, Mexico, fanny.pd1201@gmail.com

Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril

Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Manuel Carpio 471, Plutarco Elías Calles, Miguel Hidalgo, 11350 Ciudad de México,

Mexico, dmonroy@ipn.mx Esteban Martinez Diaz

Instituto Politécnico Nacional, Manuel Carpio 471, Plutarco Elías Calles, Miguel Hidalgo, 11350 Ciudad de México, Mexico, emartinez@ipn.mx

Keywords: Association rule mining, Apriori algorithm, crash risk prediction, road freight transport.

Abstract: The purpose of this study is to evaluate the use of the Apriori association rule mining algorithm to classify and predict the severity of the 718,565 accidents involving freight transport vehicles in Mexico, which occurred between 2009 and 2018. The accidents were classified into those in which there was only material damage or injured people {Severity=0} and in those in which people died {Severity=1}. 115 association rules were obtained, 79 corresponding to non-fatal accidents, and 36 to fatal ones. The main factors associated with the severity of the accident belong to male subjects, involved in accidents that occur on weekends and in suburban areas, and where the probability of the accident being fatal is 1.69 times greater. Thus, the results of using the association rules to relate demographic and circumstantial characteristics of the accident with the severity of the injuries show an accuracy of just over 65%. Therefore, despite the limitations that may occur due to the omission of relevant variables, and the fact that the results show little precision, the feasibility of using machine learning techniques and, specifically, the association rules as promising tools to help analyze accidents and help launch road safety interventions more effectively is manifested.

1 Introduction

In Mexico, each year over sixteen thousand people die as a consequence of a road accident [1], this is equal to 132 deaths per million inhabitants, which is why this cause represents a severe problem of public healthcare. Regarding, this country, diverse studies have been realized in order to analyse the trend of deaths and injuries of motorbikes, bicycles, drivers and pedestrians, as well as the prevalence in the use of helmet, safety belt or alcohol consumption, among other subjects about risk factors [2-4]. As far as accidents in road freight transport, in logistics activities, over 2500 deaths per year are acknowledged, and the accidents are recorded by the National Institute of Statistics and Geography [5] and the Mexican Institute of Transportation [6].

The records include general characteristics of the accidents, in which the types of vehicles are included, as well as the behavioral and socioeconomic data from the injured people. However, despite the great deal of information, the data analysis reduces to the descriptive statistics, and only in some case of correlational manner [7]. Likewise, though in international literature the risk factors of road accidents have been widely [8], the research about road accidents of road freight transportation in

Mexico are very limited and it hasn't been deeply investigated about the groups and characteristics of drivers in road freight flows which have particularly high risks of accident [9]. In this sense, the data have been wasted and, as a result, their potential has been limited in the elaboration of public policies or in business programs for accident prevention.

The great amount of available information requires applying interdisciplinary methods of data analysis and realizing studies of an explanatory-casual kind, generalizing behaviors or making inferences in such way that the patterns of relationships between the variables could be acknowledged and extract a better understanding of the high volume of data. Under this context, this research started with the purpose of identifying explanatory or predictive variables of the fatalities of the road freight transport, in which the flow of goods takes place, and as a case study of the statistics of Land Traffic Accidents in Urban and Suburban Zones (ATUS) of the INEGI. Multivariate analysis techniques were attempted; however, the assumptions were not met, or the data did not fit the models. It is how it was thought to use machine learning techniques and, in order to predict the severity of traffic accidents in freight transport in Mexico, the supervised technique of association rules with discrete labels was used


Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

to relate the variables of accidents with the severity of the injuries, that is to say, whether or not it was fatal.

2 Literature review

Technological advances in sensors, positioning systems, information collection devices and, in general, smart devices connected to communication networks provide a large amount of data in all areas and activities on the planet. In this sense, transport is one of the activities with the greatest number of applications; this is demonstrated by Tang et al. [10] who conducted a review of the Big Data literature in forecast research and found that, in addition to a rapid growth in the number of investigations, about 16.55% of the so-called hotspots correspond to transportation issues, and 11.38 % to traffic forecast models.

Therefore, it is not surprising that there are more and more records and information on traffic accidents, transport systems and logistics activities, which generate more research on the application of Data Science to predict, classify and identify the causes of incidents with new models and techniques that improve prediction and information on future prospects in complex situations, without linearity or seasonality.

In this sense, to try to explain the behavior of accidents, all kinds of machine learning techniques have been used. For example, Iranitalab and Khattak [11] used Multinomial Logit (MNL), Nearest Neighbor Classification (NNC), Support Vector Machines (SVMs) and Random Forests (RF) to predict the severity of traffic accidents; and they conclude that NNC had higher prediction accuracy in general and in the most severe crashes, the RF and SVMs methods followed with sufficient performance, while the MNL method was the weakest.

On their behalf, Arhin and Gatiba [12] used Gaussian naïve Bayes classifiers and support vector machines (SVMs) algorithms to predict the severity of injuries caused by accidents at intersections without traffic lights. Although the first technique had very low performance with an accuracy of 48.5%; with the second, SVMs, they achieved an accuracy of 83.2%, so they conclude that these models can be applied by transportation officials to recognize and perform necessary mitigation actions at collision-prone intersections.

Das et al. [13] also made predictions for injury severity in pedestrian-involved crashes in two cities in the United States and evaluated three algorithms: support vector machines (SVMs), random forests (RFs) and Extreme Gradient Boosting (XGBoost). In this study, different levels of precision were found for each of the evaluated cities and the different algorithms; for SVMs 0.6250 and 0.5849, for RF 0.6250 and 0.5769, and for XGBoost 0.7059 and 0.66. Thus, the best performance was for the XGBoost algorithm.

These studies show that there is no clear hierarchy of methods in terms of their performance in predicting the severity of injuries in traffic accidents. In addition, there are several studies that use techniques such as association rule mining (ARM) to identify sets of attributes and subgroups with a higher probability of severity in traffic accidents [14-16]. Yao et al. [17] found with ARM that the behavior of road users, vehicle factors, geometric characteristics of the road and environmental conditions are among the factors associated with severe traffic accidents. Likewise, Feng et al. [18] found a strong correlation between accidents and environmental factors, speed, and location.

Nonetheless, the studies that use association rules to identify sets of factors that determine the severity of accidents show the importance of carrying out analyzes in geographical locations, with different cultural factors, and for each of the types of transport. Thus, for example, another study analyzing motorcycle accidents with ARM in Australia [19] shows that among the factors with a higher probability of severe injuries are the collision with a truck or a static object, the accident while trying to pass a car or with a vehicle from the opposite direction, and during certain periods of the day, either during early morning or late at night. While Das et al. [20] found that lighting conditions, vehicle turns, and the age range of pedestrians 45 years and older, are frequently present in the factors determined by the association rules.

However, even though these methods have been in use for several decades, there are still relatively few studies on the severity of road accidents. In this way, the diversity of factors determined by the region and culture make it significant to investigate the elements that influence the severity of traffic accidents, the different road users, and the various types of transport; in order to provide perspectives that help understand the causes of the severity of injuries, and develop initiatives and effective public policies that help reduce the severity and deaths caused by traffic accidents.

3 Method

Open data corresponding to the period between 2009 and 2018 of the statistics of Land Traffic Accidents in Urban and Suburban Zones (ATUS) of the National Institute of Statistics and Geography [5] were used . Ten annual files were collected, for which a total of 3,889,989 records of traffic accidents were accumulated. All claims involving a cargo transport vehicle were selected, and participate in the flow of goods, giving a total of 891,172 records corresponding to 22.9% of the total.

Specifically, for the selection of these records, the variable type of vehicle was used, which INEGI [21] classifies into thirteen categories, and among which there are three types of vehicles dedicated to the goods flow; cargo vans, with a capacity of up to one ton; cargo trucks, which carry between one and five tons; and tractors with or without a trailer, which transport more than five tons of goods. After discarding the null records, the database on cargo accidents for the study decade consisted of 718,565



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

records, 7,464 classified as fatal accidents {Severity=1} and 711,101 as non-fatal {Severity=0}.

Subsequently, with multivariate analysis techniques, an attempt was made to identify explanatory or predictive variables of fatalities in freight transport; however, the assumptions of normality, homoscedasticity, multicollinearity, or the nature of the variables were not met; even some methods of interdependence froze the computer. Given the binary nature of the main variable, which refers to whether there were fatalities in the freight transport accident, it was considered to use binary logistic regression. However, even though the global precision was 76.5%, the sensitivity had a very low value (1.8%), and the total goodness of fit (P < 0.001) showed that the data do not fit the model.

This is how it was thought to use machine learning techniques and, with the objective to predict the severity of traffic accidents in freight transportation in Mexico, the supervised technique of association rules was used to investigate among the variables related to the fatalities in traffic accidents of vehicles that execute the flows of goods by road.

4 Association rule mining

The Arules package, created by Hahsler et al. [22] was used for the programming environment, R. Arules provides a basic data analysis infrastructure that results in a set of elements and association rules [23] with a interface capable of processing the Apriori algorithm proposed by [24].

Essentially, the algorithm consists of analyzing a subset of elements contained in the attributes, which give rise to a rule defined as an implication of the form if $X \Rightarrow Y$; where

the patterns obtained in the sets of elements X, which are called antecedents or Left-Hand-Side (LHS), can be used to predict the class of unclassified records Y, called consequential or Right-Hand-Side (RHS). In addition, the Arules package outputs a diversity of rules, with their respective confidence (1), support (2) and lift (3) values, to quantify the statistical strength of the different patterns. The software internally calculates the parameters with formulas such as the following:

Confidence({X}	$\rightarrow \{Y\}) =$
Transactions containing both X and Y	(1)
Transactions containing X	(1)

 $\frac{Support(\{X\} \to \{Y\}) =}{\frac{Transactions \ containing \ both \ X \ and \ Y}{Total \ number \ of \ transactions}}$ (2)

$\frac{Lift(\{X\} \rightarrow \{Y\}) =}{(Transactions \ containing \ both \ X \ and \ Y)/(Transactions \ containing \ X)}{Fraction \ of \ transactions \ containing \ Y}}$ (3)

For the case study of this research, the Apriori algorithm was executed with variables from the statistics of Land Traffic Accidents in Urban and Suburban Zones (ATUS), which includes aspects related to people: sex and age; behavioral variables: alcoholic breath and use of seat belt; temporality variables: related to the month of the year, the day of the week, and the time of day; and the variables related to the road, which include the region of the country, and whether or not it is an urban area. The variables that were used, and their discretized values are shown in the following (Table 1).

Variable	Description	Values
Sex	Sex of the driver	1 Male
		2 Woman
Alcoholic	Evidence of alcoholic breath	1 Yes
		2 No
		3 It is ignored
Belt	Usage of safety belt	0 No
		1 Yes
		3 It is ignored
Region	Region of the country where the accident happened	1 Northwest Zone
		2 Northeast Zone
		3 Occident Zone
		4 Center Zone
		5 Southeast Zone
Season	Season of the year in which the accident happened	1 Spring
		2 Summer
		3 Fall
		4 Winter
Time	Time of day when the accident happened	1 From 00:01 to 05:59
	The of day when the accident happened	2 From 06:00 to 11:59
		3 From 12:00 to 17:59
		4 From 18:00 to 23:59

Table 1 Definition and categorization of variables

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 413-422 ISSN 1339-5629



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

Weekend	Day of the week in which the accident happened	1	From Monday to Friday
		2	Saturday and Sunday
Urban	If the accident happened in Urban Zone	0	Suburban Zone
		1	Urban Zone
Age	Age Group	1	From 1 to 20 years old
		2	From 20 to 30 years old
		3	From 31 to 40 years old
		4	From 41 to 50 years old
		5	51 or older
Severity	Severity of the accident	0	Non-fatal
	-	1	Fatal

Thus, considering these variables, it is sought to explain the severity of the accidents. For this, the records were classified in which there were only material damages or injured persons {Severity=0} and in which there were deceased persons {Severity=1}. In this sense, for the prediction of fatalities in traffic accidents in freight transport in Mexico, the consequences that refer to accidents in which there were deceased persons were filtered {Severity=1} and their statistical factors were analyzed , to determine the antecedents with the patterns with the most significant associations.

Previously, the variables were decodified and established discretely and encode as a factor. To avoid overfitting and rebalancing the classes between fatal {Severity=1} and non-fatal {Severity=0} accidents, just over one hundredth of the non-fatal records (n=7,463) was randomly selected. These were combined with fatal accidents (FatalAcc; n=7,464) to form a database on rebalanced load accidents (Accdf_Rebalanced).

To monitor the algorithm, the rebalanced data set (n=14,927) was separated into two groups: the first (Accdf_train), denominated as the training set and made up of 70% of the records, and; the second (Accdf_test) that contains the rest of the data (30%) and, was named the test set. Therefore, using the training data, the Apriori algorithm was executed and the rules and associated parameters were obtained. However, given that what was sought was to identify regularities between the different variables and the accidents where there were deceased persons {Severity=1} or not {Severity=0}, a filter was applied on the consequent, to only consider those related to the accident fatality variable (Severity).

Subsequently, using the test data and, to determine the number of rules that each of the records meet, two functions were used: one that fragments the rules and serves to identify the values of the different attributes that integrate each of the rules (function ruleSeparation from the code in the supplemental material); and another that compares and quantifies the rules with the values of the cases, in such a way that it is possible to know which cases meet one or more of the rules (function RuleVsCases).

The number of rules per case was considered as the classification threshold, which is why the sensitivity, specificity and precision of the model were calculated considering from the fulfillment of one and up to ten of the rules in each record. Once the number of rules that presented the best indicators for classification had been established, the prediction of the group belonging to the initial set that contains all the records in which a cargo vehicle was involved was made and; based on this set of rules, the variables related to the level of severity of the accident were established. The R code and data used, including all commands and functions to generate all results, graphs and figures shown in this document, are included in the supplementary material.

5 Results

By applying the Apriori algorithm on the training data (with parameters support = .1, confidence = .5), 785 association rules were obtained. After applying the filter on the RHS to consider only accidents according to the category of whether there were {Severity=1} or not {Severity=0} deceased persons, a total of 115 rules were obtained, 79 associated with accidents where there were not deceased persons, and 36 where there were. Figure 1 shows a graph that considers the support (in the size of the spheres) and the lift (according to the intensity of the color) and it can be seen that, despite not having cases where both values are high, there are combinations where fatalities in cargo transport {Severity=1} show high lift or high support, so it can be inferred that there is a set of rules where fatalities are an important consequent.



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

> size: support (0.109 - 0.507 color: lift (1 - 1.7



Figure 1 Association rules graphic

Likewise, while inspecting the rules it was found that, for example, when the driver is male, the accident occurs on the weekend and in a suburban area, $\{Sex = 1, Weekend = 2, Urban = 0\}$ the probability that the accident is fatal is 1.69 times greater. The antecedents and consequences of other rules, as well as their associated parameters can be seen in (Table 2).

Table 2 Some association rules and their associated p	parameters
---	------------

LHS	RHS	Support	Confidence	Coverage	Lift	Count
{Weekend=2,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.127459	0.862887	0.147712	1.700279	1309
{Sex=1,Weekend=2,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.123661	0.862186	0.143427	1.698897	1270
{Sex=1,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.234177	0.847129	0.276436	1.669228	2405
{Sex=1,Weekend=1,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.110516	0.830893	0.133009	1.637236	1135
{Weekend=1,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.114703	0.825508	0.138948	1.626625	1178
{Sex=1,Alcoholic=2,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.106134	0.794461	0.133593	1.565447	1090
{Alcoholic=2,Urban=0}	=> {FatCar=1}	0.109542	0.791696	0.138364	1.560000	1125

The occurrence in suburban areas, gender, the use of the seat belt and the season of the year in which the accident occurs are attributes that are repeated several times in the different rules; This can also be seen in Figure 2, where a graph of support bars by frequencies is shown with the ten elements that are repeated the most.



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz



Figure 2 Frequency bar plot

Nonetheless, it is known beforehand that these variables represent risk factors and that, therefore, they increase the probability that the accident is [8]. Given it is sought to identify the elements that are related to fatalities in freight transport accidents, the function to separate rules (ruleSeparation) and another to compare with the cases (RuleVsCases) was used. With these functions, it was possible to identify whether the variables, for each of the

cases, obtained the values indicated by the association rules, in addition to quantifying the number of rules that are fulfilled per case. The histogram of Figure 3 shows the frequency of the rules associated with accidents with fatalities and the frequency presented in the test data, it can be seen that, for eight rules per case, the highest frequency of fatalities in vehicle accidents is presented freight involved.



Figure 3 Histogram of the number of rules per case

In this way, eight or more rules are proposed per case to determine the discrimination threshold and, therefore, if the forecast of the cases will be established as a fatal load accident {Severity=1} or as an accident without fatalities {Severity=0}. Thus, by applying the rules to the test data and classifying the cases that are within the threshold, the confusion matrix can be established (Figure 4).



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz



Figure 4 Confusion Matrix for the threshold of 8 or more rules

In addition, if the sensitivity, specificity and precision of the predictions are graphed with different thresholds according to the number of rules, Figure 5 is obtained. In this, it can be seen that near the eight rules per case is where the balance between the value of the sensitivity and that of the specificity is obtained; and values of 0.67 are obtained for the sensitivity, 0.62 for the specificity, and 0.65 for the precision.



Figure 5 Sensitivity, specificity and precision of the model by number of rules per case

6 Discussion and conclusions

Every day the use of technologies that record information is being integrated and, therefore, a large amount of data on transport and the supply chain activities is being accumulated. Most of the databases are not analyzed in their entirety, they have non-linear relationships, the models are of the non-deterministic polynomial-time hardness (NP-hardness) class or the metaanalyzes are short-range.

The analysis of traffic accidents is an essential task for freight transport companies, and avoid breaks in the flow of goods. However, in Mexico, there is a gap in accident investigation methodology, as most investigations are based on traditional statistical methods.

Thus, it is highlighted the importance and growth that data mining and different machine learning techniques have had to discover patterns, generalize behaviors and make inferences that help to understand traffic accidents better; among which there are, for example, neural networks [25], regression trees [26] or text mining Techniques [27].



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

In addition, the use of machine learning techniques has become cheap and easy to apply due to free software, such as R or Python, which include libraries and functions that form a very flexible and extensible work environment, and that make it possible to systematize in a constant basis the analysis of information.

In this study, an extensive set of data on traffic accidents in Mexico is used and the Apriori algorithm of association rules is applied to predict the severity of accidents in freight transport. The results of using the association rules to relate the demographic and circumstantial characteristics of the accident with the severity of the injuries show a precision of just over 65%.

It can be inferred that the level of imprecision may be due to the nature of the variables; given that the records are retrospective and were not specifically designed to classify their severity. For example, in the international literature there are well-known risk factors regarding the increase in the severity of the accidents; These include the speed at which the vehicles circulate, weather conditions such as rain, snow or fog, ergonomic conditions of the vehicle, psychosocial factors and the drivers' days, among other working conditions that are not included in the database and which may be omissions of relevant [8,9].

The use of association rules is an alternative that, in addition to indicating the possibility of an accident due to the exposure to some risk such as the odds ratios of traditional epidemiological methods, can be used to classify individuals with a set of characteristics or who are found under specific circumstances or patterns. Therefore, despite the limitations and the fact that the results show insufficient precision, the association rules are a promising tool in the analysis of traffic accidents and, therefore, to provide elements that contribute to launching interventions of road safety more effectively, and that at the same time allows the correct flow of merchandise in logistics activities.

It is proposed to use machine learning algorithms in companies dedicated to the transport of goods with data collected according to a theoretical framework on risk factors in freight transport. In addition, the group of drivers who carry out their journeys without mishaps must be included to establish the variables and characteristics of the protective factors. In this way, characteristics of the drivers, shipments and vehicles of each of the trips that the company makes will be obtained, under the premise that better performance will be obtained, and a more practical application, when applying the algorithms to identify the variables related to accidents and, therefore, in the prediction of the conditions and the drivers that represent less risk.

In conclusion, these types of prediction models help to identify the particularities of those injured and killed by traffic accidents. The determination is relevant in the sense that the characteristics must be used for the elaboration of government actions that promote protective factors and, therefore, reduce the number of accidents and ruptures in the flow of goods that are transported by road. One strategy could be the development of road safety campaigns in which the factors and attitudes that drivers carry out and that lead to accidents are disclosed. Kolter [28] indicates that a campaign to change social behavior must contain some guidelines such as identifying the objective, the factors that prevent the negative attitude of the people to whom the campaign is directed, validation and feedback, execution, monitoring, and campaign evaluation. In general, in Mexico, there are very few efforts and there are very few campaigns dedicated to the self-transportation of cargo, rather they are dedicated to cars to avoid driving under the influence of alcohol, fatigue, or for the use of seat belts.

Thus, with the information resulting from these analyses, and if this type of model is used, it will be possible to establish categories that integrate common arguments and that contemplate both physical, chemical, biological, and mechanical risks; demands derived from the organization and technical division of labor; and elements related to psychosocial and behavioral factors. With this information, alternatives should be sought in the media that are accessible to professional drivers, among these could be social networks, the radio, training courses, the facilities where they load and unload, or where they process their driver's licenses. It is also important to use the mass media and place billboards on-road sections as a graphic means of advertising information.

Acknowledgement

This work has been sponsored by the Universidad Autónoma de la Ciudad de México Project UACM CCYT-2023-IMP-14 and National Polytechnic Institute (IPN), number 20232252

References

- STCONAPRA, Report on the situation of road safety: Mexico 2017, México: Secretaría de Salud, Secretariado Técnico del Consejo Nacional para la Prevención de Accidentes (STCONAPRA), [Online], Available: https://www.gob.mx/salud/acciones-yprogramas/acerca-del-stconapra [05 Mar 2023], 2018. (Original in Spanish)
- [2] MURO-BÁEZ, V.A., MENDOZA-GARCÍA, M.E., VERA-LÓPEZ, J.D., PÉREZ-NÚNEZ, R.: Analysis of road traffic injuries in Mexican cyclists, *Gaceta Médica de México*, Vol. 153, No. 6, pp. 653-661, 2017. https://doi.org/10.24875/GMM.17002632 (Original in Spanish)
- [3] SÁNCHEZ, H., CHIAS, L., RESÉNDIZ, H.: Evolution of Traffic Accidents in the Urban and Suburban Areas in Mexico during 1997-2016: Higher Risk Exposure and Lower Lethality, *Revista Gerencia y Políticas de Salud*, Vol. 18, No. 37, pp. 1-24, 2019. (Original in Spanish)

https://doi.org/10.11144/Javeriana.rgps18-37.eatz

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

AL

Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

- [4] BERRONES-SANZ, L.D.: Analysis of accidents and injuries on motorcycles in Mexico, *Gaceta Médica de México*, Vol. 153, No. 6, pp. 662-671, 2017. https://doi.org/10.24875/GMM.017002812 (Original in Spanish)
- [5] INEGI, Road traffic accidents in urban and suburban areas, [Online], Available: https://www.inegi.org.mx/ programas/accidentes [05 Mar 2023], 2023. (Original in Spanish)
- [6] IMT, Statistical yearbook of accidents on federal highways (2018), Sanfandila: Instituto Mexicano del Transporte (IMT), [Online], Available: https://www.gob.mx/imt [05 Mar 2023], 2019. (Original in Spanish)
- [7] GUTIÉRREZ, J., CUEVAS, A., SORIA, V., VILLEGAS, N.: Correlation between Vehicle Composition and Accidents in the Federal Highway Network, during the Period 2006-2016, Phase I. Sanfandila: Instituto Mexicano del Transporte, *Publicacion Tecnica*, Vol. 2018, No. 529, pp. 1-67, 2018. (Original in Spanish)
- [8] ELVIK, R., HOYE, A., TRULS, V., SORENSEN, M.: *The handbook of road safety measures*, 2nd ed., Bingley UK, Emerald, 2009.
- [9] BERRONES-SANZ, L.D., CANO, P., SÁNCHEZ, D., MARTÍNEZ, J.L.: Injuries, diseases, and occupational accidents of cargo drivers in Mexico, *Acta Universitaria*, Vol. 28, No. 3, pp. 47-55, 2018. https://doi.org/10.15174/au.2018.1946 (Original in Spanish)
- [10] TANG, L., LI, J., DU, H., LI, L., WU, J., WANG, S.: Big Data in Forecasting Research: A Literature Review, *Big Data Research*, Vol. 27, No. February, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bdr.2021.100289
- [11] IRANITALAB, A., KHATTAK, A.: Comparison of four statistical and machine learning methods for crash severity prediction, *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, Vol. 108, pp. 27-36, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2017.08.008
- [12] ARHIN, S.A., GATIBA, A.: Predicting crash injury severity at unsignalized intersections using support vector machines and naïve Bayes classifiers, *Transportation Safety and Environment*, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 120-132, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1093/tse/tdaa012
- [13] DAS, S., LE, M., DAI, B.: Application of machine learning tools in classifying pedestrian crash types: A case study, *Transportation Safety and Environment*, Vol. 2, No. 2, pp. 106-119, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1093/tse/tdaa010
- [14] PRATI, G., ANGELIS, M.DE, PUCHADES VM, FRABONI F, PIETRANTONI L. Characteristics of cyclist crashes in Italy using latent class analysis and association rule mining, *PLoS ONE*, Vol. 12, No. 2, pp. 1-28, 2017. http://dxiaor/10.1271/journal.gov/0171484

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171484

[15] SHIN, D.-P., PARK, Y.-J., SEO, J., LEE, D.-E.: Association Rules Mined from Construction Accident Data, *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, Vol. 22, No. 4, pp. 1027-1039, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12205-017-0537-6

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 413-422 ISSN 1339-5629

- [16] XU, C., BAO, J., WANG, C., LIU, P.: Association rule analysis of factors contributing to extraordinarily severe traffic crashes in China, *Journal of Safety Research*, Vol. 67, pp. 65-75, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2018.09.013
- [17] YAO, Z., DENG, W., WU, D.: Association Rule Analysis of Contributory Factors to Severe Traffic Accidents, CICTP 2018: Intelligence, Connectivity, and Mobility - Proceedings of the 18th COTA International Conference of Transportation Professionals, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784481523.186

- [18] FENG, M., ZHENG, J., REN, J., XI, Y.: Association Rule Mining for Road Traffic Accident Analysis: A Case Study from UK, In: Ren, J., et al. Advances in Brain Inspired Cognitive Systems, BICS 2019, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 11691, Springer, Cham., 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-39431-8_50
- [19] JIANG, F., YUEN, K., LEE, E.: Analysis of motorcycle accidents using association rule miningbased framework with parameter optimization and GIS technology, *Journal of Safety Research*, Vol. 75, pp. 292-309, 2020.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2020.09.004
- [20] DAS, S., TAMAKLOE, R., ZUBAIDI, H., OBAID, I., ALNEDAWI, A.: Fatal pedestrian crashes at intersections: Trend mining using association rules, *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, Vol. 160, No. September, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aap.2021.106306
- [21] INEGI, Methodological synthesis of the statistics of land traffic accidents in urban and suburban areas 2016, Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía, México: Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Geografía (INEGI), [Online], Available: https://www.inegi.org. mx/programas/accidentes [05 Mar 2023] 2016. (Original in Spanish)
- [22] HAHSLER, M., GRÜN, B., HORNIK, K.: Introduction to arules — Mining Association Rules and Frequent Item Sets, *ResearchGate*, Vol. 2006, No. August, pp. 1-28, 2006.
- [23] HAHSLER, M., GRÜN, B., HORNIK, K.: Arules -A Computational Environment for Mining Association Rules and Frequent Item Sets, *Journal of Statistical Software*, Vol. 14, No. 15, pp. 1-25, 2005. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v014.i15
- [24] AGRAWAL, R., SRIKANT, R.: Fast Algorithms for Mining Association Rules in Large Databases, In: Bocca J, Jarke M, Zaniolo C, editors, Proceedings of the 20th International Conference on Very Large Data



Predicting crash injury severity in road freight flows with association rules algorithms Luis David Berrones-Sanz, Estefania Perez-Diaz, Dulce Maria Monroy Becerril, Esteban Martinez Diaz

Bases. San Francisco, CA, USA, Morgan Kaufmann Publishers Inc, 1994, pp. 487-499, 1994.

[25] PAN, G., FU, L., THAKALI, L.: Development of a global road safety performance function using deep neural networks, *International Journal of Transportation Science and Technology*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 159-173, 2017.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijtst.2017.07.004

- [26] WAHAB, L., JIANG, H.: Severity prediction of motorcycle crashes with machine learning methods, *International Journal of Crashworthiness*, Vol. 25, No. 5, pp. 485-492, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/13588265.2019.1616885
- [27] ZHANG, X., GREEN, E., CHEN, M.: Souleyrette RR, Identifying secondary crashes using text mining techniques, *Journal of Transportation Safety & Security*, Vol. 12, No. 10, pp. 1338-1358, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1080/19439962.2019.1597795

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 413-422 ISSN 1339-5629

[28] KOLTER, P., ROBERTO, E.: *Mercadotecnia social: Estrategias para cambiar la conducta pública*, España: Diaz de Santos, 1989. (Original in Spanish)

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 423-434 ISSN 1339-5629

Telework and the limited impact on traffic reduction – Case study Madrid (Spain) Alvaro Hernandez-Tamurejo, Beatriz Rodriguez Herraez, Maria Leonor Mora Agudo

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.411

Received: 29 Mar. 2023; Revised: 30 Apr. 2023; Accepted: 23 May 2023

Telework and the limited impact on traffic reduction – Case study Madrid (Spain)

Alvaro Hernandez-Tamurejo

Faculty of Economics and Business Sciences, Rey Juan Carlos University, Paseo de los Artilleros s/n 28032, Madrid, Spain, EU, alvaro.hernandez@urjc.es (corresponding author)

Beatriz Rodriguez Herraez

Faculty of Economics and Business Sciences, Rey Juan Carlos University, Paseo de los Artilleros s/n 28032, Madrid, Spain, EU, beatriz.rodriguez@urjc.es

Maria Leonor Mora Agudo

Faculty of Economics and Business Sciences, Rey Juan Carlos University, Paseo de los Artilleros s/n 28032, Madrid, Spain, EU, leonor.mora@urjc.es

Keywords: telework, telecommute, traffic impact, traffic occupancy.

Abstract: Teleworking has been proposed by organizations and policymakers as a key strategy to help reduce the number of commutes and boost employee satisfaction. Since telework may be linked to a tool to reduce traffic in urban areas, this research aims to determine the impact that telework has on traffic congestion in Madrid (Spain), given a post-Covid19 context in which many organizations have implemented teleworking in the long term. This study provides evidence that teleworking has had a limited favourable impact on traffic in the city of Madrid based on the correlation between telework implementation and the traffic data collected from 7.365 traffic sensors located in Madrid that are distributed and managed by the Madrid City Council. Covid19 represents an influx point with regard to telework implementation, allowing this kind of research to interpret the answer to the question. The results of our research, through regression calculations and Pearson's correlation coefficient, show that telework in the city of Madrid does not generate a positive impact on traffic during peak times proportional to the increase of telework, as expected based on the existing literature. However, there are other elements that influence the modal choice that may affect this correlation, considering that teleworking allows people greater residence flexibility and that residence location and distance to the workplace are factors that significantly influence the modal choice of transport.

1 Introduction

Home-based telework, also known as teleworking, a labour methodology that allows employees to work from home to the extent the job allows, emerged two decades ago from developments in information and communication technologies (ICT). The number of workers who could potentially work from home has grown over the years and due to the Covid19, this labour methodology has become firmly established [1,2].

Telework has led to a paradigm shift in urban mobility, given that the main purpose of transit in urban environments is commuting [3-5]. The fact that residents can work from home contributes to a reduction in the number of commuters in absolute terms [6,7] and can prompt a significant change in urban mobility. Telework represents an opportunity to improve environmental sustainability [8], as it is an efficient and sustainable measure that is viewed favourably by consumers since it does not imply a significant cost and provides indirect benefits in terms of economic savings and work/life balance [9].

Thus, this phenomenon has prompted an increase in the number of studies and research evaluating the effect that the telework has on urban traffic since it may help reduce commuters. Some studies suggest there is a positive impacts [10-12], while others conclude differently suggesting telework has no clear impact on traffic improvement [13]. The different research methodologies and various geographies studied may explain the varying points of view. Also, several studies point out the impact that telework may have on home location [14] and the resulting effect on the mobility patterns and transport behaviour for the employees who work from home. Teleworkers tend to have longer commute distances than others [15-17] which impacts travel patterns with regards to means of transport and vehicle use. The impact that telework may have on travel patterns is influenced by other factors such as frequency of days working from home [7], commute distance [12,18,19] and commute travel time [20,21].

This research aims to provide an exhaustive literature review and a make new contribution to the impact of telework on traffic by analyzing the evolution of congestion in the city of Madrid during peak times in correlation with the establishment of telework to determine the relationship in between both variables, based on information provided by the Madrid Council and gathered from 7.360 traffic sensors throughout the city.

The analysis is carried out specifically in the city of Madrid (Spain). As the sixth most populace region in Europe [22] and the third most populace metropolitan area in Europe [23], there is a high percentage of organizations



that have implemented telework [5,24] and an equally high percentage of white-collar workers. In addition, Madrid has a series of environmental characteristics—cultural, labour-related, economic, climatological, educational, etc.—that influence the choice of means of transport [25].

Since Covid19 helped telework globally, this research aims to offer new evidence from Madrid after pandemic disruption compared to the literature published prior to Covid19 when the teleworking situation was significantly different. The justification for the study lies in the fact that telework represents a paradigm shift within organizations and for urban mobility given that this type of work-related travel accounts for a high proportion of aggregate travel and, above all, the change that telework exerts on the lifestyle of residents, significantly influencing means of transport choice for commutes.

2 Literature review: impact of telework on urban mobility and traffic

2.1 Mobility and teleworking patterns of Madrid city

The city of Madrid is the sixth most populace region in Europe with 6.62 million inhabitants[22]. According to the most recent survey on Madrid's population mobility [26], there are roughly 15,847,266 daily commutes within the region, while in the city's local area, the number of trips amounts to 7,728,000. Taking into account suburban Madrid, given its proximity, the number of daily trips totals 14,680,000. Twenty-seven percent of daily trips are workrelated. Excluding walking trips, the percentage of daily work-related commutes rises to 36.7%. Likewise, of these total commutes, 58.9% are made using private vehicles, while the remaining 41.1% use public transport. These figures show a high percentage of private vehicle usage for work-related trips among Madrid residents, which poses a challenge for transportation authorities to plan and scale the urban infrastructure, while at the same time encouraging the use of public transport. Madrid has an extensive public transport system, with the second most extensive metro in Europe (after London [27]). Therefore, public transport providers must keep working to increase public transport usage rates.

Due to the Covid pandemic and the corresponding healthcare measures implemented, companies were forced to adopt teleworking systems in light of the restrictions imposed by public administrations, which led to an increase in the percentage of teleworkers in the European Union, from 15% in 2018 to 25% in 2020 [28]. In 2019, only 8% of employed residents in Madrid were teleworking [5], while as of September 2022, this figure rose to 23% [5, 24, 29]. It is important to note that the type of telework offered differs from one company to another, according to logistics, and organizational and operational needs; for example, remote work can be carried out full-time or parttime on weekly basis. In 2021, Madrid's 3.2 million telecommuters averaged 3.5 remote working days per week [30].

2.2 Impact of telework on urban mobility and traffic

Mobility in urban environments depends on the means of transport chosen for the journey. The choice of means of transport depends on various cultural [31] and environmental factors [32], but especially on the motivation for the trip [33]. In Europe, most travel in urban environments is work-related [4], so any attempt to make this type of travel more sustainable will achieve significant improvement ratios [34].

Teleworking, also known as telecommuting, is a way to perform one's professional activity remotely from a distance. This form of work, primarily concentrated among (white-collar) jobs with the operational flexibility to allow it, was developed in the 1980s [35,36], though the first studies adapted to a regulated and recognized form of work performance did not emerge until the 1990s [37]. [36] provide the most complete definition: "a flexible work arrangement whereby workers work in locations, remote from their central offices or production facilities, with no personal contact with co-workers, but the ability to communicate with co-workers using ICT".

COVID-19 brought about a paradigm shift in the labour markets of different world economies [38,39]. The paralysis of activity and suspension of mobility forced many organizations to implement the technology necessary to carry out activity remotely. Once the health crisis subsided, organizations consolidated the model, permitting much telework to remain permanent [1]. The cessation of activity and mobility restrictions caused a major reduction of mobility in all areas, both urban and interurban [40-42]. This reduction in the mobility of people and vehicles resulted in a drastic decline in greenhouse gas emission levels [43,44]. However, other studies claim that there was an increase in private car use as a result of COVID-19 for safety reasons; these studies predict that public transport use will return to pre-pandemic levels in the future [45].

Some of the existing literature suggests that telework potentially represents a chance to drastically reduce the number of trips, thus reducing traffic [10-12] but other studies suggest that the benefits of telecommuting are significantly less than anticipated [13].

With regard to the impact of telework on urban mobility, there is ample literature that strives to determine whether telework has a positive or limited impact on traffic. The first studies appeared back in the 1990s, when it was suggested that working from home would help cut traffic in urban areas by reducing the number of trips and distances for people working from home [46-49]. However, some contributions suggested that the aggregate travel impact will remain relatively flat in the future, even if telecommuting increased considerably [50]. In the last couple of decades, some studies has addressed the question



of whether teleworking affects urban mobility positively, negatively, or in a limited way.

Several studies suggest that commute distance represents an important factor in travel behaviour. Commute distances for telecommuters, as an aggregate, are lower than distances for non-teleworkers, given the reduction in the number of commutes [16,51]. However, more recent research concludes that teleworkers, commute further on a weekly basis regardless of the fact that the number of commutes is reduced [52]. Telecommuting also increases total daily trip rates for both telecommuters and their households [53].

However, it is important to consider that telecommuting is a major factor in residential location decisions [54], meaning that the distances covered can be influenced by the household's decision since telework allows workers to move their homes further from the office, given the reduction of commute frequency. However, there is no clear evidence of the impact that telework may have on home location choice [55,56]. On the other hand, residence location may trigger the decision to telework [57]. [58] conclude that telecommuters tend to choose lifestyles involving longer one-way commutes, longer daily work trips, and longer daily non-work trips than non-telecommuters, as a result of the residential location being further from the office. In fact, teleworkers are willing to accept longer - albeit lees frequent commutes [21]. Telework may weaken the relationship between the current urban structure and travel patterns prompting a redrafting of the policies to adapt the urban structures to an increasingly widespread telework context [59].

It is important to point that the travel patterns shown by teleworkers are also studied based on the effect that telework has on both work trips and non-work trips. Teleworkers tend to cover further distances daily for non-work trips [18,60], and clock a higher number of non-work trips [13,61-64].

Teleworkers also show relevant patterns in relation to modal choice and its consequent impact on traffic. Some studies indicate that telework may allow a significant aggregated reduction of car use [10,65] in miles. In fact, telework may contribute both to the shifting away from automobile dependency to sustainable travel [66], to the use of active transport modes [12] and to the increased use of non-motorized travel [67,68]. Moreover, certain literature suggests that teleworkers modal choice patterns tend toward more pollutant transport modes [69], including cars [70]. The higher is the telework frequency , the higher the private car use [19].

The International Labor Office (ILO) classifies telework as three types; regular telework at home, highly mobile telework ("at several locations regularly, with a high level of mobility") and occasional telework ("at one or more locations outside the employer's premises only occasionally") [71]. But there are also studies that suggest distinct travel patterns based on two types of daily telework: partial-day teleworking and full-day teleworking. Partial-day teleworkers significantly increase the number of trips and travel further while full-day teleworkers, on the days they engage in telework, make significantly fewer and shorter trips and are less likely to drive a car compared to those who do not telework [12]. [72], through a hazard model, determines that part-day teleworkers tend to commute during midday intervals avoiding peak-hours.

The majority of the literature agrees that it is possible to obtain positive results reducing peak-hour trips and vehicle miles travelled, through telework [11,20,68]. Avoiding peak-hours is directly correlated to flexibility at work. One of the main drivers for teleworkers is the possibility of avoiding peak traffic hours [73].

The literature review has been based on a comprehensive examination of the Web of Science database, where 53 articles have been identified as the most relevant to this question. Of the 53 articles, 44 of them, 83%), are studies based pre-Covid19 circumstances when the worldwide telework rate was far lower than post-Covid19. This means that there is lack of contributions in the current scenario where teleworking is much more prominent.

3 Methodology

Based on a review of the literature, since telework is understood as a measure that could improve traffic by reducing commutes, the data indicates the effect is limited or null. In this respect, this research aims to analyze how telework impacts urban traffic in the city of Madrid, according to the methodology described in this section.

First, we must determine the evolution of the telework rate over the years [5,24,29] and traffic occupancy in Madrid, using aggregated figures from the Madrid City Council database centre [74], and introducing timeframes to determine peak and off-peak times. This previous data organization allows the subsequent correlation and regression analysis to detect dependencies between telework and traffic occupancy in Madrid city.

Using regression analysis, we analyze the relationship between telework and Madrid traffic during peak times The dependent variable, peak time traffic in Madrid, is denoted as Y, while the independent variable, telework implementation in Madrid is denoted X. There is always an accepted margin error since the variables will never correlate perfectly. The variation from the regression line can be split in two parts: explained variation, which is accounted for by the independent variable, and unexplained variation, which is not accounted for by the independent variable. Thus, part of the change in variable is due to another variable that we set as hypothesis, and part is due to other factors as indicated in the literature review.

In regression analysis, we seek to determine if the relationship pattern between two variable values can be described as a straight line (1), which is the simplest and most used form.



where:

$$Y = a + bX \tag{1}$$

Y is the dependent variable, measured in units of the dependent variable, X is the independent variable, measured in units of the independent variable, and a and b are constants defining the nature of the relationship between the variables X and Y.

a or Y-intercept (also known as Yint) represents the value of Y when X = 0.

b represents the incline of the line known as the regression coefficient and is the change in Y associated with a one-unit change in X. The greater the regression coefficient, the more influence the independent variable has on the dependent variable, and the more change in Y associated with a change in X.

The regression coefficient represents a good choice to check the effect of the telework variable to the traffic variable from a policy researcher perspective. To quantify the strength and direction of the relationship between two variables, we use the linear correlation coefficient (2):

$$r = \frac{\sum_{s_x} \frac{\sum_{s_y} \sum_{s_y} \sum_{s_y} \sum_{s_y} \sum_{n-1}}{n-1}$$
(2)

where:

 \bar{x} and s_x are the sample mean and sample standard deviation of x, and \bar{y} and s_y are the mean and standard deviation of the y,

n is the sample size.

This statistic numerically describes how strong the straight-line or linear relationship is between the two variables and the direction, positive or negative.

ANOVA analysis is also used to partition the variation using sums of squares. The sums of squares and mean sums of squares are commonly presented in the regression analysis of variance table. The ratio of the mean sums of squares for the regression and mean sums of squares for error form an F-test statistic used to test the adequacy of the regression model. The relationship between these sums of squares is defined as follows:

Total variation = Total variation explained + Unexplained variation

The larger the explained variation, the better the model is at prediction. The larger the unexplained variation, the worse the model is at prediction. A quantitative measure of the explanatory power of a model is R^2 , also known as the Coefficient of Determination (3):

$$R^2 = \frac{Explained \ variation}{Total \ Variation} \tag{3}$$

The Coefficient of Determination measures the percent variation in the response variable (y) that is explained by the model. Values range from 0 to 1. An R^2 close to zero would suggest a weak linear relation.

To complement the analysis, we have also applied Pearson's correlation coefficient given its representativeness and its use in relevant academic research on urban traffic [75,76] and telework [77]. We define the occupancy of the road as the dependant variable, with telework being the independent variable on this study.

4 Data analysis: telework and the effects on the traffic

4.1 Aggregated data analysis

Figure 1 shows the average traffic volume distribution for February 2020 in the city of Madrid, based on raw data published daily by the Madrid City Council using 7,360 vehicle detectors that count vehicles and determine the degree of urban road occupancy [74] to assess traffic distribution by the hour. Monday through Thursday were considered, as they are typical workdays in the city of Madrid and are homogeneous in terms of timetables. (Many organizations have specific schedules on Fridays; workers are often allowed to leave the office at lunchtime). Pre-COVID February 2020 was chosen to determine the baseline for traffic distribution in the city to set a threshold for the subsequent analysis, as it is important to understand former traffic patterns in order to measure the impact of a relevant increase in post-COVID19 telework.

The parameter used to observe traffic congestion is road occupancy from vehicles picked-up by traffic sensors. The road occupancy parameter indicates the percentage of time a traffic detector is occupied (by the vehicle) on average. For example, 50% occupancy in a 15minute period means that the sensor has detected the given vehicles for 7 minutes and 30 seconds, on average [78].

Figure 2 shows the area of data collection where the sensors are distributed and captures the road occupancy that is targeted throughout this research.





Figure 1 Daily traffic occupancy in Madrid urban areas (February 2020 aggregated mean) [73]



Figure 2 Area of data collection - Madrid (Spain) [79]

As illustrated in Figure 1, from Monday to Thursday, there is a concentration of traffic between 7:00 and 9:30 a.m. and between 6:00 and 8:00 p.m. These ranges correspond to the usual times for entering and leaving physical work. In other words, in a period of four and a half hours, there is a concentration of traffic due to work-related commutes in the city of Madrid.

Assuming that the 2.2 million private vehicle commutes are concentrated into these two 4.5-hour slots, and that at least 51% of the workers who can telework in Madrid [5,30] do so one day a week, Madrid would reduce

traffic by 43,000 vehicles per hour. This would, therefore, improve traffic flow, substantially decrease greenhouse gas emissions, enhance air quality, and minimize the many negative effects of pollution on the environment [80].

4.2 Impact of telework on Madrid traffic (pre-COVID vs. post-Covid)

Table 1 shows the rate of telework implemented in Madrid from January 2019 to September 2022 and the



Telework and the limited impact on traffic reduction – Case study Madrid (Spain) Alvaro Hernandez-Tamurejo, Beatriz Rodriguez Herraez, Maria Leonor Mora Agudo

urban traffic occupancy recorded on a monthly basis according to the following assumptions:

- Traffic occupancy measured as monthly average from the recorded data [74]
- Peak-hours considered:
 - From 7 a.m. to 10 a.m. Usual time of workplace arrival.
 - From 5 p.m. to 8 p.m. Usual time of workplace departure.
- Weekdays considered: Monday to Thursday. Friday is excluded as timetables may differ in the Spanish market where employees are allowed to leave the office at lunchtime (from 2 to 3 p.m.)
- Holidays are excluded from the analysis
- Traffic road occupancy shown as monthly based on daily averages per the above conditions.
- 2020 is excluded from the analysis due to the impact of Covid19 and the restrictions followed by public authorities could distort the target metric.

Table 1	Ocupancy and telecommuting evolution (aggregate
	daily peak time averages) [5,24,29,74,81]

Spot analysis		%Telecommuting	Urban traffic Load Peak	
	Jan	8.30%	9.67	
	Feb	8.30%	11.34	
	Mar	8.30%	11.28	
	Apr	8.30%	10.37	
19	May	8.30%	10.58	
20	Jun	8.30%	11.07	
	Jul	8.30%	8.85	
	Aug	8.30%	5.75	
	Sep	8.30%	11.14	
	Oct	8.30%	12.21	

	Nov	8.30%	12.44
	Dec	8.30%	9.99
	Jan	27.80%	6.68
	Feb	27.80%	8.58
	Mar	27.80%	9.07
2021	Apr	25.80%	9.18
	May	25.80%	9.56
	Jun	25.80%	9.75
	Jul	22.10%	7.53
	Aug	22.10%	5.43
	Sep	22.10%	10.29
	Oct	21.50%	10.82
	Nov	21.50%	10.48
	Dec	21.50%	8.53
	Jan	23.20%	8.01
	Feb	23.20%	9.58
	Mar	22.10%	9.87
22	Apr	22.10%	9.20
20	May	22.10%	9.52
	Jun	22.10%	9.34
	Jul	22.10%	7.00
	Aug	22.10%	5.06

The figures shown in Table 1 contain the aggregate information from the original database to highlight the figures analyzed subsequently since each daily occupancy file contains more than 1 million rows.

Table 2 show the statistical analysis applied to understand the correlation between the rate of telework implemented and the impact on traffic during peak-times as suggested by the existing literature.

		Multiple	D	0.22502	26802			
		Multiple	ĸ	0.55595	00895			
		R Square	•	0.11285	53596			
		Adjusted	R Square	0.11125	52249			
		Standard	Error	2.25434	16999			
		Observat	ions	556				
ANOVA		-						
	Degrees of	Sum of	Mean					
	freedom	Squares	Square	F-Value	Significance F			
Regression	1	358.1553	358.1553	70.4741	3.913E-16			
Residual	554	2815.4725	5.0820					
Total	555	3173.6278						
	Coefficients	Standard	t Stat	P-value	Lower 95%	Upper	Lower	Upper
-	eeeggietettiis	Error		1 /00000	20//01/20/0	95.0%	95.0%	95.0%
Intercept	11.1924	0.2440	45.8626	9.09E-191	10.7131	11.6718	10.7131	11.6718
Teletwork %	-10.5952	1.2621	-8.3948	3.913E-16	-13.0743	-8.1161	-13.0743	-8.1161

Table 2 Calculated values from statistical analysis (correlation/ANOVA)

SUMMARY OUTPUT

Regression testing suggests a weak coefficient value of 0.3359. The closer the value is to 0, the more negative dependence there is between both variables. This result

suggests that telework does not have a strong impact on traffic in Madrid. In line with this result, according to the R Square that shows the value of the coefficient of





determination, the result obtained from the regression is 0.11 which represents an only 11% meaning that the strength of the linear relation between both variables is weak.

The standard deviation shows a low value indicating that the behavior of both variables is stable and consistent within this system.

The ANOVA test has also been considered taken into account to allow for the testing of the null hypothesis which considers that the model chosen to explain the dependency between telework and peak traffic is not adequate. An F test is obtained to check this assumption. F-significance is close to 0 (3.91×10^{-16}) being lower than 0.05 (a-significance level). This means that null hypothesis can be rejected so that this model is correct in explaining the weak relationship between both variables.

Another index used to confirm the hypothesis that telework does not contribute significantly to traffic improvement during peak times is the Pearson correlation coefficient (4) between telework and peak traffic.

$$r = \frac{\sum (x_i - \bar{x}) (y_i - \bar{y})}{\sqrt{\sum (x_i - \bar{x})^2 \sum (y_i - \bar{y})^2}}$$
(4)



Figure 4 Pearson correlation coefficient – telecommuting/traffic occupancy (p=0.05)

Figure 4 shows the dispersion of the correlation between telecommuting and traffic occupancy where the correlation coefficient (r) is -0.33593. The negative coefficient shows an inverse relationship between the two variables in such a way that when telework increases, traffic in Madrid decreases, but this correlation is limited given the value obtained as per Table 3.

Tal	ble	3	Pearson	coefficient	value	inter	pretation

$\mathbf{r} = 1$	Perfect correlation	
0.50 < r < 1	High degree	
0.30 < r < 0.49	Moderate degree	
0 < r < 0.29	Low degree	

These results confirm that the effect of telework on reducing traffic in Madrid is not so sensitive, suggesting that the decrease in traffic due to telework does not occur in the same proportion, or at least in any significant proportion. This circumstance may thus indicate a presumed change in the pattern of consumer behaviour with regard to the modal choice on days when they must travel to work in person.

5 Conclusions

The result of our analysis leads us to conclude that, although telework reduces the number of trips in urban environments, the positive impact on traffic in the city of Madrid during peak times is limited, regardless of what is generally expected when eliminating commutes. The decrease in traffic in Madrid is not proportional to the increase in telework that is taking place. Three reasons may be behind this limited positive effect. First, COVID-19 still causes some misgivings about using public transport for health and hygiene reasons. Second, in the city of Madrid, out of the 22.1% of employees who work from home, 9.6% telework occasionally, that is less than 50% of the work



week, meaning they commute to the workplace the remainder of the week. On these commutes a change in consumer behaviour may be occurring, such that consumers tend to opt for private cars. This change in consumer behaviour may be attributable to convenience, economic savings (on the transport fare), or an employee's willingness to incur higher transport costs by using a private car if commutes are limited to only a few days a week. Third, telework allows workers to make decisions about their place of residence in such a way that they can decouple this decision from the workplace, allowing them the possibility of residing in locations where the cost of living is lower. This influences people's mobility and transport as these locations are further away and have a more limited supply of public transport. This, in turn, causes an increase in the distances travelled and may favour the use of private vehicles.

The findings give rise to a set of implications for transport providers, given that telework influences mobility patterns and mode of transport choice. These implications suggest transport providers could implement a few lines of actions to adjust the transport infrastructure to the new context in urban areas, where the implementation of telework is widespread. Urban mobility constitutes a strategic element in terms of sustainability, given its impact on the carbon footprint. Therefore, any change in urban mobility patterns, as the results of this research suggest, must be considered to encourage public transport use, owing to its contribution to sustainable mobility [82]. Thus, it may involve the adaptation of both infrastructure and planning given the noted impact of telework on traffic.

At the same time, researchers suggest the need for further examination of the factors influencing mode of transport choice for people who work full- or part-time from home. Also, reducing traffic during peak times is a question that is more achievable through time flexibility at work to avoid commutes during peak times. The analysis carried out, though it attempts to refine the data obtained from the analysis of road use in the city of Madrid, still includes some journeys that are not for work purposes. Thus, this research highlights the need for further research, for the city of Madrid or others to provide a better understanding of the factors that influence the modal choice of consumers, through either quantitative or qualitative means given the evidence of the limited impact of telework on traffic.

Declaration of conflicts of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as potential conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

The manuscript is based on the public information made available by the entities that have been cited herein. Database repositories are named in the reference lists.

References

- [1] MOHAMMADI, M., RAHIMI, E., DAVATGARI, A., JAVADINASR, M., MOHAMMADIAN, A., BHAGAT-CONWAY, MW., SALON, D., DERRIBLE, S., PENDYALA, RM., KHOEINI, S.: Examining the persistence of telecommuting after the COVID-19 pandemic, *The international journal of transportation research*, Vol. 2022, pp 1-14, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1080/19427867.2022.2077582
- [2] KOGUS, A., FOLTÝNOVÁ, H.B., GAL-TZUR, A., SHIFTAN, Y., VEJCHODSKÁ, E., SHIFTAN, Y.: Will COVID-19 accelerate telecommuting? A crosscountry evaluation for Israel and Czechia, *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 164, pp. 291-309, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2022.08.011
- [3] ARBUES, P., BANOS, JF., MAYOR, M., SUAREZ, P.: Determinants of ground transport modal choice in long-distance trips in Spain, *Transportation research part A: Policy and practice*, Vol. 84, pp. 131-143, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2015.06.010
- [4] Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de Energía (IDAE), www.idae.es: La movilidad al trabajo, un reto pendiente, [Online], Available: https://www.idae.es/sit es/default/files/la_movilidad_al_trabajo_un_reto_pend iente_dgt_idae_junio_2019.pdf [27 Mar 2023], 2021.
- [5] INE (Instituto Nacional de Estadística), www.ine.es: Incidencia del teletrabajo por Comunidades y Ciudades Autónomas, [Online], Available: https://www.ine.es/ja xiT3/Tabla.htm?tpx=50072 [20 Mar 2023], 2021.
- [6] GE, J., POLHILL, J.G., CRAIG, T.: Too much of a good thing? Using a spatial agent-based model to evaluate "unconventional" workplace sharing programmes, *Journal of transport geography*, Vol. 69, pp. 83-97, 2018.
- https://10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2018.04.005
 [7] SINGH, P., PALETI, R., JENKINS, S., BHAT, CR.: On modeling telecommuting behavior: option, choice, and frequency, *Transportation*, Vol. 40, pp. 373-396, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-012-9429-2
- [8] MARTÍNEZ-NAVALÓN, J. G., GELASHVILI, V., DEBASA, F.: The Impact of Restaurant Social Media on Environmental Sustainability: An Empirical Study, *Sustainability*, Vol. 11, No.21, pp. 6105, 2019. https://doi:10.3390/su11216105
- [9] BAERT, S., MOENS, E., LIPPENS, L., STERKENS, P., WEYTJENS, J.: The COVID-19 crisis and telework: a research survey on experiences, expectations and hopes, *European journal of health economics*, Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 729-753, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-021-01392-z
- [10] JAFF, M.M., KADAR HAMSA, A.A.: Estimating commute-travel implications of telecommuting by female employees in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, *Journal of Traffic and Transportation Engineering*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 148-155, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtte.2018.03.001



- [11] LARI, A.: Telework/Workforce Flexibility to Reduce Congestion and Environmental Degradation?, *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 48, pp. 712-721, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.06.1049
- [12] ELLDÉR, E.: Telework and daily travel: New evidence from Sweden, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 86, pp. 102777, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2020.102777
- [13] KIM, SN.: Two traditional questions on the relationships between telecommuting, job and residential location, and household travel: revisited using a path analysis, *The Annals of Regional Science*, Vol. 56, pp. 537-563, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00168-016-0755-8
- [14] MITRA, S., SAPHORES, J.-D.M.: Why do they live so far from work? Determinants of long-distance commuting in California, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 80, pp. 102489, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2019.102489
- [15] WELLS, K., DOUMA, F., LOIMER, H., OLSON, L., PANSING, C.: Telecommuting implications for travel behavior: case studies from Minnesota, *Transportation Research Record*, Vol. 1752, No. 1, pp. 148-156, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3141/1752-20
- [16] MOKHTARIAN, P.L., COLLANTES, G.O., GERTZ, C.: Telecommuting, Residential Location, and Commute-Distance Traveled: Evidence from State of California Employees, *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, Vol. 36, No. 10, pp. 1877-1897, 2004. https://doi.org/10.1068/a36218
- [17] ZHU, P.: Telecommuting, household commute and location choice, *Urban Studies*, Vol. 50, No. 12, pp. 2441-2459, 2013.
- https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098012474520
- [18] CERQUEIRA, E.D.V., MOTTE-BAUMVOL, B., CHEVALLIER, L.B., BONIN, O.: Does working from home reduce CO2 emissions? An analysis of travel patterns as dictated by workplaces, *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, Vol. 83, pp. 102338, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102338
- [19] DE ABREU E SILVA, J., MELO, P.C.: Does homebased telework reduce household total travel? A path analysis using single and two worker British households, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 73, pp. 148-162, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2018.10.009

[20] SHABANPOUR, R., GOLSHANI, N., TAYARANI, M., AULD, J., MOHAMMADIAN, A.: Analysis of telecommuting behavior and impacts on travel demand and the environment, *Transportation research part D-transport and environment*, Vol. 62, pp. 563-576, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2018.04.003

[21] DE VOS, D., MEIJERS, E., VAN HAM, M.: Working from home and the willingness to accept a longer commute, *Annals of Regional Science*, Vol. 61, No. 2, pp. 375-398, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00168-018-0873-6

- [22] Statista, www.statista.com: Largest urban agglomerations in Europe in 2020, [Online], Available: https://www.statista.com/statistics/11018 83/largest-european-cities/ [07 Mar 2023], 2020.
- [23] City Monitor, www.citymonitor.ai: Where are the largest cities in Europe?, [Online], Available: https://citymonitor.ai/infrastructure/largest-cities-europe [25 Mar 2023], 2022.
- [24] Randstad España S.L.U., www.randstadresearch.es: Mercado de trabajo en 50 titulares Septiembre de 2022, [Online], Available: https://www.randstadrese arch.es/el-mercado-de-trabajo-en-50-titularesseptiembre-2022/ [12 Nov 2022], 2022.
- [25] CHARREIRE, H., FEUILLET, T., PIOMBINI, A., BARDOS, H., RUTTER, H., COMPERNOLLE, S., MACKENBACH, JD., LAKERVELD, J., OPPERT, JM.: Walking, cycling, and public transport for commuting and non-commuting travels across 5 European urban regions: Modal choice correlates and motivations, *Journal of transport geography*, Vol. 96, pp. 103196, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2021.103196

- [26] Consistorio regional de transportes Madrid, www.crtm.es: Encuesta Domiciliaria de Movilidad de la Comunidad de Madrid (edM2018), [Online], Available: https://www.crtm.es/conocenos/planificac ion-estudios-y-proyectos/encuestadomiciliaria/edm2018.aspx [02 Mar 2023], 2018.
- [27] The international Association of Public Transport (UITP), www.uitp.com: WORLD METRO FIGURES 2021, [Online], Available: https://cms.uit p.org/wp/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Statistics-Brief-Metro-Figures-2021-web.pdf [18 Apr 2023], 2022.
- [28] European Commission, www.commission.europa.eu: Telework in the EU before and after the COVID-19: where we were, where we head to. Science for Policy Briefs, [Online], Available: https://joint-researchcentre.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2021-06/jrc120945_policy_brief_-_COVID_and_telework_final.pdf [12 Mar 2023], 2021.
- [29] Randstad España S.L.U., www.randstadresearch.es: Informe Teletrabajo en España 2021, [Online], Available: https://www.randstadresearch.es/informeteletrabajo-en-espana-2021/?cli_action=1627466762.302&gclid=Cj0KCQi Apb2bBhDYARIsAChHC9tsfwm8PU0PpuUGsCV 4XLO1_XTXysMSQpgwD6PHi9Ad_b7PsjU12j4a AgbzEALw_wcB [12 Nov 2022], 2021.
- [30] INE (Instituto Nacional de Estadística), www.ine.es: Porcentaje de la jornada laboral (detallada por días) realizada actualmente en modalidad de teletrabajo, por tipo de trabajo según su disponibilidad para el



teletrabajo (total o parcial). [Online], Available: https://www.ine.es/jaxiT3/Tabla.htm?tpx=50160 [11 Mar 2023], 2022.

[31] KLINGER, T., LANZENDORF, M.: Moving between mobility cultures: what affects the travel behavior of new residents?, *Transportation*, Vol. 43, No.2, pp. 243-271, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116.014.0574.x

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-014-9574-x

- [32] ANTA, J., PEREZ-LOPEZ, JB, MARTINEZ-PARDO, A., NOVALES, M., ORRO, A.: Influence of the weather on mode choice in corridors with timevarying congestion: a mixed data study, *Transportation*, Vol. 43, pp. 337-355, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-015-9578-1
- [33] ETTEMA, D., NIEUWENHUIS, R.: Residential selfselection and travel behaviour: What are the effects of attitudes, reasons for location choice and the built environment?, *Journal of transport geography*, Vol. 59, pp. 146-155, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2017.01.009
- [34] CRAWFORD, F.: Segmenting travellers based on day-to-day variability in work-related travel behaviour, *Journal of transport geography*, Vol. 86, p. 102765, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2020.102765
- [35] PRATT, JH.: Home teleworking a study of its pioneers, *Technological forecasting and social change*, Vol. 25, No. 1, pp. 1-14, 1984.
- [36] DIMARTINO, V., WIRTH, L.: Telework a new way of working and living, *International labour review*, Vol. 129, No. 5, pp. 529-563, 1990.
- [37] EISENSCHITZ, T.: Teleworking inadequate legal safeguards, *Journal of information science*, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 145-146, 1993.
- [38] WU, Q.: Employment Precarity, COVID-19 Risk, and Workers' Well-Being During the Pandemic in Europe, Work and occupations, Vol. 50, No. 2, p. 07308884221126415, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1177/07308884221126415
 - https://doi.org/10.1177/07308884221126415
- [39] BECCARIA, L., BERTRANOU, F., MAURIZIO, R.: COVID-19 in Latin America: The effects of an unprecedented crisis on employment and income, *International Labour Review*, Vol. 161, No. 1, pp. 83-105, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/ilr.12361
- [40] FATMI, MR.: COVID-19 impact on urban mobility, Journal of urban management, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 270-275, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jum.2020.08.002
- [41] JIAO, JF., AZIMIAN, A.: Exploring the factors affecting travel behaviors during the second phase of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States, *Transportation letters-the international journal of transportation research*, Vol. 13, No. 5-6, pp. 331-343, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1080/19427867.2021.1904736

[42] DE PALMA, A., VOSOUGH, S., LIAO, F.: An overview of effects of COVID-19 on mobility and lifestyle: 18 months since the outbreak,

Transportation research part A: policy and practice, Vol. 159, pp. 372-397, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2022.03.024

- [43] HOOK, A., COURT, V., SOVACOOL, BK., SORRELL, S.: A systematic review of the energy and climate impacts of teleworking, *Environmental research letters*, Vol. 15, No. 9, p. 093003, 2020.
- https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab8a84
 [44] MOUSAZADEH, M., PAITAL, B., NAGHDALI, Z., MORTEZANIA, Z., HASHEMI, M., KARAMATI NIARAGH E., et al.: Positive environmental effects of the coronavirus 2020 episode: a review. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, Vol. 23, pp. 12738-12760, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-021-01240-3

- [45] ECHANIZ, E., RODRÍGUEZ, A., CORDERA, R., BENAVENTE, J., ALONSO, B., SANUDO, R.: Behavioural changes in transport and future repercussions of the COVID-19 outbreak in Spain, *Transport policy*, Vol. 111, pp. 38-52, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2021.07.011
- [46] HENDERSON D.K., KOENIG B E AND MOKHTARIAN P.L.: Using Travel Diary Data to Estimate the Emissions Impacts of Transportation Strategies: The Puget Sound Telecommuting Demonstration Project, *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, Vol. 46, No. 1, pp. 45-57, 1996.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10473289.1996.10467440

[47] BALEPUR, P.N, VARMA, K.V., MOKHTARIAN, P.L.: Transportation impacts of center-based telecommuting: Interim findings from the Neighborhood Telecenters Project, *Transportation*, Vol. 25, pp. 287-306, 1998. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1005048329523

[48] TENAILLEAU, QM., TANNIER, C., VUIDEL, G., TISSANDIER, P., BERNARD, N.: Assessing the impact of telework enhancing policies for reducing car emissions: Exploring calculation methods for data-missing urban areas – Example of a mediumsized European city (Besançon, France), Urban climate, Vol. 38, p. 100876, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2021.100876

- [49] MACIAS, LH., RAVALET, E., RERAT, P.: Potential rebound effects of teleworking on residential and daily mobility, Geography compass, Vol. 16, No. 9, p. e12657, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/gec3.12657
- [50] MOKHTARIAN P.L.: A Synthetic Approach to Estimating the Impacts of Telecommuting on Travel, *Sage Publications*, Ltd., Vol. 35, No. 2, pp. 215-241, 1998. https://doi.org/10.1080/0042098984952
- [51] CHOO, S., MOKHTARIAN, P.L., SALOMON, I.: Does telecommuting reduce vehicle-miles traveled? An aggregate time series analysis for the US, *Transportation*, Vol. 32, pp. 37-64, 2005. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-004-3046-7

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics



Telework and the limited impact on traffic reduction – Case study Madrid (Spain) Alvaro Hernandez-Tamurejo, Beatriz Rodriguez Herraez, Maria Leonor Mora Agudo

- [52] MELO, PC., DE ABREU E SILVA, J.: Home telework and household commuting patterns in Great Britain, *Transportation research part A: policy and practice*, Vol. 103, pp. 1-24, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2017.05.011
- [53] ASGARI, H., JIN, X., DU, YM.: Examination of the Impacts of Telecommuting on the Time Use of Nonmandatory Activities, *Transportation Research Record*, Vol. 2566, No. 1, pp. 83-92, 2016. https://doi.org/10.3141/2566-09
- [54] TAYYARAN, MR., KHAN, AM.: Telecommuting and residential location decisions: combined stated and revealed preferences model, *Canadian Journal of Civil Engineering*, Vol. 34, No. 10, pp. 1324-1333, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1139/107-052
- [55] ELLEN, I.G., HEMPSTEAD, K.: Telecommuting and the demand for urban living: A preliminary look at white-collar work-ers, *Urban Studies*, Vol. 39, No. 4, pp. 749-766, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1080/0042098022011955
- [56] ORY, D.T., MOKHTARIAN, P.L.: Which came first, the telecommuting or the residential relocation? An empirical analysis of causality. *Urban Geography*, Vol. 27, No. 7, pp. 590-609, 2006. https://doi.org/10.2747/0272-3638.27.7.590
- [57] KIM, SN.: Is telecommuting sustainable? An alternative approach to estimating the impact of home-based telecommuting on household travel, *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 72-85, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2016.1193779
- [58] ZHU, PY., WANG, LP., JIANG, YP., ZHOU, JP.: Metropolitan size and the impacts of telecommuting on personal travel, Transportation, Vol. 45, pp. 385-414, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-017-9846-3

- [59] ELLDÉR, E.: Does telework weaken urban structure– travel relationships?, *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 187-210, 2015. https://doi.org/10.5198/jtlu.2015.762
- [60] ZHU, P., MASON, S.G.: The impact of telecommuting on personal vehicle usage and environmental sustainability, *Inter-national Journal* of Environmental Science & Technology, Vol. 11, No. 8, pp. 2185-2200, 2014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-014-0556-5
- [61] KIM, SN., CHOO, S., MOKHTARIAN, PL.: Homebased telecommuting and intra-household interactions in work and non-work travel: A seemingly unrelated censored regression approach, *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, Vol. 80, pp. 197-214, 2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2015.07.018
- [62] GIOVANIS, E.: The relationship between teleworking, traffic and air pollution, *Atmospheric pollution research*, Vol. 9, No. 1, pp. 1-14, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apr.2017.06.004

[63] BUDNITZ, H., TRANOS, E., CHAPMAN, L.: Telecommuting and other trips: an English case study, *Journal of Transport Geography*, Vol. 85, p. 102713, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtranggo.2020.102713

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 423-434 ISSN 1339-5629

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2020.102713

- [64] CALDAROLA, B., SORRELL, S.: Do teleworkers travel less? Evidence from the English National Travel Survey, *Transportation research part A: policy and practice*, Vol. 159, pp. 282-3032, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2022.03.026
- [65] VAN DER LOOP, H., HAAIJER, R., WILLIGERS, J.: The impact of various forms of flexible working on mobility and conges-tion estimated empirically, *Anonimous vehicles and future mobility*, pp. 125-139, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-817696-2.00010-X
- [66] WANG, KL., OZBILEN, B.: Synergistic and threshold effects of telework and residential location choice on travel time allocation, *Sustainable Cities* and Society, Vol. 63, p. 102468, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2020.102468
- [67] CHAKRABARTI, S.: Does telecommuting promote sustainable travel and physical activity?, *Journal of Transport & Health*, Vol. 9, pp. 19-33, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jth.2018.03.008
- [68] LACHAPELLE, U., TANGUAY, GA., NEUMARK-GAUDET, L.: Telecommuting and sustainable travel: Reduction of overall travel time, increases in nonmotorized travel and congestion relief?, *Urban studies*, Vol. 55, No. 10, pp. 2226-2244, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098017708985
- [69] DE ABREU E SILVA, J., MELO, P.C.: Home telework, travel behavior, and land-use patterns: A path analysis of British single-worker households, *Journal of transport and land use*, Vol. 11, No. 1, pp. 419-441, 2018. https://doi.org/10.5198/jtlu.2018.1134
- [70] BENO, M., CAGANOVA, D.: Austrian future cubicle: commuting, e-commuting or both?, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 135-140, 2023. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i1.368
- [71] MESSENGER, J., LLAVE VARGAS, O., GSCHWIND, L., BÖHMER, S., VERMEYLEN, G.: Working anytime, anywhere: The effects on the world of work, Research Report, Eurofound, 2017. https://doi.org/10.2806/372726
- [72] ASGARI, H., JIN, X.: An evaluation of part-day telecommute impacts on work trip departure times, *Travel Behaviour and Society*, Vol. 12, pp. 84-92, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2017.04.002
- [73] O'KEEFE, P., CAULFIELD, B., BRAZIL, W., WHITE, P.: The impacts of telecommuting in Dublin, *Research in Transportation Economics*, Vol. 57, pp. 13-20, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.retrec.2016.06.010

[74] Ayuntamiento de Madrid, www.madrid.es:t Tráfico. Histórico de datos del tráfico desde 2013, [Online],



Available: https://datos.madrid.es/portal/site/egob/m enuitem.c05c1f754a33a9fbe4b2e4b284f1a5a0/?vgne xtoid=33cb30c367e78410VgnVCM100000b205a0 aRCRD&vgnextchannel=374512b9ace9f310VgnVC M100000171f5a0aRCRD&vgnextfmt=default [12 Mar 2023], 2022. (Original in Spanish)

- [75] KIM, SJ., PARK, MK., LEE, SE., GO, HJ., CHO, BC., LEE, YS., CHOI, SD.: Impact of traffic volumes on levels, patterns, and toxicity of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in roadside soils, *Environmental science-processes & impacts*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 174-182, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1039/c8em00532j
- [76] SIMON, M.C., HUDDA, N., NAUMOVA, EN., LEVY, JI., BRUGGE, D., DURANT, L.: Comparisons of traffic-related ultrafine particle number concentrations measured in two urban areas by central, residential, and mobile monitoring, *Atmospheric environment*, Vol. 169, pp. 113-127, 2017.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2017.09.003

- [77] SARFRAZ, M., KHAWAJA, KF., VEVERA, AV., DRAGAN, F.: ICT Revolution from Traditional Office to Virtual Office: A Study on Teleworking During the COVID-19 Pandemic, *Studies in informatics and control*, Vol. 30, No. 4, pp. 77-86, 2021. https://doi.org/10.24846/v30i4y202107
- [78] Ayuntamiento de Madrid, www.madrid.es: Descripción del conjunto de datos de tráfico: histórico

de datos del tráfico desde 2013, [Online], Available: https://datos.madrid.es/FWProjects/egob/Catalogo/T ransporte/Trafico/ficheros/Estructura_DS_Contenid o_Trafico_Historico.pdf [12 Mar 2022], 2022. (Original in Spanish)

- [79] Ayuntamiento de Madrid, www.madrid.es:Visor Geoportal, [Online], Available: https://geoportal.madrid.es/IDEAM_WBGEOPORT AL/visor_ide.iam [03 Mar 2023], 2022.
- [80] REYES-RUBIANO, L., SERRANO-HERNANDEZ, A., MONTOYA-TORRES, JR., FAULIN, J.: The Sustainability Dimensions in Intelligent Urban Transportation: A Paradigm for Smart Cities, *Sustainability*, Vol. 13, No. 19, p. 10653, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3390/su131910653
- [81] Observatorio Nacional de Tecnología y Sociedad, www.ontsi.es: Flash Datos del teletrabajo Primer trimestre de 2022, [Online], Available: https://www. ontsi.es/sites/ontsi/files/2022-05/FlashDatosteletrabajo_1T2022.pdf [12 Nov 2022], 2022.
- [82] KNAPCIKOVA, L., KASCAK, P.: Sustainable multimodal and combined transport in the European Union, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 6, No. 4, pp. 165-170, 2019. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v6i4.144

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





gistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 435-444 ISSN 1339-5629

Evaluation of the efficiency of internet marketing in electronic business Mahmud Agel Abu Dalbouh

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.412

Received: 09 Apr. 2023; Revised: 01 June 2023; Accepted: 30 June 2023

Evaluation of the efficiency of internet marketing in electronic business

Mahmud Agel Abu Dalbouh

Irbid National University, PO Box 2600, Irbid, Jordan, Faculty of Administrative and Financial Sciences -E - Marketing and Social Communication, M_agel_dlb@inu.edu.jo

Keywords: e-logistics, e-business, efficiency, internet marketing.

Abstract: The interactivity of information flows is becoming a major success factor and leading to significant changes in the field of e-business. The main purpose of the study is to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business. It has been determined that ensuring business efficiency is inextricably linked with the use of Internet technologies in building communications with the target audience, logistics and supply chain management. The need for the introduction of Internet marketing in electronic business is highlighted to achieve and ensure efficiency, profitability and fulfillment of key KPI indicators. The method of economic and statistical analysis and evaluation of the effectiveness of Internet marketing in the context of e-business sectors in the world was applied. The key theoretical aspects of e-business development and its main directions are considered. The main indicators for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing effectiveness indicators by industry. The organization of electronic business based on the proposed KPI indicators will provide a function to control the effectiveness of marketing, logistics, which is achieved by increasing conversion, reducing costs and improving competitive positions. A statistical analysis of world sales volumes in the field of e-business was carried out using Internet marketing tools. The results of the study, in contrast to existing approaches, made it possible to substantiate the need to apply in practice the formed methodology for the formation of KPI indicators their further control to ensure the effectiveness of Internet marketing.

1 Introduction

Business models and internal processes of modern companies are characterized by the fact that the exchange of information flows and business information, the implementation of operations and transactions are automated using information systems and technologies. A significant part of decisions in the field of organizing an effective business (from production to logistics), regardless of the segment of the world economy, is based on the use of modern Internet technologies. The presented technologies provide information flow and data management to provide various web services. Any types of commercial and non-commercial operations, including the exchange of information via the Internet, the organization of trade processes and the exchange of goods and services, their logistics between companies or groups of persons, are intensively developing within the framework of a new segment of the world economy - electronic business and individual industries in it (e-marketing, e-logistics and many others).

The organization of electronic business in modern realities cannot be imagined without the use of Internet marketing, which provides the entire cycle of organizing sales, interaction and communication with the target audience, logistics, service and support to ensure the effectiveness of the company's commercial activities. The introduction of a complex of Internet marketing in electronic business is associated with significant costs; therefore, the company's management is interested in the effectiveness of investments in marketing activities. However, in order to obtain objective information about the effectiveness of Internet marketing in order to make management decisions based on it, it is necessary to comprehensively evaluate the effectiveness of marketing activities in e-business in the context of industries and segments.

Ensuring the effectiveness of e-business, e-logistics and information flow management is inextricably linked with the use of Internet marketing tools, which is characterized by the formation of a whole range of activities for interaction and communication with the target audience throughout the entire life cycle of the company: from production, sales, service, maintenance and logistics. The identified issues are relevant and in demand in the modern world for the formation of theoretical and practical aspects of organizing e-business and evaluating its effectiveness, which is ensured by the use of an Internet marketing strategy. The development of the theory of ebusiness organization in connection with the implementation of the Internet marketing strategy and the development of a methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing are a necessary and relevant topic and require deeper research.

1.1 The main directions and features of the development of electronic business

The historical development of electronic business begins in the 20th and 21st centuries, when a unified information system of the planet was created. If earlier the resources of economic development were quite rigidly tied to territories and technologies, now the main resource is information, which largely contributed to the development



of the Internet. Since the early 1990s, the spread of information and communication technologies has taken on an all-encompassing scale, and the speed of their spread has exceeded all expectations. At present, there is no sphere of human activity that would not undergo significant changes due to the massive introduction of modern information and communication technologies. The term "e-business" the IBM Marketing and Internet group coined it in 1996. Commercial use of the Internet was prohibited until 1990, but as a result, e-business could not reach its full potential. Significant to the intensity of the development of e-business is that in the 1990s, the first large private corporations received permission to operate on the Internet, and the control of the Internet, which was previously under the complete control of the US government, was transferred to private individuals. After that, in 1992, the commercialization of the Internet received the approval of the US Congress, and from that moment, the e-business market entered a new phase of its development. In 1993, the electronic money technologies of the future were invented, and in 1994, the first electronic payment system appeared on the Internet. In 1995, the Amazon online store site was opened, which is today the largest online store in the world, and at the same time, the first online bank began to operate. It should be noted that the first online stores, in fact, conducted electronic business using the long-established technology of trading by telephone and mail, which at that time was widespread in the United States [1-2].

After this stage of development of e-business, the first business models related to the B2C category appeared. The primary mechanism of Mail Order - Telephone Order was transferred to the Internet environment, which was an order for a product or service by filling out a form on the seller's website, payment was made by a plastic card, delivery of goods was carried out by mail or through a courier service. This direction includes any type of business focused on the end consumer: online stores, banking services for individuals via the Internet, online auctions, online education, paid advertising on the Internet and much more. At the same time, electronic business between individuals, C2C, is gaining momentum. A striking example is Internet auctions, consulting services between individuals via the Internet; various exchange platforms, and tutoring via the Internet. On the verge between C2C and B2C, there are websites of freelancers (photographers, make-up artists, cosmetologists), which, in fact, are online stores selling services to individuals [3].

A qualitative leap in the development of e-business, emarkets, e-logistics occurred when the desire to expand distribution channels led to the B2B sales network. In principle, anything can be the subject of commerce here, but the main prospects for B2B are in the service sector. It is currently the largest and fastest growing e-business sector. Electronic business in the field of B2G, in fact, is similar to B2B; only the customer in this case is the state. The main example of this type of interaction can be public procurement conducted via the Internet, sociological and marketing research for government agencies, various social advertising on the Internet, placed by order of government agencies and aimed at preserving the physical and spiritual health of the nation [4].

E-business is a cumulative concept for many classes of information systems that are aimed at automating the commercial work of excellent companies and organizations, regardless of segment, type of activity and geography. It is very important to emphasize that ebusiness, which is focused on interaction with the consumer in the field of sales, is supported by the entire value chain from production, sale of services to logistics and support. At the present stage, the leaders of the world economic and political space are precisely those countries that have learned to determine the vector of development of information technologies and the effective management of information flows, use new opportunities for their application and popularization in all areas of activity. It is well known that the global industry of information and telecommunication technologies is one of the most dynamically developing sectors of the world economy. The information sphere has become the locomotive of the economic development of many countries. It is no coincidence that relatively recently such concepts as ebusiness and e-commerce, e-logistics and e-economy have appeared in the economic environment.

Electronic business in the modern world is any business activity that uses the capabilities of global information networks to transform the company's internal and external communications in order to increase profits. In accordance with UN standards, a business is recognized as electronic if two of the four components (production of a product or service, generation of demand, delivery and logistics to the consumer, and payment) are carried out using the Internet. E-business is considered to include sales, marketing, financial analysis, payments, employee search, e-logistics, user support, and partner support. Electronic business is a form of doing business, in which a significant part of it is carried out using information technologies (local and global networks, specialized software, etc.).

Thus, the relationship between the concepts of "electronic business" and "electronic commerce" should be considered as inseparable parts of the whole, since these terms are often used interchangeably. In the first case, electronic business consists of such structural components as: electronic commerce (electronic commerce); electronic private procurement (e-procurement); electronic customer service (e-care for customers); e-care for business partners (e-care for Business Partners); e-logistics and e-care for employees; e-care of influencers. In the second case, the participants between whom there are commercial relations [3-4] determine electronic business. The structure of e-business depending on the participants is shown in Figure 1.





Figure 1 The structure of e-business depending on the participants

E-business is characterized by the fact that companies of a certain type, which operate on the basis of Internet technologies, are concentrated in this area of activity. This type of business is aimed at servicing the digital flow of products, and the full cycle of the transaction includes all stages from production, sale, delivery, service, support, service and everything is based on Internet technologies [5].

This type of business is dependent on innovation and the use of information technology, and the organization of the sales, communication and service process is impossible without the use of a marketing strategy that is inseparable from the Internet. The effectiveness of e-business is ensured by a rational strategy of Internet marketing, which includes all the necessary components and elements that are necessary to achieve the main goals of companies.

1.2 The relationship of e-business and Internet marketing

E-business is a sphere of active emergence and use of innovations, information and telecommunication technologies, which can be effectively organized by building a development strategy based on Internet marketing. The relevance and necessity of this study is confirmed by the presence of a large number of studies in this area, which contributes to further research and development of this direction.

The process of organizing an e-business should have an integrated approach and include all key stages from the production of goods and services to their sale, promotion, communication with customers and further service, logistics, which can be achieved through marketing. Marketing activity is a controlled and multifaceted process that is aimed at meeting the needs of potential and real consumers of the company's products, which consists in the implementation of not only specific marketing functions, but also the setting of specific goals, ways to achieve them and sources of resources for commercial activities in general.

When organizing an e-business, it is important to use a marketing strategy based on the same technologies and approaches, i.e. on the Internet, which will ensure the effectiveness of e-business by rationally defining the main stages and tools to achieve the main goal. An e-business marketing strategy provides control and management of the marketing activities of a company's goods and services using various tools such as target audience analysis and research, market research, promotion, advertising, maintenance and service, e-logistics, and more. Depending on the evolution of marketing and its areas of application, the nature of demand in the market for goods and services, such characteristics of marketing as types, forms and types of marketing are distinguished. Types, forms and types of marketing directly depend on the tools that are used in the promotion. It is possible to conduct an electronic business focused on Internet technologies, but without an Internet marketing strategy, its development is impossible. Since ebusiness is characterized by the use of Internet technologies, the effectiveness of which is possible with the help of Internet marketing, its tools should be considered:

- Content marketing, which includes podcasts, blogs, link baiting, guest posts, video creation, webinars.

- Email marketing, which includes lead magnets, segmentation, split testing and email automation.

- Search engine optimization (SEO), which consists of keyword research, search engine optimization of website pages (internal optimization), external optimization, technical SEO.

- Conversion optimization consisting of conversion focused web design, headline optimization, calls to action (CTA), social proof; A/B testing (UI and UX elements), targeted advertising.

- Social media, which include advertising in instant messengers and social networks, choosing the optimal channel, social listening (monitoring social media).

- Paid advertising: - retargeting (remarketing), which includes the following activities: Google AdWords, advertising on YouTube, advertising on social networks, purchasing programmatic advertising (programmatic advertising).

- Free online marketing tools, which include free website and online store builders, free personal blogging services, social networks, forums, message boards, free



email services, online instant messaging services, directories and free services for posting information about goods and services, Q&A services, thematic portals for free publication of ads, online auctions, sites selling goods.

- Leads and lead generation, which are aimed at: personal interaction, attracting leads via the Internet. Newsletters (e-mail, SMS, etc.).

- Viral marketing, consisting of banner and teaser advertising.

- Video marketing, which is based on the type of content and its promotion among the audience.

- Guerrilla marketing, which is aimed at developing cooperation with companies, advertising and holding a shocking action, the natural introduction of goods into the lives of ordinary people using front men who play the role of happy buyers.

- Non-standard marketing, which includes the following types and areas: Crazy PR, Storytelling and many other innovative areas.

- Electronic logistics, which ensures the finalization of the marketing process and the delivery of orders and purchases to consumers. The organization of this process at an effective level will improve supply chains and management of logistics information flows.

The described Internet marketing tools are directly involved in the process of organizing an electronic business and are an inseparable part to ensure its effectiveness, depending on the type of activity and audience segment. To ensure the effectiveness of Internet marketing in ebusiness, which is based on the promotion of goods and services and the retention of the target audience, develop marketing strategies and policies that include the tact to achieve the goals.

1.3 Review of scientific literature in the field of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business

The intensity of the development of information and telecommunication technologies and the need to manage information flows encourage many managers of modern companies to change their approaches to organizing activities and actively carry out marketing intraorganizational changes, research on the external environment, which can be carried out based on an effective organization. E-business, which is supported by an Internet marketing strategy.

The relevance of improving the efficiency of modern companies in the e-business segment is due to the need to search for and organize a business using an Internet marketing strategy that will ensure the implementation of strategic plans. To highlight the main directions in the field of the theory of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business, it is necessary to consider the existing approaches in the scientific works of scientists.

Assel G. [6] emphasizes the need for constant evaluation based on an analysis of the volume of production costs and their impact on the volume of products sold in the framework of the effectiveness of marketing activities. This approach also takes place in modern conditions of organizing the activities of manufacturing companies, taking into account small improvements and expanding factors for analysis, taking into account the specifics of the company's activities. In the work of L. Balabanova [7], it is proposed to evaluate the effectiveness based on the evaluation of the following areas: procurement, marketing integration, information adequacy, strategic focus, operational efficiency. It is important to state that this approach does not define a system of indicators for organizing the assessment process and requires serious improvements and modernization of the methodology itself, which requires further research and development in this area.

Anfinogenova Yu. [8] when determining the effectiveness of marketing, groups of indicators are distinguished based on the ratio of marketing costs and profits or sales volumes: profitability index (the share of reduced profit from marketing activities to reduced costs); market share of the organization; dynamics of margin and profit; dynamics of sales volume, which is a direct reflection of the effectiveness of marketing activities; reaching the breakeven point. It is important to note that this approach is aimed at a detailed analysis of the main key items of expenses and income, which does not take into account unplanned expenses that may arise under the influence of various factors, which should be improved in this methodology to meet its modern realities.

Kotler F. [9] focuses on the need to assess the relationship between marketing performance indicators and factors of the external and internal environment. This approach is relevant and in demand in modern business, however, no specific methodology has been proposed that would rationally evaluate the entire marketing process from production to sales and logistics, which requires a more detailed study and improvement of this approach, taking into account modern business conditions. Yasheva G. [10] emphasizes that the priority is the evaluation of economic efficiency, and not the marketing activity itself. It is important to state that although this approach considers marketing expenses only as an operating expense (and not as an investment) and does not include all cycles of the marketing process. This approach has become a logical starting point for evaluating the effectiveness of marketing activities through the analysis of the return on investment of marketing investments, which is currently widely used by Western companies, is gaining popularity and is being further developed.

In her study, Moiseeva M. [11] provides indicators of marketing activities by function (market research, assortment policy, marketing activities, communication activities) and general indicators (profitability, strategic activities). However, it should be emphasized that the issue of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in ebusiness remains open and requires detailed research. Tull, Donald S. [12] argues that an empirical approach is better





than a quantitative approach based on statistical testing of narrow deductive hypotheses. The paper presents the results of a study conducted in the early 90s in England, some European countries and the USA [13]. This approach is a classic and does not meet modern trends and features of e-business organization, which requires a more detailed study. Based on a review of scientific literature and research in terms of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing and its effectiveness, it should be stated that the effectiveness of marketing was analyzed in the following areas: the internal attitude of the company's management to marketing (its definition, roles and functions); organization of this activity (involvement in the strategic planning process, level of coordination and information exchange between marketing functions) practical implementation of marketing functions (use of marketing research, planning, participation in the development of new products and organization of an effective logistics process, etc.).

The considered main studies in the scientific literature in the field of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business allow us to conclude that there is no single approach to evaluating the effectiveness, which should be formed based on the selected approaches and requires improvement and more detailed study. The need to develop a methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business determines the relevance of this study and its practical significance. Based on the generalization of the reviewed scientific literature; it should be argued that the process of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing should be carried out on the basis of the following steps and procedures:

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 435-444 ISSN 1339-5629

1) Determination of the purpose of the process of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing.

2) Collection of statistical information and formation of a base of KPI indicators for a comprehensive assessment of the entire marketing process from production to logistics.

3) Analytical analysis of information flows and calculation of KPI indicators.

4) Substantiation of initial values and methodology for qualitative assessment of calculation results.

5) Formation of economic conclusions and development of projects of management decisions [14-16].

To substantiate the main KPI indicators for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business, it should be noted that these indicators should take into account the strategically important factors of influence in modern business conditions, both internal and external, which is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Factors influencing the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business

Internet marketing in electronic business is aimed at solving such issues as studying the tastes and preferences of the consumer, researching competitors, searching for distribution channels, analyzing the volume of product distribution for companies, creating new products, researching and working on an advertising campaign [17].

Modern trends in the organization of e-business are characterized by the fact that the use of a standard set of marketing is not enough to ensure the effectiveness of activities, which causes organizations and companies to move to a new era of marketing - Internet marketing.

The development of innovative technologies and their implementation and use in the e-business sectors of the economy makes it possible to optimize the cost structure for standard marketing mixes of an organization and determines the use of Internet marketing tools to ensure the efficiency of companies and achieve strategic goals.

2 Methodology

2.1 Peer review process

E-business is aimed at the integrated automation of the commercial work of companies and organizations, which is focused on interaction with the consumer in the field of sales and support for the entire chain of the sales and logistics process. Strengthening competition and the generation of instability by the crisis processes of the world economy strengthens the role and necessity of using marketing in the activities of economic entities. The growth of uncertainty, both external and internal, puts in the first place for many companies the issue of ensuring the





effectiveness of activities, taking into account the presented factors. The effectiveness of many companies is characterized not only by making a profit, but also by strengthening planning, monitoring economic programs, qualitative risk assessment, using existing systemic methods for managing information flows, and solving various marketing and logistics problems.

A review of scientific literature in the field of evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in ebusiness, indicating the presence of a problem that consists in the lack of a unified approach to developing a methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business, followed by the definition of key indicators and their elements that would take into account the influence of all factors through the use of innovative Internet tools and methods. The informatization of society and the intensive development of electronic business are characterized by the fact that the organization of this business, taking into account all factors, is impossible without the implementation of an Internet marketing strategy.

However, the use of Internet technologies is relevant in the modern world, which in turn leads to the modernization and improvement of existing methods, mechanisms, concepts and management strategies, marketing and its application in electronic business are no exception, which indicates the need for further research. Since in modern marketing there is no single approach to evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing, there is a conceptual need and relevance for the development of methodological foundations for their evaluation and a deeper study, which was carried out and reflected in the main results of this article.

The key goal of the study is to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business. In accordance with the purpose of the study, the following tasks were defined: analysis of the theory of Internet marketing and the elements contained in it; classification of existing Internet marketing tools in terms of their effectiveness; classification of KRI indicators for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in electronic business; formation of recommendations for improving Internet marketing in modern conditions. To achieve the goal of the study and the implementation of the tasks set, general scientific and private research methods were used.

Analysis and synthesis of key areas that are used to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in ebusiness; process and system approaches - to develop a key algorithm for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in electronic business; economic and statistical analysis of KPI indicators for the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business and their grouping depending on the type of activity; graphical method and method of constructing analytical tables - for visual interpretation of the main results of the methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in electronic business. The proposed method for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing, taking into account the formed and certain factors, can be applied in the practical activities of modern companies. The developed methodology will highlight the strengths and weaknesses of the Internet marketing strategy of modern companies with its further adjustment to achieve strategic business goals and ensure the effectiveness of e-business in general.

3 Result and discussion

When organizing an e-business, which is based on an Internet marketing strategy, success largely depends, as a rule, on the achievement of specific results, such as: profit growth, the number of calls, clicks, goods or services sold, as well as the quality of supply chain management. However, the choice of communication channels with the client at the planning stage will require an assessment of effectiveness even before making changes to the marketing. Brand promotion on the Internet is a complex and costly process, as competition in commercial segments is growing every day. It is definitely possible to calculate the ratio of profits and investments, but this is not enough for a complete picture. To evaluate the effectiveness of online marketing in e-business, several tools are used, and each of them has its own metrics by which you can evaluate the effectiveness. The main KPIs of the effectiveness of Internet marketing companies in e-business are presented in Table 1.

Therefore, the vector of marketing strategies is shifting towards individual work with the consumer. Communication based on mutual interest is today the leading direction of Internet marketing in e-business. Modern marketing tools allow you to conduct a deep analysis of the target audience, its preferences, and requests and determine the need for the introduction and launch of a particular product or service. These tools allow you to create a profile of each client in order to build the most appropriate interaction scheme with him. This approach leads to optimization of marketing budgets, expansion of the client base and sales growth by studying your audience and choosing the most accurate message when organizing an e-business.

The organization of an electronic business based on an Internet marketing strategy is based on a combination of several tools, each of which requires costs and investments. Different tools can bring different results and value depending on the niche and segment being used. Evaluation of the effectiveness of Internet marketing may vary depending on what goals the company's management pursued in the e-business segment. To evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business, it is necessary to use various labels and markers [18].

To substantiate the described hypotheses and the theory of this study, it is necessary to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in electronic business. The functioning of e-business in the context of Internet marketing is



inextricably linked with the use of innovative technologies and tools that allow you to optimize the main business processes of companies and improve your work. Many world-class companies use innovative tools to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business, one of which is Google Analytics [19].

KPI indicator	Features of the methodology for evaluating the effectiveness and characteristics							
Conversion Rate (CR)	Displays the number of visits that ended with the target action (registration, purchase) to the total							
Conversion Rate (CR)	number of visits. CR allows you to evaluate the effectiveness of a given marketing channel.							
	Displays the number of users who left the site after viewing only 1 page. If the Bounce Rate is							
Bounce Rate (BR)	more than 40%, this is a serious reason to reconsider the approach to organizing this element of							
	the organization's Internet marketing.							
Average Order Value	This indicator allows you to compare in retrospect the performance indicators of the Internet							
(AOV)	marketing tool in terms of the amount of income generated.							
Cost Par lisk (CPC)	The ratio of spending on an advertising campaign to the number of clicks. Allows you to evaluate							
Cost Fel lick (CFC)	the effectiveness of using contextual advertising placed on paid sites.							
Cost Per Order (CPO)	Displays the cost effectiveness of attracting one client through the use of Internet marketing tools							
Return Of Investments	An indicator of the effectiveness of Internet marketing tools and return on investment.							
(ROI)								
Return Of Marketing	The main indicator of the effectiveness of Internet marketing. Shows the return on investment							
Investments (ROMI)	in marketing.							

Also, special attention should be paid to such Internet marketing tools in e-business as search engine optimization and contextual advertising, which provide increased customer loyalty, brand awareness and promotion, which generates an increase in income from this type of marketing, which is reflected in the indicators (AOV,%) and (CPC,%).

The structure of Internet marketing performance indicators in the electronic business of world companies by industry as of 01.01.2022, in %, is presented in Table 2.

Table 2 The structure of Internet marketing performance indicators in the electronic business of world companies by industry as of 01.01.2022, in %

Conversion Rate (CR, %)	Average Order Value (AOV, %)						
Tourism	25.10%	Baby food and toys	189.35%					
Real estate	11.20%	Vehicles	130.93%					
Business consulting	27.40%	Clothing and accessories	117.51%					
Business services	15.70%	Food	113.92%					
Lending	24.30%	Sport and relaxation	94.15%					
Healthcare	12.30%	Animal care	80.11%					
Higher education	11.50%	House and garden	76.55%					
Building	14.90%	Art and graffiti	76.49%					
The legislative framework	15.40%	Agricultural goods	63.95%					
Professional education	25.00%	Electronics	60.39%					
Sport	11.00%	Appliances	55.61%					
Electronics	12.00%	Healthcare	37.96%					
Cost Per Order (CI	PO, %)	Bounce Rate (BR, %)						
Laws and Government	86.49%	Art and entertainment	58.85%					
Vehicles	49.37%	Vehicles	48.30%					
Business and Manufacturing	38.54%	Beauty and fitness	57.31%					
Beauty and fitness	71.88%	Books and literature	63.41%					
Personnel and Management	43.90%	Business and Manufacturing	56.41%					
Education	80.00%	Finance	57.92%					
Finance	41.14%	Food	59.36%					
Insurance	48.05%	Hobbies and entertainment	55.53%					
Healthcare	31.96%	Internet and television	58.53%					
Repair work	68.12%	Work and education	54.07%					
Sport	61.22%	Electronics 29.2						

This tool is a service developed by Google to generate detailed statistics on marketing activities. A feature of the service is that the webmaster allows you to calculate the ROI and the effectiveness of marketing expenses. This tool allows you to evaluate not all indicators, which does not give a reliable picture, and for their detailed calculation and evaluation, many settings and personalization approaches to the description of indicators are required.



This tool is one of the most used and allows you to control the effectiveness of Internet marketing in ebusiness and understand how certain tools affect the company's efficiency in the e-business segment.

The presented structure of the main performance indicators of Internet marketing companies in the electronic business allows us to determine that using innovative Internet technologies for promoting goods and services such as: a website, corporate pages on social networks, advertising, which indicates a high percentage of conversion (CR,%) and the number of visits (BR,%) in the sectors: business consulting, vocational training, tourism and lending, politics, legislation, finance and insurance, the necessary level of marketing efficiency is provided.

It should be noted that in order to use innovative tools and Internet technologies in marketing, it is necessary to spend quite large amounts of investments, and their effectiveness ensures the achievement of the strategic goals of the organization. The effectiveness of e-business directly depends on the Internet marketing tools used to achieve all the company's strategic goals. The assessment of the effectiveness of Internet marketing of companies in the world in the context of industries as of 01.01.2022 determines the need for more intensive development of Internet marketing as a key tool for ensuring the effectiveness of e-business. The functioning of Internet marketing and its application in electronic business is gaining more and more widespread use in all industries. Since, the main indicators of the effectiveness of Internet marketing are the payback of the funds spent on marketing activities and the number of customers attracted to the company. The cost structure for Internet marketing tools and their effectiveness in global e-business companies by industry as of 01.01.2022 in % is presented in Table 3.

 Table 3 Structure of costs for Internet marketing tools and their effectiveness in global e-business companies by industry as of 01.01.2022 in %

Cost Per Click (CPC, USD))	Return Of Investments (RO	DI, %)	The effectiveness of Internet marketing tools (ROMI, %)				
Clothing	\$0.45	Electronics	60.60%	Laws and Government	70.30%			
Vehicles	\$2.24	Vehicles	52.40%	Search contextual advertising 29				
Business and Manufacturing	\$2.52	Business and Manufacturing	45.50%	Display Advertising	6%			
Beauty and fitness	\$1.81	Finance / Insurance	69.70%	Social Media Postings	5.10%			
Business consulting	\$3.08	Business and Manufacturing	38.90%	Targeted advertising	14.90%			
Education	\$1.06	Healthcare	37.90%	Email marketing	6.50%			
Electronic logistics \$		Electronic logistics	36.40%	Insurance	10.10%			
Finance/ Insurance	\$5.77	Education	35.30%	Healthcare	5.00%			

The effective use of Internet marketing allows you to increase profits by promoting and increasing consumer loyalty, which in turn provides a competitive position in the market, increasing conversions and optimizing costs. The organization of e-business is impossible without the use of innovative mechanisms and management tools, and this also applies to marketing. Since e-business is based on Internet technologies and work organization approaches, it cannot be imagined without an Internet marketing strategy that distributes all the necessary steps, tools and their implementation into activities depending on the industry and type of activity [20]. The effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business is ensured by an increase in the volume of conversion through the use of certain tools. The dynamics of sales in electronic business, which are provided with the help of Internet marketing in trillion. USD, as well as the growth rate compared to the previous year in % for the period from 01.01.2017 to 01.01.2022, are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 3 The dynamics of sales in electronic business. which are provided with the help of Internet marketing in trillion. USD USA. as well as growth rates to the previous year in % for the period from 01.01.2017-01.01.2022

 $\sim 442 \sim$





The presented dynamics of sales volumes in electronic business. which are provided with the help of Internet marketing. increase every year. which indicates an increase in interest in the effectiveness of Internet marketing by the management of world companies. which is also confirmed by the growth rate compared to the previous year in %. From the results obtained, the hypothesis of the need for constant evaluation and monitoring of performance indicators is confirmed, which will allow planning both at the operational and tactical levels the company's marketing strategy in electronic business. Since evaluating the effectiveness of each tool allows you to identify priority areas and weed out frankly weak and ineffective ones.

4 Conclusions

The intensity of the development of innovative technologies and their implementation in modern business segments requires constant improvement of management approaches and methods. The study is aimed at studying the existing scientific approaches to evaluating the effectiveness of modern Internet marketing. which is an integral part of electronic business. The emergence and rapid development of the global Internet has led to a real revolution in the organization and conduct of business. The transformations affected both the external relations between companies and their partners or customers. as well as the internal structurecompanies. Not only new areas of doing business (trading platforms. auctions. electronic markets. e-commerce and others). but the existing strategies for conducting and organizing activities have changed radically.

The main results of the study made it possible to achieve the set goal. which concerned evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing in e-business. Scientific approaches and theories of development of key aspects of the development of e-business in the world are considered. This made it possible to focus on the intensity of the development and implementation of information and telecommunication technologies in all spheres of human life. and also made it possible to argue for the lack of a unified approach and methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing. which led to the relevance and need for a detailed study. Based on the presented. the author carried out a deep analysis of existing scientific approaches and theoretical aspects to the development and establishment of e-business. identified the main types and forms of e-business. depending on the participants in modern conditions.

The peculiarity of the organization of electronic business. which is inextricably linked with the introduction of information technologies into the global business industry. is considered. where the need to use marketing as an element of management and strategy is highlighted. Since e-business is based on Internet technologies. then marketing must correspond to this. In the article. the author argues the inextricable link between e-business. e-logistics. e-commerce and Internet marketing. the use of which in combination ensures the effectiveness of existing processes.

Due to the lack of a unified approach in the scientific literature to determine the methodology and tools for evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing companies in electronic business. a study of approaches was conducted and an approach to evaluating the effectiveness of Internet marketing was formed. .

KRI indicators have been selected to assess the effectiveness of online marketing of companies in electronic business. depending on key influencing factors and strategic goals. To substantiate the methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of KPI. the key tools of Internet marketing of e-business companies were identified. which made it possible to determine the need for their use in the framework of achieving and ensuring the achievement of target business indicators and tasks. It is argued that, taking into account current trends in the implementation of innovative technologies and approaches to doing business on the Internet, it is necessary to use existing Google Analytics tools to evaluate the effectiveness of Internet marketing and obtain reliable results.

A methodology for evaluating the effectiveness of online marketing of e-business companies based on key KPI indicators of global companies by industry has been formed. which made it possible to determine the most rational and effective tools. as well as profitable e-business industries. Based on the sorted methodological approaches. the author assessed the effectiveness and considered the dynamics of sales of electronic business using Internet marketing tools for the period from 01.01.2017 to 01.01.2022.

The presented allowed us to formulate the main hypotheses and confirm them in terms of the fact that in order to ensure the effectiveness of Internet marketing in electronic business. it is necessary to use innovative methods and Internet technologies to achieve strategic goals.

The results of the study. in contrast to existing approaches. made it possible to substantiate the need to apply in practice the formed methodology for the formation of KPI indicators and their further control to ensure the effectiveness of Internet marketing.

References

- [1] SENYO, P.K., LIU, K., EFFAH, J.: Digital business ecosystem: Literature review and a framework for future research, *International Journal of Information Management*, Vol. 47, No. August, pp. 52-64, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2019.01.002
- [2] BICAN, P.M., BREM, A.: Digital business model. digital transformation. digital entrepreneurship: Is there a sustainable "digital"?, *Sustainability*, Vol. 12, No. 13, p. 5239, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12135239
- [3] RANGASWAMY, A., MOCH, N., FELTEN, C.: The role of marketing in digital business platforms, *Journal*



of Interactive Marketing, Vol. 51, No. 1, pp. 72-90, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intmar.2020.04.00

[4] KRAUS, S., PALMER, C., KAILER, N.: Digital entrepreneurship: A research agenda on new business models for the twenty-first century, International Journal of Entrepreneurial Behavior & Research, Vol. 25, No. 2, pp. 353-375, 2018.

https://doi.org/ 10.1108/IJEBR-06-2018-0425

[5] AL-ABABNEH, H.A., ALIBRAHEEM, M.H.M., ALHNAITY, H.K., ALKHAZALI, A.R.M. IBRAGIMKHALILOVA, T.: Modern models of economic development: transformation of targets, evaluation and cluster analysis, Acta logistica, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 303-314, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v9i3.313

- [6] ASSEL, G.: Marketing: principy i strategiya: uchebnik, 2nd ed., M.: INFRA7M, 2001. (Original in Russian)
- [7] BALABANOVOJ, L.: Marketing-menedzhment, Doneck: DonGUET, 2001. (Original in Russian)
- [8] ANFINOGENOVA, Y.B.: Metodi ocinki efektivnosti marketingovih zahodiv, Problemi i perspektivi ekonomiki i upravlinnya: materiali Mizhnar. zaoch. nauch. konf. (Sankt-Peterburg, kviten 2012), SPb., Renome, p. 147-149, 2013. (Original in Russian)
- [9] KOTLER, F.: Marketing Basics, Short Course, M: Williams Publishing House, 2015.
- [10] YASHEVA, G.A.: Marketing effectiveness: assessment methodology and results, Practical marketing, Vol. 78, No. 8, pp. 44-45, 2003.
- [11] MOISEEVA, N.K.: Management of marketing: theory, practice, information technology, Textbook, M.: Finance and statistics, 2003.
- [12] TULL, D.S.: Marketing Research. Measurement and Method, A Text with Cases, 3rd ed., New York, MacMillan, 1984.
- [13] BAIYERE, A., SALMELA, H., TAPANAINEN, T.: Digital transformation and the new logics of business process management, European Journal of Information Systems, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 238-259, 2020.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0960085X.2020.1718007

- [14] RITTER, T., PEDERSEN, C.L.: Digitization capability and the digitalization of business models in business-to-business firms: Past. present. and future, Industrial Marketing Management, Vol. 86, pp. 180-190, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2019.11.019
- [15] AL-ABABNEH, H.A.: Researching Global Digital E-Marketing Trends, Eastern-European Journal of Enterprise Technologies, Vol. 1, No. 13, pp. 26-38, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.15587/1729-4061.2022.252276

[16] HARTANTO, Y., FIRMANSYAH, M.A., ADHRIANTI, L.: Implementation Digital Marketing Pesona 88 Curup in to Build Image for the Decision of Visit Tourist Attraction, 4th Social and Humanities Research Symposium, SoRes 2021, Atlantis Press, pp. 589-594, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.220407.121

- [17] MEHRALIAN, M.M.: Effect of internet of things on marketing performance: the mediating role of entrepreneurship orientation, 25th Iranian Conference Development on Business and Digital Transformation, 2022. https://doi.org/ 10.2139/ssrn.4195987
- [18] AL-ABABNEH, H.A., AMAYREH, K.T.: Optimal Advertising Methods and Creating Investment Confidence, Academy of Accounting and Financial Studies Journal, Vol. 25, No. 5, pp. 1-13, 2021.
- [19] RAHARDJA, U.: Social Media Analysis as a Marketing Strategy in Online Marketing Business, Startupreneur Bisnis Digital (SABDA Journal), Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 176-182, 2022. https://doi.org/10.34306/sabda.v1i2.120
- [20] DENGA, E.M., VAJJHALA, N.R., RAKSHIT, S.: The Role of Digital Marketing in Achieving Sustainable Competitive Advantage, Digital Transformation and Internationalization Strategies in Organizations, IGI Global, pp. 44-60, 2022. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-7998-8169-8.ch003

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.415

Received: 12 Apr. 2023; Revised: 01 June 2023; Accepted: 02 July 2023

Increasing the efficiency of warehouse analysis using artificial intelligence

Peter Veres

University of Miskolc, HU-3515 Miskolc-Egyetemváros, Hungary, EU, peter.veres@uni-miskolc.hu

Keywords: artificial intelligence, artificial neural network, warehousing, ABC XYZ analysis, black hole algorithm. *Abstract:* Logistics in companies is a necessary process that has high costs with mostly no added value. Lowering this cost is vitally important for companies to stay competitive. Nowadays, storage systems are a critical part of any company's logistic system, and many of them try to reach an optimum level where they can operate with little freedom of movement of goods declared by the changing market. There are several manual and automated methods to achieve this. However, we hear quite little about the use of artificial intelligence in the field. This study focuses on the implementation of AI technology into warehousing, especially in categorizing goods. After an overview of the recent literature on AI technologies and their application in the field of logistics, the introduction of an AI application follows. The main goal of the agood in the warehouse and the ordering frequency with the quantity. After acquiring and cleaning the training data from a real company, the determination and selection of the least input parameters is an important and challenging task, which is demonstrated. The effectiveness of the supervised learning can be seen as an ANN (artificial neural network) can output, with the aid of a non-conventional metaheuristic approach - the black hole algorithm - as the learning agent is demonstrated by an example, which also shows the result of an ABC-XYZ categorization run on a dataset from a multinational company.

1 Introduction and literature review

Recently, as we can see in the news, there has been a surge in the development and use of artificial intelligence (AI), not only in research and industry, but also active use in real life situations. So far, large corporations have used some forms of AI to determine the weather [1], to analyse compounds and tissues chemically and biologically [2], to trade stocks [3], to assess consumer needs [4], to create tailored advertising [5] or to run the largest text search systems [6], to name just the most well-known ones. Apart from the last decade, there has been mass-fear about the effect, power and awakening of artificial intelligence [7], which has been greatly influenced by the exaggerated media, but nowadays AI is mostly accepted as a useful tool that, if used properly, can do no harm. To give a concrete example, the open source chatbot ChatGPT is enjoying unprecedented popularity, with 13 million daily users and a total user base of 110 million in January 2023 [8]. It can engage in quasi-intelligent safe conversations, grant answers, and help on topics or write your homework, which has caused huge scandal in the US.

Considering this, it is hard to imagine that there are industrial areas where artificial intelligence is hardly used at all, neither in the design, nor in the construction, nor in the operational phases, although it is also mentioned in the Industry 4.0 principles and directions under the topic of automation [9,10].

Most researchers agree that automation and Industry 4.0 tools not only allow us to improve our hardware, but also to automate our software and decision-making systems [11]. To achieve this, existing enterprise databases, such as SQL-based ones, can be easily linked to program written in C#, .Net or MATLAB languages and

run AI supported queries on them continuously to find hidden parameter or process relationships [12]. This could easily lead to IoT-SL (Internet of Things - Smart Logistics) systems, where smart contracts and more effective services can increase warehouse efficiency, faster receipt actions, issuing, transferring, and picking [13]. One of the biggest and most advanced areas of artificial intelligence research is image processing, which is essential for self-driving vehicles and visual recognition systems. To train these systems, large amounts of data are needed, and if we want to continuously expand this data, we need to use cloudbased services. EDGE computing with AI-infused cloud services provides a solution for this problem [14].

In a warehouse, there are plenty of possibilities to use AI-driven or augmented systems. As I mentioned earlier visual recognition is in a very advanced state, which can be used to control safely fully autonomous vehicles [15]. Visual recognition and artificial intelligence have another big impact on warehousing within sorting and picking. Pick-by-vision owes its existence to smart glasses and the rise of augmented reality [16]. Although not yet widely adopted due to its relatively high installation cost and AI training time, but in the future, it could easily become more accessible [17]. As most of us know, pick-by-voice is a well-established technology, that can work without any major AI, but for better voice recognition or giving special instructions the method can be improved by AI [18].

Another unique example of the implementation of AI into warehouses comes from researcher Min-Chun Yu, with a great promise to compare the outcome of the original ABC analysis with methods infused by artificial intelligence [19]. The ABC analysis has a few variations, but most of them sorts the stored items in descending order by price multiplied by quantity of consumption, then using



the Pareto principle to classify them into categories A-B-C with 80-15-5% breakdown. A set of data provided as training and testing data for the three method of AI, which are: Back-Propagation Network (BPN), which is a type of Artificial Neural Network (ANN) and use a back-to-front normalising method for setting the weights of the node connections; Support Vector Machine (SVM), where minimal risk structures can be achieved by a linear model, and implementing vectors as margins of parameters; and knearest neighbours, which is a reliable clustering tool, that can be used for easy and fast grouping, but very sensitive for input and initial data. The study claims, that the SVM method worked the best, on average the model guesses the right categories with a success rate of nearly 80%. This study has inspired this research most. Recently real company data was received for optimization and research purposes, that could easily be used to create an ABC analysis dataset for AI testing and validating. The company also performs their own XYZ analysis on items, with which they can store more effectively and calculate shipping quantities better, thus improving their material flow and make a more efficient warehouse and logistic system.

This paper's purpose to create an example of training a weak AI, that can pre-categorize items based on a corporate supervised data set into both ABC and XYZ categories.

2 How artificial neural networks works?

Most of the time for categorizing tasks we don't need a very powerful or complicated AI models. Most logistic based problems are not a particularly complicated for this kind of tools: most of the time it doesn't need visual processing or text recognition with a human like response. In most cases there are a fixed number of parameters for inputs, and well-defined outputs. There are plenty of artificial models and techniques which we can use to solve this problem. One of the easiest, well described, and welldeveloped models are the Artificial Neural Networks (ANN). These are machine learning models, that are designed to simulate the way human brain works, where nonlinear classifiers mostly used to create and refine complex relationships between inputs and outputs for classification purposes. An ANN model contains several node-layers for processing information, called neurons. The layers are usually called input layer, hidden layer and output layer. ANN models can be used for a wide range of tasks, of which the best known for image and speech recognition or natural language processing. ANN models are trained on supervised data with the help of heuristics, or a process called backpropagation, where the algorithm adjusts the weights between neurons in response to the input data. This process iterates until the model is able to accurately predict the output for a given input in the test data. However, this process can also be computationally intensive and for complex problems, which is not always predictable, or require significant amounts of training data. After the learning phase the model can be used with a high degree of certainty on actual data that has not yet been seen to give a proper output [20,21].

Backpropagation is a very powerful and tool for adjusting the weights of connections between nodes, but not the only one; we can also use heuristics for this purpose. The former is a simple and efficient techniques, that best at smaller standardized problems in matrix forms and fine-tuning already good solutions, but not so efficient in big complex and noisy datasets. It is also very sensitive for the initial settings and input parameters [22].

The heuristic approach is another good technique to adjust the weights, but it requires more computing power and the solution's correctness has a bit more uncertainty. It is good for any kind of problem, mostly without restriction, and with their application, it is possible to oversee a much larger spectrum of weight-solutions [23]. Most of the times when we search for heuristics in AI topics the genetic algorithm (GA) will dominate our findings. This method is a very good candidate for almost every problem including weight adjustments in ANN models, because it is very robust, easily calibrated, and have numerous versions included as packages in many programming languages and compliers. Genetic algorithm, however, is not the only good heuristic option. There are many cases, where other heuristics can surpass GA in different tasks, like in the paper "Black Hole Algorithm and Its Applications" [24]. The black hole algorithm (BHA) is a population-based metaheuristic algorithm with a semi-memory storage for solutions. Classification is the strength of this algorithm, which can work very effectively when the parameters are fractional numbers with limits, where we can interpret the "distance" between individual objectively [25]. In most ANN the numbers and their weights are predetermined and limited (-1...1), which is ideal for the BHA to work effectively. In addition to these, the basic algorithm of BHA is much simpler and works with much fewer steps than GA, so an iteration step is only a fraction of the time of GA. It also handles more populations more effectively because an iteration step doesn't require ranking or weighting the individuals, there are no special crossovers, only the best remains and the rest of the population changes. These are the reasons why BHA was chosen as the artificial neural network's weight calibrating tool, for the ABC-XYZ classification problem.

3 ANN model for ABC-XYZ prediction with black hole algorithm

To create a practical/industrial acceptable ANN model, two initial steps must be taken: data mining and layer (parameter) definition. The order of these is determined by whether we already have the data for testing that can be processed, or whether we are trying to create a new system and data collection will follow. In this specific case the access to corporate data was very useful, which is used as a test database after cleaning and pre-processing. Naturally, permission was granted by the company to use



their data in this research if the company and the goods cannot be recognized by competitors. This means the data collection came first and the definition of layers were the second step. There is only rule of thumb on how many hidden layers there must be (1 is always required): for not too complex tasks (with reasonable parameter count) most authors recommend between 1 and 3. The same applies to the number of neurons (or nodes) in the hidden layers: there are formulas, but since the number of parameters can be between a few and millions (image processing) it's very task dependent. For a small number (under 100) of input parameters the first hidden layer has a node count of maximum twice the number of input and output parameters; the second hidden layer and after, the neuron counts should be between 2/3 and 1/2 of the previous layer [26].

After cleaning and processing the corporate data 9 inputs were selected, and of course 2 outputs: prediction of item classification into: ABC & XYZ. Because these are not high numbers, and from my understanding, this problem didn't look very complex, so I created 2 hidden layers with 12 and 6 nodes. These parameters and layers can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Layers of ANN network for ABC-XYZ prediction

3.1 Defining the input dataset for artificial neural network

Besides cleaning, pre-processing the data is almost always needed. If the whole cleaned dataset was given as input we had nearly 140 parameters (in daily breakdown), which is unnecessary. Input parameters 1...4 is not changed, these are the followings: size of warehouse (capacity by palette number of the location), price of an item in EUR, number of items in a palette, and a KPI indicator, which summarizes the number of used items (only left it in because it has been asked by the company). Input parameters 5...9 is calculated: daily average demand of an item, and its standard deviation, daily average inventory and its standard deviation, and the average of the daily percentage of an item occupancy in the given warehouse. With these inputs, we need to try to avoid having data that are part of other parameters or to express them by the relationships of other parameters. Always aim for the previous principle if effectiveness is the goal. The only exception is we have parameters that, although related, have a very complex relationship that can only be truly expressed through more layers that we have.

The corporate dataset contained information about nearly 3200 items, which was real storage and movement data for a whole month from multiple company warehouses broken down to the second. Unfortunately, about 1800 of the 3200 items were not active in the examined month, so more than half of the training data we lose by default. In addition, there were errors and gaps in the remaining dataset: there were some warehouses that doesn't classified items into ABC-XYZ, and most items had at least one parameter missing, like price or quantity. After the data cleaning only 255 items remained in the training dataset, which is still plenty enough to train an AI. Part of this cleaned and pre-processed data set is shown in Table 2.

In Table 1. we can see two yellow column ABC (Corp.) and XYZ (Corp.). These are the classifications defined by the company for every item in the testing dataset, and most importantly for AI developers, these are the supervised outputs, that we want to acquire at the end of the training process. Also, the green columns in the table are the input parameters and the grey columns (120 columns) contains the daily data, which used for the calculation of input parameters 5...9.



Table 1 Part of training dataset																		
					Used		SD of		SD of				Initial	Initial	Income (no. item)	Used items (no. item)	Remains (no. item)	Stock (palette)
	ltem no.	Warehous e size (palette)	Price of item (EUR)	Number of item on palette	palette number of item (KPI)	Daily average demand (palette)	daily average demand (palette)	Daily average inventory (palette)	daily average inventory (palette)	Average daily stock ratio	ABC (Corp.)	XYZ (Corp.)	stock factory total (no. items)	stock factory total (palette)	03.25.2022	03.25.2022	03.25.2022	03.25.2022
	N1	1155	258.46	24.00	6.83	23.43	9.22	58.43	15.34	0.0506	Α	Х	2208	92	0	552	1656	69
	N2	1155	169.96	48.00	1.71	11.71	6.80	26.71	28.16	0.0231	Α	Y	624	13	0	480	144	3
	N3	1155	100.52	32.00	6.25	28.57	14.33	133.57	51.17	0.1156	Α	Y	8224	257	0	1312	6912	216
	N4	899	48.33	80.00	1.54	17.57	7.16	40.86	22.81	0.0454	Α	Х	2000	25	0	1760	240	3
	N5	899	40.70	105.00	0.50	7.43	3.69	11.00	7.55	0.0122	Α	Х	945	9	945	945	945	9
	N6	899	48.32	64.00	1.48	13.57	8.44	4.29	11.95	0.0048	Α	Y	704	11	0	1344	-640	-10
	N7	899	25.30	36.00	4.53	23.29	11.16	41.29	11.18	0.0459	Α	Х	2124	59	864	1116	1872	52
	N8	1155	23.83	80.00	0.94	10.71	5.56	38.71	12.54	0.0335	Α	Y	3680	46	0	1280	2400	30
	N9	899	50.07	48.00	0.85	5.86	5.70	31.71	11.29	0.0353	Α	Y	624	13	384	0	1008	21
	N10	1155	25.89	48.00	1.69	11.57	5.44	42.43	22.71	0.0367	Α	Х	1152	24	. 0	480	672	14
	N11	1155	137.22	48.00	0.23	1.57	2.07	3.86	3.02	0.0033	Α	Y	288	6	0	0	288	6
	N12	1155	21.50	50.00	0.72	5.14	9.25	74.29	24.74	0.0643	A	Y	1700	34	1700	1150	2250	45

3.2 The importance of ABC and XYZ analysis

The results of ABC and XYZ analysis are not the most important indicators or management parameters for the company, but they can be used as an easy decision support tool for the whole internal and external logistic system to manage the stock levels of incoming materials and items in the warehouses, plan stock entries and withdrawals, free up space, control delivery deadlines, prepare the right materials for product changes and plan the ordering quantities coming into and out of the factory with their time intervals.

ABC analysis aims to distinguish between items (mainly materials) that are significant and insignificant to the materials management system. It separates the essential from the non-essential based on the annual use (value and/or quantity) of the products, classifying them into 3 categories (A, B, C). The materials are grouped according to their relative importance and differentiated inventory management methods are applied according to the groups [27].

The pareto principle states: about 5-20% of the items cover 70-80% of sales these are "A" category items. "B" category items cover 20-30% of sales with 20-30% of sales and the remainder being "C" category. Pareto logic also states: the biggest savings can be achieved with "A" category because of its high value. This is certainly true because of the law of large numbers, but the other categories should not be forgotten, as "C" will be precisely those products that are sold infrequently and in small quantities. [27].

The results of XYZ analysis are to indicate and categorize the fluctuations in demand for items over a longer period. We can express market volatility in terms of the relative dispersion of demand. The "X" category includes those items whose consumption shows only minor fluctuations. This category is characterised by a high level of forecasting. The use of materials in category "Y" is more

volatile, but there is a certain tendency to fluctuate. For example, there may be a steady increase or a steady decrease, or perhaps seasonal patterns of use. This category is characterised by a medium forecast accuracy. Category "Z" includes materials whose use is completely irregular, with a very low forecast accuracy [28].

4 Application and results

There are many programming languages and compilers that can write ANNs effectively, but for research purposes, there is a very simple and effective programming language and its application that handles matrices very well, which is MATLAB. There was no doubt that the application was written in this language. Also programming in MATLAB was fairly easy with the pre-made libraries and the huge number of blogs on the internet was helpful in this topic. In addition, the implementation of the black hole algorithm, which is the core process of the model, was also relatively simple, because of its easy structure and comprehensibility. After a few unsuccessful runs, when the results did not improve, the solution was able to move forward with a simple trick: make the output neuron thresholds a variable. Previously, we had defined the values and the categories, when the first output neuron's value is between 0...0.33 was category "A", between 0.33...0.67 was category "B", and above 0.67 was category "C". This applied to the XYZ category also. After making the limits their own parameters, which can be modified by the BHA, the results improved significantly.

Figure 2 shows a complete run of the current best result of ABC-XYZ solutions. The run lasted around 9 hours on a currently very average computer (HexaCore AMD Ryzen 5 3600 CPU with 16GB DDR4 memory and NVIDIA GeForce GTX 1660 SUPER 6 GB video card). During this time, roughly 25000 iterations were performed with a population of 500.





Figure 2 Result of an ANN performance for ABC-XYZ prediction

As Figure 2 shows the ABC-XYZ results starts at around 25% of good predictions of the 255 training data, which is statistically correct: there are around 40% of "C" category and 40% of "Z" category items. To predict only this category, which is the largest, there is a near 16% of correctness, just by categorizing every item into "C" and "Z". After the initial categorization there is a quick improvement: in only 9000 iteration the model guesses the categories correctly 50% of the time. After the 25000 iterations, the model can categorize the training items into ABC category 85%, XYZ category 93% and both 82% correctly. This level is higher, than a normally skilled worker capable of, if he/she needs to categorize an item based only the item's parameters, and without seeing the other item's values. It is likely that if the application had more runtime, than the results could have gotten better results, and after a while it could have reached practically 100% accuracy, but given the slowing improvement, this task could have taken several days or even a week on this computer.

5 Conclusions

The usage of artificial intelligence in the field of internal logistics is rare, besides visual recognition in AGV and robotic systems, which can be also recognised from, the literature review. There are only a few literatures, which encourage the industry to implement high-level systems that support Industry 4.0 principles with AIimplementation, with which companies are much capable of making simpler decisions or assisting the logistics systems. These are both visual and background assistance benefits, mainly for easy transparency, flexibility, and easy management of materials and goods, and there are plenty of un-used databases that, can be a source for training data. The only literature, that can be found on the topic of this research is from Min-Chun Yu, who uses Artificial Intelligence to create a method for automatic categorization of warehouse goods into ABC. The ABC categorization is good for representing the quantities of certain items in the system, but doesn't show us the frequency of usage, which is also important to create a stable and optimal warehouse and manufacturing system. This research attempts to address this scientific gap in an unconventional way, by using an artificial neural network, to categorize each item of a given company into both ABC and XYZ categories, based on their own manual categorization. In most cases, such categorization manually will only give good results if you have had the item for a long time and have enough data about it. Another advantage of the AI-trained method is that the trained method does not need the data mentioned above. It can immediately categories it with high accuracy, provided that the training was successful and appropriate parameters are available. A properly trained system can also handle faulty or incomplete items (parameters) to a certain extent, which increases the robustness of the system.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 445-451 ISSN 1339-5629

To prove the useability of the AI aided systems, an application was created in MATLAB, with the learning black hole optimization algorithm (substitute for the genetic algorithm and backpropagation, which are commonly used for this purpose), that the method can predict an item category correctly 82% of the time after an 8-hour running on an average computer. This can be improved by giving more runtime to the method or combine multiple algorithms to make it more efficient. In average this 82% is as good as an average human workers guess with some experience in the field of warehousing and logistics.

Future of this research: further testing of this model and an investigation on data from other companies, with these settings, to see the results and percentages of correctness. In addition, these questions should be answered in the future: Can we create a model and a set of rules consisting pre-determined weights, which will create good results with industrially accepted and collectable pre-defined inputs? Does the black hole algorithm aided AIs performed better, than a Genetic algorithm or backpropagation aided artificial neural networks?
AL

Increasing the efficiency of warehouse analysis using artificial intelligence Peter Veres

Acknowledgement

This research was funded by the ÚNKP-22-4 New National Excellence Program of the Ministry for Culture and Innovation from the National Research, Development, and Innovation Fund.

References

- [1] SAIMA, H., JAAFAR, J., BELHAOUARI, S., JILLANI, T.A.: *Intelligent methods for weather forecasting: A review*, 2011 National Postgraduate Conference, pp. 1-6, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1109/NatPC.2011.6136289
- [2] BALOGH, J.I., SZÓCSKA, M., PALICZ, T.G., KONTSEK, E., POLLNER, P., UGRIN, I., JOÓ, T.: A mesterséges intelligencia alapú megoldások fejlesztése és bevezetése az egészségügyben-kézműves manufaktúrától a gyártósorig?, *Informatika És Menedzsment Az Egészségügyben*, Vol. 21, No. 2, pp. 56-63, 2022. https://doi.org/10.53020/IME-2022-206 (Original in Hungarian)
- [3] ZEKIC, M.: Neural network applications in stock market predictions-a methodology analysis, Proceedings of the 9th International Conference on Information and Intelligent Systems, Vol. 98, No. 1, pp. 255-263, 1998.
- [4] DASH, R., MCMURTREY, M., REBMAN, C., KAR, U.K.: Application of artificial intelligence in automation of supply chain management, *Journal of Strategic Innovation and Sustainability*, Vol. 14, No. 3, pp. 43-53, 2019.
- [5] SHAH, N., ENGINEER, S., BHAGAT, N., CHAUHAN, H., SHAH, M.: Research trends on the usage of machine learning and artificial intelligence in advertising, Augmented Human Research, Vol. 5, pp. 1-15, 2022.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s41133-020-00038-8

- [6] TEBENKOV, E., PROKHOROV, I.: Machine learning algorithms for teaching AI chat bots, *Procedia Computer Science*, Vol. 190, pp. 735-744, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2021.06.086
- [7] GHERHEŞ, V.: Why are we afraid of artificial intelligence (AI), *European Review of Applied Sociology*, Vol. 11, No. 17, pp. 6-15, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1515/eras-2018-0006
- [8] LEITER, C., ZHANG, R., CHEN, Y., BELOUADI, J., LARIONOV, D., FRESEN, V., EGER, S.: ChatGPT: A Meta-Analysis after 2.5 Months, *Computer Science: Computation and Language*, p. 2023:2302.13795, 2023. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2302.13795
- [9] SKAPINYECZ, R., ILLÉS, B., BÁNYAI, Á.: Logistic aspects of Industry 4.0, IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering, Vol. 448, No. 1, p. 012014, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/448/1/012014

[10] BÁNYAI, T., TAMÁS, P., ILLÉS, B., STANKEVIČIŪTĖ, Ž., BÁNYAI, Á.: Optimization of Municipal Waste Collection Routing: Impact of Industry 4.0 Technologies on Environmental Awareness and Sustainability, *International Journal Of Environmental Research And Public Health*, Vol. 16, No. 4, pp. 1-26, 2019.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 445-451 ISSN 1339-5629

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16040634

- [11] ZHANG, C., WU, Y., MA, Y., SONG, W., LE, Z., CAO, Z., ZHANG, J.: A review on learning to solve combinatorial optimisation problems in manufacturing. Collaborative Intelligent Manufacturing, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 1-24, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1049/cim2.12072
- [12] GUO, Y., ZHANG, W., QIN, Q., CHEN, K., WEI, Y.: Intelligent manufacturing management system based on data mining in artificial intelligence energy-saving resources, *Soft Computing*, Vol. 27, No. 7, pp. 4061-4076, 2023.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00500-021-06593-5

- [13] ALSUDANI, M.Q., JABER, M.M., ALI, M.H., ABD, S.K., ALKHAYYAT, A., KAREEM, Z.H., MOHHAN, A.R.: Smart Logistics with IoT-Based Enterprise Management System using Global Manufacturing, *Journal of Combinatorial Optimization*, Vol. 45, No. 2, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10878-022-00977-5
- [14] MO, Y., SUN, Z., YU, C.: EventTube: An Artificial Intelligent Edge Computing Based Event Aware System to Collaborate With Individual Devices in Logistics Systems, IEEE Transactions on Industrial Informatics, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 1823-1832, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1109/TII.2022.3189177
- [15] VIKTOR, P., SZEGHEGYI, Á.: Safety of the Introduction of Self-driving Vehicles in a Logistics Environment, *Periodica Polytechnica Transportation Engineering*, Vol. 50, No. 4, pp. 387-399, 2022. https://doi.org/10.3311/PPtr.20006
- [16] HUSÁR, J., KNAPČÍKOVÁ, L.: Possibilities of using augmented reality in Warehouse Management: a study, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 133-139, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i2.212
- [17] JUMAHAT, S., SIDHU, M.S., SHAH, S.M.: A review on the positive implications of augmented reality pick-by-vision in warehouse management systems, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 10, No. 1, pp. 133-139, 2023. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i1.337
- [18] MOHAMMED MUSTHAFA SHERIFF, I., JOHN ARAVINDHAR, D.: NLP-Oriented Voice-Based Order Picking System in a Warehouse Management: A Systematic Review, Smart Data Intelligence: Proceedings of ICSMDI 2022, pp. 185-198, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-3311-0_16
- [19] YU, M.C.: Multi-criteria ABC analysis using artificial-intelligence-based classification techniques, *Expert Systems with Applications*, Vol. 38, No. 4, pp. 3416-3421, 2011.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2010.08.127

[20] BRASPENNING, P.J., THUIJSMAN, F., WEIJTERS, A.J.M.M.: Artificial neural networks: an

~ 450 ~

Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 445-451 ISSN 1339-5629



Increasing the efficiency of warehouse analysis using artificial intelligence Peter Veres

introduction to ANN theory and practice, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 931, 1995.

- [21] PRIDDY, K.L., KELLER, P.E.: Artificial neural networks: an introduction, SPIE press, 2005.
- [22] ZAJMI, L., AHMED, F.Y., JAHARADAK, A.A.: Concepts, methods, and performances of particle swarm optimization, backpropagation, and neural networks, *Applied Computational Intelligence and Soft Computing*, Vol. 2018, Article ID 9547212, 7 pages, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/9547212
- [23] SUCH, F.P., MADHAVAN, V., CONTI, E., LEHMAN, J., STANLEY, K.O., CLUNE, J.: Deep neuroevolution: Genetic algorithms are a competitive alternative for training deep neural networks for reinforcement learning, *Computer Science: Neural* and Evolutionary Computing, p. arXiv:1712.06567. 2017. https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.1712.06567
- [24] KUMAR, S., DATTA, D., SINGH, S.K.: Black hole algorithm and its applications, In: Azar, A., Vaidyanathan, S. (eds) Computational Intelligence Applications in Modeling and Control. Studies in Computational Intelligence, Vol. 575, Springer, Cham. pp. 147-170, 2015.
- https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-11017-2_7
- [25] HATAMLOU, A.: Black hole: A new heuristic optimization approach for data clustering,

Information sciences, Vol. 222, pp. 175-184, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2012.08.023

- [26] KARSOLIYA, S.: Approximating number of hidden layer neurons in multiple hidden layer BPNN architecture, *International Journal of Engineering Trends and Technology*, Vol. 3, No. 6, pp. 714-717, 2012.
- [27] STOJANOVIĆ, M., REGODIĆ, D.: The significance of the integrated multicriteria ABC-XYZ method for the inventory management process, *Acta Polytechnica Hungarica*, Vol. 14, No. 5, pp. 29-48, 2017. http://dx.doi.org/10.12700/APH.14.5.2017.5.3
- [28] AKTUNC, E.A., BASARAN, M., ARI, G., IRICAN, M., GUNGOR, S.: *Inventory control through ABC/XYZ analysis*, In: Calisir, F., Cevikcan, E., Camgoz Akdag, H. (eds) Industrial Engineering in the Big Data Era. Lecture Notes in Management and Industrial Engineering. Springer, Cham., pp. 175-187, 2019.

https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-03317-0_15

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 453-462 ISSN 1339-5629 Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan

Jeevan
https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.417
Received: 10

Received: 16 Apr. 2023; Revised: 04 June 2023; Accepted: 11 Sep. 2023

Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah

Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Faculty of Business, Economics & Social Development, 21030, Kuala Nerus, Terengganu, Malaysia, hafaz.ngah@umt.edu.my (corresponding author)

Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan

Universiti Malaysia Terengganu, Faculty of Business, Economics and Social Development, 21030, Kuala Nerus Terengganu, Malaysia

Commerce Department Politeknik Sultan Haji Ahmad Shah, 21030, Kuantan, Malaysia, faizalhassan@polisas.edu.my

Michael Tio Boon Yiaw

PKT Logistics Group Sdn Bhd, The Lighthouse Campus, 40460, Shah Alam, Malaysia, dmt@pktgroup.com

Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh

Universiti Malaysia Terengganu Faculty of Maritime Management, 21030, Kuala Nerus, Terengganu, Malaysia,

haqimin@umt.edu.my Jagan Jeevan

Universiti Malaysia Terengganu Faculty of Maritime Management, 21030, Kuala Nerus, Terengganu, Malaysia, jagan@umt.edu.my

Keywords: intention to provide cold warehousing services, TOE framework, mediator, smart PLS 4, logistics service provider.

Abstract: Despite the importance of the cold supply chain in preventing food waste worldwide, there are only a limited number of cold chain providers in Malaysia. This study investigates the factors influencing the intention to provide cold warehousing service logistics providers in Malaysia. Employing a purposive sampling method, data were gathered via an online survey of logistics companies in Malaysia. 184 usable datasets were valid for further analysis. Owing to concerns regarding predictive purposes, structural equation modelling with SMART-PLS 4 was applied to test the hypotheses of this study. The analysis found all direct hypotheses were supported. The relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention, and government support toward intention, is positively mediated by organizational readiness. Meanwhile, cost failed to mediate the relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention. The study developed a new model with two mediators for a better understanding of the factors influencing the intention to provide cold warehousing services in Malaysia from the perspective of logistics providers. The findings will provide meaningful information for the government to craft a better policy to enhance the number of cold service providers.

1 Introduction

One-third of the 4 billion tonnes of food produced annually worldwide is wasted due to supply chain failures from farms to retailers and loss of final consumption in restaurants or at home. The number of food waste is estimated to grow annually. Food waste is a moral issue because almost 12 per cent of the population in the world is suffering from hunger. Lack of cold storage lead to food waste problems which are prone at developing nations. Temperature changes occurring in the cold chain lead to economic losses as well as lost market opportunities due to quality loss issues and export protocol deviations. Lack of cold storage is one of the major bottlenecks for an efficient and effective food cold chain. When capacity of cold storage is observed in secondary cities, it is often of poor quality, with variable or high temperatures, temperature indicators rather than digital, no shelving, possibly no pallets, lack of entrances, insulation, loading docks, and mechanization [1]. Therefore, cold warehouse is needed

not only to preserving cold products, but to ensure the products safety and quality before it arrived at the hand of end users.

Cold storage is vital to perishables and respective industries like Halal. According to [2], the cold storage market was valued at \$89.32 billion in 2018 and is projected to reach \$217.59 billion by 2026, growing at a compound annual growth rate of 11.71% from 2019 to 2026. The total capacity of refrigerated warehouses worldwide was 719 million cubic meters in 2020. Factors driving growth include online grocery sales, flat-rate meal services, consumer preference for fresh and perishable goods, and the rise of pharmaceuticals requiring special storage. Growth is seen at a compound annual growth rate of 11.71% from 2019 to 2026. A major challenge for the industry is that demand for cold storage is outstripping supply. In the United States (US), for example, the supply of refrigerated warehouses is outdated and the construction of modern facilities lags behind demand. Also, more than 78% of US cold storage were built before the year of 2000,



suggesting that modern cold storage is often underresourced. In Malaysia, the relatively high growth of refrigerated storage compared to refrigerated transportation can be attributed to the establishment of new facilities in free trade zones by industry players. This is because the investors prefer to invest in cold storage as it is a safer long-term investment despite the higher investment cost. Additionally, there is a seasonal spike in demand, especially during the fasting month of Ramadan.

Nowadays, cold warehouse is also needed to improve the value chain especially within developing country like Malaysia. Cold storage are fundamental aspects to prevent deterioration of the product quality. The demand for frozen foods such as frozen meat, ready meals, fruits, vegetables, cookies, fast foods, and bakery items is on the rise due to the rise of households, markets and retailers. This trend is also impacting the Malaysian logistics market. The cold chain market in Malaysia can be segmented into five major categories: fruits & vegetables, bakery & confectionery, dairy & frozen desserts, seafood, and pharmaceuticals. Due to the growing demand for perishable food, development of logistics hub and increasing demand for Halal products, the Malaysian cold chain market is anticipated to grow significantly. Halal cold chain products require sea/airport complex while [3] stated that an appropriate logistics infrastructure such as cold warehouse and other cold chain facilities also needed for managing halal supply chain in Malaysia. Malaysia has established itself as a hub for the halal industry, driving demand for cold storage. However, [4] stated that the adoption of cold chain is low among developing country. Moreover, [5] stated that only few cold chain providers exist in Malaysia makes this industry is a niche area and it can be seen from the small number of registered cold chain operators in the Malaysia Logistics Directories. Nonetheless, logistics providers in Malaysia remain uninterested to provide cold warehousing services despite the high demand and potential. Therefore, the study would discover factors influencing the intention to provide cold supply chain services among logistics providers in Malaysia.

Various previous study was discussing cold chain in the context of food safety, temperature break and condition, last mile delivery [6], supplier selection [7], monitoring application [8], and service innovation, however not many studies conducted to investigate the service innovation from the perspective of service providers. The purpose of this study was to expand the cold chain literature by understanding the considerations of cold storage providers before offering relevant services in developing countries, including Malaysia. As a result, this study could be reference by service providers within developing countries prior to their consideration for becoming one of the cold warehouse service providers. By applying a quantitative approach based on the TOE framework, the current study sought to fill gaps in the existing literature by identifying factors that contribute to Malaysian logistics providers' intention to provide cold warehouse services. Moreover,

despite the importance of CEO innovativeness and cost, this relationship was not thoroughly tested in the supply chain studies especially for the adoption cold warehousing services. On top of that, even government support is fundamental to encourage organization adoption of new technology or new approach, lack of study looking at this variable with the organization readiness. While there is no agreed-upon accepted conceptual framework and/or reference model for use by academics and practitioners working in the industry of cold chain, conceptual/reference models abound in other fields, but cold supply chains have not received similar attention [9]. The cold chain is thus fertile ground for further work. Nevertheless, cold chain LSP in emerging market is an appropriate context for generating new insights on the service innovation research. This makes the service innovation like cold warehousing adoption within developing countries is still promising topic in research.

The study contributes in numerous ways. First enriching literature in cold warehousing services adoption from the perspectives of service providers. Second, the study introduces the relationship between CEO innovativeness and cost. Third, exploring the relationship between government support and the organizational readiness, which is very limited in the adoption literature, and scarce of studies were look at the relationship between them. Fourth, lack of mediation analysis in the TOE framework, but, the studies introduced two mediators which is cost and organization readiness. The findings of the study could be applied to various countries who has similar characteristics with Malaysia.

2 Literature review

This section discusses related literature, develops hypotheses, and elucidates the research framework.

2.1 Cold warehouse

Perishable products are prone to degradation as soon as they're harvested. Therefore, a proper post-harvest handling are essentials for maintaining the quality and prolonging its shelf life. Thus, cold storage is needed to fill the role. In cold warehousing, the most important design elements are low temperature, temperature uniformity across the room's cold compartment, temperature stability with minimal fluctuations, good air distribution to maintain temperature uniformity, minimal temperature to avoid dehydration, air circulation, and minimal air inflow to minimize fluctuations.

2.2 The technology-organisation-environment (TOE) framework

The TOE Framework describes how organizational context influences the adoption and implementation of innovations in three different ways [10]. The TOE framework explains that three different elements of a firm's context influence adoption decisions comprises



technological context, organizational context and environmental context. The technological context includes all technologies that is relevant to the firm either already in used or are still available in the market. The Organizational context refers to company characteristics and resources. While environment context embraces the structure of the industry. In this study, cost is representing the technological context, CEO innovativeness and organizational readiness representing organizational context, while environmental context is represented by government support. Because the TOE framework incorporates both human and non-human factors into one framework, TOE provides a more comprehensive view of technology adoption.

2.2.1 Cost

Cost can be referred to the expenses that a firm incurs to sustain cold warehousing which has a significant influence on executive's decision making [11]. The high initial cost to adopt cold warehousing includes the refrigeration system, acquiring new building or upgrading the existing building that suitable for cold storage, systems monitoring for temperature control, and backup power systems to prevent power outage. Nevertheless, the running cost of cold warehousing also very high due to the high energy consumption for the refrigeration system and also the indirect cost such as hiring new employees or training existing staffs. High installation and operation cost preventing efficient cold supply chain in developing country. High electricity bills have been repeatedly pointed out as a problem for cold storage and electricity costs are higher in the remote regions than in the capital [1]. This is why [12] confirmed that cost is the only variable that significantly act as barrier to Halal warehouse adoption. Previous studies confirmed that cost has negative effect toward the intention to adopt new technology. Thus, the study proposed that:

H1: Cost negatively influence the intention to provide cold warehousing services.

2.2.2 Organization readiness

Organizational readiness can be defined as the accessibility of organizational resources required for deployment of cold warehouse [13] in term of financial, manpower and technology resources. Organizational readiness could be limited by technology and financial resources. Prior for cold warehouse adoption, company definitely need to have expertise and essential knowledge to properly manage the adoption. Preparation in financial, human resources and technology may determine the level of organization readiness towards the cold warehouse adoption. Previous study by [14] confirmed that OR has positive effect on intention to adopt supply chain analytics system. Postulated to that, the study proposed:

H2: Organizational readiness positively influence the intention to provide cold warehousing services.

2.2.3 CEO Innovativeness

CEO is an entrepreneur figure who is crucial in determining the innovative attitude of a firm which openness to follow new ways and methods [15]. CEO's innovativeness is the extent to which a CEO is willing to actively adopt new management techniques and technologies to improve the organization. CEO are supposed to have power in influencing the firms' strategies and related performance. Thus, CEO can alter the direction of a company either to object or support such decision on technology adoption consequently allocating necessary resources. CEO are the key decision makers whose decision can influencing current and future activities of firms'. This is because CEO can drive their firm to adopt strategies that deviates from industry norms in order to become more innovative by communicating and implementing compelling visions. [16] mention that CEO innovativeness has a positive association with innovation adopted over last few years, this is because they are not only risk-takers, receptive towards new technology and view thing differently, they are also consistence and visible in committing funds and resources for new technology.

Innovative CEO can alter the effect of cost barrier towards cold chain adoption. The CEO can overturn the cost barriers by finding financial solution to support the cold chain adoption. This is aligned with [15] where innovator CEO would prefer solutions that change the structure in which the problem is embedded. Therefore, innovative CEO would have a negative influence towards cost barriers in providing cold warehousing services. Those innovative CEO surely can give effect towards organizational readiness by giving instruction either to allocate necessary resources prior to cold warehouse adoption. Since CEO is the ultimate decision maker in a firm, this makes the CEO can direct the firm readiness to adopt cold warehouse. Thus, the study proposed that:

H3: CEO innovativeness negatively influence cost of providing cold warehousing services.

H4: CEO innovativeness positively influence organizational readiness.

2.2.4 Government support

Government support refers to the extent to which a company is affected by government activity that stimulates the cold chain industry by creating basis and values needed for adoption [17]. Support from the government can be represented as the nationalized legislation, tax refund compliance, industrial standards, hardware infrastructure, or even media publication. Support from government could provide favourable environment thus removing barriers to adopt cold warehouse. Governments can encourage companies for innovation adoption, by supporting firms through the appropriate imposition of tax laws and



beneficial firm development policies. When support is ample, most probably the cold warehouse adoption tends to be quick. Because of the ease in legislative and financial incentives, the burden of an organization can be reduced and increasing the readiness towards cold warehouse adoption. Thus, the study proposed that:

H5: Government Support positively influence organizational readiness.

2.2.5 Mediator (Cost and OR)

Mediation commonly used as contributions for studies in social science. In an emerging market, costs for cold chain adoption is higher and riskier due to the inadequate infrastructure and chronic shortage of resources. More investment on equipment, human resources and IT facilities, bears higher operations costs and are more vulnerable to institutional environment, for the involvement in cold chain logistics services, [18] stated that cold chain industries are facing numerous challenges including high cost where it accounts for 30% of the global energy consumption. It was believed that cost could mediates the relationship between CEO innovativeness toward the cold warehouse adoption. Innovative CEO tend to favours for technology adoption. However, due to the high initial and running cost of cold warehousing, the is a likelihood that CEO will turn down the adoption. The financial cost could be negative determinant for company affordability to adopt cold warehouse. However, the characteristics of innovative CEO can alter the willingness of such company to adopt technologies for improving the organization.

Besides, this study is proposing that the organizational readiness could be mediated by CEO innovativeness and government support. This means that the openness of CEO to adapt new technology and the encouragement by the government in the form of legislation and financial stimulation could influence the readiness of an organization to adopt cold warehouse. The CEO generally has full control over organization's financial and human resources which could be used to support for information gathering regarding their competitors as well as to allocating requisite financial resources for cold warehouse investment. Based on [15], technology adoption consideration by the CEO happens when company has achieved organizational readiness for its financial and organizational resources in order to maintain or gain their competitive edge.

According to, the government support as administrative and financial incentive promoting the introducing of new technology to the company. This support allowing soon to be cold warehouse providers to prepare their readiness towards financial and human resources. Government holds a significant role in determining the regulations through facilities and governing work pattern which impacting the company readiness to adopt cold warehouse. Thus, government can use their tools and policies to ease the financial and human resources aspect in serving readiness of cold warehouse adopters. Figure 1 illustrates the research framework of the study.

Postulated to that, the study proposed:

H6: Cost negatively mediates the relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention to provide cold warehousing services.

H7: Organizational readiness positively mediates the relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention to provide cold warehousing services.

H8: Organizational readiness positively mediates the relationship between government support and intention to provide cold warehousing services.



Figure 1 Research framework



Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan Jeevan

3 Methodology

Due to unit of analysis of the study is at the organization, thus, only managers from logistics providers who not yet providing cold warehousing services are valid respondents of the study. To ensure respondents' validity, a filter question "My company offer cold warehousing services" was added in the beginning of the questionnaire.

3.1 Research instruments

The measurements of the study were adopted from established literature in supply chain studies. CEO innovativeness was adopted from [19] cost. Organization readiness and intention from [12] and government support from [20]. To address the common method bias using the procedural method, the study employed different anchor scale [21] to measure the endogenous variables (1-5) and exogenous variable (1-7).

3.2 Sampling method and data collection

Since the population of the study in unknown, the study employed the non-probability sampling method. Since the study focus on the non-provider of cold warehousing services, thus the study will rely on the purposive sampling method. Based on the list of logistics provider acquired from the Malaysia Logistics Directory, the study contacted all the companies to ensure their willingness to respond to the study. Among 645 companies, 420 were agreed to respond, thus, the study proceed the questionnaire via email. Out of 420 emails, only 195 were responded completely. After through scanning, only 184 were valid respondent for the study.

Since the study focus on the predictive purpose, Smart Partial Least Squares (PLS) 4 [22] was applied using a structural equation modelling (SEM) approach. As proposed by [23], while using the Smart PLS software, the must ensure that the sample size is sufficient to test the research model. Employing the G*Power, with 80% power, medium effect size and p = 0.05, proposed by [24] with two predictors in the research model, the minimum sample size is 68. Thus, with 184 sample of the study, it is confirmed that sample size was not an issue for the study. Out of 184 respondents of the study, majority of the respondents were assistant managers (52.7%). Moreover, 60.3% of them is having less than 5 years of experience in the current job positions, 56% of the respondents were Diploma holders, 60.3% of the respondents were male. 56% or most of the logistics providers involve in the study are from large size, and interestingly, 73.4% of them are local companies. Most corporations (74.5%) were established above 9 years. More than half (51.6%) of the companies focused on handling food products.

4 Analysis

4.1 Common method bias

Since the data were collected from a single source, it might lead to common method bias. The study used procedural method by applying different anchor scales to measure exogenous and endogenous variables [21]. For statistical method, following [25] the study used a full-collinearity testing to remedy the CMB. Table 1 illustrates the results which shows that all the VIF values were lower than 3.3 [25], thus suggesting the CMB was not severe for the study.

Table 1 Full collinearity							
Construct	CEO	COSTS	HR	ITTN	GS		
VIF	1.994	1.332	2.524	2.088	1.535		

4.2 Measurement model

The established the measurement model, two types of validities must be established; convergent validity and discriminant validity. The convergent validity will be established if the loading and average variance extracted (AVE) is ≥ 0.5 and the composite reliability (CR) is ≥ 0.7 . [26]. The analysis shows that all the loading, AVE and CR were higher than acceptable threshold value, confirming that the convergent validity has been established for the study. Table 2, illustrates the value for loading, AVE and CR of the study. On top of that, using the hetro-trait monotrait ratio, all the values were lower than 0.85 as suggested by [27], thus confirming the study also having no problem to establish the discriminant validity.

Construct	Item	Loading	CR	AVE
CEO Innovatiness	CEO1	0.868	0.944	0.808
	CEO2	0.912		
	CEO3	0.885		
	CEO4	0.930		
Cost	COSTS1	0.807	0.846	0.583
	COSTS2	0.811		
	COSTS3	0.827		
	COSTS4	0.583		
Intention	ITTN1	0.987	0.993	0.979
	ITTN3	0.990		
	ITTN5	0.991		
Government	GS1	0.923	0.951	0.866

Table 2 Convergent validity



Volume: 102023Issue: 3Pages: 453-462ISSN 1339-5629Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost

and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan Jeevan

Support	GS2	0.934		
	GS3	0.936		
Organizational	OR1	0.862	0.871	0.771
Readiness	OR2	0.809		
	OR3	0.895	0.943	0.893
	OR4	0.927		

Table 3 Discriminant validity (HTMT)

Construct	CEO	COSTS	GS	ITTN	OR
CEO					
COSTS	0.530				
GS	0.455	0.415			
ITTN	0.627	0.378	0.457		
OR	0.679	0.434	0.629	0.728	

4.3 Structural model

To test the hypotheses, develop from the research framework, the study carried out the bootstrapping with 5000 iterations to calculate path co-efficient. The hypotheses will be claim as supported if the beta value is similar with the direction of hypothesis, T-value ≥ 1.645 , P value ≤ 0.05 and there is no zero value between the lower level (LL) and upper level (UL) of the confidence interval [23]. Prior to that, the multi-collinearity among the construct must be assessed. The study will be freed from collinearity if the variance inflated factor (VIF) were lower than 3.3. Table 4 shows that all the VIF values were lower than 3.3, confirming that collinearity was not a threat in the dataset.

All the direct hypotheses of the study were supported. For the H1, the findings suggested that COST \rightarrow ITTN (β = -0.118, P < 0.05) thus, confirming the negative effect of cost on ITTN, and supporting the H1 of the study. The study proposed OR to has a positive relationship with ITTN for the H2. With (β = 0.641, P < 0.001), thus confirming that OR positively influence ITTN, thus supporting the H2 of the study. For the relationship between CEO \rightarrow COSTS (β = -0.477, P < 0.001), the analysis shows that the CEO innovativeness negatively influence cost, thus supporting the H3. For another direct analysis related to the CEO innovativeness, the study hypothesized that CEO positively affect the OR. The analysis shows the evidence of the positive relationship between CEO \Box OR (β =0.460, P < 0.001), thus supporting the H4. As the last hypothesis for the direct effect, the GS was hypothesized to has a positive relationship with OR. With (β = 0.382, P < 0.001), it is confirmed that GS has a positive relationship with OR, hence H5 was supported.

From the research model, there are three endogenous variables for the study. 22.8% variance for cost was explained by CEO, 48.1% variance for OR was explained by CEO and GS, meanwhile 50.6% variance of ITTN was explained by OR and COST. As the hypotheses were supported, it is crucial for the study to report the effect size (f²). Effect size was categorized by [28] with small (0.02), medium (0.15) and large (0.35). H1 and H3 have a medium effect size, meanwhile H2 and H4 were having a large effect size, meanwhile H5 only managed to has a small effect size. Table 4 illustrates the analysis for the direct hypotheses of the study.

To enhance the predictive power, the study suggested COST and OR as mediators within the framework. Using the [29], to bootstrapping the indirect effect, and the analysis found that cost was not having a mediation effect for the relationship between CEO and ITTN (β = 0.056, P = 0.051, LL -0.001, UL 0.112), thus H6, the first hypothesis for mediation was unsupported. As expected, OR was found to positively mediates the relationship between GS and ITTN (β = 0.245, P < 0.001; LL=0.166, UL = 0.332), thus supporting the H7. Lastly, OR also was found the positively mediated the relationship between CEO and ITTN (β = 0.295, P < 0.001, LL = 0.202, UL = 0.390), thus supporting the H8. Table 4 and figure 2 illustrates the summary of findings for the hypothesis testing.

	Tuble + Hypotheses testing Tesui								
Hypothesis	Relationship	Beta	SE	T Value	P value	LL	UL	VIF	F2
H1	COST→ ITTN	-0.118	0.072	1.645	0.050	-0.236	-0.001	1.159	0.023
H2	$OR \rightarrow ITTN$	0.641	0.060	10.757	0.001	0.532	0.732	1.159	0.684
H3	CEO→COST	-0.477	0.061	7.775	0.001	-0.584	-0.379	1.000	0.295
H4	$CEO \rightarrow OR$	0.460	0.076	6.036	0.001	0.330	0.579	1.215	0.353
H5	GS →OR	0.382	0.066	5.758	0.001	0.278	0.495	1.215	0.243
H6	CEO \rightarrow COSTS \rightarrow ITTN	0.056	0.034	1.643	0.051	-0.001	0.112		-
H7	$CEO \rightarrow OR \rightarrow ITTN$	0.295	0.058	5.071	0.001	0.202	0.390		0.087
H8	$GS \rightarrow OR \rightarrow ITTN$	0.245	0.051	4.841	0.001	0.166	0.332		0.060

Table 4 Hypotheses testing result



Cold warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers: the mediating role of cost and organizational readiness

Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan Jeevan



Figure 2 Structural model

4.4 PLS Predict

As the study concern on predictive purpose, PLS predict analysis was performed to measure the predictive relevance. Firstly, the value of Q^2 must be > 0, before looking at the Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) from PLS modelling and Linear Modelling (LM). The analysis will indicate the errors for each modelling techniques. Thus, if the value from PLS RMSE were lower than LM RMSE, indicating lower error, thus producing higher predictive power. As proposed by [30], if the result from PLS RMSE

- LM RMSE shows all negative values, the model has strong predictive power; if majority was negative, moderate predictive power, if minority was negative, low predictive power, while all positive value indicating of the prediction was not confirm. Table 5 shows that for Cost an OR, majority of the items produce negative values, indicating for both variables have a medium predictive power. Meanwhile for ITTN, since the result shows all negative value, suggesting the model for ITTN has a strong predictive power.

Table 5	PLS	predict
---------	-----	---------

Item	Q ² predict	PLS-RMSE	LM_RMSE	PLS-LM	Decision
COSTS1	0.132	0.802	0.804	-0.002	Medium
COSTS2	0.083	0.729	0.752	-0.023	
COSTS3	0.212	0.874	0.895	-0.021	
COSTS4	0.015	1.007	0.96	0.047	
ITTN1	0.361	1.572	1.598	-0.026	Strong
ITTN3	0.348	1.526	1.537	-0.011	
ITTN5	0.37	1.522	1.529	-0.007	
OR1	0.45	0.786	0.791	-0.005	Medium
OR2	0.251	0.872	0.881	-0.009	
OR3	0.397	0.824	0.8	0.024	

5 Discussion

The study aims to unearth factors influencing the decision to provide cold warehousing services among the logistics providers in Malaysia. To achieve the research objectives, the study employed the TOE framework, by providing five direct hypotheses, and three mediations as contribution for the study. Besides enriching the limited literature in cold supply studies, especially in warehousing services from the perspectives of logistics providers, the findings of the study also provides meaning information for many parties involves in the industry.

For the first hypothesis, the study found that cost is negatively influence the intention to provide cold

warehousing services. Higher cost to provide will lower the intention to become cold warehouse service provider. The finding supported [12] in their adoption of Halal warehouse studies. Since cost is a crucial factor faced by the current logistics providers, thus they should come out with creative and meaningful solution, since cold warehousing services has a bright future and lower competition in Malaysia [3]

Organizational readiness was found to have a positive effect on the intention to provide cold warehousing services. The study portrays that higher readiness will increase to intention to provide cold warehousing services. The finding is supported by [14] who found that organizational readiness positively influences the adoption decision. The finding signalling that, while the



organization is ready in term of human resource and financial, they also will have a higher intention to become a provider for cold warehousing services. Thus, parties who could boost the organization readiness such as higher institution to provide qualified human capital, and financial institution to back up the arrangement to become cold warehousing services in near future since increasing their numbers will be helpful to many parties including themselves.

CEO innovativeness also has a favourable relationship with cost of adoption. Higher CEO innovativeness will lower their cost, thus supporting the negative relationship between them. The finding is similar with [15] who claimed that innovative CEO will provide a good solution to solve the firm limitation. Thus, hiring an innovative CEO not only good for the company's image, but also will reduce the operation cost for the organization.

CEO innovativeness also found to have a positive relationship with organizational readiness. The finding was supported by previous study by [16] who found that CEO innovativeness positively affect organization future behaviour. This finding indicates that high CEO innovativeness will produce higher intention to adopt new technology in their business activities. Hence, appointing innovative CEO not only will lowering the cost, but also escalation their organization intention to adopt new way of conducting business, such as providing new diversification from current business from conventional logistics provider, to become a cold warehousing provider.

Another supported hypothesis with the organizational readiness is government support. The findings supporting the idea of [31] who suggested that the government should provide favourable environment which will eliminating barriers to provide cold warehousing services. The study agreed with [32], government support could be implemented by imposition of tax laws and many other financial assistants to encourage companies to improve their services for the sake of the gross domestic products and also delighting the community's requirements.

For mediation analysis, the study found cost did not mediate the relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention to provide cold warehousing services. It shows that, if the logistics providers truly believed benefits will outweigh the cost, whatever cost, they are willing to bear for the sake of future benefits. Even the demand for the cold warehousing services in increasing, and lack of competitors in the business, however, the cost needed to penetrate the market is too big for them, thus justify why the cost did not mediate the relationship between CEO innovativeness and intention to provide cold warehousing services.

Organization readiness positively mediates the relationship between CEO innovativeness and government support toward intention to provide cold warehousing services. Thus, indicating the important of organizational readiness in supporting the decision to provide cold warehousing services among logistics providers in Malaysia. The findings strengthen the idea of the importance of organizational readiness prior to organization to explore new business in their organization. Thus, if they are willing to offer cold warehousing services, by all means, the human resource and financially must be wealthy enough since it requires a lot of works and money to be part of the cold warehousing providers.

5.1 Theoretical contribution

Present study has successfully enriching literature in TOE models in the perspective of cold warehousing service provider. The exploration of empirical confirmation of mediation analysis for CEO innovativeness and GS by OR has managed to contributes in the TOE model. This result can be replicates and further develop in other settings. Despite the unsuccessful of establishing mediation analysis between CEO innovativeness and cost towards intention, this means that there's still an opportunity for other research to be conduct to confirming this theory further. The non-confirmation maybe due to the unsuitable context or setting to test the idea.

5.2 Practical contribution

Discoveries in this study has predominant connotation for the development of cold warehouse industries especially within the developing countries. The practice of cold warehouse to upsurge the value chain benefiting every level within the channel echelon and perquisite the consumers. Enhancement in cold warehousing were expected to be and answer for the global foods waste morale issues. The results are useful for every stakeholder to consider their stands for promoting cold warehouse adoption. This could also be tools for managerial consideration to gain market share in this industry.

This model shows that CEO and the government play vital roles against the readiness of warehouse providers. CEO through their innovativeness must able to remedy any barriers in the form of financial and human resources. Whilst the government on the other hand must provide as much aids as possible in the form of tax reliefs and reducing unnecessary legislation [3]. By doing this, the promotion of cold warehouse supposes to succeed.

6 Conclusion

Results in this study has ascertain the key factors influencing the intention to adopt cold warehouse services which useful to improve the value chain towards consumers. Specifically, all five direct hypotheses were supported, whereas only one of the three proposed hypotheses was unsupported. mediation CEO innovativeness, GS and OR remains the contributors to cold warehouse adoption subsequently enriching the literature in both TOE model and also in cold warehousing. The investigation has proved that CEO innovativeness and GS can be mediated by OR towards the intention of service providers for considering to offer cold warehouse.



Knowledge in this study may become basis for CEO and government to find ways in promoting cold warehouse. CEO and government could steer the direction of company and industries through finding creative solution and preparing company to cold warehouse adoption.

Nevertheless, the mediation roles of cost were insignificant to change the view of CEO towards cold warehouse adoption. Despite the innovativeness of the CEO towards beneficial of cold warehousing, cost remains preventer towards any technology adoption. Thus, the decision to provide cold warehousing services is not solely dependent on organisational readiness or CEO innovativeness but also on technology and environmental factors in motivating logistics providers to offer cold warehousing services. Other parties, especially the government, should also assist in increasing the number of cold chain providers in Malaysia, which will not only benefit the logistics providers but also improve the quality of foods for citizens while reducing the waste amount in the country.

6.1 Limitation and recommendation

This study has several limitations which can endorses for further research. Only four variables were tested namely cost, CEO innovativeness, government support and organizational readiness in the model. It is suggested that more variables should be included in the framework for future development in this area. As for now, there's only two mediation variables were used which is cost and OR. Therefore, more mediation analysis should be included for further explaining the phenomenon of deficiency within cold warehousing.

Acknowledgement

This research was supported by Industrial Grant by PKT Logistics Group (Vot No. 53378).

References

- [1] SALIN, V., NAYGA, R.M.: A cold chain network for food exports to developing countries, *International Journal of Physical Distribution and Logistics Management*, Vol. 33, No. 10, pp. 918-933, 2003. https://doi.org/10.1108/09600030310508717
- [2] ALTERMAN, R.: Demand for cold storage continues higher on strength of food and pharmaceuticals, *The Food Institute*, Vol. 2021, No. January, 2021. https://foodinstitute.com/focus/demand-for-coldstorage-continues-higher-on-strength-of-food-andpharmaceuticals
- [3] HASSAN, M.F.A., NGAH, A.H., TALIB, M.S.A.: The state of cold logistics supply chain in a developing asian country - A preliminary insights, *Operations and Supply Chain Management*, Vol. 14, No. 4, pp. 467-475, 2021. https://doi.org/10.31387/oscm0470317
- [4] AHMAD, S.A.H., AB RAHMAN, M.N., MUHAMED, A.A.: Optimal temperature in cold storage for perishable foods, Proceedings of the International

Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, No. August, pp. 3449-3456, 2020.

- [5] TAN, Y., LI, C.Y.: Logistics in Malaysia: Market overview and M&A trends, [Online], Available: https://www.pwc.com/my/en/assets/blog/pwc-mydeals-strategy-logistics-in-malaysia.pdf [03 Apr 2023], 2018.
- [6] HSIAO, Y.H., CHEN, M.C., LU, K.Y., CHIN, C.L.: Last-mile distribution planning for fruit-and-vegetable cold chains, *International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 862-886, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-01-2017-0002
- [7] KHAN, A.U., ALI, Y.: Sustainable supplier selection for the cold supply chain (CSC) in the context of a developing country, *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, Vol. 23, No. 9, pp. 13135-13164, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-020-01203-0
- [8] MELIS, R.B., MC CARTHY, U., RUIZ-GARCIA, L., GARCIA-HIERRO, J., ROBLA VILLALBA, J.I.: New trends in cold chain monitoring applications - A review, *Food Control*, Vol. 86, pp. 170-182, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodcont.2017.11.022
- [9] TSAI, K.M., PAWAR, K.S.: Special Issue on Next-Generation Cold Supply Chain Management: Research, Applications and Challenges, *International Journal of Logistics Management*, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 786-791, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJLM-08-2018-340
- [10] TORNATZKY, L., FLEISCHER, M.: *The process of technology innovation*, Lexington, Mass.: Lexington Books, 1990.
- [11] SUN, S., CEGIELSKI, C.G., JIA, L., HALL, D.J.: Understanding the Factors Affecting the Organizational Adoption of Big Data, *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, Vol. 58, No. 3, pp. 193-203, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2016.1222891

- [12] NGAH, A.H., THURASAMY, R., AZIZ, N.A., ALI, M.H., KHAN, M.I.: Modelling the adoption of halal warehousing services among halal pharmaceutical and cosmetic manufacturers, *Journal of Sustainability Science and Management*, Vol. 14, No. 6, pp. 103-116, 2019.
- [13] CHATTERJEE, S., RANA, N.P., DWIVEDI, Y.K., BAABDULLAH, A.M.: Understanding AI adoption in manufacturing and production firms using an TAM-TOE model, integrated *Technological* Forecasting Social Change, Vol. 170, No. 2021. September, 120880, p. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2021.120880
- [14] KALAITZI, D., TSOLAKIS, N.: Supply chain analytics adoption: Determinants and impacts on organisational performance and competitive advantage, *International Journal of Production Economics*, Vol. 248, No. June, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2022.108466
- [15] THONG, J.Y.L., YAP, C.S.: CEO characteristics, organizational characteristics and information



Abdul Hafaz Ngah, Mohd Faizal Abu Hassan, Michael Tio Boon Yiaw, Nurul Haqimin Mohd Salleh, Jagan Jeevan

technology adoption in small businesses, *Omega* (*Westport*), Vol. 23, No. 4, pp. 429-442, 1995. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-0483(95)00017-I

- [16] RAMAYAH, T., LING, N.S., TAGHIZADEH, S.K., RAHMAN, S.A.: Factors influencing SMEs website continuance intention in Malaysia, *Telematics and Informatics*, Vol. 33, No. 1, pp. 150-164, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2015.06.007
- [17] PARK, J.H., KIM, Y.B.: Factors Activating Big Data Adoption by Korean Firms, *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, Vol. 61, No. 3, pp. 285-293, 2021.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08874417.2019.1631133

- [18] SHASHI, M., ERTZ, CENTOBELLI, P., CERCHIONE, R.: Shaping the Future of Cold Chain 4.0 Through the Lenses of Digital Transition and Sustainability, *IEEE Trans Eng Manag*, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1109/TEM.2022.3194208
- [19] SOPHONTHUMMAPHARN, K.: The adoption of techno-relationship innovations: A framework for electronic customer relationship management, *Marketing Intelligence & Planning*, Vol. 27, No. 3, pp. 380-412, 2009.

https://doi.org/10.1108/02634500910955254

- [20] KHEMTHONG, S., ROBERTS, L.M.: Adoption of Internet and Web Technology for Hotel Marketing: A Study of Hotels in Thailand, *Journal of Business Systems, Governance and Ethics*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 51-70, 2006. https://doi.org/10.15209/jbsge.v1i2.74
- [21] PODSAKOFF, P.M., MACKENZIE, S.B., PODSAKOFF, N.P.: Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it, *Annual Review of Psychology*, Vol. 63, pp. 539-569, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-
- 100452 [22] RINGLE, C.M., WENDE, S., BECKER, J.M.: *SmartPLS 4*, SmartPLS GmbH., 2022.
- [23] HAIR, J.F., RISHER, J.J., SARSTEDT, M., RINGLE, C.M.: When to use and how to report the results of PLS-SEM, *European Business Review*, Vol. 31, No. 1, pp. 2-24, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/EBR-11-2018-0203
- [24] GEFEN, D., RIGDON, E.E.: EDITOR'S COMMENTS, EDITOR'S COMMENTS An Update and Extension to SEM Guidelines for Administrative and Social Science Research, [Online], Available:

http://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc [03 Apr 2023], 2011.

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i1.346

- [25] KOCK, N.: Common Method Bias in PLS-SEM, International Journal of e-Collaboration, Vol. 11, No. 4, pp. 1-10, 2015. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijec.2015100101
- [26] HAIR, J.F., RINGLE, C.M., SARSTEDT, M.: Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling: Rigorous Applications, Better Results and Higher Acceptance, *Long Range Planning*, Vol. 46, No. 1-2, pp. 1-12, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lrp.2013.01.001
- [27] FRANKE, G., SARSTEDT, M.: Heuristics versus statistics in discriminant validity testing: a comparison of four procedures, *Internet Research*, Vol. 29, No. 3, pp. 430-447, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-12-2017-0515
- [28] COHEN, J.: Statistical power for the social sciences, Hillsdale, NJ: Laurence Erlbaum and Associates, 1988.
- [29] PREACHER, K.J., HAYES, A.F.: Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models, *Behavior Research Methods*, Vol. 40, No. 3, pp. 879-891, 2008. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- [30] SHMUELI, G.: Predictive model assessment in PLS-SEM: guidelines for using PLSpredict, *European Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 53, No. 11, pp. 2322-2347, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1108/EJM-02-2019-0189
- [31] CHEN, H., LI, L., CHEN, Y.: Explore success factors that impact artificial intelligence adoption on telecom industry in China, *Journal of Management Analytics*, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 36-68, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1080/23270012.2020.1852895
- [32] MAROUFKHANI, P., WAN ISMAIL, W.K., GHOBAKHLOO, M.: Big data analytics adoption model for small and medium enterprises, *Journal of Science and Technology Policy Management*, Vol. 11, No. 2, pp. 171-201, Nov. 2020. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSTPM-02-2020-0018

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





- International Scientific Journal about Logistics Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 463-476 ISSN 1339-5629

Employee engagement in logistics industry: a perspective in Indonesia Haryanto Haryanto, Harry Suharman, Poppy Sofia Koeswayo, Haryono Umar

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.419

Received: 18 Apr. 2023; Revised: 23 May 2023; Accepted: 20 June 2023

Employee engagement in logistics industry: a perspective in Indonesia

Harvanto Harvanto

Padjadjaran University, Jl. Dipati Ukur No. 35, Bandung, West Java 40132, Indonesia, haryanto2689@gmail.com, ORCID: 0000-0002-9040-6578, haryanto20001@mail.unpad.ac.id (corresponding author)

Harry Suharman

Padjadjaran University, Jl. Dipati Ukur No. 35, Bandung, West Java 40132, Indonesia, ORCID: 0000-0003-0787-0730, harry.suharman@unpad.ac.id

Poppy Sofia Koeswayo

Padjadjaran University, Jl. Dipati Ukur No. 35, Bandung, West Java 40132, Indonesia,

ORCID: 0000-0002-7064-2602, poppy.sofia@unpad.ac.id

Haryono Umar

ABFI Institute Perbanas, Jl. Perbanas, Jakarta 12940, Indonesia, ORCID: 0000-0002-1204-6618, flamboyan24@gmail.com

Keywords: logistic industry, leadership style, employee engagement, corporate reputation, internal control and corporate governance.

Abstract: Indonesia has a lower employee engagement rate than other nations in Southeast Asia, and this phenomenon applies to all industries, including the logistics sector. The logistics industry generally contributes a critical portion of a nation's economy, so further study of the management effectiveness in logistics companies is essential. Any company requires a reliable workforce to function at its best. This research investigates some variables influencing employee engagement in the Indonesian logistics industry. The first variable is corporate governance; the second variable is internal control; corporate reputation is the third, where all these three are set as independent variables. The research also examines whether leadership style moderates the influences of the three independent variables on employee engagement. This study collected data research by distributing questionnaires to 742 respondents from 353 logistics firms. Statistical results came from the Partial Least Square-Structural Equation Modelling (PLS-SEM) method used in this study. The findings revealed that the three independent variables positively and significantly impacted employee engagement. The leadership style functioned as the moderating role in corporate governance's impact and the corporate reputation's effect proven in this research; in contrast, it did not apply to internal control's impact. These results suggest that logistics companies in Indonesia can improve employee engagement by ensuring exemplary implementation of the three independent variables while adopting a leadership style that supports these efforts.

1 Introduction

An important field of any national economic growth contributor is the logistics industry. According to [1], Indonesia's logistics industries contributed 21.3% of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) 2021. It indicates that this sector significantly contributes to the country's economy, and its survival is critical. In 2018, Indonesia's logistics performance index was ranked 46th globally by The World Bank [2], categorizing it as one of the lowest regions. It indicates that this sector has substantial room for future growth, which must come from the government and private organizations. Companies must use their resources optimally to achieve corporate goals due to the increasing business competition [3]. This fact is also in addition to the need for change from conventional to digital-based companies with employee support. The pandemic also accelerated the necessity of transforming into a digital world, forcing all sectors to switch to digital-based operations immediately.

The quality of human resources can be measured through employee engagement (EE), which shows how much they are psychologically and physically available [4]. High employee loyalty improves performance within the corporate space. This finding proves that a solid employee is required to strengthen the organization's competitiveness [5]. The new trend that emphasizes the necessity for employee engagement study is the frequent change of jobs by the millennial generation due to their lack of loyalty and concern about the work atmosphere rather than building a career and getting promoted while staying in the same workplace [6]. Secondly, most companies with open job vacancies need applicants with various work experience, and they expect newly recruited employees to adapt quickly to the environment without basic training [7]. Based on empirical evidence, most innovative companies with better customer service have higher stock performance and fewer employee resignations than their competitors [8]. Most leaders usually focus on the corporation's positive impact of high employee engagement because it significantly contributes to organizations, given its substantial role and numerous advantages. Gallup [9] stated that companies having more solid employee engagement grades outperform firms with low engagement rates in absenteeism, well-being, safety



incidents, patient safety, quality, depreciation, profitability, productivity, output, sense of belonging to the establishment, and customer loyalty or engagement.

When it comes to employee engagement, top management must also understand the critical factors for the success of its company. Corporate governance (CG) fosters a positive working environment that increases employees' effectiveness and efficiency. According to Saratun [10], modifying organizational culture will encourage the employees' growth while maintaining high trust and justice. Good corporate governance and internal control (IC) create an excellent working environment and boost the employees' comfort, which can keep their psychological health while working in the company, thus creating a more substantial possibility of engagement. An exceptional corporate reputation (CR) leads to significant engagement because employee seeks not only physical wealth, such as money but also psychological wealth, such as their reputation, when working in a reputable company, thus can become why they get more engaged. In the logistics industry, the three variables mentioned play a critical role in daily operations. They are not solely based on past research but are an integral part of actual business processes. Therefore, considering them as research variables is a logical option.

Therefore, these establishments must implement topnotch corporate governance to achieve solid employee engagement. Strict internal control promotes attaining business goals and reduces uncertainty, which employees generally dislike. Mutnuru [11] reported that applying internal control in small entities' workplaces directly connects to employee engagement. Meijman and Mulder [12] further stated that effective IC implementation contributes to a positive work environment. A company's reputation is crucial because employees must feel secure in their working environment. The business's reputation influences its confidence in attaining sustainability, comfort, and other related factors. Ali and Ali [13] reported that it significantly impacts employee engagement. Similarly, Shirin and Kleyn [14] stated that this variable is an essential determinant of employee engagement. Even in volatile working situations, corporate reputation minimizes employee tiredness and desire to leave [15].

This research investigates whether exemplary corporate governance implementation improves employee engagement. The research investigates whether strict internal control practice enhances employee engagement and whether corporate reputation value has the same impact. The study also further assesses whether leadership style (LS) improves the effects of the three independent variables on employee engagement in the Indonesian logistics industry. There is limited past research that studies the impacts of the three independent variables on employee engagement; notably, there are no past researches that examine the impact of leadership style as the moderating variable between these independent variables and employee engagement. Indonesia is known for its diverse culture; thus, leadership became one of the most critical variables because diverse cultures mean various leadership styles that can be implemented, thus becoming this study's originality. Therefore, the findings of the research can enrich body knowledge about employee engagement in logistics industry, especially in Indonesia context.

2 Literature review

2.1 Corporate governance

Indonesia has a national committee that oversees the implementation of good corporate governance pillars, including related policies, called *Komite Nasional Kebijakan Governansi* (KNKG). This committee helps to encourage healthy economic growth and create a conducive business climate [16]. KNKG strongly encourages companies operating in the country to adhere to five fundamental business pillars, called TARIF. The TARIF stands for transparency, accountability, responsibility, independence, and fairness, generally standard rules or principles in good corporate governance.

2.2 Internal control

Internal control is a set of procedures to ensure accurate and reliable business performance in compliance with prevailing rules and regulations [17]. The senior management team implements the procedures using various tools and techniques to achieve the objectives related to reporting and compliance. Smaller organizations will likely experience financial issues [18]. The quality of corporate internal control is determined based on how a company's different units or departments are organized, its owners, the audit process, and other factors. These include the board characteristics, committees, ownership structure, internal audit quality, and regulatory and market environments [19]. Vijayakumar and Nagaraja [20] stated that sound internal control is essential in a corporation because it mitigates the possibility of risk. This variable also ensures that employees adhere to company policies and ascertains it is smoothly run [21].

2.3 Corporate reputation

Corporate reputation is the image portrayed based on the activities carried out by the organization. Martineau [22] stated that a product's appearance combines functional and psychological characteristics. This statement aligns with the finding from Scott Cutlip that images are pieces of information containing essential attributes, such as beliefs, ideas, or impressions [23]. Corporate reputation portrays an organization as critical personnel, such as employees, customers, etc. Specific actions like procrastination can damage it and take many years to rebuild. Corporate reputation is an evaluation of stakeholders by their direct experiences with the organizations, including the use of all communication



channels that provide information on their actions and activities, according to Gotsi and Wilson [24].

2.4 Employee engagement

Kahn [25] stated employee engagement involves utilizing workers' abilities in their job tasks, demonstrated through their physical, cognitive, and emotional actions. Employee engagement implies being physically present at work and participating in various activities. An organization must succeed amid increasingly fierce competition and growing external uncertainty. After all, employee engagement reduces the companies' challenges during economic volatility and promotes future growth [26].

2.5 Leadership style

Mullins and Christy [27] defined leadership style as the specific method leaders employ and how they behave toward their subordinates. Leadership style is a series of methods or unique ways for leaders to influence their subordinates in achieving set vision or goals. Bandura and Schunk [28] reported that this variable is crucial to produce a conducive workplace because employees respond to their organization based on the leaders' values, emotions, attitudes, and behaviors. Past research studied many leadership styles, but this research is limited to four types: authoritarian, democratic, laissez-faire, and bureaucratic. Additionally, the research set this variable as a dummy in the statistical approach due to possible changes based on situational contexts.

Authoritarian leadership reflects a process in which leaders wield significant power and authority and often impose their will on others. This leadership style reflects a dominant attitude causing a different team morale and effectiveness level [29]. Meanwhile, a democratic leader invites employees and team members to share their input on decisions but ultimately retains decision-making. This technique enables these individuals to take control of their destinies and promotions and are motivated to work hard instead of being financially rewarded [30]. The laissezfaire management approach allows employees to work freely without interference and does not establish specific goals [30]. Bureaucratic leadership is associated with procedures or policies; if the rules do not protect them, leaders can refer to their superiors [31].

2.6 Conceptual framework and hypothesis development

2.6.1 Framework and hypothesis for corporate governance and employee engagement

Good corporate governance fosters a healthy working environment, which increases employees' productivity level of attachment. Indonesia's Committee for Corporate Governance, or KNKG [16], reported that this variable adheres to five fundamental principles: transparency, accountability, responsibility, independence, and fairness.

Preliminary studies reported that consistent and transparent communication increases employee engagement [32]. Transparency fosters trust between employees and management, thereby causing them to become more engaged [33]. Men and Hung-Baesecke [32] reported that accountability positively affects employee engagement. Chaudhary [34] stated that leaders optimize corporate social responsibility as a talent management program to develop a committed workforce. In the pillar of independence, when a corporation is managed professionally without the intervention of other parties, better strategic decisions are achieved [35], and employees' wishes are considered [36]. O'Connor and Crowley-Henry reported that procedural, interactional, and 1371 distributive justice affect employee engagement in the pillars of fairness. In addition, the study of Mura [38] concluded that more than 90% of small business people believe a firm culture that values ethics aids employee retention. This finding strengthens the necessity of good corporate governance practices in boosting employee engagement.

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H1: Corporate governance impacts employee engagement in a positive and significant way.

2.6.2 Framework and hypothesis for internal control and employee engagement

Strict internal control supports achieving corporate goals and reduces uncertainty generally detested by employees. Mutnuru [11] stated that implementing this variable is significantly related to employee engagement. Meijman and Mulder [12] further noted that an exemplary IC implementation contributes to a conducive work environment. Meanwhile, Kumar and Sia [39] reported that the work environment positively affects employee engagement. In such an environment, tasks are more likely to be completed successfully, reducing work goals and thereby making the employees feel more involved with the organization [40].

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H2: Internal control impacts employee engagement in a positive and significant way.

2.6.3 Framework and hyphotesis for corporate reputation and employee engagement

A company's reputation is essential and boosts employees' confidence in their working environment. This variable tends to affect their confidence in achieving sustainability, work comfort, etc. Ali and Ali [13] stated that corporate reputation significantly affects employee engagement. Peer the study by Men [41], this statement shows that it significantly and positively affects employee engagement [42]. Perceived corporate reputation is an essential predictor of employee engagement. It reduces employee fatigue and the intention to resign, even in



unstable working conditions [15]. Furthermore, companies with good reputations have advantages in hiring employees due to higher quality job applicants [43].

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H3: Corporate reputation impacts employee engagement in a positive and significant way.

2.6.4 Moderating role of leadership style in corporate governance

A leader initiates corporate governance, and it simply indicates that the leadership style is likely to affect its implementation. The transformational leadership style is most likely to employ a type of corporate governance that pays attention to the employees' opinions. Meanwhile, authoritarian leadership styles conduct corporate governance with little concern for employee opinions. This fact raises the question of whether leadership style can moderate corporate governance's impact on staff engagement. Angus-Leppan et al. [44] reported that leadership style affects corporate social responsibility and is part of corporate governance. This finding is vital in guiding corporate governance practices and strongly influences related matters [45]. Deliu [46] reported that corporate governance ensures everybody benefits from using companies' resources. Good leadership is vital to successfully implementing corporate governance [47]. A good leader creates systematic corporate governance that is easy for the employees to adhere [48], ultimately affecting employee engagement with the firm [33].

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H4: Leadership style's positive and significant moderating role in corporate governance on employee engagement.

2.6.5 Moderating role of leadership style in internal control

Leaders decide how the corporation executes internal control, so their leadership style significantly dictates daily internal control practice. If the style fits the situation and condition of the organization, then it makes internal control effective and efficient [49]. This thought aligns with the finding of Dal Mas and Barac [50] that leadership styles affect internal control, especially internal audit effectiveness. Aziz [51] also found that, especially in democratic leadership, it will lead to engagement because they listen to employee voices. Meanwhile, internal control positively impacts employee engagement [11]. Good leaders tend to possess a robust internal control system [52], affecting employee engagement [37].

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H5: Leadership style's positive and significant moderating role in internal control on employee engagement.

2.6.6 Moderating role of leadership style in corporate reputation

Leadership quality indicates how good the company's reputation is. The transformational leadership style makes the corporate reputable for being friendly to its employees. In contrast, authoritarian leadership enables strong corporation and reputation [52]. Alfalah [53] stated that both leadership skills positively affect corporate reputation. Stavrinoudis and Chrysanthopoulou [54] further reported that possessing a high charismatic leadership resonates with a significant corporate reputation. Influential and creative leaders with vision are essential in enhancing a company's reputation [55]. They need to understand the different dimensions of a crisis to manage the situation effectively [56]. Preliminary studies stated that corporate reputation positively impacts employee engagement [13]. Based on some literature and opinions, leadership style as a moderating variable affects corporate reputation with employee engagement.

The following hypothesis was derived from the above discussion:

H6: Leadership style's positive and significant moderating role in corporate reputation on employee engagement.



Figure 1 Conceptual framework

Figure 1 explains six hypotheses in this study, with three direct influences of three independent variables on employee engagement and the other three indirect influences of leadership style acting as moderating variables.

3 Methodology

3.1 Sample and data collection

Questionnaires were distributed to forwarders or logistics firms in Indonesia. The firms participating in this research must be the Indonesian Logistics and Forwarders Association (ILFA) members. An online Google Form link was sent to respondents from October 14, 2021, to February 22, 2022. However, of the 3412 companies registered as ILFA members, only 353 were selected. This study used purposive sampling method to select respondents; the population is limited to specific people who can provide the necessary information or meet the



criteria set by the study. The respondents comprised supervisors with at least two years' work experience and graduates with a Diploma 3 (D3) or above. The criteria are compromised because when working for over two years and with better education, respondents are assumed to know better about their working corporate and will have better judgment. It was discovered that, of the 802 respondents from the 380 companies who filled out the questionnaire, only 742 of them from 353 firms were valid based on sampling criteria.

3.2 Data analysis

The research used PLS-SEM with SmartPLS 4.0 software under outer and inner frameworks. The measurement of the outer model connects the latent variable with the manifest. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) measured the latent constructs' reliability and validity. Hair et al. [57] stated that the model test consists of convergent and discriminant validities as well as internal consistency reliability. The structural model describes the relationship among variables. Its evaluation consists of R2,

 $\label{eq:prediction} Prediction\ relevance\ -\ PLS\ predict\ coefficient,\ and\ f2\ -\ effect\ size.$

4 Research results

4.1 Characteristic analysis

Table 1 illustrates the breakdown of respondents' positions divided into five categories: 40.70% of those surveyed worked as a supervisor, 46.63% as a manager, 6.20% as a general manager, 4.99% as a director, and 1.48% as a commissioner. The distribution of respondents by tenure now includes employees with 2 to 5 years of service and employees with more than 5 years of service. Interestingly, 64.29% of respondents have worked for their current employers for 2-5 years, and 35.71% have joined their current organization over 5 years. The respondent's educational background went into three groups: below undergraduate (Diploma), undergraduate, and postgraduate (Master/Doctor) Degrees. Incidentally, 15.23% of the respondents had recently obtained a Diploma 3 degree, 51.89% had a Diploma 4 equivalent degree, and 32.88% were under a Master/Ph.D. qualification.

Table 1 Descriptive analysis (respondents)					
Characteristics	Total	Percentage			
Working Position					
Supervisor	302	40.70%			
Manager	346	46.63%			
General Manager	46	6.20%			
Board of Directors	37	4.99%			
Board of Commissioners	11	1.48%			
Total	742	100.00%			
Working Period					
Two to five years	477	64.29%			
More than five years	265	35.71%			
Total	742	100.00%			
Recent Education					
Below Undergraduate	113	15.23%			
Undergraduate	385	51.89%			
Postgraduate	244	32.88%			
Total	742	100.00%			

Table 2 shows the division of companies in five locations representing the main islands in Indonesia. 84.42% of firms are in Java and Bali, 5.10% in Kalimantan, 5.38% in Sumatra, 3.40% in Sulawesi, and 1.70% in other parts of the country. Respondents from Java and Bali occupied the most significant portion as compared to other areas. These company breakdowns are based on four leadership styles adopted. This category includes

companies that apply democratic, laissez-faire, bureaucratic, and authoritarian leadership styles. Interestingly, 78.19% of companies applied democratic, 3.12% applied laissez-faire, 13.88% applied bureaucratic, and applied 4.82% authoritarian leadership styles, respectively. It showed that most logistics firms in Indonesia adopt a democratic leadership style.



Table 2 Descriptive analysis (company)				
Descriptions	Total	Percentage		
Company's Location				
Java and Bali	298	84.42%		
Kalimantan	18	5.10%		
Sumatra	19	5.38%		
Sulawesi	12	3.40%		
Others	6	1.70%		
Total	353	100.00%		
Leadership Style Implemented				
Democratic	276	78.19%		
Laissez-faire	11	3.12%		
Bureaucratic	49	13.88%		
Authoritarian	17	4.82%		
Total	353	100.00%		

4.2 Common method bias

PLS-SEM states that common method bias will happen if the measurement method influences a value in SEM [58]. This step was done to make sure the collected data was not biased. The test was done by measuring the value of collinearity statistics (VIF) in the inner VIF value. If the VIF value is higher than 3.3, then we can conclude that there is an indication of common method bias. Meanwhile, if VIF numbers are 3.3 or lesser, we can conclude the model is not under a common bias effect [59]. Table 3 validates that all constructs are common method bias-free.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 463-476 ISSN 1339-5629

		Table 3 Common met	hod bias		
	CG	CR	EE	IT	
CG		3.212	3.105	3.274	
CR	3.244		3.273	3.204	
EE	3.237	3.109		3.295	
IC	3.236	3.123	3.197		

Based on Table 3, the VIF in each variable produces a value < 3.3, meaning that the data was not symptomsbiased.

4.3 Outer model analysis

Table 4 shows the data processing results where all indicators of dependent and independent variables have an

AVE value > 0.5 and a loading factor higher than 0.7, meaning all indicators were valid to measure each latent variable [60]. From the reliability test results, it is evident that all latent variables have CR (Composite Reliability) and CA (Cronbach Alpha) values > 0.7 and are declared reliable [59]. This fact shows that all the dimensions used as measuring tools are valid and appropriate for each construct.

Constructs	Indicators	Loading Factor	AVE	CA	CR
	X.1.1	0.879			
	X.1.2	0.869			
Corporate Governance	X.1.3	0.867	0.757	0.920	0.940
-	X.1.4	0.849			
	X.1.5	0.885			
	X.2.1	0.823			
	X.2.2	0.881			
Internal Control	X.2.3	0.877	0.754	0.918	0.939
	X.2.4	0.902			
	X.2.5	0.857			
	X.3.1	0.785			
	X.3.2	0.843			
Corporate Reputation	X.3.3	0.810	0.677	0.904	0.926
	X.3.4	0.857			
	X.3.5	0.842			

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



Constructs	Indicators	Loading Factor	AVE	CA	CR
	X.3.6	0.796			
	Y.1.1	0.903			
	Y.1.2	0.900			
	Y.1.3	0.847			
	Y.1.4	0.877			
	Y.1.5	0.827			
Employee Engagement	Y.1.6	0.890	0.773	0.971	0.974
	Y.1.7	0.881			
	Y.1.8	0.907			
	Y.1.9	0.891			
	Y.1.10	0.860			
	Y.1.11	0.885			

4.5 Inner model analysis

The coefficient determination value (R2) in Figure 2 shows that three independent variables strongly

contributed (0.800) to employee engagement. In other words, it explains 80% of these constructs.



Figure 2 Structural model without moderation

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 463-476 ISSN 1339-5629



Employee engagement in logistics industry: a perspective in Indonesia Haryanto Haryanto, Harry Suharman, Poppy Sofia Koeswayo, Haryono Umar



Figure 3 Structural model with moderation

The predictive-relevance value was tested using the PLSpredict technique to illustrate that each exogenous variable's indicators can predict the endogenous attributes.

The model is presumed to have good predictive power when the RMSE value in PLS is less than LM [59]. Table 5 illustrates the PLSpredict figures.

Table 5 PLSpredict analysis										
Dimension	PLS			LM	LM			PLS-LM		
	RMSE	MAE	Q ² _predict	RMSE	MAE	Q ² _predict	RMSE	MAE	Q ² _predict	
Y.1.1	0.466	0.360	0.688	0.468	0.360	0.686	-0.002	0.000	0.002	
Y.1.2	0.541	0.419	0.623	0.555	0.416	0.604	-0.014	0.003	0.019	
Y.1.3	0.518	0.416	0.611	0.524	0.416	0.602	-0.006	0.000	0.009	
Y.1.4	0.530	0.434	0.615	0.539	0.436	0.603	-0.009	-0.002	0.012	
Y.1.5	0.561	0.452	0.552	0.581	0.462	0.520	-0.020	-0.010	0.032	
Y.1.6	0.483	0.387	0.620	0.494	0.384	0.603	-0.011	0.003	0.017	
Y.1.7	0.490	0.391	0.600	0.502	0.398	0.580	-0.012	-0.007	0.020	
Y.1.8	0.501	0.403	0.633	0.515	0.409	0.613	-0.014	-0.006	0.020	
Y.1.9	0.593	0.438	0.609	0.596	0.438	0.605	-0.003	0.000	0.004	
Y.1.10	0.495	0.371	0.614	0.519	0.381	0.574	-0.024	-0.010	0.040	
Y.1.11	0.584	0.429	0.550	0.595	0.446	0.533	-0.011	-0.017	0.017	

Note: The letter in italics shows that RMSE PLS subtracts RMSE LM

The model is declared to have good predictive power because Table 5 data shows RMSE value lesser than the LM.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 463-476 ISSN 1339-5629



Employee engagement in logistics industry: a perspective in Indonesia Haryanto Haryanto, Harry Suharman, Poppy Sofia Koeswayo, Haryono Umar

Table 6 f2 – Effect size analysis

Path	F-Square	Category
CG on EE	0.171	Moderate
IC on EE	0.157	Moderate
CR on EE	0.155	Moderate

The f² test calculates each effect of exogenous variables on the endogenous variable. Based on the results of the f² – effect size calculation in Table 6 which shows the Fsquare (f²) value is within the range of 0.15 to 0.34, it means the exogenous ones have moderate effects on the endogenous variable.

4.6 Hypothesis testing

Table 7 shows that hypotheses 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6 were accepted. On the other hand, the fifth hypothesis implied that leadership style did not enhance internal control's effect on the dependent variable in a positive and significant way.

Table 7 Hypothesis testing

Unnothesis	Path (Relationship)	Path	t voluo	Р	Hypothesis
Hypothesis		Coefficient	t-value	Values	Conclusion
H1	CG on EE	0.326	7.004	0.000	Accepted
H2	IC on EE	0.317	5.621	0.000	Accepted
H3	CR on EE	0.324	5.117	0.000	Accepted
H4	LS to CG on EE	0.065	1.970	0.025	Accepted
H5	LS to IC on EE	-0.115	3.772	0.000	Rejected
H6	LS to CR on EE	0.056	2.004	0.023	Accepted

5 Discussion

5.1 The discussion of hypothesis 1

The proven first hypothesis implies the better the corporate governance practice, the more employees are engaged. Good corporate governance informs employees of the establishment's rules, vision, and mission. This fact means companies need to ensure the value of their good corporate governance is following employee values. This fact aligns with the goal-setting theory that having specific and ambitious goals leads to enormous performance [5]. An increase in performance causes employees to feel comfortable at work, ultimately increasing their engagement. This result aligns with the research findings by Vogelsang et al. [61], and Yue et al. [33] on the ability of good governance to increase employee engagement through the implementation of the transparency dimension. Also, implementing accountability in good corporate governance increases employee engagement. When companies carry out their responsibilities with an excellent corporate governance dimension, they create a sense of pride in employees, ultimately increasing their engagement [62]. This fact is in line with the studies by Slåtten and Mehmetoglu [35] and Bandura and Lyons [36], those independent organizations carry out certain activities without being influenced by outsiders, thereby increasing the employees' sense of security at work. O'Connor and Crowley-Henry [37] and Saratun [10] stated that fair corporate practice must provide equal opportunities to every employee to boost their engagement.

5.2 The discussion of hypothesis 2

The second hypothesis proves that a properly implemented Internal Control system positively and significantly affects Employee Engagement. An exemplary implementation of this process leads to fairness and work effectiveness, thereby boosting employee comfort and raising engagement. This fact means the company needs to strictly implement its internal control because it leads to the feeling of being treated fairly and thus increases employee engagement. This result aligns with Maslow's Theory, whereby people have needs, with a sense of fairness and security at the second level [8]. Meanwhile, when these needs are met, it leads to higher engagement.

Mutnuru [11] stated that internal control implementation directly relates to employee engagement level. This finding aligns with Meijman and Mulder [12] and Kumar and Sia [39] that implementing good internal control creates a more productive work atmosphere that keeps the employees engaged. Furthermore, Bakker [40] stated that a positive work environment where the employees feel involved and proud leads to more robust financial performance and lower employee resignations. The environment makes them feel happier, thereby leading to increased organizational performance and productivity. Saratun [10] stated that good internal control within the corporation increases the level of trust and fairness, which also affects employees' perception of the company.

5.3 The discussion of hypothesis 3

The third hypothesis shows corporate reputation positively and significantly impacts the dependent variable. This statement means if a company's reputation improves, its employees will be more engaged. Employees need material and non-material benefits, such as a sense of pride. Besides, any company with good branding also possesses better employee retention [14]. This fact means the company always needs to maintain its reputation positively because it leads to employee pride and engagement. This fact aligns with the expectancy theory that a person tends to act a certain way toward others [15]. Working for a reputable company boosts the employees' pride, which triggers engagement. This fact is consistent





with Maslow's hierarchy theory that employees have needs, with pride at the fourth level [8]. The studies by Ali [13], Men [41], Shirin [42], Shirin and Kleyn [14], and Şantaş et al. [63] stated that a positive corporate reputation makes staff more engaged. Furthermore, Ali et al. [64] reported that a good corporate reputation reduces employee fatigue, even in unstable working conditions, including the willingness to resign. This fact is under the study by Gatzert and Schmit [43] that companies with good reputations are advantageous in hiring employees with higher qualifications.

5.4 The discussion of hypothesis 4

The fourth hypothesis demonstrates that leadership style reinforces corporate governance's effect. This fact suggests that a more decisive leadership style will further boost corporate governance's effect on making staff feel more attached to the organization. This fact means leaders need to retain the style of leadership implemented because it positively affects how the corporate is governed and affects employee engagement. The application of leadership style shall follow the characteristics of an organization. This statement is consistent with the contingency theory that the best course of action is to rely on changes in internal and external situations [22]. However, applying a democratic leadership style is currently better because it makes the leader listen to input from subordinates capable of improving corporate governance, which aligns with the study done by Iqbal et al. [65]. This variable helps to guide corporate governance practices [46,66], leading to employee engagement [32,34]. O'Connell [47] reported that leadership style is the primary key to successfully implementing corporate governance frameworks, which tends to increase employee engagement [38]. Corporate governance's influence over employee engagement is enhanced by leadership style [66].

5.5 The discussion of hypothesis 5

The fifth hypothesis demonstrates that the leadership style significantly reduces the impacts of internal control on employee engagement. Each has its advantages and disadvantages in influencing internal control. However, the stronger the style, the weaker the internal control, so leadership style changes according to the situation and condition. For example, some need to be given strict rules, freedom, and greater listening opportunity. Ideally, the authoritarian leadership style strengthens the quality of the control mechanism.

On the contrary, the influence of the democratic style on the implementation of internal control significantly affects employees' competence and ability to make decisions. In a democratic leadership style, there is usually a conflict between the corporation and the interests of every individual. The leader's willingness to appreciate employees' feedback and make correct decisions is essential to maintaining good internal control. Therefore, the democratic approach enables leaders to make firm decisions and implement internal control more effectively, and this result aligns with the finding of Iqbal et al. [65]. Grobler [49] and Dal Mas and Barac [50], stated that each leadership style influences corporate internal control.

Meanwhile, Mutnuru [11], and Kumar and Sia [39], reported that internal control makes staff feel more attached to their employer. This fact means leaders need to implement a compatible leadership style, mainly because this study was conducted in Indonesia, known for its diverse cultures; thus, the requirement of each individual in the company is different. The democratic leadership style became one of the best to implement because of its willingness to appreciate employees' feedback.

5.6 The discussion of hypothesis 6

The sixth proven hypothesis means that a stronger leadership style will moderate corporate reputation's effect on the dependent variable. The leader's activity affects the firm's reputation and staff engagement. These include that the leaders' coaching skills have pros and cons impacts on staff turnover intention and happiness, respectively, leading to employee engagement [33]. Each type of leadership style gives the corporation a different reputation. For instance, the authoritarian leadership style creates the impression of democratic safety and comfort, while Laissez-faire provides the trust with the impression of strict rules. This fact aligns with Men and Stacks [52] that leadership styles increase employee engagement depending on their application and portray different reputations. This means that leaders must implement their leadership to the extreme to lead to a more substantial reputation and employee engagement. Men and Stacks [52] and Dutot [67] stated that each leadership style affects employees' perceptions of an organizational reputation.

Meanwhile, Ali and Ali [13], Men [41], and Shirin [42] reported that corporate reputation has a direct effect on employee engagement. The findings also align with Olmedo-Cifuentes and Martínez-León [68] that a participatory and competitive leadership style positively affects employees' views of corporate reputation. According to Alfalah [53], wise leaders can quickly adopt different leadership styles in response to different situations. Previous results supporting this study by Lee [55] show that successful companies depend on influential and creative leaders with a vision to enhance their reputations.

6 Conclusion

In summary, research results have shown that good corporate governance positively and significantly increases employee engagement. The strict internal control practice also positively and significantly improved employee engagement. Similarly, an excellent corporate reputation was also proven to positively and significantly enhance employee engagement. Senior management teams in logistics companies in Indonesia need to put serious effort



into ensuring good governance practices and strict control programs in their respective firm to deliver reliable and trustworthy financial results and set up a more solid staff engagement level. As for corporate reputation, every employee must ensure the company's image is kept safe by doing all company activities per law and regulations.

The study also revealed that leadership style was influential in improving corporate governance and reputation's influences on employee engagement. On the contrary, it decreased internal control's effect on employee engagement. Indonesian logistics industry leaders must determine the most suitable leadership style under different conditions. This fact is because no single leadership style is compatible with all situations. There must be a balance among the selected leadership types to ensure a better engagement level. Finally, senior management teams will have to see a more comprehensive approach from a human resource perspective and accounting and business commercials to improve employee engagement quality in the office.

7 Limitations and future research

The present study only used four variables to discover factors affecting employee engagement in Indonesian logistics companies. There could be more variables to study their influence on employee engagement. Therefore, future studies must use additional or new variables to enrich prospective findings. Also, while this study was conducted only in the logistics industry, employee engagement may look different in other sectors. Therefore, future research can choose other various industries to test the research's generalizability effectively. The research also does not explicitly focus on groups of generations such as boomers, millennials, and generation Z. Future studies can use this room better to understand different levels of employee engagement among generations.

Acknowledgement

We sincerely thank Indonesia Logistics and Forwarders Association (ILFA) for their permission to research their members.

References

- [1] CENTRAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS, Pertumbuhan Ekonomi Indonesia Triwulan IV-2020, Www.Bps.Go.Id, 13, 12, [Online], Available: https://www.bps.go.id/pressrelease/2021/02/05/1811/e konomi-indonesia-2020-turun-sebesar-2-07-persen--cto-c-.html [30 Mar 2023], 2021. (Original in Indonesian)
- THE WORLD BANK: Country Score Card: Indonesia 2018, [Online], Available: https://lpi.worldbank.org/in ternational/scorecard/line/2/C/IDN/2018
 Mar 2023], 2018.
- [3] BROWNSON, R.C., FIELDING, J.E., MAYLAHN, C.M.: Evidence-based public health: A fundamental

concept for public health practice, *Annual Review of Public Health*, Vol. 30, No. May, pp. 175-201, 2009.

- [4] DIAZ-CARRION, R., LÓPEZ-FERNÁNDEZ, M., ROMERO-FERNANDEZ, P.M.: Sustainable human resource management and employee engagement: A holistic assessment instrument, *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, Vol. 27, No. 4, pp. 1749-1760, 2020.
- [5] HAYDON, R.: Decision Wise: What Are CEOs Saying About Employee Engagement? [Online], Available: https://decision-wise.com/what-are-ceos-sayingabout-employee-engagement [30 Mar 2023], 2020.
- [6] AGYEMANG, C.B., OFEI, S.B.: A Comparative Study of Private and Public Sector Organizations, *European Journal of Business and Innovation Research*, Vol. 1, No. 4, pp. 20-33, 2013.
- [7] DEMING, D.J., NORAY, K.: Earnings Dynamics, Changing Job Skills, and STEM Careers, *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, Vol. 135, No. 4, pp. 1965-2005, 2020.
- [8] ELLIOTT, G., COREY, D.: *Build it: The rebel playbook for world-class employee engangement*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc, 2018.
- [9] HARTER, J.K., SCHMIDT, F.L., AGRAWAL, S., BLUE, A., PLOWMAN, S.K., JOSH, P., ASPLUND, J.: *The Relationship Between Engagement at Work and Organizational Outcomes*, 10th ed., Gallup, October, 2020.
- [10] SARATUN, M.: Performance management to enhance employee engagement for corporate sustainability, Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration, Vol. 8, No. 1, pp. 84-102, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1108/APJBA-07-2015-0064
- [11] MUTNURU, S.: The Role of Internal Controls on Employees' Engagement in Small Organizations, *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, Vol. 7, No. 4, pp. 102-114, 2016.
- [12] MEIJMAN, T.F., MULDER, G.: *Psychological aspects of workload*, In: P. J. D. Drenth, H. Thierry, & C. J. de Wolff (Eds.), Handbook of work and organizational: Work psychology, pp. 5-33, Psychology Press/Erlbaum (UK) Taylor & Francis, 1998.
- [13] ALI, I., ALI, J.F.: Corporate Social Responsibility, Corporate Reputation and Employee Engagement, MPRA Paper No. 33891, Munich Personal RePEc Archive, 2011.
- [14] SHIRIN, A., KLEYN, N.: An Evaluation of the Effects of Corporate Reputation on Employee Engagement: The Case of a Major Bank in South Africa, *International Studies of Management and Organization*, Vol. 47, No. 3, pp. 276-292, 2017.
- [15] MARKOS, S., SRIDEVI, M.S.: Employee Engagement: The Key to Improving Performance, *International Journal of Management*, Vol. 5, No. 12, pp. 89-96, 2010.



- [16] KNKG: *The Indonesian Codes of Corporate Governance, June,* [Online], Available: https://knkg.or.id/publikasi [30 Mar 2023], 2019.
- [17] COMMITTEE OF SPONSORING ORGANIZATIONS OF THE TREADWAY COMMISSION, COSO Internal Control Integrated Framework Principles, [Online], Available: https://www.coso.org/Documents/COSO-ICIF-11x17-Cube-Graphic.pdf [30 Mar 2023], 2013.
- [18] BEDARD, J., GRAHAM, L.: *Reporting on internal control*, In: D. Hay (ed.) The Routledge Companion to Auditing, Chapter 25, Routledge, pp. 311-321, 2014.
- [19] CHALMERS, K., HAY, D., KHLIF, H.: Internal control in accounting research: A review, *Journal of Accounting Literature*, Vol. 42, No. March, pp. 80-103, 2019.
- [20] VIJAYAKUMAR, A., NAGARAJA, N.: Internal Control Systems: Effectiveness of Internal Audit in Risk Management at Public Sector Enterprises, *BVIMR Manage*, Vol. 5, pp. 1-8, 2012.
- [21] CHANG, Y.T., CHEN, H., CHENG, R.K., CHI, W.: The impact of internal audit attributes on the effectiveness of internal control over operations and compliance, *Journal of Contemporary Accounting and Economics*, Vol. 15, No. 1, pp. 1-19, 2019.
- [22] MARTINEAU, P.: The personality of the retail store, *Harvard Business Review*, Vol. 36, No. 1, pp. 47-55, 1958.
- [23] GRUNIG, J.E.: Image and Substance: From Symbolic to Behavioral Relationships, *Public Relations Review*, Vol. 19, No. 2, pp. 121-139, 1993.
- [24] GOTSI, M., WILSON, A.M.: Corporate reputation: Seeking a definition, *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, Vol. 6, No. 1, pp. 24-30, 2001.
- [25] KAHN, W.A.: Psychological conditions of personal engagement and disengagement at work, *Academy of Management Journal*, Vol. 36, No. 5, pp. 2607-2613, 1990.
- [26] ANTONY, M.R.: Paradigm shift in employee engagement – A critical analysis on the drivers of employee engagement, *International Journal of Information, Business and Management*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp. 32-47, 2018.
- [27] MULLINS, L.J., CHRISTY, G.: Management and organisational behaviour, Pearson, 2013.
- [28] BANDURA, A., SCHUNK, D.H.: Cultivating competence, self-efficacy, and intrinsic interest through proximal self-motivation, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, Vol. 41, No. 3, pp. 586-598, 1981.
- [29] HOUSE, R.J.: Path-goal theory of leadersip: Lessons, Legacy, and A Reformulated Theory, *Leadership Quarterly*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 323-352, 1996.
- [30] BHATTI, N., MAITLO, G.M., SHAIKH, N., HASHMI, M.A., SHAIKH, F.M.: The Impact of Autocratic and Democratic Leadership Style on Job

Satisfaction, *International Business Research*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 192-201, 2012.

- [31] SAQIB KHAN, M., KHAN, I., AFAQ QURESHI, Q., MUHAMMAD ISMAIL, H., RAUF, H., LATIF, A., TAHIR, M.: The Styles of Leadership: A Critical Review, *Public Policy and Administration Research*, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 2225-2972, 2015.
- [32] MEN, L.R., HUNG-BAESECKE, C.F.: Engaging employees in China: The impact of communication channels, organizational transparency, and authenticity, *Corporate*, Vol. 20, No. 4, pp. 448-467, 2015.
- [33] YUE, C.A., MEN, L.R., FERGUSON, M.A.: Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust, *Public Relations Review*, Vol. 45, No. 3, p. 101779, 2019.
- [34] CHAUDHARY, R.: Corporate social responsibility perceptions and employee engagement: Role of psychological meaningfulness, safety and availability, *Corporate Governance*, Vol. 19, No. 4, pp. 631-647, 2019.
- [35] SLÅTTEN, T., MEHMETOGLU, M.: Antecedents and effects of engaged frontline employees: A study from the hospitality industry, *Managing Service Quality*, Vol. 21, No. 1, pp. 88-107, 2011.
- [36] BANDURA, R.P., LYONS, P.R.: Using a skillbuilding tool to enhance employee engagement. *Human Resource Management International Digest*, Vol. 25, No. 6, pp. 1-5, 2017.
- [37] O'CONNOR, E.P., CROWLEY-HENRY, M.: Exploring the Relationship Between Exclusive Talent Management, Perceived Organizational Justice and Employee Engagement: Bridging the Literature, *Journal of Business Ethics*, Vol. 156, No. 4, pp. 903-917, 2019.
- [38] MURA, L., ZSIGMOND, T., MACHOVÁ, R.: The effects of emotional intelligence and ethics of SME employees on knowledge sharing in Central-European countries, *Oeconomia Copernicana*, Vol. 12, No. 4, pp. 907-934, 2021.
- [39] KUMAR, R., SIA, S.K.: Employee Engagement: Explicating the Contribution of Work Environment, *Management and Labour Studies*, Vol. 37, No. 1, pp. 31-43, 2012.
- [40] BAKKER, A.B.: Engagement and "job crafting": Engaged employees create their own great place to work, Handbook of Employee Engagement: Perspectives, Issues, Research and Practice, Book Chapter, Department of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, pp. 229-244, 2010.
- [41] MEN, L.R.: CEO credibility, perceived organizational reputation, and employee engagement, *Public Relations Review*, Vol. 38, No. 1, pp. 171-173, 2012.



- [42] SHIRIN, A.: Evaluating the effects of corporate reputation on employee engagement, Dissertation, University of Pretoria, 2012.
- [43] GATZERT, N., SCHMIT, J.: Supporting strategic success through enterprise-wide reputation risk management, *Journal of Risk Finance*, Vol. 17, No. 1, pp. 26-45, 2015.
- [44] ANGUS-LEPPAN, T., METCALF, L., BENN, S.: Leadership styles and CSR practice: An examination of sensemaking, institutional drivers and CSR leadership, *Journal of Business Ethics*, Vol. 93, No. 2, pp. 189-213, 2010.
- [45] OTHMAN, Z., RAHMAN, R.A.: Attributes of ethical leadership in leading good governance, *International Journal of Business and Society*, Vol. 15, No. 2, pp. 359-372, 2014.
- [46] DELIU, D.: Empathetic Leadership-Key Element for Inspiring Strategic Management and a Visionary Effective Corporate Governance, *Journal of Emerging Trends in Marketing and Management*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 280-292, 2019.
- [47] O'CONNELL, D.: *Leadership styles and improved* governance outcomes, Semantic Scholar, 2016.
- [48] EVANS, G.L.: A mega review of cultural studies: linking leadership to corporate, *Poznań University of Economics Review*, Vol. 14, No. 1, pp. 76-126, 2014.
- [49] GROBLER, J.: *The Relationship Between Leadership Style and Locus of Control*, Semantic Scholar, 2004.
- [50] DAL MAS, L.O., BARAC, K.: The influence of the chief audit executive's leadership style on factors related to internal audit effectiveness, *Managerial Auditing Journal*, Vol. 33, No. 8-9, pp. 807-835, 2018.
- [51] AZIZ, M.A.A., RAHMAN, H.A., ALAM, M.M., SAID, J.: Enhancement of the Accountability of Public Sectors through Integrity System, Internal Control System and Leadership Practices: A Review Study, *Procedia Economics and Finance*, Vol. 28, No. 15, pp. 163-169, 2015.
- [52] MEN, L.R., STACKS, D.W.: The impact of leadership style and employee empowerment on perceived organizational reputation, *Journal of Communication Management*, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 171-192, 2013.
- [53] ALFALAH, T.F.: The Role of Leadership Styles In Building and Sustaining Corporate Reputation-Empirical Investigation on Islamic Banks in Jordan, *International Review of Management and Marketing*, Vol. 7, No. 3, pp. 227-232, 2017.
- [54] STAVRINOUDIS, T.A., CHRYSANTHOPOULOU, D.: The role of leadership in building and managing corporate reputation of 4 and 5 star hotels, *Tourism and Hospitality Research*, Vol. 17, No. 2, pp. 176-189, 2017.
- [55] LEE, G.: The brand CEO, *Marketing Magazine*, pp. 128, 2004.

[56] FRAGOULI, E.: A critical examination of the interaction of crisis leadership & corporate reputation, London: Centre for Business & Economic Research, ProQuest, 2020.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 463-476 ISSN 1339-5629

- [57] HAIR, J.F., HULT, G.T.M., RINGLE, C.M., SARSTEDT, M.: A Primer on Partial Least Squares Structural Equation Modeling (PLS-SEM), 2nd ed., Sage Publications Inc., 2017.
- [58] KOCK, N.: Common method bias in PLS-SEM: A full collinearity assessment approach, *International Journal of E-Collaboration*, Vol. 11, pp. 1-10, 2015. https://doi.org/10.4018/ijec.2015100101
- [59] SHMUELI, G., SARSTEDT, M., HAIR, J.F., CHEAH, J.H., TING, H., VAITHILINGAM, S., RINGLE, C.M.: Predictive model assessment in PLS-SEM: guidelines for using PLSpredict, *European Journal of Marketing*, Vol. 53, No. 11, pp. 2322-2347, 2019.
- [60] LOCKE, E.A.: Toward a Theory of Task Motivation and Incentives, *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, Vol. 3, No. M, pp. 157-189, 1968.
- [61] VOGELGESANG, G.R., LEROY, H., AVOLIO, B.J.: The mediating effects of leader integrity with transparency in communication and work engagement/performance, *Leadership Quarterly*, Vol. 24, No. 3, pp. 405-413, 2013.
- [62] FARRUKH, M., SAJID, M., LEE, J.W.C., SHAHZAD, I.A.: The perception of corporate social responsibility and employee engagement: Examining the underlying mechanism, *Corporate Social Responsibility and Environmental Management*, Vol. 27, No. 2, pp. 760-768, 2020.
- [63] ŞANTAŞ, F., ÖZER, Ö., SAYGILI, M., ÖZKAN, Ş.: The effect of corporate reputation on work engagement: A case study in a public hospital, *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, Vol. 13, No. S1, pp. 340-346, 2020.
- [64] ALI, M., TAO, L., SHAIKH, A.A.S., SAJID, M.: The political leadership and corporate governance: an analysis of leadership theories and its influence, *International Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences*, Vol. 6, No. 3, pp. 45-50, 2017. https://doi.org/10.14419/ijbas.v6i3.7706
- [65] IQBAL, N., ANWAR, S., HAIDER, N.: Effect of Leadership Style on Employee Performance, *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, Vol. 5, No. 5, pp. 1-6, 2015.
- [66] SUSILO, D.E., SOETJIPTO, N., TRIWULAN, A.B., ATNANINGTYAS, D., RISWANTO, A., WASIS, W., JAYA, F.P.: The effect of employee commitment, culture, and leadership style on good governance performance of Jombang District government (Indonesia), *Espacios*, Vol. 40, No. 27, pp. 1-9, 2019.
- [67] DUTOT, V.: Exploring the double influence of CEOs' management style on the development of SMEs' corporate reputation, *Journal of Small*



Business and Entrepreneurship, Vol. 29, No. 5, pp. 351-374, 2017.

[68] OLMEDO-CIFUENTES, I., MARTÍNEZ-LEÓN, I.M.: Influence of management style on employee views of corporate reputation. Application to audit firms, *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, Vol. 17, No. 4, pp. 223-241, 2014.

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 477-485 ISSN 1339-5629

The use of mobile applications in logistics of services Marian Dires, Sona Chovanova Supekova

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.420

Received: 18 Apr. 2023; Revised: 11 May 2023; Accepted: 04 June 2023

The use of mobile applications in logistics of services

Marian Dires

Pan-European University, Faculty of Economics and Business, Tematínska 10, 851 05, Bratislava, Slovak Republic, EU, marianddires@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Sona Chovanova Supekova

Pan-European University, Faculty of Economics and Business, Tematínska 10, 851 05, Bratislava, Slovak Republic, EU, sona.chovanovasupeko@gmail.com

Keywords: management and logistics, revisions, innovation, technical equipment, innovation, service provision. Abstract: The article focuses on the importance of mobile applications in enterprises with a focus on logistics in the service sector. In the theoretical part, individual software applications in the field of occupational health and safety, fire protection, which are used in Slovakia and the Czech Republic are clearly described. The article contains a brief overview of the legislative regulations on the basis of which the obligations for management decisions in enterprises arise. A telephone survey was conducted in 110 micro, small and medium-sized enterprises between 2022 and 2023 in order to determine the use of software solutions in ensuring the fulfilment of obligations in the field of occupational safety and health and fire protection. To collect data, research questions were set and a questionnaire was developed, which included 6 merit questions, identification questions and a specific question aimed at finding out the prioritisation of the most preferred mobile application features in the study area. The questions were closed-ended, with options where the respondent could choose only one answer. SPSS for Windows version 21.0 was used for statistical analysis and processing of the collected data. We used methods of statistical description, analysed using relative abundance, arithmetic mean, standard deviation and median. At the level of statistical inference, we used chi-square goodness-of-fit tests to analyse categorical variables. We also used nonparametric tests, Friedman analysis of variance, 3D pie charts, and 3D group bar charts. We found that business representatives had a significantly higher preference for the functionality "record of initial and recurrent BOZP and PO training", followed by the second most preferred functionality "OSH inspections and fire prevention inspections". The research focused on logistics enterprises.

1 Introduction

Fulfilment of obligations in the area of safety and health protection at work and fire protection are important preventive measures for the protection of life, health and property of persons. The aim of this article is to point out the possibilities of simplifying the fulfilment of the above obligations. Our first step is theoretical research, in which we describe the possibilities of the current software security of services of safety and health protection at work and fire protection (hereinafter referred to as BOZP and PO). We have found that there are specialised software systems that primarily deal with either the BOZP issue or the PO issue separately. When analysing the offer, our aim was to find out what mobile applications specialised companies offer. We found that in Slovakia and the Czech Republic, there is an insufficient offer of mobile applications that would integrate the management of the fulfilment of BOZP and PO obligations. In the next theoretical part, we describe the legislative regulations, in the field of BOZP and PO, which impose obligations on enterprises, which the enterprise is obliged to monitor and subsequently ensure at specified time intervals. We primarily deal with national legislation valid on the territory of the Slovak Republic. Based on the findings of the theoretical part, we established research questions and research hypotheses. We also developed a questionnaire and conducted a questionnaire survey in micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. Our goal is to point out the insufficient offer of mobile applications that would integrate the fulfilment of obligations in the field of BOZP and PO. Determination of the prioritisation of the functionality of individual applications, which points to possible problem areas in the fulfilment of BOZP and PO obligations. We also point out the demand of enterprises for the mentioned mobile applications.

2 Theoretical research

2.1 Availability of BOZP and PO software applications in the Slovak and Czech Republics

Modern software solutions take into account the requirements that are given by the individuality of individual processes in companies. Software solutions must be adapted to the legislative requirements of each state. This means that the internal legislation of individual states differs. Therefore, even software solutions can have different requirements for individual duties. In Slovakia, there are many companies that deal with the development and application of software in the field of safety and health protection at work and fire protection.

The company Besoft offers BTS software, which consists of 14 modules.



The modules themselves are divided into:

- 1. Safety and health protection at work (BOZP),
- 2. Fire protection (PO),
- 3. Environment,
- 4. Civil protection,
- 5. Employees,
- 6. Technical equipment,
- 7. Chemical substances,
- 8. Risks,
- 9. Waste,
- 10. BOZP management system,
- 11. Tests [1].

The goal is to provide organisations with a complex of services from selected areas for the fulfilment of legislative obligations, which, last but not least, monitor the protection of life and property. When developing the aforementioned software modules, the long-term requirements of individual subjects were taken into account.

BOZP ASPI primarily focuses on searching for all regulations, court decisions and copyrighted comments, various monographs, models, as well as other translated legislation, which will enable the user to orientate himself/herself in the legislation. It provides time-saving, clarity and simplicity.

It is divided into BOZP ASPI and BOZP ASPI Profit, which contains comments, samples and English translations [2].

The BWSS software allows the user the possibility of advanced and highly efficient processing of the summary agenda of safety and health protection at work. It enables the linking of the training agenda as well as the revision agenda. It includes the modules:

- 1. The basic package of services,
- 2. Work safety notebook,
- 3. Reserved technical equipment,
- 4. Personal protective work equipment,
- 5. Administration,
- 6. Protection of personal data [3].

The software, which integrates issues of occupational safety and health and fire protection and is easy to use intuitively, is offered by the company Traiva. A new feature is the processing of training through Safetutor. It is a training with a test in 3D at the world level. It offers various levels of software solutions aimed at professionally qualified persons, manufacturing and non-manufacturing companies with over 50 employees, non-manufacturing companies - offices, small manufacturing companies, medical facilities, doctors, schools, authorities [4].

It must be said that the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic employs various professions despite the fact that it is a non-production organisation. For this reason, it is necessary that all specifics are taken into account when implementing the software module.

Each implementation of any ERP system in an organisation represents a fundamental change in its functioning and organisation. Only a correctly set course

of the implementation process will guarantee the correct integration of the information system with the company [5].

The information system of the supplier method of revision has its fundamental justification and brings time savings and the seamless transfer of information between individual subjects performing tasks in the area of safety and health protection at work, as well as work inspections. The issue of revision and controls should be identified with the idea of Industry 4.0 [6,7].

The goal of digitisation in logistics is to speed up all processes and make them more accurate and smoother [8]. In the processes of activity of fire protection technicians, accuracy means reducing the risk of fires to a minimum. Innovations play a significant role in the success of the company as well as central state administration bodies.

Nowadays, innovations are becoming an important factor in the success of the company. Their legal implementation can put the company ahead of the competition [9].

Given that the key drivers of a logistics system include products, preferences of customers, technology innovation, globalisation, sustainability, infrastructure, and cost, it can be assumed that a logistics service can create a competitive niche in terms of how it can respond to the key drivers [10].

Based on experience using mobile solutions and various hardware suites to support logistics and transport processes such as booking of vehicles, invoicing, and payment services, tracking of deliveries, exchange of typical sets of information between participants [11].

2.2 Legislative obligations

Operation of individual objects and mandatory conditional legislative conditions in the area of fire protection. The basic law in the field of fire protection is Act No. 314/2001 Coll. on fire protection and on the amendment of some laws as amended by later rewrites [12]. The implementing decree of this law is the Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no. 121/2002 Coll. on fire prevention [13].

Fire equipment division, fire engineering equipment (PTZ):

- a) Fire extinguishers,
- b) Fire shutters,
- c) Equipment for extinguishing sparks in PD, equipment for the supply of water for extinguishing fires, equipment for the permanent supply of electricity in the event of a fire, evacuation and emergency lighting, other equipment for the evacuation of people and intervention [14].

Fire engineering is stable extinguishing equipment and semi-stable extinguishing equipment. There are also devices for removing combustion products and electric fire alarm along with voice fire alarm [14].

In our article, we will deal with the records of fire extinguishers, fire shutters, hydrants and electric fire



alarms and their central voice offices. We will describe which necessary data the operator is obliged to register. Basic legislative regulations in the area of:

- a) Fire extinguishers are a Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no. 347/2002 Coll. on the properties and conditions of operation, marking and ensuring regular inspection of fire extinguishers [14].
- b) Fire shutters are a Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no. 478/2008 Coll. on the properties, specific conditions of operation and ensuring regular inspection of the fire shutter [15].
- c) Hydrants are a Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no. 699/2004 Coll. z on the provision of water for firefighting [16].
- d) The electronic fire alarm is a Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no. 726/2002 Coll., which establishes the properties of an electric fire alarm, the conditions for its operation and ensures its regular inspection [17].

The Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic is the operator of facilities, where facilities are operated by the economy section and individual support centres located in regional cities [18].

The fire technician and the designated operator of the facility need to know the individual fire equipment for their work. Unlike reserved technical equipment [19], they are usually characterised by a larger number. The basic knowledge that the operator and fire technician must know includes, in particular, data on the location, data on the type of fire equipment, inspection interval, revision, date of the last and subsequent inspection, the validity of the inspection, or a higher test, requirements for ensuring inspection, or service. For this, it is necessary to have accurate records of employees, data on initial training in the fire protection section, data on repeated training in the fire protection section, and a schedule of preventive fire inspections. However, the problem may arise for operators with a higher number of employees or facilities. For operators with a lower or low number of employees or facilities, the process of securing mandatory obligations is easier. In this case, there is easier control and provision of supplier assurance of training, inspections and service. It is also necessary to draw attention to the problem of public procurement of these services, as state organisations are obliged to proceed according to the Public Procurement Act no. 343/2015 Coll. on public procurement and on amendments to certain laws [20]. Public procurement is controlled by the Public Procurement Office. It is a process that is of interest to the public, the media and the like. Therefore, it is necessary for this process to be transparent and in accordance with individual legislative standards [21,22]. However, this requires that the individual descriptions of the objects of the contracts be determined as accurately as possible. In the case of central public procurement, precisely the data generated by the software

will simplify the public procurement process. Also, the entire process of securing individual inspections according to the above-mentioned legislative regulations. In this, the software can enter the process, which accurately evaluates the required data and makes the process more transparent. As we have mentioned, fire protection processes are guided by many legislative regulations of different legal forces, which follow the main purpose of protecting people and property from fires. The main purpose is the protection of human life, followed by the protection of property.

3 Methodology

3.1 Composition of the research group

We conducted a questionnaire survey in the Slovak Republic in enterprises engaged in the provision of services.

The survey took place in the regions (a total of 110 enterprises):

- 1. Bratislava region 20 surveyed enterprises,
- 2. Trnava region 10 surveyed enterprises,
- 3. Nitra region 15 surveyed enterprises,
- 4. Trenčín region 15 surveyed enterprises,
- 5. Banská Bystrica region 10 surveyed enterprises,
- 6. Žilina region 15 surveyed enterprises,
- 7. Prešov region 10 surveyed enterprises,
- 8. Košice region 15 surveyed enterprises.

Representatives of micro-enterprises predominated in the research group, representing up to 60% of the research group (N = 66). In terms of number, they were followed by representatives of small enterprises, who made up 37.3% of the research group (N = 41). The least numerous group were representatives of medium-sized enterprises, which represented only 2.7% of the research group (N = 3). The composition of the research group in terms of enterprise size is summarised in Table 1.

Table 1Composition of the research group in terms of
enterprise size (N = 110)

	enterprise size (N = 110)		
Question	Answers	N	NR
Size of your	1 to 9 (micro-enterprises)	66	60.0
enterprise	10 to 49 (small enterprises)	41	37.3
according to the number of employees	50 to 249 (medium-sized enterprises)	3	2.7

3.2 Data collection methods

In order to collect the data necessary to answer our research questions, or verification of our research hypotheses, we compiled a questionnaire that included 6 items.

The first questionnaire item, "The size of your enterprise according to the number of employees", allowed us to analyse what part of our research group is microenterprises, small enterprises and medium-sized enterprises.

With the help of the second item, "Do you use a software solution for securing BOZP and PO services?",



The use of mobile applications in logistics of services Marian Dires, Sona Chovanova Supekova

we determined the rate of use of the given PCs, or mobile software solutions.

The third item, "What is your attitude towards mobile applications whose solutions simplify the management of the fulfilment of obligations?" allowed us to identify the attitude of enterprises towards the given mobile applications, regardless of whether they currently use the given mobile applications or not.

With the help of the fourth item, "Do you know special mobile applications that would integrate the management of BOZP and PO services?", we investigated the knowledge of enterprises about the existence of the given mobile applications, regardless of whether they currently use the given mobile applications or not.

The fifth item, "If mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO services were commonly available on the market, would you purchase them?" allowed us to identify the interest of enterprises in the given mobile applications in case of their better availability, and at the same time point out the fact that whether or not the availability of mobile applications is one of the main reasons for not using them.

Within the sixth item, "Which functions should the functionality of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services provide?" the respondents had the task of ranking the individual functionalities of the given mobile applications according to priority, respectively importance, and thus point out the functionalities that would convince enterprises to the highest extent to acquire the given mobile applications.

3.3 Methods of statistical processing and data analysis

For the purpose of statistical analysis and processing of collected data, we used the program SPSS for Windows version 21.0.

We analysed the obtained data at the level of statistical description using numerousness (N), relative numerousness (NR), arithmetic mean (AM), standard deviation (SD) and median (Mdn).

At the level of statistical inference, we used chi-square goodness-of-fit tests to analyse categorical variables. Due to the ordinal nature of the remaining variables, we decided to use nonparametric tests, namely Friedman's analysis of variance.

In order to graphically represent the results of the analyses, we used 3D pie charts and 3D group column charts.

4 Result and discussion

4.1 Testing research hypotheses

RH1: We assume that significantly more micro, small and medium-sized enterprises do not use mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO obligations.

We verified the assumption that significantly more micro, small, and medium-sized enterprises do not use

mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO obligations using frequency analysis followed by chi-square goodness-of-fit tests. Frequency analysis enabled us to determine the absolute and relative number of individual responses from enterprise representatives to questions regarding mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services. Chi-square goodness-of-fit tests allowed us to determine whether positive and negative answers to individual knowledge questions occurred significantly more often than incorrect answers.

In the case of the question "Do you use a software solution for securing BOZP and PO services?", the results of the frequency analysis showed that the most frequently chosen answer was "Yes, our company has purchased the given software, which is installed on the PC", which was given by up to 40% of respondents. The answer "No, we do not use the given software solutions" was chosen by 31.8% of enterprise representatives. In terms of frequency, the answer "Yes, we use the given software solutions that we have installed in the PC and in the MA" followed, which was given by 14.5% of the respondents. The least frequent was the answer "Yes, we use the given software solutions in MA", which was chosen by only 13.6% of enterprise representatives. It can be summarised that only 28.2% of enterprises used mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO obligations. The remaining 71.8% of enterprises did not mention the use of the mentioned mobile applications. According to the results of the chi-square goodness-of-fit test, the mentioned difference was statistically significant, $\chi 2 = 20.945$, p < .001. From the above, it follows that the number of enterprises that use mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO obligations is significantly lower than the number of enterprises that do not use these mobile applications.

In the case of the question "What is your attitude towards MA, the solutions of which simplify the management of the fulfilment of obligations?", the results of the frequency analysis showed that the most frequently chosen answer was "Our company has a positive attitude towards MA, that's why we mainly use paid versions", which was given by 62.7% of respondents. 29.1% of enterprise representatives chose the answer "Our enterprise does not use MA". In terms of frequency, the answer "Our enterprise does not have a positive relationship to MA" followed, which was given by 5.5% of respondents. The least frequent answer was "Our enterprise only uses free versions", which was chosen by only 2.7% of enterprise representatives. It can be summarised that up to 65.5% of enterprises have a positive attitude towards mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO obligations. The remaining 34.5% of enterprises had a negative attitude towards the use of the mentioned mobile applications. According to the results of the chi-square goodness-of-fit test, the mentioned difference was statistically significant, $\chi 2 = 10.509$, p = .001. It follows from the above that the number of enterprises that have a



positive attitude towards mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO obligations is significantly lower than the number of enterprises that have a negative attitude. The described finding supported our research hypothesis.

In order to gain insight into the reasons for not using mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO services, we decided to also analyse the answers of enterprise representatives to questions regarding their attitude towards these mobile applications, their level of knowledge of these applications, and also their potential future interest in purchasing these mobile applications under the assumption of their better availability.

In the case of the question, "Do you know a special MA that would integrate the management of BOZP and PO services?", the results of the frequency analysis showed that the most frequently chosen answer was "Yes, I know", which was given by up to 80.9% of respondents. Only 19.1% of enterprise representatives chose the answer "No, I don't know". According to the results of the chi-square goodness-of-fit test, the mentioned difference was statistically significant, $\chi 2 = 42.036$, p < .001. From the above, it follows that the number of enterprises that are aware of special mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO obligations is significantly higher than the number of enterprises that are not aware of these applications.

In the case of the question "If MA, integrating the management of BOZP and PO services, were commonly available on the market, would you purchase them?", the results of the frequency analysis showed that the most

frequently chosen answer was "Yes, I would purchase", which was stated by up to 78.2% of respondents. The answer "I would decide later" was chosen by 13.6% of enterprise representatives. In terms of frequency, the answer "We have purchased it" followed, which was given by 8.2% of respondents. The least frequent answer was "No, I would not purchase", which was chosen by none of the enterprise representatives (0%). It can be summarised that up to 86.4% of enterprises would acquire mobile applications that integrate the management of BOZP and PO obligations, assuming their better availability. The remaining 13.6% of enterprises would only consider buying them. According to the results of the chi-square goodness-of-fit test, this difference was statistically significant, $\chi 2 = 58.182$, p < .001. It follows from the above that the number of enterprises that would acquire mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO obligations is significantly lower than the number of enterprises that would only consider it, while there was no enterprise in our research group that would certainly not purchase such a mobile application.

It can be summarised that the number of enterprises that use mobile applications integrating the management of BOZP and PO services is significantly less than the number of enterprises that do not use these applications, but the reason is neither a negative attitude, nor ignorance, nor lack of interest in the case of better availability. The above indicates that the main reason for these findings is the unavailability of the given mobile applications. The results are summarised in Table 2, Table 3 and graphically represented in Figure 1.

Table 2 Frequency analyses of responses of respondents from among micro, small and medium-sized enterprises to questions
regarding the use of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services ($N = 110$)

Questions	Answers	N	N _R
	Yes, our company has purchased the given software, which is installed on the PC		40.0
solution for securing BOZP	Yes, we use the given software solutions that we have installed on the PC and in the MA	16	14.5
and PO services:	Yes, we use the given software solutions in MA	15	13.6
	No, we do not use these software solutions	35	31.8
What is your attitude	Our company has a positive attitude towards MA, which is why we mainly use paid versions	69	62.7
towards MA, the solutions	Our enterprise does not use MA	32	29.1
management of the	Our enterprise uses only free versions	3	2.7
fulfillment of obligations?	Our enterprise does not have a positive relationship with MA	6	5.5
Do you know a special MA	Yes, I know	21	19.1
that would integrate the management of BOZP and PO services?	No, I don't know	89	80.9
If MA that integrated the	Yes, I would purchase	86	78.2
management of BOZP and	No, I would not purchase	0	0.0
PO services were	We have purchased	9	8.2
commonly available on the market, would you purchase them?	I will decide later	15	13.6

~ 481 ~



Table 3 Comparison of respondents' answers to questions regarding the use of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services (N = 110)

Chi-square goodness-of-fit test								
Questions	Categories	Ν	N_R	χ^2	р			
Do you use MA to provide BOZP and PO	No	79	71.8%	20.045	< 001			
services?	Yes	31 28.2%		20.945	<.001			
What is your attitude towards MA, the	Negative	<i>3</i> 8	34.5%					
solutions which simplify the management of the fulfillment of obligations?	Positive	72	65.5%	10.509	<.001			
Do you know special MA that would	No	21	19.1%					
integrate the management of BOZP and PO services?	Yes	89	80.9%	42.036	<.001			
If MA that integrate the management of	Yes	95	86.4%					
BOZP and PO services were commonly			13.6%	58.182	<.001			
available on the market, would you purchase them?*	Probably	15						

N – observed numerousness, N_R – relative observed numerousness in %, χ^2 - chi-square goodness-of-fit test, p – level of statistical significance.

* Respondents had the option to choose the answer "no", but no one chose it.



Figure 1 Comparison of respondents' answers to questions regarding the use of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services (N = 110)

RH2: Micro, small and medium-sized enterprises prefer to the most significant extent the functionalities "records of initial and repeated training of BOZP and PO" and "BOZP checks and preventive fire inspections" in the framework of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services.

We verified the assumption that micro, small and medium-sized enterprises prefer to the most significant extent the functionality "records of initial and repeated training of BOZP and PO" and "BOZP checks and preventive fire inspections" in the framework of mobile applications for the management of BOZP and PO services using Friedman analysis of variance.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 477-485 ISSN 1339-5629

The results of the analysis showed that in the case of various functionalities of mobile applications integrating BOZP and PO services, there are statistically significant differences in terms of their preference by enterprise representatives, $\chi^2(5) = 307.309$, p < .001. Specifically, we



found that enterprise representatives significantly preferred the functionality "records of initial and repeated training of BOZP and PO" (MR = 1.32). The second most preferred was the functionality of "BOZP checks and preventive fire inspections" (MR = 2.35). From the point of view of preference, the following were the functionalities "management of reserved technical equipment, records and revisions" (MR = 3.85) and "specialised training of BOZP and PO" (MR = 4.10). On the contrary, enterprise representatives significantly least often preferred the functionality of "personal protective work equipment" (MR = 5.14) and "management of fire-technical equipment, records and controls" (MR = 4.24). The above findings supported our research hypothesis. The results are summarised in Table 4 and graphically represented in Figure 2.

Table 4 Comparison of preferences for individual functionalities that mobile applications that integrate BOZP and PO management would have (N = 110)

	wor	<i>iiu nave</i> (1)	= 110)					
Interpolicity of the shore	Descriptive indicators				Friedman's analysis of variance			
Interactional styles of teachers —		AM	Mdn	SD	χ^2	df	р	
records of initial and repeated training of BOZP and PO	1.32	1.32	1	0.877				
BOZP checks and preventive fire inspections	2.35	2.35	2	0.698	_			
Management of reserved technical equipment. records and revisions	3.85	3.85	4	0.788	307.309	5	<.001	
the specialised training of BOZP and PO	4.10	4.10	4	0.938				
personal protective work equipment	5.14	5.14	5	1.104				
Management of fire-technical equipment. records and controls	4.24	4.24	5	1.953				

MR – mean rank, AM – arithmetic mean, Mdn – median, SD – standard deviation, χ^2 – Friedman analysis of variance, df – degrees of freedom, p – level of significance.

Respondents had to rank individual functionalities in order of priority, with 1 - the most important functionality and 6 - the least important functionality. A lower score thus represents a higher preference or importance.



Functionality 1 – records of initial and repeated training of BOZP and PO, Functionality 2 - BOZP checks and preventive fire inspections, Functionality 3 - management of reserved technical equipment, records and revisions, Functionality 4 – specialised training of BOZP and PO, Functionality 5 -personal protective work equipment, Functionality 6 - management of fire-technical equipment, records and controls.

Notice: MA = Preference of individual MA functionalities.

Figure 2 Comparison of preferences for individual functionalities that mobile applications that integrate BOZP and PO management would have (N = 110)



The use of mobile applications in logistics of services Marian Dires, Sona Chovanova Supekova

5 Conclusions

The findings in this article point to the possibilities of increasing the efficiency of logistical assurance of the fulfilment of obligations in the area of BOZP and PO using applications. The article points out the importance of protecting the life, health, and property of natural and legal persons, as well as the high difficulty of fulfilling legislative requirements. Based on our research and statistical evaluation, we found that the market lacks an offer of integrated mobile applications for which there is a potential demand from micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. Based on the evaluated survey, it can be concluded that enterprises have a positive attitude towards mobile applications, but do not use them due to their unavailability. We can also support the stated statement on the theoretical part, on the basis of which we found a limited offer of software solutions in the addressed area.

Currently, mobile applications are popular with the public as well as with enterprises, as they streamline the process of fulfilling complex and extensive obligations. The search for solutions can be in logistics startups, which mainly develop applications and try to increase customer convenience, thereby improving people's quality of life [23] and thus increasing customer satisfaction in services. The stated findings and research evaluations create space for innovative creators of mobile applications, who have opportunities to develop and innovate their entrepreneurial activities. Innovative solutions are aimed at reducing the number of occupational fatalities, common injuries, and property damage to natural and legal persons. For enterprises, the use of these mobile applications means saving time, more efficient and innovative fulfilment of mandatory legislative obligations. Mobile applications will enable easy communication between enterprises and enterprises that provide BOZP and PO services. At the same time, they create space for more effective training and specialised periodical training.

The findings of the article also point to the priority order of the functionalities of the individual areas of BOZP and PO. The given order points to a research gap that can be the subject of further scientific research in the area of logistics of BOZP and PO services. The reasons why individual functionalities are prioritised, others less so, may point to problems in security logistics, which can be addressed by further scientific research. Therefore, we recommend that scientific research be focused on individual functional areas and the problems that arise when securing them.

References

- [1] Besoft, Modules of the BTS system, SAP, www.besoft.sk, [Online], Available: https://besoft.sk/b ts/moduly [16 Jan 2023] 2023.
- [2] WoltersKluwer, BOZP ASPI-system of safety technicians, www.wolterskluwer.com, [Online],

Available: https://www.wolterskluwer.com/sksk/solutions/aspi/bozp-aspi [15 Jan 2023] 2023.

- [3] BWSS, BWSS software, www.bwss.sk,[Online], Available: https://www.bwss.sk/softver[15 Jan 2023] 2023.
- [4] Traina, E-bozp system, www.traiva.cz, [Online], Available: https://www.traiva.cz/blog/ebozp [15 Jan 2023] 2023.
- [5] HUDÁKOVÁ, M. ONDREJKA, R.: Analysis of process risks of the implementation of the SAP information system in the enterprise, [Online], Available: http://casopisy.euke.sk/mtp/clanky/42007/2 .hudakova-ondrejka.pdf [21 Mar 2020], 2007.
- [6] DÍREŠ, M.: Analysis of logistic provision of revisions for central state administration bodies, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 8, No. 2, pp. 189-197, 2021. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v8i2.227
- [7] DÍRES, M., CHOVANOVA SUPEKOVÁ, S.: Industry 4.0 and the perception of basic concept by employees with different educational backrounds, Relik 2021, 4.-5. Nov. 2021, pp. 114-123, 2021.
- [8] BACHÁR, M., MAKYŠOVÁ, H.: Evaluation of the impact of intelligent logistics elements on the efficiency of functioning internal logistics processes, Acta Tecnologia, Vol. 5, No. 3, pp. 55-58, 2019. https://doi.org/10.22306/atec.v5i2.50
- [9] LOUCANOVA, E., OLSIAKOVA, M., PALUS, H.: The relationship of innovation and the performance of business logistics in the EU, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 9, No. 4, pp. 479-485, 2022. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v9i4.355
- [10] SURPEL, D.: Outsourcing of logistic services in Polish e-commerce stores, *Scientific papers of Silesian University of Technology, Organization and management series*, Vol. 2022, No. 166, pp. 769-782, 2022.

http://dx.doi.org/10.29119/1641-3466.2022.166.48

[11] SONG, D.A.: A Literature Review, Container Shipping Supply Chain: Planning Problems and Research Opportunities, *logistics*, Vol. 5, No. 2, pp. 1-26, 2021. https://doi.org/10.3300/logistics5020041

https://doi.org/10.3390/logistics5020041

- [12] Law no.314/2001Coll, protection against fires and on the amendment of some laws as amended later, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypreludi.sk/z z/2001-314 [24 Jan 2023], 2001. (Original in Slovak)
- [13] Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no.121/2002 Coll, fire prevention, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypreludi.sk/z z/2002-121 [24 Jan 2022], 2002. (Original in Slovak)
- [14] Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no.347/2002 Coll, the characteristics and conditions of operation, marking and ensuring regular inspection of fire extinguishers, [Online], Available: https://www.epi.sk/zz/2022-347
 [24 Jan 2023], 2002. (Original in Slovak)



- [15] Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic No. 478/2008 Coll, about the properties, specific conditions of operation and ensuring regular control of the fire shutter, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypreludi.sk/zz/2008-478 [24 Jan 2023], 2008. (Original in Slovak)
- [16] Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic No. 699/2004 Coll, provision of water for extinguishing fires, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypreludi.sk/zz/2004-699
 [24 Jan 2023], 2004. (Original in Slovak)
- [17] Decree of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic No. 726/2002 Coll, which establishes the characteristics of electric fire signalling, the conditions for its operation and ensuring its regular control, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypre ludi.sk/zz/2002-726 [24 Jan 2023], 2002. (Original in Slovak)
- [18] Internal regulation, Regulation of the Ministry of the Interior of the Slovak Republic no.147 on safety and health protection at work, [Online], Available: https://www.epi.sk/zz/2013-147 [24 Jan 2023], 2013. (Original in Slovak).
- [19] Decree of the Ministry of Labour, Social Affairs and Family No.508/2009 Coll, which establishes details for ensuring safety and health protection when working with technical pressure, lifting, electric and gas equipment and which establishes technical

equipment that is considered reserved technical equipment, [Online], Available: https://www.slovlex.sk/pravne-predpisy/SK/ZZ/2009/508 [24 Jan 2023], 2009. (Original in Slovak)

- [20] Law no. 343/2015 Coll, on public procurement and on the amendment of certain laws, [Online], Available: https://www.epi.sk/zz/2015-343 [19 Mar 2023], 2015. (Original in Slovak)
- [21] Law no.124/2006 Coll, safety and health protection at work and on the amendment of some laws as amended later, [Online], Available: https://www.zakonypreludi.sk/zz/2006-124
 [13 Apr 2023], 2006. (Original in Slovak)
- [22] Regulation of the Government of the Slovak Republic No. 395/2006 Coll, on minimum requirements for the provision and use of personal protective work equipment, [Online], Available: https://www.zakony preludi.sk/zz/2006-395 [11 Mar 2023], 2006. (Original in Slovak)
- [23] BYUN, D.-H., YANG, H.-N., CHUNG, D.-S.: Evaluation of Mobile Applications Usability of Logistics in Life Startups, *Sustainability*, Vol. 12, No. 21, pp. 1-17, 2020. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12219023

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.



Acta logistica - International Scientific Journal about Logistics

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 487-495 ISSN 1339-5629

Combination of FTA and FMEA methods to improve efficiency in the manufacturing company Puti Renosori, Hirawati Oemar, Siti Rohmah Fauziah

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v10i3.422

Received: 02 May 2023; Revised: 23 May 2023; Accepted: 14 July 2023

Combination of FTA and FMEA methods to improve efficiency in the manufacturing company

Puti Renosori

Department of Industrial Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universitas Islam Bandung, Jl. Taman Sari No.20 40116, Bandung, Indonesia, puti.renosori@gmail.com (corresponding author)

Hirawati Oemar

Department of Industrial Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universitas Islam Bandung, Jl. Taman Sari No.20 40116, Bandung, Indonesia, hirawati@unisba.ac.id

Siti Rohmah Fauziah

Department of Industrial Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, Universitas Islam Bandung, Jl. Taman Sari No.20 40116, Bandung, Indonesia, sitirohmahfauziah.99@gmail.com

Keywords: failure mode and effect analysis, fault tree analysis, toroidal inductor, continuous improvement.

Abstract: Toroidal is an inductor with an O-ring core. In 2021 there was an increase in the percentage of toroidal disability, namely the highest percentage of disability at 2.78%, while in 2020 the highest percentage of disability was only 1.33%. Therefore, companies need to make improvements to the quality of their products to prevent a continuous rise in the percentage of defects over time. This study aims to propose an enhancement to reduce/prevent defects in toroidal inductor products. The method used is the Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) and Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA). The FMEA method is utilized to reduce flaws that occur by considering the value of the risk priority number (RPN). The FTA method is used to identify possible defects by applying analysis of the fault tree description. The results of this study are that improvements should be focused on the failure mode of the wound wire because it gets the highest RPN value of 216 with the cause being less focused workers, while the lowest RPN value is on the red pin failure mode of 56 with the cause of no sandpaper changing schedule. From the results of the study, several suggestions for improvements were made in the form of increasing supervision for workers, increasing rest periods, conducting training, installing display limits for stripping, repairing stripping machines, replacing vise, repairing worktables, and making a schedule for sandpaper replacement prevents the defect. Companies must make improvements to human flows and ensure tools and materials are in optimal condition.

1 Introduction

The electronics industry is one type of industry that consistently has the largest contribution to economic growth in Indonesia in 2019 [1-3]. In its development, the electronics industry has become a big consideration for business actors in the field of electronic equipment spare parts to expand their scope and contribute to its improvement. CV. CKM is a company that produces spare parts for electronic equipment. Electronic equipment produced by CV. CKM is a toroidal inductor.

This toroidal inductor itself is an electronic equipment spare part that functions as a store of energy or electric current with a larger inductance and a size that tends to be smaller than other types of inductors. The toroidal core is usually circular so that the magnetic field is closed and relatively little or even does not induct other components in the vicinity.

Along with the development of the electronics industry, in 2021 there was a surge in demand for toroidal products at CV. CKM causes the manufacturing company to produce more products than usual. The more companies produce products, it turns out that the more defective products are produced by the company. In 2021 the highest percentage of defective products produced by the company was 2.78%, this is the highest number for the percentage of defects in the company compared to previous years which was only in the range of 1%.

The existence of defective products certainly results in waste for the company, both in terms of materials and also in terms of the disposal of the defective product [4]. Although some defective products can be reworked, the presence of rework defects is also very detrimental because the company will need additional costs to reprocess the reworked defective products [5].

In addition to the losses described previously, defective products are very dangerous if they escape the quality control section and are used by the customer. Because considering its function as an inductor, if there is a mismatch such as a scratch on the wire (wire wound) it will result in an induction field or an open magnetic field so that it can induce other components that are around, and if there is a lack of stripping defects it can cause a red pin due to If the enamel wire is not peeled properly, it will result in not flowing or not optimally flowing the magnetic field by the toroidal.

Based on these problems, the company must take corrective steps to reduce or even eliminate defective toroidal inductors. So, the objectives of this study are:

a. Recognize factors causing defects in toroidal


products in CV. CKM.

b. Make suggestions for improvement based on the priority of repairs to reduce defective products.

2 Literature review

This study was carried out using methods of Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) and Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA). Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA) is a procedure to describe various kinds of potential failures in a structure and then analyze them to determine their effect on the system so that they can be classified based on their severity [6]. Meanwhile, Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) is an analysis technique of failure conducted from top to down that aims to find the cause or a combination of causes that may cause unsafe conditions to a lower or basic failure rate. This makes FTAs an excellent complement to FMEA [7]. The FTA used in this study is to find out factors causing failures in the FMEA manufacturing process, namely at the phase of determining the cause of failure. FMEA is an effective and formidable analytical tool that is greatly used to check modes of failure and terminate the possibility of failure [8].

2.1 Fault Tree Analysis (FTA)

FTA or Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) is an approach applied from top to down that is used to analyze failures that start with potentially unwanted events and then determine the causes of how these events could occur [9]. FTA is also an alternative to identify the possibility of failure by using a diagram of a fault tree as reasoning that signifies the relationship between a failure and the cause of the failure [7]. This logic gate will later help in building a more detailed schema of the relationship between events that can affect its quality [10]. The logic gates that are usually used in the FTA manufacturing process consist of AND gates which are used when all input events occur and OR gates are used when one of the input events occurs [11]. The event symbols that are often used for making FTAs are the Top Event symbol which symbolizes the main event which is always placed at the peak of the tree of fault, and also the event symbol which describes an intermediate failure event that can be used anywhere except at the basic level of the fault tree and the basic event symbol which symbolizes the lowest failure event or base on the fault tree [12]. FTA differs from diagrams of a block of reliability and has a wider scope than diagrams of reliability block [13,14].

2.2 Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA)

Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA) is a structured way that can identify and prevent as many failures as possible [15-17]. The method of FMEA is used to set, recognize, and abolish failures or potential failures before the product reaches the customer [18].

FMEA has a purpose to perform any action to abolish and degrade the occurrence of failures based on activities that have the highest potential [19]. FMEA can assist in selecting critical parameters of each process [20]. In addition, FMEA can also document actions regarding the risk of failure that can be used by companies for continuous improvement. The steps taken in making FMEA documentation are [21]:

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 487-495 ISSN 1339-5629

- a. Determine the components of the production system or process be analyzed.
- b. Identify the function of the system or production process.
- c. Identify the mode of failure.
- d. Determine the influence of the failures of each process.
- e. Specify the cause of failure.
- f. Specify value of severity.
- g. Specify occurrence value.
- h. Specify value of detection.
- i. Calculating the Risk Priority Number (RPN) value is carried out to determine a failure that becomes a priority from each mode of failure using the following formula: RPN = $S \times O \times N$ (1).
- j. Recommend corrective actions of the highest priority.

FMEA is usually used to evaluate parameters such as occurrence, severity, and also detection in determining the Risk Priority Number (RPN) [22]. The severity value (S) determination or the severity value of this failure starts with a scale of 1 as the smallest scale with low consequences to a scale of 10 with the highest consequences, so that the severity scale assessment is based on how serious the effects of a failure are [23]. While the assessment of occurrence or probability level usually refers to the failure mode or several failures on a scale of 1 to 10, where 1 becomes the lowest possibility of failures, while 10 turns out to be the highest one [22]. As for the detection value based on the possibility of failure to be detected which is given a value scale of 1 to the most difficult or even undetectable with a scale of 10, the determination of this detection scale refers to the cause of the failure with the current controls [23]. FMEA method is utilized to determine which risks have the greatest concern and action is needed to prevent problems before they arise [24]. The smallest RPN value is better than the largest because the largest value indicates the severity of the risk of failure.

3 Methods

The use of FMEA and FTA methods can be merged for analysis of failures so that the advantages of each of these methods can be obtained, by using the FMEA and FTA approaches separately or by using a combined approach between the two [22]. FTA describes the causes of errors in more detail by pointing to the topmost event which is not expected to occur, while FMEA provides an overview of where this error occurs and what effects will be caused by the topmost event error [25].

Compared to the use of FTA and FMEA alone, researchers prefer to utilize a merger of FMEA and FTA because it is considered to have an advantage in detecting



errors [26]. In addition, FTA is considered only able to analyze the causes of failure in detail without considering the criticality and risks that exist, so FMEA is needed as a complement to FTA because FMEA can assess criticality and risk [7]. The combination of these two methods is recommended to be used for production processes that are carried out repeatedly because it provides a clear view of analysis, collecting mechanism of similar data, and the relations between error modes and failures [26].

4 Result and discussion

Problem-solving is used using the FTA and FMEA methods. The use of FTA in this research is a complement

to the process of making FMEA. At the stage of making FMEA, namely in determining factors causing failures, the FTA method is utilized to determine factors causing failure to the basic cause.

4.1 Identify Failure Mode

Before identifying the cause of failure, the initial step in building an FMEA is to identify the failure mode. recognition of modes of failure or types of defects will be described using a diagram called Pareto to specify the dominant type of flaw that causes disabilities. The Pareto diagram for each type of disability can be seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1 Pareto diagram types of Toroidal Inductor Product Defects

Under the Pareto 80:20 principle, the failure mode will then be identified as the cause of the failure, namely loose winding, bad winding, bonding over, red pins, and wound wires which are included in the 80% cumulative percentage of defects. So, these five types of defects or failure modes must be corrected so that defective products can be reduced.

4.2 Identify Causes of Failure

To build an FMEA, you must first identify the causes of failure. The failure to be analyzed further is following the dominant disability on the diagram of Pareto, namely the top five kinds of defects which are included in 80% of cumulative defects. Identification of the causes of failure exist at the phase of making this FMEA is done employing FTA. The use of FTA for the cause of this failure because FTA can describe the causes of failure based on the top events to the most basic causes that cause failure or defects. Identification of factors causing failure using the fault tree analysis is provided in Figure 2 – Figure 6.





Figure 2 FTA Winding Loose





~ 491 ~

 $Copyright @ Acta \ Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu$





~ 492 ~

Copyright © Acta Logistica, www.actalogistica.eu



4.3 Calculation of RPN Value in FMEA

After knowing the mode of failure and its causes that occurs in toroidal inductor product, the subsequent step is to rate the scale of severity, detection, and occurrence. Determination of the rating scale of the level of seriousness (severity) is used to find out how serious the consequences will be if the disability occurs. After rating the scale of severity, the next step is to rate the scale of the value of the probability of failure (occurrence). Determination of this occurrence value scale is done to find out how often the defect occurs by looking at the existing failure modes. This assessment is carried out objectively based on the data available in the mode of failure. The phase of rating the scale of value of detection level is carried out to predict how often defects occur. This assessment is carried out through discussions with the company, namely by the head of the production department. This assessment is based on the potential causes obtained using the FTA method and adapted to the control processes carried out by the company at this time.

After performing the severity rating, occurrence rating, and rating of detection, calculating the value of RPN (Risk Priority Number) becomes the subsequent step to be taken. The RPN value calculation is conducted to set the priority of repairs according to the peak value. The largest values of RPN are sorted to the smallest value so that it can be seen what improvements must be made first. The FMEA documentation outcomes are shown in Table 1 which presents the top RPN value as a reference for enhancement.

Function/ Process	Potential Failure Mode	Potential Failures Effect	Potential Causes	Current Control	Severity (S)	Occurrence (O)	Detection (D)	RPN	Rank
Winding	Winding Loose	The toroidal function is not optimal	New job	No regular training schedule		5	5	175	4
			Worker fatigue	Supervision from the head of the production	7		6	210	2
			Ragum is old	Ragum check periodically			3	105	10
			The desk is old	Checking the workbench regularly	1		2	70	14
	Bad Winding	The product shape is not up to standard	Worker fatigue	Supervision from the head of the production			6	180	3
			New job	No regular training schedule	6	5	5	150	6
			Ragum is old	Ragum check periodically		[3	90	12
			The desk is old	Checking the workbench regularly			2	60	15
Bonding	Bonding Over	Causing a glob of glue on the toroid	Workers are not careful	Supervision from the head of the production	5	4	6	120	8
			Lack of worker ability	No regular training schedule	1		5	100	11
Stripping	Red Pin	The toroidal function is not optimal	Workers are less focused when stripping	Supervision from the head of the production			6	168	5
			Workers don't know the limits of stripping	No regular training schedule	7	4	5	140	7
			Unscheduled sandpaper change	Inspection by workers	/	4	2	56	16
			The stripping machine is old	Regular machine checks and repairs			3	84	13
Winding, Stripping	Wound Wire	Toroidal can induce other components around it	Lack of worker ability	No regular training schedule		4	5	180	3
			Workers are less focused	Supervision from the head of the production	9		6	216	1
			The stripping machine is old	Regular machine checks and repairs			3	108	9

Table 1 FMEA documentation results

5 Result analysis

This study combines the FTA and FMEA methods to reduce defects in toroidal products in the company. FTA is used to determine the cause of defects in each failure mode. While FMEA is used to appraise the risk of each mode of failure so that improvements can be prioritized.

The causes of defects in toroidal products are dominated by humans/workers, machines, and tools used during the production process. These three factors are the



main factors causing the failure. While the results from FMEA are the main priority for repairing the wound wire of mode of failure with a value of RPN 216 with the cause of workers or humans being less focused. The lowest RPN value is in the red pin mode of failure with a value of 56 which is caused by the absence of a sandpaper replacement schedule. Then a proposed improvement is made for every mode of failure according to the priority of improvement from the highest to the lowest RPN value.

Some suggestions for enhancement that can be provided are increasing supervision from the head of production for employees, providing additional rest time for workers, conducting training, installing display limits for correct stripping, repairing stripping machines, replacing vise, making repairs to worktables and sandpaper replacement schedule. This improvement proposal was made to increase efficiency in the production of toroidal inductors.

After the proposed improvement was implemented by the company, the percentage of defects fell to 1.25%. So that the improvements made are considered sufficient to increase efficiency in the production of toroidal inductors, although the implementation of this proposed improvement cannot be done entirely. The implementation of the new improvements made by the company is in the form of increasing supervision, providing rest periods, installing stripping limit displays, repairing worktables, and regular sandpaper replacement schedules.

6 Conclusions

According to the outcomes of research that has been conducted, the researchers draw the conclusion that the identification results of FTA (Fault Tree Analysis) are known that the factors that cause defects in toroidal products include humans, machines, and tools used. According to the outcomes of RPN values obtained in the process of making FMEA, the suggestions given include:

- a. Increase the supervision of the head of the production.
- b. Provide additional rest time for workers.
- c. Conduct regular training.
- d. Installing border display doing stripping.
- e. Stripping machine repair.
- f. Perform a vise replacement.
- g. Workbench repair.
- h. Make a sandpaper change schedule.

Companies must make improvements to human flows and ensure tools and materials are in optimal condition. Therefore, the logistics factor of the material must be given more attention by the manufacturing company

Acknowledgment

The authors are very grateful to Faculty of Engineering, Bandung Islamic University who have contributed to various components of this research.

References

[1] FISCHER, A.P., JASNY, L.: Capacity to adapt to environmental change: Evidence from a network of organizations concerned with increasing wildfire risk, *Ecology and Society*, Vol. 22, No. 1, pp. 1-17, 2017. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-08867-220123

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 487-495 ISSN 1339-5629

- [2] MUNA, A., AUSAT, A.: The Application of Technology in the Age of Covid-19 and Its Effects on Performance, *Apollo: Journal of Tourism and Business*, Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 14-22, 2023. https://doi.org/10.58005/APOLLO.V111.8
 - https://doi.org/10.58905/APOLLO.V111.8
- [3] WANOF, M.I., GANI, A.: MSME Marketing Trends in the 4.0 Era: Evidence from Indonesia, *Apollo: Journal* of Tourism and Business, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 36-41, 2023. https://doi.org/10.58905/APOLLO.V112.22
- [4] ALKATIRI, H.A., ADIANTO, H., NOVIRANI, D.: Implemetasi Pengendalian Kualitas Untuk Mengurangi Jumlah Produk Cacat Tekstil Kain Katun Menggunakan Metode Six Sigma Pada Pt. Ssp, Jurnal Online Institut Teknologi Nasional, Vol. 03, No. 03, pp. 148-159, 2015. (Original in Indonesian)
- [5] KADIM, A.: Penerapan Manajemen Produksi Dan Operasi Di Industri Manufaktur, Jakarta: Mitra Wacana Media, Jakarta, 2017. (Original in Indonesian)
- [6] PONTORORING, P.P., GILBERT, S., ANDIKA, A.: Welding Products Defects Analysis with Fault Tree Analysis and Failure Modes and Effects Analysis, Innoscape 2018-Jakarta, Prasetiya Mulya (PM) Proceedings, Jakarta, pp. 38-48, 2018.
- [7] SHAFIEE, M., ENJEMA, E., KOLIOS, A.: An Integrated FTA-FMEA Model for Risk Analysis of Engineering Systems: A Case Study of Subsea Blowout Preventers, *Applied Sciences*, Vol. 9, No. 6, pp. 1-15, 2019. https://doi.org/10.3390/app9061192
- [8] AIZED, T., AHMAD, M., JAMAL, M.H., MAHMOOD, A., UBAID UR REHMAN, S., SRAI, J.S.: Automotive leaf spring design and manufacturing process improvement using failure mode and effects analysis (FMEA), *International Journal of Engineering Business Management*, Vol. 12, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1177/1847979020942438
- [9] HIDAYAT, A.A., KHOLIL, M., HENDRI, SUHAERI: The Implementation of FTA (Fault Tree Analysis) and FMEA (Failure Mode and Effect Analysis) Methods to Improve the Quality of Jumbo Roll Products, *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* Vol. 453, pp. 1-13, 2018.
 - https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/453/1/012019
- [10] EASTMAN, C., TEICHOLZ, P., SACK, R., LISTON, K.: BIM Handbook, a Guide to Building Information Modelling, 2nd ed., John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Hoboken, 2011.
- [11] SHARMA, P., SINGH, A.: Overview of Fault Tree Analysis, International Journal of Engineering Research and Technology, Vol. 4, No. 03, pp. 337-340, 2015. https://doi.org/10.17577/IJERTV4IS030543



- [12] KAISER, B., LIGGESMEYER, P., MÄCKEL, O.: A New Component Concept for Fault Trees, Proceedings of the 8th Australian Workshop on Safety Critical Systems and Software, Vol. 33, pp. 37-46, 2003.
- [13] BEN-DAYA, M., DUFFUAA, S.O., KNEZEVIC, J., AIT-KADI, D., RAOUF, A.: Handbook of Maintenance Management and Engineering, Handbook of Maintenance Management and Engineering, Springer Link, 2009. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-84882-472-0
- [14] FAUZIAH, S.R., RENOSORI, P., SELAMAT: Identifikasi Penyebab Terjadinya Kecacatan pada Produk Induktor Toroidal dengan Menggunakan Metode Fault Tree Analysis (FTA) di CV. Cipta Karya Mandiri, *Bandung Conference Series: Industrial Engineering Science*, Vol. 2, No. 1, pp. 91-99, 2022. https://doi.org/10.29313/bcsies.v2i1.1619 (Original in Indonesian)
- [15] NURWULAN, N.R., VERONICA, W.: A. Implementation of Failure Mode and Effect Analysis and Fault Tree Analysis in Paper Mill: A Case Study, *Jurnal Rekayasa Sistem Industri*, Vol. 9, No. 3, pp. 171-176, 2020.
- https://doi.org/10.26593/jrsi.v9i3.4059.171-176
 [16] IGNÁCZOVÁ, K.: FMEA (Failure Mode and Effects Analysis) and Proposal of Risk Minimizing in Storage Processes for Automotive Client, Acta logistica, Vol. 3, No. 1, pp. 15-18, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v3i1.54

- [17] MESAROSOVA, J., MARTINOVICOVA, K., FIDLEROVA, H., HRABLIK CHOVANOVA, H., BABCANOVA, D., SAMAKOVA, J.: Improving the Level of Predictive Maintenance Maturity Matrix in Industrial Enterprise, *Acta logistica*, Vol. 9, No. 2, pp. 183-193, 2022. https://doi.org/10.22306/al.v9i2.292
- [18] ISHAK, A., SIREGAR, K., GINTING, R., MANIK, A.: The Fuzzy Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA) Method to Improve Roofing Product's Quality (case study: XYZ Company), *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, Vol. 1003, No. 1, pp. 1-9, 2020. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/1003/1/012092

 [19] ZUNIAWAN, A.: A Systematic Literature Review of Failure Mode and Effect Analysis (FMEA) Implementation in Industries, *IJIEM - Indonesian Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management*, Vol. 1, No. 2, pp. 59-68, 2020.

Volume: 10 2023 Issue: 3 Pages: 487-495 ISSN 1339-5629

https://doi.org/10.22441/ijiem.v1i2.9862

- [20] Badan Standarisasi Nasional, Manajemen risiko Teknik penilaian risiko, Jakarta, 2017. (Original in Indonesian)
- [21] PEETERS, J.F.W., BASTEN, R.J.I., TINGA, T.: Improving failure analysis efficiency by combining FTA and FMEA in a recursive manner, *Reliability Engineering and System Safety*, Vol. 172, No. April, pp. 36-44, 2018.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2017.11.024 [22] KENT, R.: *Quality Management in Plastics Processing*, Elsevier, 2016.

https://doi.org/10.1016/C2016-0-03226-6

- [23] TENG, S.(G.), HO, S.(M.): Failure mode and effects analysis, *International Journal of Quality & Reliability Management*, Vol. 13, No. 5, pp. 8-26, 1996. https://doi.org/10.1108/02656719610118151
- [24] HSE U.K. Health and Safety Executive, Failure Rate and Event Data for use within Risk Assessments, [Online], Available: https://www.hse.gov.uk/landuse planning/assets/docs/failure-rates.pdf [15 Apr 2023] Vol. 1, No. 1, pp. 1-102, 2017.
- [25] SUHARJO, B., SUHARYO, O.S., BANDONO, A.: Failure mode effect and criticality analysis (FMECA) for determination time interval replacement of critical components in warships radar, *Journal of Theoretical and Applied Information Technology*, Vol. 97, No. 10, pp. 2861-2870, 2019.
- [26] CRISTEA, G., CONSTANTINESCU, D.M.: A comparative critical study between FMEA and FTA risk analysis methods, *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering*, Vol. 252, pp. 1-5, 2017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/252/1/012046

Review process

Single-blind peer review process.





ABOUT/STATEMENT

JOURNAL STATEMENT

Journal name:	Acta logistica
Abbreviated key title:	Acta logist
Journal title initials:	AL
Journal doi:	10.22306/al
ISSN:	1339-5629
Start year:	2014
The first publishing:	March 2014
Issue publishing:	Quarterly
Publishing form:	On-line electronic publishing
Availability of articles:	Open Access Journal
Journal license:	CC BY-NC
Publication ethics:	COPE, ELSEVIER Publishing Ethics
Plagiarism check:	Worldwide originality control system
Peer review process:	Single-blind review at least two reviewers
Language:	English
Journal e-mail:	info@actalogistica.eu

The journal focuses mainly on the original and new, interesting, high-quality, theoretical, practical and application-oriented contributions to the field of science and research and pedagogy and education in logistics and transport.

Acta logistica journal supports the San Francisco Declaration on Research Assessment (DORA). The primary directives include open access, reuse of outputs, diversity among authors and reviewers, peer review, description of provided services and related publishing charges.

Publisher:	4S go, s.r.o.
Address:	Semsa 24, 044 21 Semsa, Slovak Republic, EU
Phone:	+421 948 366 110
Publisher e-mail:	info@4sgo.eu

Responsibility for the content of a manuscript rests upon the authors and not upon the editors or the publisher.